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Preparation of financial reports
The annual financial statements of Liberty Holdings Limited group and company for the year ended 31 December 2018 were:
Prepared by:
Melanie Natsas CA(SA)
Dieter Wichmann CA(SA)
Laura Kirker FASSA
Supervised by:
Michael Norris CA(SA) – Executive – Group Finance
Yuresh Maharaj CA(SA) – Financial Director

These annual financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. in accordance with the requirements
of the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008.
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Directors’ responsibility for financial reporting
for the year ended 31 December 2018
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the annual financial statements of the group and
company. These financial statements comprise the statements
of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the statements of
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for
the period ended, the accounting policies and the notes to the
financial statements, in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of the Companies
Act No. 71 of 2008. In addition, the directors are responsible for
preparing the directors’ report.
The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they
determine necessary to enable the preparation of the annual
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate
accounting records and an effective system of risk management.
The directors have made an assessment of the ability of the group
and company to continue as a going concern and have no reason
to believe that the business will not be a going concern in the
year ahead.

The independent auditor is responsible for reporting on whether
the financial statements are fairly presented, in all material respects,
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and
the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Approval of the financial statements
The annual financial statements of the group and company, as
identified in the first paragraph, were approved by the board of
directors on 28 February 2019 and are signed by

JH Maree
Chairman

DC Munro
Chief executive

Johannesburg
28 February 2019

Company secretary compliance statement
In terms of Section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008, as amended, I certify that the company has lodged with the Registrar of
Companies all such returns as are required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008 in respect of the year ended
31 December 2018, and that all such returns are true, correct and up-to-date.

JM Parratt
Company secretary
Johannesburg
28 February 2019
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Independent auditor’s report
To the Shareholders of Liberty Holdings Limited

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our opinion

Our audit approach

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Liberty
Holdings Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (together
the Group) as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and
the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Overview

What we have audited
Liberty Holdings Limited’s consolidated financial statements set
out on pages 14 to 18, 22 to 130, 132 to 167 and 195 to 221 comprise:
• the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2018;
• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;
• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;
• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and
• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional
Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other
independence requirements applicable to performing audits of
financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and
in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to
performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B).

Overall group materiality
R255 million, which represents 5% of the three year average
adjusted consolidated profit before taxation.
Group audit scope
−− Full scope audit for twenty six reporting components based
on their financial significance, one component represents circa
65% of the results of operations of the group.
−− Specified audit procedures on three reporting components and
analytical reviews on the remaining.
Key audit matters
• Long-term policyholder assets and liabilities – insurance
contracts; and
• Valuation of investment properties at year-end.
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and
assessed the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated
financial statements. In particular, we considered where the
directors made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of
significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions
and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all
of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override
of internal controls, including among other matters, consideration
of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of
material misstatement due to fraud.

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of
materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They
are considered material if individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain
quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall group
materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole
as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative
considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit
and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and
to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in
aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Independent auditor’s report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Liberty Holdings Limited

Overall group materiality

R255 million

How we determined it

5% of the three year average adjusted consolidated profit before taxation.

Rationale for the materiality
benchmark applied

We chose profit before taxation as the benchmark because, in our view, it is the most commonly used
benchmark against which the performance of profit orientated listed entities in the financial services
industry is measured by users, and is a generally accepted benchmark.
Since 2016, the Group’s profit before taxation has fluctuated significantly resulting in the need for us
to average profit before taxation over the last three years for purposes of determining materiality.
The consolidated profit before taxation for the current year did not have any once-off items adjusted.
We chose 5% which is consistent with quantitative materiality thresholds used for profit oriented
companies in this sector.

How we tailored our group audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient
work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of
the Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry
in which the Group operates.
The group has two primary segments, which are aligned to its new
operating model, operating in two geographical clusters being South
African operations and Africa regions. The South African operations
consist of long-term insurance business, asset management and
other operations supporting these businesses. The Africa regions
are segmented as Liberty Africa Insurance, Liberty Health and
STANLIB Africa.
The group’s financial statements are a consolidation of forty six
reporting components, which together comprise the group’s
principal operating segments. Of these reporting components,
we selected twenty six for full scope audit testing due to their
financial significance, one of these components, Liberty Group
Limited (LGL), represented 65% of the results of operations
of the group and forms part of the group engagement team’s
responsibility. Specified audit procedures on certain balances and
transactions were performed on three reporting components of
African operations. For the remaining components we performed
analytical reviews.
This together with additional procedures performed at the group
level, including testing of consolidation journals and intercompany
eliminations, gave us the evidence we needed for our opinion on
the group financial statements as a whole.
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In establishing the overall approach to the group audit, we
determined the type of work that needed to be performed by us,
as the group engagement team, or component auditors from other
PwC network firms or other firms operating under our instruction.
Where the work was performed by component auditors, we
determined the level of involvement we needed to have in the
audit work at those components to be able to conclude whether
sufficient appropriate audit evidence had been obtained as a basis
for our opinion on the group financial statements as a whole.
In the current year, we attended the year-end audit committee
meeting of Liberty Life Kenya and reviewed audit working papers
on-site. We inspected audit working papers for the Botswana and
Namibia operations. In addition, we met with the South African
component auditors in the Asset Management and Property
reporting segments and attended quarterly governance meetings
for these reporting segments as part of the completion of the audit
work performed in the Asset Management and Property segments.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Independent auditor’s report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Liberty Holdings Limited

KEY AUDIT MATTER

HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

Valuation of long term policyholder assets and liabilities
– Insurance contracts (Refer to the Key Judgements
in applying assumptions on application of accounting
policies, note 13 of the notes to the group annual financial
statements, and note 5 of the Detailed Accounting
policies (Appendix A))

To test the valuation of the policyholder assets and liabilities our actuarial
experts performed, amongst other, the following procedures:

As at 31 December 2018, the value of the policyholder assets and
liabilities were R6,7 billion and R200,7 billion respectively, which
are measured in accordance with SAP 104 in the consolidated
financial statements.

• Together with our actuarial experts, attended management
meetings where valuation principles were discussed and approved.
We performed tests and reasonability checks to corroborate that
these principles as approved were applied in the valuation model,

Policyholder assets and liabilities under insurance contracts
include provisions for the net present value of expected future
benefits and expected future costs, less expected future
premiums; and for claims incurred and not reported (IBNR).
Complex and subjective judgements are required over a variety
of uncertain future operating assumptions within the life
insurance business. These assumptions include amongst others
mortality and morbidity rates, recurring expenses, taxation and
expense inflation. The assumptions applied by management, as
disclosed in note 13, in determining the value of the policyholder
assets and liabilities and changes to these assumptions, may
result in a material adjustment to the value of policyholder
assets and liabilities and ultimately the results of the Group.
During the current year, an increase in the expense reserve to
the value of R501 million (R461 million change relates to in-force
business and R40 million relates to new business during the
year) was established by the Group as a result of the new Liberty
operating model as disclosed in note 13. This resulted in costs
previously incurred by the Company now being projected to be
incurred in the Group’s life insurance subsidiary, Liberty Group
Limited (LGL).
We consider the valuation of the policyholder assets and
liabilities a matter of most significance to our current year audit
due to the:
• magnitude of the policyholder assets and liabilities in relation
to the total assets and liabilities of the Group,
• increase in the expense reserve in the policyholder liabilities
as a result of the new Liberty operating model in the current
year, and
• significant management judgement required in determining
the value of the policyholder assets and liabilities.

• Updated our understanding of Liberty’s actuarial control environment
and governance including the functioning of the Actuarial Committee,
which approves the methodology and assumption changes against
industry practice and regulatory requirements;

• Compared the changes in valuation methodology against the
requirements of SAP 104 and industry practice,
• Compared the assumptions applied by management against
recent actual long term experience, industry trends and economic
market trends. The assumptions applied were comparable with
these benchmarks,
• Assessed the sources of profit against expectations and the
accounting policies, and
• Examined and corroborated management’s Analysis of Surplus, as
defined on page 233, by analysing the sources of profit and how they
relates to the change in the policyholder assets and liabilities and the
impact on the income statement.
To test the inputs used in the valuation models we performed, amongst
other, on a sample basis, the following:
• Assessed the reasonability of the classification of expenses between
maintenance and acquisition and how they are capitalised in the
valuation by considering the nature of the expenses and inspecting
the source document supporting the expense; and
• Traced the policyholder valuation input data, such as premiums,
claims and expense data used in the valuation model back to
information contained in the administration and accounting systems
noting no exceptions.
To test the changes in assumptions as it relates to the additional expense
reserve, we involved our actuarial experts who performed, amongst
others, the following procedures:
• Obtained an understanding of management’s judgement applied in
the creation of the additional expense reserve;
• Considered the strategic change in Liberty’s operating model as
approved by the Board and how this impacted the expenses to be
incurred in LGL;
• Assessed the different types of expenses and challenged
management’s view on the proportionate split between Liberty
Holdings Limited and LGL;
• Considered the split of the LGL’s expenses between the different
expense buckets and assessed the consistency of the allocation; and
• Reviewed the assumptions and methodology underlying the manual
calculation and found this to be reasonable.

Liberty Holdings Limited
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Independent auditor’s report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Liberty Holdings Limited

KEY AUDIT MATTER

HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

Valuation of investment properties at year-end of
R34,3 billion (Refer to the Key Judgements in applying
assumptions on application of accounting policies,
note 4 and note 27.6.1 of the Notes to the group annual
financial statements and note 6.1 of the Detailed
Accounting Policies (Appendix A))

We obtained the latest independent property market reports to
understand the prevailing market conditions in which the Group invests.

Majority of the Group’s investment property is comprised of
retail investment property. At 31 December 2018, the carrying
value of the Group’s total investment property portfolio was
R34,3 billion representing a R1,1 billion increase compared to the
prior year.
The Group’s accounting policy is to measure investment
properties at fair value using either the discounted cash flow
model or capitalisation of net income method or a combination
of both . The measurement of fair value of investment properties
is dependent on the valuation techniques applied and the inputs
into the valuation model. The group has applied the discounted
cash flow model to value its investment properties at year end.
Inputs into the valuation model include, amongst others factors,
existing tenant terms, location of the properties, vacancy levels
and restrictions, if any, on the sale or use of the property.
Amongst others, the following key assumptions and inputs
are made by management in determining the fair value of
investment properties:
• exit capitalisation rates; and
• discount rates.
All properties are externally valued by qualified real estate
appraisers (the appraisers) on an annual basis.
During December 2018, a tenant requested a rental holiday
totalling 40.9% of its total gross rental over a 24 month period.
This impacts the potential future cash flow forecast used in the
valuation of the investment property portfolio.
We considered this impact on the discounted future cash flows
to be a matter of most significance to our current year audit, due
to the significant amount of management judgement involved
in determining whether the event has a material impact on the
valuation of the investment properties.

We updated our understanding of and tested the relevant controls
related to:
• Entering and amending of leases in support of contractual rental
income;
• Setting and approval of budgets by the Group;
• Detailed analysis of forecasts and trends against actual results that
inform management of the business;
• Review of external valuation reports by an internally appointed
appraiser; and
• Board approval of the valuations obtained.
In respect of the external appraisers we:
• considered their objectivity, independence and expertise by
inspecting the external appraisers’ valuation reports for a statement
of independence and compliance with generally accepted valuation
standards; and
• confirmed the external appraisers’ affiliation with the relevant
professional body.
On a risk based sample basis, we independently tested the calculation of
the fair values in the external appraisers’ valuation reports by performing
the following procedures:
• Utilising our internal property appraiser to assess the appropriateness
of the valuation methodology;
• Considering the applicability
fractional ownership;

of

minority

discounts

to

• Assessing the reasonableness of the cash flows, growth rate, exit
capitalisation and discount rates against market related data for
similar investment properties noting no exceptions;
• Independent recalculation of the accuracy of the valuations; and
• Inspecting the final valuation reports and agreeing the fair value to
the Group’s accounting records noting no exceptions.

We considered the year-end valuation of investment properties
as a matter of most significance to our current year audit due to :

In respect of the specific retail tenant, we obtained an understanding
of the various media reports and the term sheet signed by the Group.
With the assistance of our internal property appraiser, we challenged
management and considered whether an adjustment to the year-end
valuations is required based on the information available in the market.
In addition, we

• the significant judgements required in determining the exit
capitalisation rates and discount rates;

• assessed management’s rationale for not adjusting the year-end
valuations of the properties impacted by the specific tenant,

• the magnitude of the investment property balances at
year-end; and

• considered various scenarios and management’s justification and
support for the chosen scenario, and

• the increase in the investment property balance as a result of
the fair value adjustment for the year.

• assessed the values against a range of potential outcomes and
noted the valuations are still within a reasonable range even without
any adjustment.
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Independent auditor’s report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Liberty Holdings Limited

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Liberty
Holdings Limited Annual financial statements and supporting
information that includes the Directors’ Report, the Audit
Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s Compliance
Statement as required by the Companies Act of South Africa,
which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and
the Liberty Holdings Limited Integrated report, which is expected
to be made available to us after that date. Other information does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not and will not express an
audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information
that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and
the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group and the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group
and/or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance

is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s internal
control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group and / or Company to cease to
continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Independent auditor’s report (continued)
To the Shareholders of Liberty Holdings Limited

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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Report on other legal and regulatory
requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette
Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of Liberty
Holdings Limited for 22 years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: A. du Preez
Registered Auditor
Johannesburg
28 February 2019

Directors’ report
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Main business activities

Accounting policies

Liberty Holdings Limited (LHL) is the holding company of various
operating subsidiaries engaged in the provision of financial services
including long-term and short-term insurance, investment, asset
management and health services. These financial services are
primarily undertaken in South Africa, with various levels of services
being provided in other African countries. LHL is incorporated in
the Republic of South Africa and is a public company listed on the
Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE).

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the 2018 group
and company annual financial statements are consistent with those
adopted in the prior year, except for the mandatory adoption of
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue Recognition from
Contracts with Customers in the year under review. The adoption
of IFRS 9 resulted in a reduction of opening retained surplus of
R121 million on 1 January 2018. Due to the transitional approach
adopted, there were no changes to the group or company’s
2017 comparative period disclosures. Consequential amendments
to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments were also adopted 1 January 2018.

Liberty Kenya Holdings PLC is a subsidiary which is listed on
the Nairobi Stock Exchange in Kenya. Another of the group’s
subsidiaries, Liberty Two Degrees, a Real Estate Investment Trust
(REIT), listed on the Main Board of the JSE as a Corporate REIT on
1 November 2018 (previously listed on the Diversified REIT Sector).

Review of results
Ordinary shareholders’ attributable earnings for the group were
R2 398 million, compared to R3 118 million in 2017. Detailed
commentary on the 2018 financial results is contained in the various
reviews throughout the integrated report. The group’s results are
materially affected by actuarial valuations of policyholder liabilities.
These valuations are undertaken under South African actuarial
practice and guidance.

Strategy refresh in 2018
Liberty underwent a strategy refresh during 2018. Consequently
Liberty has reduced emphasis on growth opportunities across
Africa as well as other diversification initiatives and increased
remedial efforts on its core long-term insurance and asset
management business in South Africa. There are no longer specific
customer facing units (previously being Individual Arrangements,
Group Arrangements and Asset Management). The primary
segments, aligned to the new operating model, operate within two
main geographic clusters, being South African operations and Africa
regions (defined as all operations in Africa, excluding South Africa).
The South African operations consists of long-term insurance
business, namely SA Retail and Liberty Corporate segments, asset
management, namely STANLIB South Africa and Other operations
(governance and strategic execution and certain investment
portfolios), supporting these businesses. Businesses managed in
Africa regions, are segmented as Liberty Africa Insurance, Liberty
Health and STANLIB Africa (asset management).
The segment reporting information in 2018 has been aligned to the
other information used by the chief operating decision makers.
As a consequence of this strategy refresh, certain cash-generating
units were identified as either sub scale or no longer applicable
to Liberty's revised strategy. Consequently the board approved a
process of disposals and strategic partnership negotiations which is
highly probable to lead to loss of control of these cash-generating
units during 2019. More detail on these disposal groups classified as
held for sale is provided in note 25 of the group financial statements.

As a result of these amendments, management reviewed the
presentation policy for income statement movements on financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Effective
1 January 2018, any income statement movements on these items
are presented as fair value adjustments, rather than as interest and
dividend income and finance costs. These were adopted in line with
the transition approach for IFRS 9.
As a result of the strategy refresh, the IFRS 8 Operating Segments
were updated in line with information that is currently reported
to management. 2017 segment information was restated on the
same basis.

Change in presentation of the cash
flow statement
During 2018 a comprehensive review of the group's long-term
insurance business model was undertaken. In addition consideration
was also given to the new regulatory capital regime effective
1 July 2018 and the enterprise risk management framework.
All of the above support a change in key judgement relating to the
appropriateness of all cash flows relating to investment portfolios
backing policyholder liabilities and supporting regulatory and
group risk adjusted minimum capital levels. Management are of the
opinion that these should be reflected as cash flows from operating
activities rather than as previously reflected as cash flows from
investing activities. Due to the materiality of items, the cash flow
statement for 2017 has been restated.
More detail on the changes in accounting policies is included in
note 49 and 50. All significant accounting policies are contained in
Appendix A.

Share capital
There were no changes in the authorised share capital of the
company during the financial year. Under the authority provided
by shareholders, a group subsidiary of Liberty Holdings Limited
purchased 2 306 587 (2017: 3 084 489) ordinary shares at an
average purchase price of R109,77 per share (2017: R113,58), for
a total consideration of R253 million (2017: R350 million). 419 755
(2017: 822 273) of these ordinary shares have been subsequently
utilised, including utilisation by the share rights and restricted share
schemes, whereby shares are transferred to participants at nil
value to meet company obligations in terms of various employee
equity-settled remuneration schemes.
Further details of the company’s share capital are contained in
note 28 to the group’s annual financial statements.

Liberty Holdings Limited
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Directors’ report (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018
SHAREHOLDER DISTRIBUTIONS

2017 Final

Ordinary shareholders
Date of declaration
Dividend per share (cents)
Record date (close of business)
Payment date
Cumulative preference shareholders
Date of declaration
Preference dividend per share (cents)
Record date (close of business)
Payment date

Mr Yuresh Maharaj
Mr Simon Ridley
Mr Howard Walker
Mrs Thembisa Skweyiya

2 August 2018
276,00
31 August 2018
3 September 2018

28 February 2019
415,00
5 April 2019
8 April 2019

4 December 2017
5,50
29 December 2017
2 January 2018

4 June 2018
5,50
29 June 2018
2 July 2018

3 December 2018
5,50
28 December 2018
31 December 2018

Date
12 February 2018
1 September 2018
1 September 2018
15 December 2018

as at 31 December 2018
Number of shares

Total

Directors’ related party information
Shareholders are referred to note 44 to the group annual financial
statements on page 108 to 120 for disclosure pertaining to directors’
related party transactions and key management compensation.

At 31 December 2018, the group’s holding company, Standard Bank
Group Limited, held 53,62% (2017: 53,62%) of Liberty Holding
Limited’s issued ordinary shares and no interests in the issued
cumulative preference shares.

Interest of directors, including their
families, in share capital of Liberty

Non-executives shareholding
SL Botha
JH Maree
JH Sutcliffe
SK Tshabalala

An analysis of Liberty’s obligations in respect of ordinary shares
awarded under equity-settled schemes at 31 December 2018 is
included in Appendix B on pages 222 to 225 of this report.

Holding company

There were no resignations during the year under review.

Executives shareholding
DC Munro
Y Maharaj

2018 Final

1 March 2018
415,00
6 April 2018
9 April 2018

Director appointments during 2018 and up
to the date of this report
Appointments

2018 Interim

2018

2017

88 806
2 384

48 306
–

91 190

48 306

5 335
100 000
4 000
43 000

5 335
100 000
4 000
43 000

152 335

152 335

243 525

200 641

Information on rights and restricted share plan awards granted
to executive directors under the equity-settled remuneration
schemes are contained in the Remuneration report available on the
Liberty Holdings Limited website.

Bancassurance
Liberty has bancassurance business agreements with the Standard
Bank group for the manufacture, sale and promotion of insurance,
investment and health products through the Standard Bank’s
African distribution capability.
In terms of the agreements, Liberty pays profit shares to Standard
Bank with respect to business sourced from Standard Bank
distribution and clients. The amounts to be paid are in most cases
dependent on source and type of business and are paid along
geographical lines.
The payment of the profit share to Standard Bank in South Africa
is paid by way of a preference share mechanism from Liberty
Group Limited.
The bancassurance business agreements are evergreen agreements
with a 24-month notice period for termination. As at the date of
the approval of this report, neither party had given notice. As the
bancassurance relationship provides commercial benefits to both
Liberty and Standard Bank, a governance framework (Related party
committee) is in place to protect the interests of non-controlling
shareholders.

There have been no other changes to the interests of directors,
including their families, in the share capital as disclosed above as at
31 December 2018 to the date of approval of the annual financial
statements, namely 28 February 2019.

Refer to related party disclosure in note 44 to the group annual
financial statements for further details.

Ordinary share rights and restricted shares

The interests in joint ventures and associates, where considered
significant in the light of the group’s financial position and results,
are set out in notes 6 and 7 to the group annual financial statements
on pages 45 to 48.

Liberty operates the following equity-settled share incentive
schemes, being the Liberty Holdings Group Restricted Share Plan
(deferred and long-term) and the Liberty Equity Growth Scheme.
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Joint ventures and associates

Directors’ report (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Subsidiaries
Details of the significant interests in directly owned subsidiary companies are contained in note 5 to the company annual financial statements
on pages 179 and 180 and details of other subsidiaries through these ownerships are contained in Appendix D on pages 230 to 231 of this
report. Certain of the group's subsidiaries are loss making and require liquidity support from the group’s resources. This is either provided
through equity capital injections or intragroup loan funding.

Shareholders
At 31 December 2018 LHL had 8 192 (2017: 8 340) ordinary shareholders, consisting of individuals, corporate investors and
financial institutions.
Analysis of LHL’s ordinary shares at 31 December 2018 is available online on the corporate website.

Special resolutions during 2018
At the annual general meeting (AGM) held on 18 May 2018, LHL's shareholders passed the following special resolutions for the purposes
indicated:
1

To authorise, to the extent required for the implementation of any share incentive scheme, the directors of the company to cause the
company to issue any ordinary shares of the company to any employee, director, prescribed officer or other person in accordance with
any such scheme (in addition to any shares issued in terms of any other authority given to the directors).

2

To grant the company authority to remunerate its non-executive directors for their services as directors and/or pay any fees provided
and that the aforementioned authority shall be valid with effect from 1 January 2018 until the next AGM.

3

To authorise the directors, in terms of and subject to the provisions of sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act, to cause the company
to provide any direct or indirect financial assistance to or for the benefit of:
3.1 any company or corporation which is related or inter-related to the company; or
3.2 any employee, director, prescribed officer or other person or any trust established for their benefit, in terms of any share incentive
scheme described in the company’s remuneration report, for such amounts and on such terms and conditions as the board of the
company may determine.

4

To authorise the directors to facilitate the acquisition by the company, and/or a subsidiary of the company, from time to time of the
issued shares of the company from any person whatsoever upon such terms and conditions and in such amounts as the directors of
the company may from time to time decide, but subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements;
provided that the aggregate number of shares repurchased in terms of this resolution shall not exceed 10% of the company’s issued
share capital as at 31 December 2017.

5

To authorise the directors to create and issue a new class of preference shares and place the unissued preference shares under the
control of the directors.

6 To approve the adoption of a Second Addendum to the Liberty Holdings Group Restricted Share Plan (the Second Addendum)
substantially on the terms and conditions as contained in the document made available to the shareholders, at the company’s
registered office.

Borrowing powers
In terms of the company’s memorandum of incorporation the amount which the company may borrow is unlimited.

Insurance
Liberty has placed cover for losses as a result of commercial crime and claims under professional indemnity as well as for directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance. These covers were renewed at 31 December 2018 for the 2019 year, as part of the Standard Bank Group Limited’s
insurance programme, in which the group participates.

Company secretary
The company secretary is Jill Parratt. The address of the company secretary is that of the registered office, namely Liberty Centre,
1 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein, Johannesburg, 2000.

Events after reporting date
There have been no significant events after the reporting date, being 31 December 2018, to the date of approval of the audited annual
financial statements, namely 28 February 2019.

Liberty Holdings Limited
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Report of the group audit and actuarial committee
for the year ended 31 December 2018

The group audit and actuarial committee
(GAAC) is pleased to present its report for
the financial year ended 31 December 2018,
as required in terms of the Companies Act
No.71 of 2008 of South Africa.
Composition and functions
The GAAC is an independent statutory committee appointed by
the shareholders and comprises five independent directors of
the board of Liberty Holdings Limited (the company). The GAAC
operates under a board approved mandate covering its statutory
responsibilities, as well as additional responsibilities delegated
by the board. A relevant summary of these responsibilities is
provided in the “Governance at Liberty” report available on Liberty’s
corporate website.
The GAAC has a standing group actuarial sub-committee (GAC),
which assists the GAAC in fulfilling its responsibilities relating to
capital adequacy, the review of compliance with actuarial guidance,
the discharge of actuarially related obligations and the review of
material statutory reporting to the Prudential Authority. The GAC
comprises the GAAC chairman and three actuaries. Two of these
actuaries are members of the GAAC, one of whom serves as
chairman of the sub-committee.
Four scheduled GAAC meetings were held during the year under
review. One additional meeting was held to specifically discuss and
provisionally approve material actuarial and other liabilities involving
the exercise of significant judgement.
Four scheduled GAC meetings were held during the year under
review. Two additional meetings were held, one of which was
to consider key results from the 31 December 2017 Long Term
Insurance Regulatory submission (LT 2017) and the other to discuss
and approve the key valuation assumptions.

Discharge of responsibilities
The group chief executive, group financial director, group chief
actuary and heads of control functions attend GAAC meetings.
The external and internal auditors attend GAAC meetings by
invitation. The external and internal auditors meet independently
with the GAAC when required.
The GAAC has operated in compliance with the terms of reference
contained in its board approved mandate and has discharged its
responsibilities accordingly. These terms of reference, including
roles and responsibilities, are aligned with the requirements of
King IV, the Companies Act and other regulatory requirements.
In particular, the work performed by the GAAC was in compliance
with paragraph 3.84(g) of the JSE Listings Requirements.
In instances where King IV principles and requirements have not
been applied, these have been explained in the Governance section
of the company’s 2018 integrated report and in the “Governance at
Liberty” report.
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External audit
The GAAC considered the performance of the external auditors
for the 2018 year and concluded that the performance and extent
of audit coverage was satisfactory. The GAAC, at the meeting held
on 26 February 2019, proposed that PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
(PwC) be re-appointed as external auditors for the 2019 year at
the 2019 annual general meeting, and that Ms Alsue du Preez be
the designated auditor responsible for performing the function of
auditor for the 2019 year.
PwC has been the auditor of Liberty Holdings Limited for 22 years.
The designated auditor responsible is rotated on a five yearly basis.
The 2019 year is the final year of Ms Alsue du Preez’s five year term.
The GAAC approved the external audit plan and fees for the
2018 year, and satisfied itself that the auditors are independent of
the company and are thereby able to conduct their audit functions
without any undue influence from the company. The GAAC has
approved a policy for the provision of non-audit services and
reviewed compliance with this policy for the year under review.
Findings reported by the external auditors on the results of their
independent audits were considered by the GAAC in its overall
assessment of the effectiveness of the company’s internal
financial controls.
Specifically, the key audit matters for the 2018 year, as reported
in the independent auditor’s report, were discussed by the GAAC.
After reviewing and considering input from management and the
external auditors, the GAAC was satisfied that these matters have
been appropriately reflected in the annual financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

Internal audit
The GAAC is responsible for ensuring and was satisfied that the
internal audit control function is objective and has the necessary
resources, standing and authority within the organisation to enable
it to fulfil its duties. The head of internal audit has a functional
reporting line to the GAAC chairman, and an operational reporting
line to the group financial director.
The head of the internal audit function resigned in December 2018.
As an interim measure, until such time as a new permanent head
of internal audit is in place, a suitable acting head of internal audit
has been appointed. This individual has the required skills, ethics,
extensive experience and knowledge of the group and its activities
to ensure the continuity of the activities of the internal audit control
function and ensure a proper handover once a new head of internal
audit is appointed.
The GAAC chairman provides input to the assessment of the
performance of the chief audit executive. The effectiveness of
the former and acting heads of the internal audit control function
was considered to be satisfactory by the GAAC. Internal audit
operates according to a GAAC approved internal audit mandate.
The GAAC approved the internal audit plan and resourcing for the
2018 financial year.

Report of the group audit and actuarial committee (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018
Internal audit provides quarterly reports to the GAAC. Reported
findings and annual assurance statements provided by internal
audit were considered by the GAAC in its overall assessment of the
effectiveness of the company’s internal financial controls.

Financial director

Internal financial controls

Group finance function

The GAAC has approved a framework for the internal financial
controls implemented by the company and its subsidiaries. Nothing
has come to the attention of the GAAC to indicate that there has
been any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls,
resulting in material unrecorded loss to the group, during the year
and up to the date of this report. Accordingly, the GAAC is satisfied
that the internal financial reporting controls provide a reliable basis
for the preparation of the annual financial statements.

The GAAC has satisfied itself as to the appropriateness of the
expertise, resources and experience of the group’s finance function.

The above overall assessment of the effectiveness of internal
financial controls is based on consideration of information and
explanations provided by management, the findings reported
by internal audit and their annual assurance statements, and
discussions with the external auditors on the results of their
independent audits.
The GAAC received no material notifications of any concerns or
complaints regarding:
• The accounting practices and internal audit of the company;
• The content or auditing of the company’s financial statements;

The GAAC has satisfied itself that the group financial director has
the appropriate expertise and experience required for the role.

Annual financial statements
The GAAC has reviewed and recommended approval of the group
and company annual financial statements by the board.

YGH Suleman
Chairman
Group audit and actuarial committee
Johannesburg
28 February 2019

• The internal financial controls of the company; or
• Any related matter.

Combined assurance
The combined assurance model is aligned to the roles and
responsibilities as articulated in the three lines of defence risk
governance model. There is regular communication between
business unit management (where applicable), heads of control
functions and statutory actuaries, as well as independent assurance
providers, including internal and external audit. Assurance on
the management of key risks is provided monthly, quarterly and
annually depending on the provider and as such, results in efficient
and effective combined assurance.

Liberty Holdings Limited
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Accounting principles
for the year ended 31 December 2018

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The 2018 group and company annual financial
statements of Liberty Holdings Limited have been
prepared in accordance with and containing information
required by:
• International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS);

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of these annual financial
statements are in terms of IFRS and are consistent with those applied in the prior
year group and company annual financial statements except for the mandatory
adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. The group has elected to continue to apply the hedge accounting
requirements of IAS 39 in the adoption of IFRS 9.

• the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the
Under the transitional approach adopted by the group for these standards,
Accounting Practices Committee;
• Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by there was no change to comparative period primary financial statements or note
disclosures. The impact to the group’s opening retained income as at 1 January
the Financial Reporting Standards Council;
2018 was a reduction of R121 million after taxation (relating to IFRS 9 only).
• the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited; and
Consequential amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and
• the South African Companies Act No. 71 of 2008.
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures impacted only the 2018 annual financial
statements.
Presentation change due to IFRS 9, adopted in line with the entity's
transition approach

The group re-assessed its accounting presentation policy of all IFRS 9 related
transactions. As part of the IFRS 9 implementation, all income statement
movements on financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss
(including interest and dividends) are prospectively presented as fair value
adjustments. This has led to a decrease in 'investment income' and 'finance
costs' for the year ended 31 December 2018, with the corresponding amounts
recognised in fair value adjustments to assets held at fair value through profit or
loss and to fair value adjustments to financial liabilities respectively .
Refer notes 31 and 32 to the group annual financial statements for more detail.
Restatement of cash flow statement
During 2018 a comprehensive review of the group's long-term insurance
business model was undertaken. In addition consideration was also given to
the new regulatory capital regime effective 1 July 2018 and the enterprise risk
management framework. All of the above support a change in key judgement
relating to the appropriateness of all cash flows relating to investment portfolios
backing policyholder liabilities and supporting regulatory and group risk adjusted
minimum capital levels. Management are of the opinion that these should
be reflected as cash flows from operating activities rather than as previously
reflected as cash flows from investing activities. Due to the materiality of items,
the cash flow statement for 2017 has been restated.
Segment reporting
As a result of the strategy refresh exercise conducted in 2018, the segment
reporting information has been aligned to the information used by the chief
operating decision makers. 2017 comparative information has been restated.
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Accounting principles (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

ACCOUNTING POLICY ELECTIONS
Where permitted under IFRS, the group adopts accounting policy choices which increase the relevance of reported profit in line with how
the business is managed and to eliminate, as much as possible, accounting mismatches within profit or loss. Refer to the key judgements
regarding the business model and related classification and measurement under IFRS 9, as well as note 49 changes in accounting policies
for the transitional impact.
• Financial assets: Where applicable, debt instruments that back policyholder liabilities are designated as at fair value through profit or loss
as permitted by IFRS 9, if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise from measuring
assets or liabilities on a different basis.
• For all financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value through profit or loss, all income statement movements
(including dividends, interest received and finance costs) are classified as fair value adjustments.
• Financial liabilities are predominantly designated at fair value through profit or loss. This results in more relevant information because
financial assets and financial liabilities are managed and performance is evaluated on a fair value basis for information provided internally
to the group's key management personnel. Reporting on a fair value basis also eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency.
• Interests in mutual fund associate and joint venture investments which are held indirectly or directly by investment-linked insurance
funds, in which the group has significant influence, are designated on initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
• Cash flow hedge accounting is applied for certain derivatives that protect the future margin releases on financial assets. The group
continues to apply IAS 39 hedge accounting requirements as permitted by IFRS 9.
• Shadow accounting is applied for insurance liabilities backed by owner-occupied property as applicable to eliminate an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss.
• Although the application of the financial soundness valuation basis is not an accounting policy election as such, IFRS refers the
measurement of these assets and liabilities to existing local practice until adoption of IFRS 17 effective 1 January 2022 (following IASB due
process). In South Africa, the valuation basis is described in actuarial guidance issued by the Actuarial Society of South Africa.
OTHER SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICY ELECTIONS WHERE IFRS ALLOWS
AN OPTION

• After initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment.
• Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.
• All assets classified within disposal groups held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying value and fair value less costs to sell (not limited to non-current assets).
• Assets and liabilities acquired under common control transactions are incorporated
by the acquirer at their pre-combination carrying amounts.

Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Key judgements in applying assumptions on application of
accounting policies

for the year ended 31 December 2018

Key assumptions can materially affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities. The assumptions require complex
management judgements and are therefore continually evaluated.
They are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. The following key assumptions are
considered material assumptions applied in preparing these annual
financial statements.

Classification and measurement of
financial instruments
IFRS 9 requires an entity to assess its business model to determine
the classification of financial assets. A business model refers to how
an entity manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. Management applies judgement to determine the level at
which the business model assessment is applied.
Liberty Holdings Limited is the holding company of various
operating subsidiaries engaged in the provision of financial services.
The majority of the group's business is conducted through the
licensed long-term insurer, Liberty Group Limited (LGL).
LGL's business model is to utilise and renew available capital
resources sustainably to create value by providing solutions to
individuals or groups of individuals to meet their insurance risks
and investment needs. LGL earnings are derived mainly from
three activities, being insurance underwriting profit, fees for the
provision of investment products and services (mainly referenced
to the underlying fair value of assets) and net investment income
on shareholder investment market exposures (capital invested and
derived exposures from insurance contract obligations), less group
administration and strategic expenses.
Liberty Group Limited business model: The financial assets
held by LGL as part at its operating activities are managed with
the objective of realising cash flows through the sale of assets.
Management makes decisions based on the assets’ fair values and
manages the assets to realise those fair values. All the financial
assets held by LGL are actively traded over the medium term
and are holistically managed as one portfolio of assets on a fair
value basis. LGL's overall objective is to maximise risk adjusted
returns measured on a fair value basis. This is supported by the
group's approach to balance sheet management, the asset/liability
matching programme, risk and regulatory capital management,
remuneration and performance reporting. Financial assets include
cash and cash equivalents which are included in the asset portfolio
for asset / liability matching.
Consequently all of LGL's financial assets are by default under
IFRS 9 classified at fair value through profit or loss, except for
derivative assets which are held for trading. The default classification
includes financial assets that are mandatorily measured at fair value
through profit or loss, as well as those that meet the business
model assessment for fair value through profit or loss under IFRS 9.
The business models of subsidiaries of LGL have also been assessed.
For the majority of these subsidiaries the business objective is an
extension of LGL's business model and therefore the same fair value
through profit or loss default classification applies for all financial
assets. For a full list of financial assets and their classification, refer
note 9.
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Liberty Holdings Limited (LHL) company and other
subsidiaries of the LHL group: With regards to the rest of the
Liberty's businesses, management have identified the various
remaining materially distinct business models, being long-term
insurance outside South Africa, short-term insurance and health
services, asset management, and investment holding companies.
Within each type of business, portfolios of financial assets have
different business models and each financial asset has been
assessed individually in terms of IFRS 9.
Consolidation of money market unit trusts: As discussed
below, certain unit trusts or mutual funds are consolidated under
IFRS 10. Most of the funds that the group consolidates are NAV
priced and the funds’ performance is assessed on a fair value basis.
The business model of the money market unit trust is to collect
contractual cash flows, as well as to sell the underlying financial
instruments to achieve the desired yield for its investors. The assets
are therefore classified at fair value through other comprehensive
income. On consolidation of the Standard Bank Institutional
money market fund, any fair value gain or loss is disclosed in other
comprehensive income. For a full list of financial assets and their
classification, refer note 49 Changes in accounting policies.

Basis of consolidation
Interest in subsidiaries: Subsidiaries are defined as entities that are
controlled by the group. In certain cases, the assessment of control
requires the application of significant judgement. The current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee (rather than the
actual exercise of power), the nature of substantive or protective
rights and voting rights are all considered when assessing whether
the group controls another entity.
Unincorporated property partnerships: Where the group owns
a majority stake in certain property partnerships and controls the
management of those properties, including the power over all
significant decisions around the use and maintenance of those
properties, they are classified as businesses, and the group
consolidates its interest in those property partnerships. Refer
note 47.3 for details.
Interests in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates –
mutual funds: For mutual funds where the group does not have
the irrevocable asset management agreement over the mutual
funds and in which it has not invested significantly, factors such
as the existence of control through voting rights held by the
group in the fund or significant economic power in the fund, are
considered in the assessment of control. Judgement is required in
the assessment of whether the group has control, joint control or
significant influence. Control is assessed in terms of the variability of
returns from the group’s involvement in the funds, the ability to use
power to affect those returns and the significance of the group’s
investment in the funds. Based on the assessment of control or
significant influence over these mutual funds, certain funds have
been either classified as subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates
respectively. Refer notes 6 and 7 for details.

Key judgements in applying assumptions on application of
accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Basis of consolidation (continued)
Interests in joint arrangements: Joint arrangements are
arrangements whereby the group and one or more other parties
have joint control of an entity. Classification of a joint arrangement
as either a joint operation or a joint venture depends on the
contractual rights and obligations of the parties to the arrangement.
Judgement is applied in determining whether the parties have joint
control over the entity. Refer note 6 for details.
Interests in associates: An associate is an entity over which
the group has the ability to exercise significant influence, but not
control or joint control, through participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investment. Judgement is applied
in assessing the entities where the group has the ability to exercise
significant influence. In the case of voting rights, it is generally
demonstrated by the group holding 20% or more of the voting
power of the entity.

Properties fair value measurement
Investment and owner-occupied properties are measured at
fair value by external valuation appraisers, taking into account
characteristics of the properties that market participants would
consider when pricing the property at measurement date.
The key assumptions in determination of the fair value are the exit
capitalisation rates and discount rates. Other inputs considered
relate to existing tenant terms, location, vacancy levels and
restrictions, if any, on the sale or use of the asset. The group makes
judgement regarding the unit of account, i.e. whether it should
be valued as a standalone property or as a group of properties.
Determination of fair value also considers the current use of the
property in terms of its highest and best use, taking into account
the use of the asset that is physically possible, legally permissible
and financially feasible. Management derived risk adjusted
discount rates factor in liquidity and asset class risk. Refer to
note 4 of the group annual financial statements for specific details
and note 27 for the valuation techniques and assumptions and a
sensitivity analysis on the fair value of these properties to a change
in the exit capitalisation and discount rate assumptions. Given the
number of management judgements applied in the valuation, these
assets are considered to be level three in the fair value hierarchy.

Fair value of unlisted financial
instruments disclosed in level 3 in the fair
value hierarchy
The fair value of financial instruments significantly affects the
measurement of profit and loss and disclosures of financial risks
in the financial statements. Fair value calculations are dependent
on various sources of external and internal observable data and
on sophisticated modelling techniques used to value financial
instruments. Financial instruments disclosed as level 3 have more
unobservable inputs and the valuation requires greater judgement
and estimation in determining appropriate valuation techniques
and obtaining relevant and reliable inputs.
The judgement as to whether a market is active may include, for
example, consideration of factors such as the magnitude and
frequency of trading activity, the availability of prices and the size of

bid/offer spreads. In inactive markets, obtaining assurance that the
transaction price provides evidence of fair value or determining the
adjustments to transaction prices that are necessary to measure
the fair value of the asset or liability requires additional work
during the valuation process. The valuations of the private equity
investments are performed on an asset-by-asset basis using a
valuation methodology appropriate to the specific investment and
in line with industry guidelines. In determining the valuation of the
investment the principal assumptions used to determine the fair
market value fall into three categories, namely:
• the projected long-term profitability of the given asset which
is influenced by factors such as real gross domestic product
growth and projected capital expenditure;
• the discount rate applied to expected future profits (or dividends
as appropriate) which take into account the prevailing long-term
interest rates and various asset specific risk premia; and
• in some instances a further illiquidity discount is added to
ensure that the asset can be transacted at its carrying value if
so required.

Policyholder insurance and investment
contracts with discretionary
participation features
Policyholder assets and liabilities under long-term
insurance contracts and related reinsurance assets
and liabilities
Liability and asset determination: Policyholder assets and
liabilities under insurance contracts include provisions for the net
present value of expected future benefits and expected future
costs, less expected future premiums; and for claims incurred
and not reported (IBNR). An IBNR provision is an estimate of the
ultimate cost of claims where the loss event has occurred prior to
financial position date, but which have not been reported at that
date. Reinsurance assets and liabilities under insurance contracts
include provisions for the net present value of expected future
reinsurance premiums and expected future reinsurance recoveries.
With effect from 1 January 2019, Liberty's operating model was
changed following a strategy refresh process. This resulted in a
far more aligned reporting structure that ensures that the shared
service units, including corporate support functions, are more
focused on the business of LGL. Therefore it has become apparent
that, going forward, a significant amount of LHL expenses which
are related to management and shared service including corporate
function expenses, will increase their support of the insurance
operations of LGL. Consequently it was considered necessary in light
of the prospective reserving basis used to determine policyholder
liabilities, to reserve for the maintenance expense component
anticipating the impact of the transfer of these expenses to LGL
from 1 January 2019.
The key assumptions applied and analysis of their sensitivity
have been detailed in the insurance risk and sensitivity analysis
components of the risk management section of this report, in
section 5 of the accounting policies and in note 13 to the group
annual financial statements.

Liberty Holdings Limited
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Key judgements in applying assumptions on application of
accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Policyholder insurance and investment
contracts with discretionary participation
features (continued)
Policyholder liabilities – investment contracts with
discretionary participation features
Liability determination: The full liability represents the total fair
value of the matching asset portfolio and an estimate of the cost
of any guarantees provided. Current policyholder obligations are
estimated by calculating a net present value of expected future
cash flows allowing for assumed future bonus rates. The difference
between the fair value of the matching asset portfolio and the
estimate of the current policyholder obligations is the bonus
stabilisation reserve.

Deferred taxation
Asset measurement: Deferred taxation assets are assessed for
the probability of recovery based on the applicable estimated
future business performance and related projected taxable
income. The group’s expected future activities and results support
the recognition of the deferred tax assets where applicable, in
accordance with the guidance provided in IAS 12 Income Taxes.
Judgement is applied as to the timing of the utilisation of the
deferred tax assets. The total amount arises from various group
entities, mainly attributable to the utilisation of tax losses and
to timing differences. The group expects the timing of future
emergence of taxable profits to be between two and five years,
depending on the entity.
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Disposal groups held for sale
Management has assessed that it is highly probable that the
carrying values of certain of the group’s operations will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than continuing use.
The strategic intent to exit these operations followed the group’s
strategy refresh, as supported by the board of directors. Senior
management have committed to plans to sell these disposal groups,
which involve an active programme to locate a buyer for the sale,
marketed at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair
value. The disposal groups are available for immediate sale in their
present condition. It is unlikely that any significant changes will be
made to the plans to sell these disposal groups. It is highly probable
that they will be disposed of within the next 12 months.
A key judgement in this process is the determination of the fair value
less costs to sell. Management have used budgets and forecasts,
indicative non-binding offers, current market conditions and other
relevant information, in the assessment of fair value less costs to
sell for each disposal group. Further details are contained in note 25.

Cash flow statement
During 2018 a comprehensive review of the group's long-term
insurance business model was undertaken. In addition consideration
was also given to the new regulatory capital regime effective
1 July 2018 and the enterprise risk management framework.
All of the above support a change in key judgement relating to the
appropriateness of all cash flows relating to investment portfolios
backing policyholder liabilities and supporting regulatory and
group risk adjusted minimum capital levels. Management are of the
opinion that these should be reflected as cash flows from operating
activities rather than as previously reflected as cash flows from
investing activities.

Summary of the group’s assets and liabilities by measurement
basis
as at 31 December 2018
Financial position measurement basis

2018
Rm
Assets
Intangible assets
Defined benefit pension fund
employer surplus
Properties
Equipment
Interest in joint ventures
Interests in associates
Deferred taxation
Deferred acquisition costs
Long-term policyholder assets –
insurance contracts
Reinsurance assets

Fair value
through Fair value
profit or
through
loss(1)
OCI

Financial
Cost less Amortised
soundness(2) amortisation(3)
cost(4)
470

34 316

1 645

1038

1 297
13 824

1 699
420

397 058

18 448

10 079

2 285

7 954

90,8

4,2

2,3

0,5

1,9

Total liabilities
Percentage (%)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

140

140
35 961
1 038
1 353
13 834
245
777

1 699
420

420

Total assets

Reinsurance liabilities
Third-party financial liabilities arising on
consolidation of mutual funds
Provisions
Deferred taxation
Deferred revenue
Short-term insurance liabilities
Financial liabilities
Liabilities held for trading and for hedging
Repurchase agreements liabilities and
collateral deposits payable
Employee benefits
Insurance and other payables
Current taxation(5)
Disposal group liabilities classified as held
for sale

572

6 708
2 119

311 562

Insurance contracts
Investment contracts with discretionary
participation features
Financial liabilities under investment contracts

102

6 708
2 119

Financial investments
Policy loans receivable
Assets held for trading and for hedging
Repurchase agreements, scrip and
collateral assets
Prepayments, insurance and
other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Disposal group assets classified as held
for sale

Liabilities
Long-term policyholder liabilities

Total

56
10
245

777

Long-term insurance
Short-term insurance

Percentage (%)

Other

16 803

328 365
340
10 340

340

10 340
12 658

12 658

3 037
10 024

664
6 950
8 407

99 813

99 813

1 252

4 953
16 974

897

897

1 450 437 274
0,3

100,0

211 881

310 994

200 744

200 744

10 437

10 437
99 813

283

283

48 186

145
2 694

314
6 478
8 457

1 626

11 747
4 628

708

179 309

219 083

314

2 334

44,2

53,9

0,1

0,6

984

48 186
145
2 694
314
984
8 104
8 457

347

11 747
1 377
11 971
347

278

278

1 377

4 841 405 881
1,2

100,0

Fair value through profit or loss includes all IFRS 9 fair value through profit or loss classifications.
Financial soundness valuation methodology is defined in Appendix E.
Cost less amortisation is original cost less straight-line amortisation over defined periods, limited to residual value.
Amortised cost utilising the effective interest method.
Includes deemed disposal taxation liability.
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Summary of the group’s assets and liabilities by measurement
basis (continued)
as at 31 December 2018
Financial position measurement basis
Fair value
through
profit or
loss(1)

2017
Rm
Assets
Intangible assets
Defined benefit pension fund
employer surplus
Properties
Equipment
Interest in joint ventures
Interests in associates
Deferred taxation
Deferred acquisition costs
Long-term policyholder assets –
insurance contracts
Reinsurance assets

Financial
soundness(2)

Cost less
amortisation(3)

Amortised
cost(4)

136
34 768

1 128

1 193
15 197

Total

95

231

171

171
34 768
1 128
1 244
15 197
336
737

51
336

737
7 484
1 481
1 481

Long-term insurance
Short-term insurance

Other

293

7 484
1 774

293

1 481
293

Financial investments
Loans and receivables
Assets held for trading and for hedging
Repurchase agreements, scrip and
collateral assets
Prepayments, insurance and
other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

338 534

Total assets

430 993

8 965

2 001

1 222

946

444 127

97,0

2,0

0,5

0,3

0,2

100,0

101 930

220 988

322 918

1 411

209 143

210 554

11 845

11 845

Percentage (%)
Liabilities
Long-term policyholder liabilities
Insurance contracts
Investment contracts with discretionary
participation features
Financial liabilities under
investment contracts
Reinsurance liabilities
Third-party financial liabilities arising on
consolidation of mutual funds
Provisions
Deferred taxation
Deferred revenue
Short-term insurance liabilities
Financial liabilities
Liabilities held for trading and for hedging
Repurchase agreements liabilities and
collateral deposits payable
Employee benefits
Insurance and other payables
Current taxation(5)
Total liabilities
Percentage (%)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

7 871
11 900

11 900

6 361
15 169

6 361
15 169

100 519

100 519
663

663

49 713

76
3 386

291
5 581

6 311
9 097
951
11 995

780

49 713
76
3 386
291
780
5 581
6 311

1 479

9 097
1 446
11 995
1 479

495

179 997

221 651

291

5 581

6 216

413 736

43,5

53,6

0,1

1,3

1,5

100,0

Fair value through profit or loss is amounts that equal or materially approximate fair value.
Financial soundness valuation methodology is defined in Appendix E.
Cost less amortisation is original cost less straight-line amortisation over defined periods, limited to residual value.
Amortised cost utilising the effective interest rate method.
Includes deemed disposal taxation liability.
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Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2018
Accounting
Policy ref(1)

Notes

2018

2017

Assets
Intangible assets
Defined benefit pension fund employer surplus
Properties
Equipment
Interests in joint ventures
Interests in associates
Deferred taxation
Deferred acquisition costs
Long-term policyholder assets – insurance contracts
Reinsurance assets

3
23
4
5
6
7
17
8
13

572
140
35 961
1 038
1 353
13 834
245
777
6 708
2 119

231
171
34 768
1 128
1 244
15 197
336
737
7 484
1 774

Long-term insurance
Short-term insurance

13
20

1 699
420

1 481
293

Financial investments
Loans and receivables
Assets held for trading and for hedging
Repurchase agreements, scrip and collateral assets
Prepayments, insurance and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Disposal group assets classified as held for sale

9.1
9.1
9.3
10
11
12
25

328 365
340
10 340
12 658
4 953
16 974
897

338 534
1 222
7 871
11 900
6 361
15 169

437 274

444 127

310 994

322 918

Rm

6.4
8.1
6.1-6.3
6.5
2, 4.1
2, 4.1
8.4
5.6
5
5.9

4.1
4.1
4.1
4.1
4.1
4.1
8.7

Total assets
Liabilities
5 Long-term policyholder liabilities
5 Insurance contracts
5 Investment contracts with discretionary participation features
4.2, 5 Financial liabilities under investment contracts

13
13
14

200 744
10 437
99 813

210 554
11 845
100 519

5.9
4.2
8.5
8.4
5, 8.2

13
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
9.3
22
23
24

283
48 186
145
2 694
314

663
49 713
76
3 386
291
436
780
5 581
6 311
9 097
1 446
11 995
1 043

5
4.2
4.2, 4.3
4.2
8.1
4.2, 5
8.4
8.7

Reinsurance liabilities
Third-party financial liabilities arising on consolidation of mutual funds
Provisions
Deferred taxation
Deferred revenue
Deemed disposal taxation liability
Short-term insurance liabilities
Financial liabilities
Liabilities held for trading and for hedging
Repurchase agreements liabilities and collateral deposits payable
Employee benefits
Insurance and other payables
Current taxation
Disposal group liabilities classified as held for sale

25

405 881

413 736

23 003

22 444

28
28

26
5 104
18 661
(788)

26
5 157
18 163
(902)

47

8 390

7 947

31 393

30 391

437 274

444 127

Total liabilities
Equity
7 Ordinary shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Share premium
Retained surplus
Other reserves
2 Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Total equity and liabilities
(1)

Accounting policy reference in Appendix A.
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984
8 104
8 457
11 747
1 377
11 971
347
278

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2018
Accounting
Policy ref(1)

Rm

5, 8.2
5, 8.2
8.2
8.2
8.2
4.1, 8.2
8.3
4.1, 6
4.1, 6

Notes

Revenue
Insurance premiums
Reinsurance premiums
Net insurance premiums
Revenue from contracts with customers
Fee income and reinsurance commission
Hotel operations sales
Investment income
Interest income on assets using the effective interest method
Fair value adjustments to assets held at fair value through profit and loss
Investment gains
Total income
Claims and policyholder benefits under insurance contracts
Insurance claims recovered from reinsurers
Change in long-term policyholder assets and liabilities
Liabilities under insurance contracts
Policyholder assets related to insurance contracts
Investment contracts with discretionary participation features
Applicable to reinsurers
Fair value adjustment to long-term policyholder liabilities under investment contracts
Fair value adjustment to financial liabilities
Fair value adjustment on third-party mutual fund interests
Acquisition costs
General marketing and administration expenses
Remeasurement of disposal groups held for sale
Finance costs
Profit share allocations under bancassurance and other agreements
Equity accounted earnings from joint venture
Profit before taxation
Taxation(2)
Total earnings
Other comprehensive income/(loss)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Net change in fair value on cash flow hedges
Income and capital gains tax relating to net change in fair value on cash flow hedges
Net movement in debt instruments measured at FVOCI(4)
Income tax relating to net movement in debt instruments measured at FVOCI(4)
Foreign currency translation
Items that may not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Owner-occupied properties – fair value adjustment
Income and capital gains tax relating to owner-occupied properties fair value adjustment
Change in long-term policyholder insurance liabilities (application of shadow accounting)
Actuarial gains on post-retirement medical aid liability
Income tax relating to post-retirement medical aid liability
Net adjustments to defined benefit pension fund(3)
Income tax relating to defined benefit pension fund
Fair value adjustments to financial liabilities arising from own credit
Income tax relating to fair value adjustments to financial liabilities arising from own credit

29
29
30
30
30
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2

38 521
4 073

38 020

3 316
1 516
3 078

3 683
532
21 652
18 835

40

4 297
(1 255)

6 568
(2 864)

3 042
369
269
(9)
3
42
(12)
245
100
19
2
2
70
(20)
(30)
8
68
(19)

3 704
(233)
(95)
75
(21)

Total comprehensive income

3 411

3 471

2

Total earnings attributable to:
Shareholders’ equity
Non-controlling interests

2 398
644

3 118
586

3 042

3 704

2

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Shareholders’ equity
Non-controlling interests

2 680
731

2 932
539

3 411

3 471

8.4

4.4
8.4
4.1
4.1
3
6.2
8.4
5
8.2
8.4
8.2
8.4
4.2
4.2

33
33

14
38
15
34
35
25
37

4
23.7
23.5
21.1

Basic and fully diluted earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Fully diluted basic earnings per share

(4)

39 970
(1 950)

6

8.7
8.2

(3)

40 611
(2 090)

82 722
(38 819)
1 800
(6 829)
(6 504)
170
(521)
26
(9 116)

4.2, 5, 6
4.2
4.2
5.4

(2)

2017

50 504
(39 504)
1 571
11 449
10 024
(776)
1 607
594
1 273
(1 381)
(2 407)
(4 413)
(11 184)
(249)
(110)
(1 284)
32

5
5
5

(1)

2018

1
1

(4 619)
(4 935)
(11 345)
(1 344)
(972)
25

(149)
(138)
(67)
(14)
(32)
45
(13)
(41)
(16)

Cents

Cents

889,1
863,7

1 152,6
1 120,7

Accounting policy reference in Appendix A.
IFRS requires both policyholder and shareholder taxation to be reported in the taxation line. This therefore distorts the effective tax charge relative to profit before taxation.
Net adjustments to defined benefit pension fund include actuarial gains or losses, return on plan assets, reduced by the interest on the net defined benefit asset and the effect of
the application of the asset ceiling.
Fair value through other comprehensive income.

The group has, as permitted by IFRS 9, elected not to restate its comparative financial statements for changes to disclosures. Therefore
comparability will not be achieved as the comparative financial information has been prepared on an IAS 39 basis. Refer to note 49 for more
detail on the adoption of IFRS 9.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2018
Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
Capital
treasury
reserve
and CRRF

Rm
Balance at 1 January 2017
Non-controlling interests’ shares issued in subsidiary
Net transaction between owners –
Liberty Two Degrees(3)
Acquisition of unincorporated property partnerships
Disposal of interest in subsidiary –
Liberty Life Swaziland
Ordinary dividends (total 691 cents per share)
Total comprehensive income
Preference dividends
Unincorporated property partnerships
Capital contribution
Distribution
Non-controlling interests’ share of
subsidiary distributions
Share buy-back(2)
Black economic empowerment transaction
Share-based payments
Transfer of vested share-based payments
Net movements in owner-occupied properties
Balance at 31 December 2017
IFRS 9 transition adjustment (net of taxation)
Net transaction between owners – Liberty
Two Degrees(3)
Transaction between owners – STANLIB REIT Fund
Managers (refer note 39.1)
Share issue costs in subsidiary
Ordinary dividends (total 691 cents per share)
Total comprehensive income
Cash flow hedge recycled through profit & loss
Preference dividends
Unincorporated property partnerships
Capital contribution
Distribution
Non-controlling interests’ share of subsidiary
distributions
Share buy-back(2)
Black economic empowerment transaction
Share-based payments
Transfer of vested share-based payments
Net movements in owner-occupied properties
Balance at 31 December 2018
Ordinary share capital
Ordinary share premium
Treasury share reserve
Capital Redemption Reserve Fund (CRRF)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

4 385

Empowerment
reserve
(148)

FCTR(1)
101

( 102)

(350)

4 035

Cash flow
hedging
reserve

Debt
instruments(4)

( 185)

54

25

(123)

(1)

(131)

(1)

(247)

3 787

158

(6)
12

30

157

(125)

30

24

(99)

26
5 104
(1 346)
3

FCTR: Foreign Currency Translation Reserve.
Share buy-backs are purchases of shares from the market to meet employee share-based payments obligations. Refer note 36 for details of share schemes.
Net transaction between owners refers to the acquisition or disposal of L2D shares between LGL investment portfolios to match policyholder obligations in 2018.
Debt instruments measured at FVOCI.
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Items that may not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Owner
occupied
properties
333

( 81)

PostApplication retirement
of shadow medical aid
liability
accounting
61

( 32)

3

32

Defined
benefit
pension
fund

Financial
liabilities
own credit

( 4)

Retained
surplus

200

16 930

(34)

( 57)

99
(64)

45
297

Sharebased
payment
reserve

29

35

(61)

(78)

201

Noncontrolling
interests

Total

7 330
2

29 006
2

(10)

351
87

341
87

9
(1 908)
3 118
(2)

9

21

2

50

( 22)

49

35
353

31

85

(83)

(29)

235

35
(273)

(133)

(133)
(350)
32
99

64
(45)
18 163
(43)

7 947

(76)

377

(1 906)
2 398
(2)

94
(25)

35
(273)

539

7

128
(35)

(238)

18
(1 942)
3 471
(2)
(238)

30 391
(121)
301

(128)
(1)

(222)

(2)
(1 941)
3 411
12
(2)
(222)

76
(298)

76
(298)

(314)

(314)
(247)
33
94

731

9
25
(35)
18 661

8 390

31 393
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Rm

Notes

(379)

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash utilised by operations

41

Cash receipts from policyholders
Cash paid to policyholders, intermediaries, suppliers and employees
Interest received(4)
Finance costs(5)
Dividends received(4)
Distributions paid
Distribution to non-controlling interests in unincorporated property partnerships
Taxation paid
Purchase of properties
Proceeds on sales of properties
Net purchase of financial instruments(1)(4)
Proceeds on realisation of fair value gain on cash and cash equivalents (interest received)
Proceeds on/(repayment of) collateral deposits payable

42
43
4
4
9
32.1
22.2

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of equipment
Proceeds on sale of equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets(3)
Net disposal of financial instruments(1)
Acquisition of Exeo Capital (Pty) Ltd
Acquisition of MobiLife Financial Services (Pty) Ltd

5
5
3
9
6
7

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of financial liabilities(5)
Advance of financial liabilities
Proceeds on/(repayment of) repurchase agreements liabilities
Non-controlling interests’ capital movements in unincorporated property partnerships
Disposal of share to non-controlling interests in Liberty Life Swaziland
Net transactions between owners - Liberty Two Degrees(2)
Non-controlling interests’ in acquisition of unincorporated property partnership
Non-controlling interest share of share issue in subsidiary
Share issue costs in Liberty Two Degrees
Share buy-back

21.2
21.2
22.1

(1)

(2)
(3)

(4)
(5)
(6)

(6 953)

58 512
(68 317)

57 387
(64 340)

1 516
(110)

13 485
(1 344)
5 356
(3 075)
(273)
(1 946)
(681)
13
(2 495)

(3 196)
(298)
(3 092)
(742)
45
13 293
912
1 098

(258)

(512)

(289)

(299)
58
(283)
23
(1)
(10)

(373)
47
(49)
128
(42)

2 785

(1 280)

(1 492)
3 419
730
76

(1 008)
1 988
(2 393)
35
18
341
87
2

(2)
(247)

12

1 829

(9 805)

301

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Foreign currency translation
Disposal group assets classified as held for sale
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

2018

Restated(6)
2017

(350)

1 894
15 169
129
(218)

260
14 994
(85)

16 974

15 169

This includes the net purchases of mutual funds that are classified as associates and subsidiaries. The nature of a business of a long-term insurer is to actively trade financial
instruments on a daily basis and it is impracticable to disclose investment cash flows on a gross level. The additions and purchases are further exaggerated by investments being
allocated across five tax funds inherent in the taxation of long-term insurers.
Net transaction between owners refers to the acquisition or disposal of L2D shares between LGL investment portfolios to match policyholder obligations.
This excludes R298 million capitalised computer software under development which has been reclassified from prepayments and other receivables in 2018 to better reflect the
substance of the balance as an intangible asset.
Included in the movement on investments for 2018 is R5 200 million related to dividends received and R11 003 million related to interest received.
Included in the repayments of financial liabilities for 2018 was R1 335 million related to finance costs.
Refer to note 50 change in presentation of the cash flow statement.
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Notes to the group annual financial statement
for the year ended 31 December 2018

1.

Headline earnings and earnings per share

Rm

2018

2017

2 398
(2)

3 118
(2)

Basic earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders
Impairment of intangible assets
Taxation on headline earnings adjustable items
Remeasurement of disposal groups held for sale

2 396

3 116
164
(28)

Headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders
Net income earned on BEE preference shares
Reversal of accounting mismatch arising on consolidation of L2D, net of tax

2 645
8
(397)

3 252
10
(543)

Normalised headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders

2 256

2 719

Cents

Cents

Earnings per share
Total earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders
Basic
Headline
Normalised headline

889,1
981,5
817,9

1 152,6
1 202,9
982,1

Fully diluted earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders
Basic
Headline

863,7
953,5

1 120,7
1 169,7

Reconciliation of total earnings to headline earnings attributable to shareholders
Total earnings attributable to shareholders
Preference share dividend

249

Definitions
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is basic earnings attributable to ordinary
shareholders divided by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

Headline earnings per share
Headline earnings per share is a disclosure requirement in terms of
Johannesburg Stock Exchange’s (JSE) Listings Requirements for
companies listed on the JSE. Circular 4/2018, issued by the South
African Institute of Chartered Accountants at the request of the JSE,
stipulates the requirements for the calculation of headline earnings.
Liberty applies the long-term insurance industry exemption contained
in Circular 2/2015 which allows for no headline earnings adjustment
in respect of realised or unrealised remeasurements of investment
properties. Disclosure of headline earnings is not a requirement of
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
Headline earnings per share is calculated by dividing the headline
earnings by the weighted average number of shares in issue during
the year.

Normalised headline earnings per share
Normalised headline earnings per share is presented to reflect
the economic substance rather than the technical accounting
treatment under IFRS of two specific transactions as detailed in the
following paragraphs.

Accordingly, normalised headline earnings per share is headline
earnings per share adjusted only for:
• accrued dividends on BEE preference shares (not recognised as
a financial asset) plus;
• reversal of accounting mismatch arising on consolidation of L2D,
listed REIT, net of tax;
• divided by the weighted average of ordinary shares assuming the
BEE allocated shares are in issue.

BEE transaction
The application of IFRS to the BEE transaction specifies that the full
number of applicable ordinary shares will continue as a deduction in
deriving the weighted average number of shares in issue for earnings
per share calculations. These shares will be considered in issue only
to the extent that the preference shares are held by external parties
at risk or if redeemed in full. This treatment distorts the economic
reality and an adjustment for net income earned on BEE preference
shares is included in normalised headline earnings per share to better
reflect shareholder economic earnings.
Refer to note 46 for full details of Liberty’s 2004 BEE transaction.
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1.

Headline earnings and earnings per share (continued)

Reversal of accounting mismatch arising on consolidation
of L2D
As discussed in note 39, Corporate transactions, L2D, a REIT, was
listed on the JSE on 6 December 2016. This was initially registered
as a Collective Investment Scheme in Properties (with units) but
was converted to a Corporate REIT (with shares) in November
2018. Liberty Group Limited (LGL) has issued insurance contracts
to policyholders, the returns of which are contractually linked to the
L2D shares (2017: units). LGL has, on behalf of these policyholders,
invested in the listed shares/ units to match this obligation.
An accounting mismatch arises on consolidation of L2D in the group
annual financial statements, resulting from the different measurement
bases applied to L2D’s assets and LGL’s (100% subsidiary of Liberty
Holdings Limited) policyholder liabilities. Specifically:
• on a consolidated look through basis the investment property
assets of L2D are included in the group annual financial statements
at fair value; whereas
• the corresponding linked obligations to LGL’s policyholders are
required under IFRS to continue to be measured in the group
annual financial statements at the listed price of the L2D shares
(2017: units).

The result of this is an accounting mismatch that represents any
difference in the profit and loss movement in the price at which L2D’s
listed units trade relative to the underlying net asset value.
The financial effects of this accounting mismatch have been adjusted
for in presenting normalised headline earnings per share in order to
better reflect the economic reality of the group’s earnings arising
from the interests held in L2D.

Fully diluted basic and headline earnings per share
Fully diluted basic and headline earnings per share are calculated
by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. Both the BEE transaction and share options/restricted share
plans could potentially cause dilution. A calculation is performed to
determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at
fair value (determined as the average annual market share price
of the company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to outstanding share options/ restricted
shares, adjusted for any share-based payment expense recognised.
The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the
number of shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise
of the share options/restricted shares.
2018

2017

Weighted average number of shares in issue

269 496

270 348

Weighted average shares before BEE transaction
Effect of BEE transaction

275 842
(6 346)

276 847
(6 499)

Fully diluted weighted average number of shares in issue

277 407

278 030

Weighted average number of shares in issue
Adjustments for:
Implementation of shares under option and rights below fair value
Effect of restricted share plans
Effect of BEE transaction

269 496

270 348

383
2 118
5 410

582
1 791
5 309

000’s
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2.

Segment information

Liberty is a matrix organisation delivering mainly financial products
and services to individuals, corporates and individual groupings (e.g.
retirement funds).

Definitions

Liberty underwent a strategy refresh during 2018. Consequently
Liberty has reduced emphasis on growth opportunities across Africa
as well as other diversification initiatives and increased remedial efforts
on its core long-term insurance and asset management business
in South Africa. There are no longer specific customer facing units
(previously being Individual Arrangements, Group Arrangements
and Asset Management). The primary segments, aligned to the new
operating model, operate within two main geographic clusters, being
South African operations and Africa regions (defined as all operations
in Africa, excluding South Africa).

SA Retail

The South African operations consists of long-term insurance business,
namely SA Retail and Liberty Corporate segments; asset management,
namely STANLIB South Africa and other operations (governance and
strategic execution and certain investment portfolios), supporting
these businesses.
Businesses managed in Africa regions, are segmented as Liberty Africa
Insurance, Liberty Health and STANLIB Africa (asset management).
The group’s IFRS 8 reportable segments are aligned to these operations.
The group accounts for inter-segment revenues and transfers as if
the transactions were with third parties. There is no single external
customer that provides 10% or more of the group’s revenues.
The profit or loss information follows a similar format to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Total earnings
are reconciled to normalised headline earnings, which is one of the
key performance measures reported to the group’s chief operating
decision makers. The group’s business unit chief executives and
the group’s financial director, who report directly to the group chief
executive, are the chief operating decision makers within the group.
The group uses additional measures to assess the performance of each
of the operating segments. These can be found in the 2018 integrated
report. These measures include indexed new business, value of new
business, new business margins, net customer cash flows, assets
under management and group equity value.

South African operations
Provides insurance and investment solutions to individual customers.

Liberty Corporate
Provides insurance and investment solutions mainly to formally
governed groupings of individuals, corporates and retirement funds
across South Africa.

Other operations
Other operations includes:
Investment portfolios
Shareholders’ equity, not allocated to the other operating segments,
specifically invested to maximise the investment yield within the
group’s risk appetite and regulatory requirements.
Governance and strategic execution
Costs associated with the group’s governance, investor relations,
strategy co-ordination and certain corporate social investment and
black economic empowerment activities.

STANLIB South Africa
Provides asset management capabilities under the STANLIB brand
to manage asset flows.

Africa regions

Liberty Africa Insurance
Retail and institutional long- and short-term insurance in various
African countries.

Liberty Health
Short-term health insurance in various countries.

STANLIB Africa

Management provides a reconciliation to the business units, which
follow a similar line to the above primary segments; except in addition
showing the earnings from LibFin.

Provides asset management capabilities under the STANLIB brand
in Africa regions to manage asset flows.

LibFin Markets manages the asset-liability mismatch risks arising in
the South African life insurance business, primarily resulting from
the guaranteed investment product set and capitalised margins
(asset/liability matching portfolio). Furthermore LibFin Markets
also originates and manages credit assets backing the guaranteed
investment product set (credit portfolio).

The information in the segment report is presented on the same
basis as reported to management. Reporting adjustments are those
accounting reclassifications and entries required to produce IFRS
compliant results. Specific details of these adjustments are included
as footnotes.

Reporting adjustments

LibFin Investments manages the performance of shareholder
investment exposures in the South African life insurance business
(the Shareholder Investment Portfolio (SIP)).
Furthermore the South African long-term insurance operations is split
by product classification within the operating segments.
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2.

Segment information (continued)

Segment earnings
South African operations
Insurance operations
2018
Rm

SA Retail

Liberty
Corporate

Other
operations

42 969
231
690

10 818
695
31

2 457
73

43 890
(40 904)
10 688

11 544
(11 267)
1 478

(1 004)

( 122)

(3 372)
(6 111)

(307)
(1 115)

(6)
(955)

(47)
(1 169)

(12)

(25)

Profit before taxation
Taxation

1 971
(803)

199
(44)

1 544
(209)

Total earnings

1 168

155

1 335

1 168

155

1 335
(259)
(2)

Headline earnings
Net income earned on BEE preference shares
Reversal of accounting mismatch arising on consolidation of L2D

1 168

155

1 074
8
(397)

Normalised headline earnings

1 168

155

685

Reconciliation of business unit earnings to segment result
South African operations
Insurance

1 860

149

Net insurance premiums
Investment returns(2)
Revenue from contracts with customers(2)
Total income
Net claims and policyholder benefits
Change in policyholders assets and liabilities
Fair value adjustment to policyholders’ liabilities under investment contracts
Fair value adjustment to financial liabilities(4)
Fair value adjustment on third party mutual fund interests
Acquisition costs
Marketing and administration expenses
Remeasurement of disposal groups held for sale
Finance costs(4)
Profit share allocation
Equity accounted earnings from joint ventures

Reconciliation of total earnings to headline earnings attributable to
ordinary shareholders
Total earnings
Attributable to non-controlling interests
Preference share dividend
Remeasurement of disposal groups held for sale

SA Retail
Liberty Corporate
LibFin Markets – credit portfolio
LibFin Markets – asset/liability matching portfolio
Asset management
STANLIB South Africa

1 581
208
71

2 530

52
94
3

Africa regions
Liberty Africa Insurance(3)
Liberty Health
STANLIB Africa
LibFin Investments – SIP
Central overheads and sundry income
Normalised headline earnings
(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)

(699)
7
1 168

6
155

943
(258)
685

Reporting adjustments include consolidation of mutual funds, consortiums, providing additional deferred taxation on investment properties revaluations, splitting long-term
insurance products into defined IFRS ‘investment’ and ‘insurance’ products and eliminating of inter-group fee transactions.
In 2017, income from hotel operations sales was reported in investment returns. In 2018, due to the adoption of IFRS 15, income from hotel operations sales and fee income are
now reported in revenue from contracts with customers.
Includes costs associated with central management support.
In 2017, finance costs included interest on financial liabilities, repurchase agreements and collateral deposits payable. As part of the IFRS 9 implementation these items are presented
in fair value adjustments to financial liabilities in 2018.
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2.

Segment information (continued)

Segment earnings (continued)
Africa regions
Asset
management
STANLIB
South Africa

Liberty Africa
Insurance

Liberty
Health

STANLIB
Africa

120
2 682

1 827
356
146

808
52
52

23
265

2 329
(1 196)
(10)

912
(650)

2 802

288

Reporting
Total adjustments(1)
56 422
3 934
3 939

(17 901)
3 976
134

38 521
7 910
4 073

64 295
(54 017)
12 156

(13 791)
16 084
(707)
1 273
(255)
(2 407)

50 504
(37 933)
11 449
1 273
(1 381)
(2 407)
(4 413)
(11 184)
(249)
( 110)
(1 284)
32

(1 126)
(413)
(1 864)
(32)
( 32)
32

(285)
(727)
(23)
(83)

(386)
(226)
( 1)

(30)
(205)

IFRS
reported

(4 413)
(11 363)
(249)
(117)
(1 284)
32

179
7

493
(138)

5
(67)

(351)
47

53
(41)

3 914
(1 255)

383

4 297
(1 255)

355

(62)

(304)

12

2 659

383

3 042

355

(62)
2

(304)

12
(4)

383
(383)

23

226

2 659
(261)
(2)
249

3 042
(644)
(2)
249

355

(37)

(78)

8

2 645
8
(397)

2 645
8
(397)

355

(37)

(78)

8

2 256

2 256

2 009
1 581
52
302
74
355

355
( 37)
(37)

( 78)
(78)

8

(107)

8

(37)
(78)
8
250
(251)

355

(37)

(78)

8

2 256
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2.

Segment information (continued)

South African operations
Insurance operations

Restated
2017
Rm

SA Retail

Liberty
Corporate

Other
operations

Net insurance premiums
Investment returns(2)
Fee income(2)

42 975
24 931
255

10 006
5 649
21

4 525
100

68 161
(40 129)
(13 323)

15 676
(11 542)
(2 261)

(3 913)
(5 879)

(291)
(1 177)

(936)

(1 106)
(854)

(182)

(896)

Profit before taxation
Taxation

2 957
(1 819)

223
(62)

2 793
(725)

Total earnings

1 138

161

2 068

Reconciliation of total earnings to headline earnings attributable to
ordinary shareholders
Total earnings
Attributable to non-controlling interests
Preference share dividend
Impairment of intangible assets

1 138
(1)

161

2 068
(179)
(2)

Total income
Net claims and policyholder benefits
Change in policyholders assets and liabilities
Fair value adjustment to policyholders’ liabilities under investment contracts
Fair value adjustment on third party mutual fund interests
Acquisition costs
Marketing and administration expenses
Impairment losses on financial assets held at amortised cost
Finance costs(4)
Profit share allocation
Equity accounted earnings from joint ventures

4 625

13

71

Headline earnings
Net income earned on BEE preference shares
Reversal of accounting mismatch arising on consolidation of L2D

1 150

232

1 887
10
(543)

Normalised headline earnings

1 150

232

1 354

Reconciliation of business unit earnings to segment result
South African operations
Insurance

1 435

220

10

81
138
1

10

SA Retail
Liberty Corporate
LibFin Markets – credit portfolio
LibFin Markets – asset/liability matching portfolio
Asset management
STANLIB South Africa
Africa regions

1 208
192
35

Liberty Africa Insurance(3)
Liberty Health
STANLIB Africa
LibFin Investments – SIP
Central overheads and sundry income
Normalised headline earnings
(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)

(365)
80
1 150

12

1 660
(316)

232

1 354

Reporting adjustments include consolidation of mutual funds, consortiums, providing additional deferred taxation on investment properties revaluations, splitting long-term
insurance products into defined IFRS ‘investment’ and ‘insurance’ products and eliminating of inter-group fee transactions.
In 2017, income from hotel operations sales was reported in investment returns. In 2018, due to the adoption of IFRS 15, income from hotel operations sales and fee income are
now reported in revenue from contracts with customers.
Includes costs associated with central management support. 2017 includes the costs associated with the terminated long-term licence acquisition in Nigeria.
In 2017, finance costs included interest on financial liabilities, repurchase agreements and collateral deposits payable. As part of the IFRS 9 implementation these items are presented
in fair value adjustments to financial liabilities in 2018.
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Africa regions
Asset
management
STANLIB
South Africa

Liberty Africa
Insurance

Liberty
Health

STANLIB
Africa

Total

85
2713

1 679
570
171

777
54
98

26
261

55 437
35 840
3 619

(17 417)
5 179
64

38 020
41 019
3 683

2 420
(1 083)
(152)

929
(637)

287

94 896
(53 391)
(15 736)

(9)
( 401)

(4 935)
(11 443)

(12 174)
16 372
8 907
(9 116)
(4 619)

82 722
(37 019)
(6 829)
(9 116)
(4 619)
(4 935)
(11 345)

2 798

(462)
(1 900)

(260)
(724)

(37)
( 38)
25

(80)

386
(134)

121
(74)

(134)
28

252

47

252

47
(58)

(426)

Reporting
adjustments(1)

98

IFRS
reported

(2 221)
(972)
25

877

(1 344)
(972)
25

(123)
(78)

6 223
(2 864)

345

6 568
(2 864)

(106)

(201)

3 359

345

3 704

(106)

(201)
(3)

3 359
(241)
(2)
136

345
(345)

3 704
(586)
(2)
136

52
252

(11)

(54)

(204)

3 252
10
(543)

3 252
10
(543)

252

(11)

(54)

(204)

2 719

2 719

1 665
1 208
81
330
46
252

(11)
(11)

(54)
(54)

(204)

252
(269)

(204)

(11)
(54)
(204)
1 307
(236)

252

(11)

(54)

(204)

2 719
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2.

Segment information (continued)

Analysis of insurance earnings by product classification
A secondary segment view (analysis of insurance earnings) is presented for SA Retail and Liberty Corporate by major product classification,
as defined below.

SA Retail
Pure risk

• Long-term insurance contracts that provide insurable risk benefits in the event of death, sickness or
disability to retail customers in South Africa.

Bundled investment and risk • Long-term insurance contracts that offer a combination of savings, annuities and risk benefits to retail
customers in South Africa. These include products that offer a defined monetary benefit over a contractually
(including annuities)
determined period.

Liberty Corporate
Pure risk

• Long-term insurance contracts that provide mainly life and disability benefits to groupings of employees
or members.

Group annuities and
investments

• Facilitation of groups of employees or members savings for retirement and payment of
post-retirement benefits.
South African insurance operations
SA Retail
Bundled
investment and
risk (including
Pure risk
annuities)

Rm
2018
Net insurance premiums
Investment returns(1)
Revenue from contracts with customers(1)
Total income
Net claims and policyholder benefits
Change in policyholders assets and liabilities
Fair value adjustment to financial liabilities(2)
Acquisition costs
Marketing and administration expenses
Remeasurement of disposal groups held for
sale
Finance costs(2)
Profit share allocation

Liberty Corporate

Total

Group
Pure annuities and
risk
investment

10 731
78

32 238
153
690

42 969
231
690

2 313
241

10 809
(4 021)
(312)
(401)
(1 745)
(2 102)

33 081
(36 883)
11 000
(603)
(1 627)
(4 009)

43 890
(40 904)
10 688
(1 004)
(3 372)
(6 111)

2 554
(1 994)
(165)

(6)
(1 086)

(41)
(83)

(47)
(1 169)

(1)

(46)
(255)

8 505
454
31

Total
10 818
695
31

8 990
11 544
(9 273) (11 267)
1 643
1 478
(122)
(122)
(261)
(307)
(860)
(1 115)
(11)

(12)

1 136

835

1 971

93

106

199

Restated
2017
Net insurance premiums
Investment returns(1)
Revenue from contracts with customers(1)

10 148
131
1

32 827
24 800
254

42 975
24 931
255

2 172
262

7 834
5 387
21

10 006
5 649
21

Total income
Net claims and policyholder benefits
Change in policyholders assets and liabilities
Acquisition costs
Marketing and administration expenses
Finance costs(2)
Profit share allocation

10 280
(3 538)
(228)
(2 101)
(2 159)
(347)
(744)

57 881
(36 591)
(13 095)
(1 812)
(3 720)
(759)
(110)

68 161
(40 129)
(13 323)
(3 913)
(5 879)
(1 106)
(854)

2 434
(1 835)
(247)
(49)
(237)
(1)

1 163

1 794

2 957

Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation
(1)

(2)

65

13 242
15 676
(9 707) (11 542)
(2 014)
(2 261)
(242)
(291)
(940)
(1 177)
(181)
(182)
158

223

In 2017, income from hotel operations sales was reported in investment returns. In 2018, due to the adoption of IFRS 15, income from hotel operations sales and fee income are
now reported in revenue from contracts with customers.
In 2017, finance costs included interest on financial liabilities, repurchase agreements and collateral deposits payable. As part of the IFRS 9 implementation these items are presented
in fair value adjustments to financial liabilities in 2018.
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2.

Segment information (continued)

Segment information from geographical areas
South Africa

Africa regions(1)

Total

2018

Restated
2017

2018

Restated
2017

2018

2017

Total revenue

47 144

79 282

3 360

3 440

50 504

82 722

Other revenue
Revenue from contracts with customers
Total earnings attributable to ordinary
shareholder’s interests
Non-current assets
Total assets
Total liabilities

43 534
3 610

79 282

2 897
463

3 440

46 431
4 073

82 722

2 754
42 885
429 647
400 237

3 439
42 303
437 758
409 033

(356)
758
7 627
5 644

(321)
565
6 369
4 703

2 398
43 643
437 274
405 881

3 118
42 868
444 127
413 736

Rm

(1)

Africa regions includes Liberty Health as well as the Liberty Africa Insurance and STANLIB Africa entities in Nigeria, Namibia, Swaziland, Botswana, Zambia, Kenya, Uganda, Malawi,
Lesotho, Tanzania and Ghana.

Revenue is allocated based on the country in which the insurance or investment contract is issued or service fee income and investment
returns are earned.
IFRS 15 requires disclosure of information relating to the timing of revenue recognised from contracts with customers. Only hotel operations
sales is recognised at a point in time. In 2018, R565 million was recognised in South Africa and Rnil million in Rest of Africa.
Non-current assets are allocated based on where the matching insurance or investment contract is issued or, if not matched, where the
business owning the asset is situated.
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2.

Segment information (continued)

Other financial detail by operating segment
South African operations
Insurance
operations
Rm

SA Retail

Liberty
Corporate

2018
Total assets
Additions to non-current assets
Interest in joint ventures

248 001
601

59 633
141

Interest income on financial assets held at amortised cost
Depreciation
Remeasurement of disposal groups classified as held for sale
Amortisation of PVIF
Amortisation of distribution force
Amortisation of computer software – internally generated
Amortisation of computer software – purchased
Amortisation of deferred acquisition costs
Release of deferred revenue
Restated
2017
Total assets
Additions to non-current assets
Interest in joint ventures
Interest income
Depreciation
Impairment of intangible assets
Amortisation of PVIF
Amortisation of distribution force
Amortisation of computer software internally generated
Amortisation of deferred acquisition costs
Release of deferred revenue
(1)

Other
operations
70 060
1 562
11
(255)

(7)
(7)
(14)
(4)
(81)
35

(4)
(170)

259 394
551

60 948
129

9 185

2 081

(13)
(7)
(7)
(10)
(86)
32

(2)

63 260
354
1 636
(261)

(99)

(2)
(173)

Reporting adjustments include the consolidation of unincorporated property partnerships, the consolidation of mutual fund subsidiaries, the classification of long-term insurance
into defined IFRS ‘investment’ and ‘insurance’ products, the application of shadow accounting for the change in long-term policyholder insurance liabilities and the elimination of
intergroup transactions.
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Africa regions
Asset
management
STANLIB
South Africa

Liberty
Africa
Insurance

Liberty
Health

STANLIB
Africa

Total

1 382
8

3 643
21

591
4

315
4
56

383 625
2 341
56

53
(21)

29
(21)
(23)
(3)
(1)

(9)
(1)

(5)
(226)

(3)

(15)
(27)
7

1 543
40
51
72
(23)

3 237
26
210

392
2
17
(9)
(52)

(3)
(2)
(5)

(1)
(16)
11

331
1
13
(4)

93
(305)
(249)
(10)
(8)
(44)
(5)
(278)
42

389 105
1 103
51
13 214
(297)
(164)
(10)
(9)
(18)
(275)
43

Reporting
adjustments(1)

IFRS
reported

53 649

437 274
2 341
56

1 423
(11)

55 022

1 755
(1)

1 516
(316)
(249)
(10)
(8)
(44)
(5)
(278)
42

444 127
1 103
51
14 969
(298)
(164)
(10)
(9)
(18)
(275)
43
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3.

Intangible assets
2018

2017

Cost at the beginning of the year
Additions
Foreign currency translation
Disposal group assets classified as held for sale

2 590
581
34
(751)

2 567
49
(26)

Cost at the end of the year

2 454

2 590

Accumulated amortisation and impairment at the beginning of the year
Amortisation
Impairment
Foreign currency translation
Disposal group assets classified as held for sale

(2 359)
(67)

(2 177)
(37)
(164)
19

Accumulated amortisation and impairment at the end of the year

(1 882)

Rm

(24)
568

Net carrying value at the end of the year

Summary of net carrying value
Goodwill
Distribution forces
Tradenames
Computer software – internally generated
Computer software – purchased(1)
Computer software under development(2)
Customer relationships and contracts
Present value of in-force policyholder contracts(3)
Rm

Goodwill in 2018 comprises
Liberty Kenya Holdings PLC
Various subsidiaries
Net carrying value of goodwill
(1)
(2)

(3)

Amortisation period
(years)
None
Up to 10
Up to 10
Up to 10
Up to 5
Up to 7
Up to 15

(2 359)

572

231

102
21

95
29

206
88
131

76

24

31

Cost

Net carrying
amount

45
57

45
57

102

102

Purchased computer software in 2018 was not judged to be an integral part of the related hardware and has been recognised as an intangible asset.
Capitalised computer software under development has been reclassified from prepayments and other receivables in 2018 to better reflect the substance of the balance as an
intangible asset. These are not ready for their intended use yet and there is no amortisation provided to date.
Represents the present value (at acquisition date) of future profits before taxation, on policyholder contracts acquired from business combinations, less amortisations.
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Notes to the group annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

3.

Intangible assets (continued)

Goodwill impairment testing
Liberty Kenya Holdings PLC is defined as a single CGU for impairment testing. This was the required designation at date of acquisition from
the Standard Bank group in terms of common control transactions. The goodwill impairment test has been performed and no impairment
was necessary.

Present value of in-force policyholder insurance contracts
Present value of in-force policyholder insurance contracts represents the present value (at acquisition date) of future profits before taxation,
on policyholder contracts acquired from business combinations, less amortisation.

Computer software – internally generated impairment testing
Impairments of Rnil (2017: R164 million (before tax)) in relation to internally generated computer software were recognised in 2018.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Internally generated computer software is
proprietary in nature, with no reliable, observable external market and therefore the value in use is used for the purposes of calculating any
impairment. The value in use calculations are modelled using a discounted cash flow technique and based on expected cost and estimated
contribution to any above average growth in value of new business. Risk adjusted discount rates of 15% p.a. were used. Due to changes in
project scope and timing of completion, certain components of previously capitalised internally generated software are no longer supported
by estimated future value in use and therefore resulted in an impairment in 2017. Refer to other segment information for details of the impact
on the operating segments.

Balance
at the
beginning
of the year

Rm

Additions Amortisation

Foreign
currency
translation

Disposal
group
assets
classified
as held for
sale

Balance at
the end of
the year

2018
Cost – movement
Goodwill
Distribution forces
Tradenames
Computer software – internally
generated

209

7

102

92

9

101

3

2

5

659

Computer software – purchased(1)
Computer software under
development(2)

187

(321)

525

96

(3)

93

298

(167)

131

(146)

32

174

4

(3)

PVIF

1 453

12

Total cost

2 590

Customer relationships and contracts

(114)

581

34

1 465
(751)

2 454

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment – movement
Goodwill
Distribution force
Tradenames
Computer software – internally
generated

(114)
(63)

(8)

(3)
(583)

(9)

(80)

(2)

(5)

(44)

308

(319)

(5)

Computer software – purchased(1)
Customer relationships and contracts

114

(174)

(5)
(4)

PVIF(3)

(1 422)

(10)

(9)

Total accumulated amortisation
and impairment

(2 359)

(67)

(24)

146

(32)
(1 441)

568

(1 882)
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3.

Intangible assets (continued)

Balance
at the
beginning
of the year

Rm

Additions

2017
Cost – movement
Goodwill
Distribution forces
Tradenames
Computer software – internally
generated
Customer relationships and contracts
PVIF(3)

610
181
1 461

49

Total cost

2 567

49

Impairment Amortisation

214
98
3

(5)
(6)

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment – movement
Goodwill
Distribution force
Tradenames
Computer software – internally
generated
Customer relationships and contracts
PVIF(3)

(401)
(181)
(1 418)

(164)

Total accumulated amortisation and
impairment

(2 177)

(164)

(1)
(2)

(3)

Foreign
currency
translation

(114)
(60)
(3)

(9)

Balance at
the end of
the year

209
92
3

(7)
(8)

659
174
1 453

(26)

2 590

6

(18)

(114)
(63)
(3)

(10)

7
6

(583)
(174)
(1 422)

(37)

19

(2 359)

Purchased computer software in 2018 was not judged to be an integral part of the related hardware and has been recognised as an intangible asset.
Capitalised computer software under development has been reclassified from prepayments and other receivables in 2018 to better reflect the substance of the balance as an
intangible asset. These are not ready for their intended use yet and there is no amortisation provided to date.
PVIF: Present value of in-force policyholder contracts
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Notes to the group annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

4.

Properties

4.1

Summary
Notes

2018

2017

4.2
4.3

1 645
34 316

1 512
33 256

Investment properties – fair value
Operating leases – accrued income

33 326
990

32 226
1 030

Total fair value of properties

35 961

34 768

Rm
Owner-occupied properties
Investment properties

Details of property investments are recorded in registers, which may be inspected by members or their duly authorised agents, at the company’s
registered office.

4.2

Owner-occupied properties
2018

2017

Fair value at the beginning of the year
Additions – capitalised subsequent expenditure
Fair value adjustment
Reclassifications from investment properties
Foreign currency translation

1 512
23
19
70
21

1 486
15
(67)
91
(13)

Fair value at the end of the year

1 645

1 512

Rm

The cost less accumulated depreciation of the owner-occupied properties is R807 million (2017: R747 million). Depreciation is normally
provided for over 40 years.
Location of owner-occupied properties:
91% (2017: 93%) of the value of owner-occupied property is located in South Africa. The remaining properties are located in the rest of Africa.

4.3

Investment properties
2018

2017

33 256
493

32 342
523

Revaluations
Net movement on straight-lining operating leases

453
40

366
157

Additions – capitalised subsequent expenditure
Disposals
Operating leases – accrued income adjustment
Reclassifications to owner-occupied properties
Foreign currency translation
Disposal group assets classified as held for sale

719
(45)
(40)
(70)
20
(17)

666
(13)
(157)
(91)
(14)

Rm
Fair value at the beginning of the year
Revaluations net of straight-lining

Investment properties at fair value

34 316

33 256

Refer to the risk management note 4.9.3 for the breakdown by property type.
Location of investment properties:
99% (2017: 99%) of the value of investment properties is located in South Africa. The remaining properties are located in the rest of Africa.
The amount of unlet space at 31 December is detailed in the risk management note 4.9.3. The average net rental growth is 4,6% (2017: 7,4%).
The property rental income earned by the group from its investment property, all of which is leased out under operating leases, amounted to
R3 121 million (2017: R2 671 million), including straight-lining operating leases; or R3 160 million (2017: R2 829 million) excluding straight-lining
operating leases. Direct operating expenses arising on investment properties amounted to R1 060 million (2017: R896 million).
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4.

Properties (continued)

4.4

Basis of valuation

The full portfolio of the South African located properties were
independently valued as at 31 December 2018 by professional
valuers registered with the South African Council for the Property
Valuers Profession as well as members of the Institute of Valuers
of South Africa. The Kenyan and Nigerian located properties were
independently valued as at 31 December 2018 by various registered
professional valuers in each territory.

On the basis that turnover or profit rental income has a greater degree
of uncertainty and risk than the contractual base rental, a risk premium
of between 1% and 6% has been added to the discount rate and to the
exit capitalisation rate, to reflect the greater investment risk associated
with the variable rental element on a property by property basis.

The valuation of the South African properties is prepared in
accordance with the guidelines of the South African Institute of
Valuers for valuation reports and in accordance with the appraisal
and valuation manual of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors,
adapted for South African law and conditions.

The exit capitalisation rate is best determined by referring to market
transactions of comparable properties as it is based on information
derived from market analysis. The exit capitalisation rate must take
the prevailing interest rate into consideration. The higher the interest
rate, the better return an investor will require. Similarly, risk is another
factor that will influence the exit capitalisation rate. The higher the risk
factor, the better the return an investor will require. The risk inherent
to income producing properties is the degree of certainty that the
income stream will be realised despite the uncertainty of the future.

The properties have been valued on a discounted cash flow basis.
In the majority of cases, discounted cash flows have been used to
determine a present value net income to which the exit capitalisation
rate is applied as at 31 December 2018. In order to determine the
reversionary rental income on lease expiry, renewal or review, a market
gross rental income (basic rental plus operating cost rental) has been
applied to give a market-related rental value for each property as at
31 December 2018. Market rental growth has been determined based
on the individual property, property market trends and economic
forecasts. Vacancies have been considered based on historic and
current vacancy factors as well as the nature, location, size and
popularity of each building.
Appropriate discount rates have been applied to cash flows for each
property to reflect the relative investment risk associated with the
particular building, tenant, covenant and the projected income flow.
Extensive market research has been conducted to ascertain the
most appropriate market-related discount rate to apply, with regard
to the current South African long-term bond yield (R204 risk free
rate) and the relative attractiveness that an investor may place on
property as an asset class.

42

Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

Commentary on exit capitalisation rates:

Commentary on discount rates:
The discount rate is the minimum annual return requirement and is
calculated by adding a risk premium to an estimated risk-free rate of
return. The risk premium takes into account liquidity risk and property
risk (risks of structural change or market failure).

Notes to the group annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

5.

Equipment
2018

2017

Cost at the beginning of the year
Additions
Disposals
Derecognition
Foreign currency translation
Disposal group assets classified as held for sale

2 563
299
(125)
(111)
49
(137)

2 626
373
(274)
(124)
(38)

Cost at the end of the year

2 538

2 563

Accumulated depreciation at the beginning of the year
Depreciation
Disposals
Derecognition
Foreign currency translation
Disposal group assets classified as held for sale

(1 435)
(316)
67
111
(40)
113

(1 521)
(298)
227
124
33

Accumulated depreciation at the end of the year

(1 500)

(1 435)

1 038

1 128

322
123
485
76
32

265
203
538
83
39

Rm

Net carrying amount at the end of the year
Summary of net carrying value
Computer equipment
Purchased computer software
Fixtures, furniture and fittings
Office equipment
Motor vehicles

Depreciation period
(years)
3–5
5
5 – 15
5–8
5
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5.

Equipment (continued)

Rm

Disposal
group
assets
Foreign classified as
currency
held for
translation
sale

Balance
at the
beginning
of the year

Additions

899

207

(23)

(34)

11

(86)

974

Disposals Derecognition

(1)

Depreciation

Balance
at the end
of the year

2018
Cost – movement
Computer equipment
Purchased computer
software
Fixtures, furniture and
fittings
Office equipment
Motor vehicles

355

19

(54)

(37)

15

(4)

294

1 076
138
95

48
10
15

(29)
(7)
(12)

(35)
(5)

18
4
1

(16)
(22)
(9)

1 062
118
90

Total cost

2 563

299

(125)

(111)

49

(137)

2 538

(634)

23

34

(143)

(9)

77

(652)

(152)

5

37

(52)

(10)

1

(171)

(538)
(55)
(56)

26
4
9

35
5

(95)
(12)
(14)

(14)
(4)
(3)

9
20
6

(577)
(42)
(58)

(1 435)

67

111

(316)

(40)

113

(1 500)

Accumulated
depreciation –
movement
Computer equipment
Purchased computer
software
Fixtures, furniture and
fittings
Office equipment
Motor vehicles
Total accumulated
depreciation
2017
Cost – movement
Computer equipment
Purchased computer
software
Fixtures, furniture and
fittings
Office equipment
Motor vehicles
Total cost

1 062

109

(214)

(51)

(7)

899

232

145

(2)

(11)

(9)

355

1 064
165
103

87
15
17

(34)
(4)
(20)

(29)
(33)

(12)
(5)
(5)

1 076
138
95

2 626

373

(274)

(124)

(38)

2 563

189

51

(124)

7

(634)

11

(43)

7

(152)

29
33

(100)
(16)
(15)

10
6
3

(538)
(55)
(56)

124

(298)

33

(1 435)

Accumulated
depreciation – movement
Computer equipment
Purchased computer
software
Fixtures, furniture and
fittings
Office equipment
Motor vehicles
Total accumulated
depreciation
(1)

(757)
(127)
(501)
(78)
(58)

24
14

(1 521)

227

Assets with a zero book value were identified and those with no useful future life have been derecognised.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018

6.

Interests in joint ventures
Notes

2018

2017

6.1
6.2

56
1 297

51
1 193

1 353

1 244

2018

2017

JHI Retail (Pty) Ltd
Ordinary shares at cost – ownership 49%
Share of post-acquisition reserves

3
10

3
6

Total JHI Retail (Pty) Ltd

13

9

Exeo Capital (Pty) Ltd
Mauritius – ordinary shares at cost 49%
South Africa – ordinary shares at cost 49%

36
7

35
7

Total Exeo Capital (Pty) Ltd (refer to note 39.2)

43

42

Total interests in joint venture – equity accounted

56

51

45
1

3

Rm
Interests in joint venture – equity accounted
Interests in joint ventures – measured at fair value through profit or loss
Total interests in joint ventures

6.1

Interests in joint venture – equity accounted

Rm

Movement analysis
Ordinary shares at cost
Balance at the beginning of the year
Additions
Acquisition of joint ventures (refer to note 39.2)
Balance at the end of the year
Share of post-acquisition reserves
Balance at the beginning of the year
Earnings recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
Ordinary dividends received
Balance at the end of the year

42
46

45

6
32
(28)

7
25
(26)

10

6
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6.

Interests in joint ventures (continued)

6.2

Interests in joint venture – measured at fair value through profit or loss
2017

2018

Name

Percentage
ownership
%

Fair value
Rm

Percentage
ownership
%

Fair value
Rm

41
20
13

765
179
353

41
20
13

643
192
358

Kouga Wind Farm (RF) (Pty) Ltd
Simacel 160 (RF) (Pty) Ltd
Renewable Energy Investments SA (RF) (Pty) Ltd

1 297

Total
The interests in joint ventures measured at fair value through profit or
loss are held by a limited liability partnership, STANLIB Infrastructure
Private Equity Fund 1 (Infrastructure Fund). Liberty Holdings
Limited has 33,64% economic interest in the Infrastructure Fund.
At the Infrastructure Fund level, the interests in joint ventures are
independently valued by applying a discounted cash flow valuation
methodology. The following table details the summarised financial
information, disclosing the underlying net asset value of the significant
joint venture. It is measured on a cost basis and does not equate to
Liberty’s interest in joint ventures, which are measured at fair value
through profit or loss.
The Infrastructure Fund’s mandate is to make long-term equity and
equity-related investments in greenfield and brownfield infrastructure
projects in sub-Saharan Africa, principally in South Africa. In pursuance
of this, it has purchased equity stakes in various developed
infrastructure projects, with a bias towards South Africa. Renewable
energy is a key focus of the Infrastructure Fund, as well as investment
opportunities in water, power, transport, telecommunications and oil
and gas infrastructure projects.

1 193

Kouga Wind Farm (RF) (Pty) Ltd
Kouga Wind Farm, situated in the Eastern Cape of South Africa,
is a fully commercial operating wind farm consisting of 32 wind
turbines. The project covers 3000ha and supplies approximately
50 000 average South African households with electricity annually.
The plant was funded by means of 70% senior debt funding, 10%
mezzanine funding and 20% equity funding.

Simacel 160 (RF) (Pty) Ltd
Simacel 160 is a 75MW (DC capacity) single axis tracker solar
photovoltaics project in the Eastern Cape. The plant covers 225ha.
Funding was by means of 70% senior debt funding, 7% subordinated
debt, 4% mezzanine funding and 19% equity funding.

Renewable Energy Investments SA (RF) (Pty) Ltd (REISA)
REISA is a 75MW(DC capacity) single axis tracker solar photovoltaics
project, a commercial operation of the Kathu Solar facility in the
Northern Cape. The plant was funded by means of 70% senior
debt funding, 10% subordinated debt and 20% equity funding.
The Infrastructure Fund holds an indirect interest in this company
through an investment holding company, Main Street 1232 (Pty) Ltd.

Summarised financial information of significant joint venture (>R500 million) measured at fair value through profit or loss
Rm
Kouga Wind Farm (RF) (Pty) Ltd(1)
Liberty’s interest in joint ventures measured at fair value through profit or loss
Distributions received
Statement of financial position
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Comprehensive income
Revenue
Net profit before tax
(1)

2018

2017

765
100

643
113

463
1 365
(25)
(1 595)
457
169

516
1 450
(28)
(1 580)
429
123

This entity has a 30 June year end and therefore management accounts as at 31 December 2018 are used to account for the result for the six month period 1 July to 31 December
2018. Audited accounts as at 30 June 2018 were used to account for the results for the six month period 1 January to 30 June 2018.
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Interests in associates

7.
Rm

Interests in associates – equity accounted
Interests in associates – mutual funds measured at fair value through profit or loss

Notes

2018

2017

7.1
7.2

10
13 824

15 197

13 834

15 197

Total interests in associates

7.1

Interests in associates – equity accounted
2018

Rm

MobiLife Financial Services (Pty) Ltd
Ordinary shares at cost – ownership 24,5%

10

Total MobiLife Financial Services (Pty) Ltd

10

Movement analysis
Ordinary shares at cost
Acquisition of associate

10

Balance at the end of the year

10

7.2

Interests in associate mutual funds
Percentage of
participation rights in
total issued units
%

Name

2018

2017

2018

2017

9
5
23
29
3
27
16
27
28
22
17
13
22
18

11
5
22
27
3
29

3 196
2 014
1 679
1 298
875
708
614
456
336
264
245
223
193
184

3 118
1 678
1 620
1 516
930
817

STANLIB Income Fund
STANLIB Corporate Money Market Fund
STANLIB Balanced Cautious Fund
STANLIB Balanced Fund
STANLIB Money Market Fund
STANLIB Global Equity Feeder Fund
STANLIB Equity Fund
STANLIB Aggressive Income Fund
Africa Infrastructure Fund
STANLIB Multi-Manager Absolute Income Fund
STANLIB Multi-Manager Low Equity Fund of Funds
STANLIB Global Property Feeder Fund
STANLIB Prudential Bond Fund
STANLIB Multi-Manager Medium Equity Fund of Funds
STANLIB Property Income Fund(1)
STANLIB Moderately Consolidated Fund of Funds(1)
Kruger STANLIB Prudential Fund(2)
Kruger STANLIB Balanced Fund(2)
Other mutual funds
Total
(1)
(2)

Fair value
Rm

24
28
16
13
18
19
14
24
29
23
Various

532
268

1 539

244
231
350
201
1 231
276
255
243
1 687

13 824

15 197

Disclosed as a mutual fund subsidiary during the current year.
No longer managed by STANLIB Collective Investments Limited, with resultant loss of significant influence.

The STANLIB funds listed above are managed by STANLIB Collective Investments Limited, and R910 million was received as fees
during 2018 (2017: R935 million).
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7.

Interests in associates (continued)

Summarised information of significant mutual fund associates (>R500 million) measured at fair value through profit or loss:
STANLIB
Corporate STANLIB
STANLIB
Money Balanced STANLIB
Income
Market Cautious Balanced
Fund
Fund
Fund
Fund

Rm
2018
Liberty’s interests in associates
Dividends and interest received
Statement of financial position
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Comprehensive income
Total revenue (comprising
interest, dividend and sundry
income)(1)
Total comprehensive income (net
income before distributions)

Rm
2017
Liberty’s interests in associates
Dividends and interest received
Statement of financial position
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Comprehensive income
Total revenue (comprising
interest, dividend and sundry
income)(1)
Total comprehensive
income(net income before
distributions)
(1)

(2)
(3)

STANLIB
Money
Market
Fund
875
54

STANLIB
Global
Equity STANLIB
Feeder
Equity
Fund(2)
Fund

3 196
249

2 014
139

1 679
63

1 298
35

475
34 823
(22)

1 932
37 194
(8)

252
7 128
(102)

156
4 355
(42)

1 614
23 406
(12)

2 832

3 207

450

209

1 930

5

2 661

3 120

322

132

1787

9

STANLIB
Corporate
Money
STANLIB
Market
Income
Fund
Fund

STANLIB
Balanced
Cautious
Fund

STANLIB
Balanced
Fund

STANLIB
Money
Market
Fund
930
48

3 118
175

1 678
19

1 620
70

1 516
46

385
27 551
(15)

3 703
30 447
(7)

445
6 852
(9)

253
5 555
(9)

1 083
23 953
(12)

2 217

2 874

429

227

2 030

2 076

2 801

292

146

1886

STANLIB
Aggressive
Income
Fund

708

614
3

456
36

36
2 598
(2)

101
3 800
(18)

28
1 668
(2)

93
(1)

STANLIB STANLIB
Global
AggresEquity
sive
Feeder
Income
Fund(2)
Fund
817

166
140
STANLIB
Property
Income
Fund(3)

532
35

1 231
55

30
2 188
(2)

30
8 169
(16)

6

189

480

(29)

160

377

141
2 848
(2)

Units or shares held in mutual funds are by their nature demand deposits and are measured at fair value. The net income or loss is capitalised to unit values within each fund and
consequently there is no net profit or loss. Increase in net assets as a result of operations represents total income less expenses before any distributions or capitalisation.
STANLIB Global Equity Feeder Fund is a roll-up fund. A roll-up fund does not regularly distribute dividends or interest because income is used to buy additional shares.
Fund disclosed as a mutual fund associate in 2018.
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8.

Deferred acquisition costs
2017

2018

Rm

Short-term
insurance
business

Long-term
investment
contracts

Total

Short-term
insurance
business

Long-term
investment
contracts

Total

7
38
(27)
1

730
279
(251)

737
317
(278)
1

15
9
(16)
(1)

698
291
(259)

713
300
(275)
(1)

Balance at the end of the year

19

758

777

7

730

737

Current
Non-current

19

176
582

195
582

7

169
561

176
561

Balance at the beginning of the year
Cost of new business acquired
Amortisation realised through profit or loss
Foreign currency translation

Deferred acquisition costs are amounts incurred on acquiring policyholder investment contracts or short-term insurance contracts, which
are amortised to income over the contract period.
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9.

Financial instruments

9.1

Financial investments
2018

Rm
At fair value through profit or loss (default)

309 076

Equity instruments

101 930

Listed
Unlisted

2017

99 978
1 952

Debt instruments

112 108

Listed preference shares
Unlisted preference shares
Listed term deposits
Unlisted term deposits
Listed government, municipal and utility bonds
Unlisted government, municipal and utility bonds

3 138
291
41 004
34 035
33 612
28

Mutual funds

84 839

Listed
Unlisted

14 131
70 708

Investment policies
Policy loans receivable(1)

9 462
737

Designated at fair value through profit or loss

2 486

338 534

Equity instruments

126 965

Listed
Unlisted

125 243
1 722

Debt instruments

2 486

117 452

Listed preference shares
Unlisted preference shares
Listed term deposits
Unlisted term deposits
Listed government, municipal and utility bonds
Unlisted government, municipal and utility bonds

5
158
42
2 253
28

401
315
41 025
37 980
37 659
72

Mutual funds

84 413

Listed
Unlisted

12 495
71 918

Investment policies
At fair value through other comprehensive income(2)

Debt instruments
Listed term deposits
Unlisted term deposits

9 704
16 803
16 803
8 724
8 079
328 365

338 534

Financial assets at amortised cost

340

1 222

Loans and receivables
Policy loans receivable(1)

340

Total financial assets at fair value

1 222

(1)

Total financial investments
(1)

(2)

328 705

339 756

Loans and receivables under IAS 39 were measured at amortised cost. On adoption of IFRS 9, policy loans receivable originating from Liberty Group Limited were reclassified as
fair value through profit or loss (default). The remaining balances continued to be measured at amortised cost.
The consolidation of mutual funds includes one money market fund, the underlying assets of which are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Due to the
short-term nature of the underlying assets, as well as the fund predominantly investing in instruments being issued by the top 5 South African banks, any expected credit loss is negligible.

The carrying value of debt instruments which are designated as fair value through profit or loss, that would otherwise be measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, represents the maximum exposure to credit risk.
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9.

Financial instruments (continued)

9.2

Movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of policy loans receivable held at amortised cost:

Policy loans receivables originate from Liberty Kenya Holdings PLC (LKHL) and relate to:
a. Mortgage loans offered to staff members as a benefit which are collateralised. LKHL have the first right to recover mortgage deductions
from employment income; and
b. Policy loans to existing policyholders. These are loans advanced to policyholders against their contracts. The balances are collateralised
given that the loan lapses automatically as soon as it is equal to the contract value.
The group applied IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 and comparatives have not been restated. Under IFRS 9, loss allowances for loan receivables are
measured under the general expected credit loss impairment model.
The risk of default occuring over the expected life of the financial instrument has not increased significantly during the year. For the year ended
31 December 2018, any expected impairment losses would therefore be recognised under the 12 months expected credit loss. The mortgage
loans and policy loans are assessed to have a low expected credit loss impairment as they have a low risk of default. The borrower has a
high probability of meeting cash flow obligations due to the loans being recovered either directly from staff salaries or being limited to the
surrender value of policyholder investments respectively. The expected credit impairment loss was immaterial as at 31 December 2018.

9.3

Assets and liabilities held for trading and for hedging
Assets

Rm

Liabilities

2018

2017

Derivatives held for trading
Derivative cash flow hedges

6 228
7

6 040
13

(7 167)
(1 290)

(5 271)
(1 040)

Total derivative assets/(liabilities)
Collateral deposits receivable

6 235
4 105

6 053
1 818

(8 457)

(6 311)

10 340

7 871

(8 457)

(6 311)

Total assets/(liabilities) held for trading and for hedging

2018
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9.

Financial instruments (continued)

9.4

Offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements or similar agreements

The group does not have any financial assets or financial liabilities that are currently subject to offsetting in accordance with IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation. The table below sets out the nature of agreements and the types of rights relating to items which do not qualify
for offset but that are subject to a master netting arrangement (MNA) or similar agreement.
NATURE OF AGREEMENT

RELATED RIGHTS

Derivative assets and liabilities

International swaps and derivatives associations

Repurchase agreements

Global master repurchase agreements

Collateral deposits payable

Global master securities lending arrangements

The agreement allows for offset in the
event of default

Not subject
Subject
to MNA
to MNA
or similar
or similar
Total agreements agreements

Rm

Financial
collateral(1)

Net

2018
Assets
Assets held for trading and for hedging

10 340

(1 496)

8 844

(8 008)

836

Total assets

10 340

(1 496)

8 844

(8 008)

836

8 457
5 771
5 976

(133)

8 324
5 771
5 976

(8 008)
(5 680)
(5 976)

316
91

20 204

(133)

20 071

(19 664)

407

2017
Assets
Assets held for trading and for hedging

7 871

(1 356)

6 515

(6 016)

499

Total assets

7 871

(1 356)

6 515

(6 016)

499

Liabilities
Liabilities held for trading and for hedging
Repurchase agreements liabilities (refer note 22)
Collateral deposits payable (refer note 22)

6 311
4 671
4 426

(56)

6 255
4 671
4 426

(6 016)
(4 671)
(4 426)

239

15 408

(56)

15 352

(15 113)

239

Liabilities
Liabilities held for trading and for hedging
Repurchase agreements liabilities (refer note 22)
Collateral deposits payable (refer note 22)
Total liabilities

Total liabilities
(1)

Financial collateral relates to those instruments that are subject to MNA or similar agreements.
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9.

Financial instruments (continued)

9.5

Maturity analysis of net fair value by derivative type
Fair value
Fair value
of assets of liabilities

Rm

Net fair
value

Within
1 year

1–5
years
642

After
5 years

2018
Derivatives held for trading

6 228

(7 167)

(939)

(1 109)

Foreign exchange derivatives
Interest rate derivatives
Equity derivatives

1 032
4 403
793

(1 026)
(5 554)
(587)

6
(1 151)
206

5
(630)
(484)

(48)
690

Derivatives held for hedging

7

(1 290)

(1 283)

(93)

(975)

(215)

Foreign exchange derivatives

7

(1 290)

(1 283)

(93)

(975)

(215)

Total derivative assets/(liabilities)

6 235

(8 457)

(2 222)

(1 202)

(333)

(687)

2017
Derivatives held for trading

6 040

(5 271)

769

500

6

263

Foreign exchange derivatives
Interest rate derivatives
Equity derivatives

483
5 177
380

(384)
(4 602)
(285)

99
575
95

99
399
2

(87)
93

263

Derivatives held for hedging

13

(1 040)

(1 027)

(736)

(291)

Foreign exchange derivatives

13

(1 040)

(1 027)

(736)

(291)

6 053

(6 311)

(258)

(730)

(28)

Total derivative assets/(liabilities)

9.6

500

(472)
1
(473)

Cash flow hedging reserve

The group uses currency and interest rate swaps to mitigate the risk of certain changes in cash flows arising from changes in foreign currency
and interest rates and uses hedge accounting to account for these transactions. The interest rate swaps were closed out during 2018.
The forecast timing of the release of net cash flows from the cash flow hedging reserve into profit or loss at 31 December is detailed in the
table below.
Release timing
Rm

Gross
value

Income
taxation

Net
value

2018
Balance at the beginning of the year
Cash flow hedge recycled through profit and loss
Net change in fair value on cash flow hedges

(184)
18
(9)

53
(6)
3

(131)
12
(6)

Balance at the end of the year

(175)

50

(125)

2017
Balance at the beginning of the year
Net change in fair value on cash flow hedges

(259)
75

74
(21)

(185)
54

Balance at the end of the year

(184)

53

(131)

1–5
years

>5 years

(77)

(48)

(63)

(68)

Ineffectiveness that arises from cash flow hedges is recognised immediately in profit or loss. There was no ineffectiveness in 2018 and 2017.
The group's cash flow hedging strategy is to hedge currency risks arising from foreign currency denominated assets, originated in Liberty Group
Limited, that back local currency denominated policyholder liabilities. Given the nature of the group’s risk management policy, appropriate
hedging strategies will make use of cross currency swaps with external counterparties. The risk management objective is to reduce the cash
flow variability of these assets due to changes in spot exchange rates. The nature of the item hedged is the variability of future cash flows.
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9.

Financial instruments (continued)

9.7

Credit assessment changes recognised in profit
or loss

The group invests in both listed and unlisted debt instruments.
For illiquid listed instruments and unlisted instruments fair value
is arrived at through a mark to model process. The mark to model
used takes into consideration the requirements of IFRS for fair
value purposes.
Where different asset managers have acquired the same illiquid
listed or unlisted debt instrument, these instruments will be valued
by each asset manager but evaluated for consistency by the group.
In addition, the group holds certain debt instruments that are
designated as measured at fair value through profit or loss that would
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otherwise be measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income. The amount of change, during 2018, that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of the financial assets is not
sufficiently material to warrant separate disclosure.

9.8

Group restrictions

The group is restricted on its ability to access or use its assets and
settle its liabilities only to the extent by which amounts have been
posted as collateral (refer notes 9.3, 10 and 22) or assets have been
pledged under certain scrip lending or repurchase agreements
(refer note 10).

Notes to the group annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

9.

Financial instruments (continued)

9.9

Movement analysis of financial investments, repurchase agreements, scrip and collateral assets,
interests in associates and interests in joint ventures measured at fair value through profit or loss and/or
amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income

Rm

Notes

2018
Restated balance at the beginning
of the year under IFRS 9
Restated financial investments
reported under IAS 39
Financial investments as previously
reported under IAS 39
Reclassification of investments
from loans and receivables to fair
value through profit or loss on
adoption of IFRS 9
Repurchase agreements, scrip and
collateral assets
Derivative assets
Derivative liabilities
Collateral deposits receivable
Interests in associates
Interests in joint ventures
Net additions/(disposals) and
movement on third-party share of
financial instrument mutual funds(1)
Accrued interest
Fair value adjustments – income
statement
Fair value adjustments – other
comprehensive income
Net impairment reversed
Disposal group assets classified as
held for sale
Foreign currency translation

(1 027)

(1)

Financial
assets
measured
Fair value
at through other
amortised comprehensive
cost
income

Held for
trading at
fair value
through
profit or
loss

Fair value
through
profit or
loss

2 587

352 222

328

15 433

369 543

323 932

328

15 433

339 693

338 534

1 222

(14 602)

(894)

15 433

15 197
1 193

(247)

(2 687)

(17 866)

(62)
18

3 166

9.1

1 617
33

56

561
(71)

339 341

340

16 803

358 367

311 562

340

16 803

328 705

12 658
7
(1 290)

(14 564)
1 248

42

505
(71)

10
9.3
9.3
9.3
7
6.2

98
1 230

4 551

(9)

(1 283)

(63)
11 900
6 053
(6 311)
1 818
15 197
1 193

6 040
(5 271)
1 818

3 266

Total

339 756

11 900
13
(1 040)

Balance at the end of the year
Financial investments
Repurchase agreements, scrip and
collateral assets
Derivative assets
Derivative liabilities
Collateral deposits receivable
Interests in associates
Interests in joint ventures

Held for
hedging at
fair value
through
profit or
loss

6 228
(7 167)
4 105
13 824
1 297

12 658
6 235
(8 457)
4 105
13 824
1 297

Includes purchases and issuings, sales and redemptions
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9.

Financial instruments (continued)

9.9	Movement analysis of financial investments, repurchase agreements, scrip and collateral assets,
interests in associates and interests in joint ventures measured at fair value through profit or loss
and/or amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income (continued)

Rm

Notes

2017
Balance at the beginning of the year

(1 874)

Financial investments
Repurchase agreements, scrip and collateral
assets
Derivative assets held for trading and for
hedging
Derivative liabilities held for trading and for
hedging
Collateral deposits receivable
Interests in associates
Interests in joint ventures
Net additions/(disposals) and movement on
third-party share of financial instrument mutual
funds(1)
Accrued interest
Repayments
Fair value adjustments – income statement
Fair value adjustments – other comprehensive
income
Net impairment reversed
Foreign currency translation

(1)

13
(1 887)

Fair value
through
profit or loss

Loans and
receivables

Total

3 685

346 138

1 242

349 191

316 441

1 242

317 683
15 483

6 607

6 620

(4 911)
1 989

(6 798)
1 989
12 995
1 219

12 995
1 219

259

(158)

2 248

513

(940)

18 767

25
123
(131)

75
(329)
(1 027)

75
1
(367)

1 222

369 606

9.1

338 534

1 222

339 756

10

11 900

9.2
9.2
9.2
7
6.2
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13
(1 040)

2 587

1
(38)

2 374
123
(131)
18 340

366 824

Includes purchases and issuings, sales and redemptions

56

Held for
trading

15 483

Balance at the end of the year
Financial investments
Repurchase agreements, scrip and collateral
assets
Derivative assets held for trading and for
hedging
Derivative liabilities held for trading and for
hedging
Collateral deposits receivable
Interests in associates
Interests in joint ventures

Held for
hedging

11 900

6 040

6 053

(5 271)
1 818

(6 311)
1 818
15 197
1 193

15 197
1 193

Notes to the group annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

10.

Repurchase agreements, scrip and collateral assets
2018

2017

5 680
350

4 751
270

6 628

6 879

Total repurchase agreements, scrip and collateral assets

12 658

11 900

Maturity analysis
The maturities represent periods to contractual redemption of the pledged assets recorded
Within 1 year
1 – 3 years
Variable

11 653
655
350

10 305
1 325
270

Total

12 658

11 900

Rm
Measured at fair value through profit or loss
Government, municipal and utility bonds
Repurchase agreements
Bonds pledged as collateral
Listed equities on the JSE
Scrip lending(1)
Dividend distributions that occur while scrip is under lending contracts are compensated to Liberty either
through payments of manufactured dividends or other mechanisms by the borrower.

(1)

In respect of equity scrip of R6 628 million (2017: R6 879 million) cash collateral of R5 976 million (2017: R4 426million) has been received. Refer note 22. In addition, equity scrip of
R1 460 million (2017: R3 521 million) has been pledged to Liberty in the event of default.
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11.

Prepayments, insurance and other receivables

Rm

Notes

Insurance contracts
Outstanding premium receivables
Reinsurance recoveries and deposits

2018

2017

1 252

1737

620
632

587
1 150

Prepayments and other receivables at fair value through profit or loss (default)

3 037

Accrued income
Investment debtors
Consolidated mutual funds’ receivables
Agents, brokers and intermediaries
Property debtors
Prepayments
Other debtors

79
804
303
614
1 096
30
111

Prepayments and other receivables at amortised cost(1)

664

Accrued income(2)
Investment debtors(2)
Agents, brokers and intermediaries
Fee income receivable(4), (5)
Prepayments(2)
Other debtors(2)

23
6
104
406
34
91

11.1

Prepayments and other receivables designated at fair value through profit or loss

4 624

Accrued income(4)
Investment debtors
Consolidated mutual funds’ receivables
Agents, brokers and intermediaries(3)
Property debtors
Fee income receivable
Prepayments
Other debtors

449
1 070
532
660
1 030
165
15
703

Total prepayments, insurance and other receivables
(1)
(2)
(3)

(4)
(5)

4 953

6 361

Balances are net of expected credit loss allowances.
These balances are either not subject to expected credit losses or the expected credit loss is immaterial.
Included in agents, brokers and intermediaries is R412 million which was previously disclosed as 'Outstanding premium receivables under investment contracts'. These are amounts
due from agents collected on behalf of employees for investment fund contributions. As these are also financial instrument balances they are more accurately reflected together
with the prepayments and other receivables.
Balances related to contracts with customers.
All fee income receivable balances are within 1-30 days. Fee income, which largely comprises amounts owing to STANLIB Limited is collected through a reduction in the portfolio
of assets managed on behalf of the clients and, therefore there is no expected credit loss on fee income.

All above balances are current i.e. inflows of economic benefits are expected to occur within one year.
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11.

Prepayments, insurance and other receivables (continued)

11.1

Movement in impairment losses on agents, brokers and intermediaries

The group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which requires the use of lifetime
expected loss provisions for all trade receivables at amortised cost.
2018
Rm

Agents,
brokers and
intermediaries

Opening impairment loss allowance under IFRS 9
Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the period
Foreign currency translation

48
3
9

Closing expected credit loss allowance

60

These balances were previously at fair value through profit or loss under IAS 39, and have been reclassified to amortised cost under IFRS 9.
The closing IAS 39 unrealised fair value adjustment was materially equivalent to the opening IFRS provision and the debtors balance was
disclosed on a net basis. Due to the amounts being immaterial, the impairment has not been disclosed on the face of the statement of
comprehensive income.

Ageing of agents, brokers and intermediaries balances
2018
Rm

Carrying
amount

Current
1 -30 days past due
31- 60 days past due
61-90 days past due
More than 90 days past due
Impairment allowance

16
7
2
139
(60)
104

Write off policy for balances from agents and brokers (Liberty Holdings Kenya)
The majority of these balances are owing within the group's subsidiary, Liberty Kenya Holdings Limited. Balances due from agents and brokers
are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The write-off of these amounts is dictated by the Kenyan Revenue
Authority's minimum requirements for write-off. Conditions for write-off are that 1) a debt shall be considered to have become bad if it is
proved to the satisfaction of the commissioner to have become uncollectable after all reasonable steps have been taken to collect it and
2) A debt shall only be considered uncollectable where the creditor loses the contractual right through a court order, no form of security or
collateral is realisable whether partially or in full, the securities or collateral have been realised but the process fails to cover the entire debt,
the debtor is adjudged insolvent or bankrupt by a court of law and the cost of recovering the debt exceeds the debt itself.
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12.

Cash and cash equivalents
2018

Rm
Cash and cash equivalents at fair value through profit or loss (default)

2017

10 024

Cash at bank and on hand
Short-term cash deposits

3 042
6 982

Cash and cash equivalents at amortised cost

6 950

Cash at bank and on hand
Short-term cash deposits

801
6 149

Cash and cash equivalents designated at fair value through profit or loss

15 169

Cash at bank and on hand
Short-term cash deposits

2 538
12 631

Total cash and cash equivalents

16 974

15 169

Impairments on cash and cash equivalents held at amortised cost are measured on a 12 -month expected credit loss basis and reflect the
short-term maturities of the exposures. The group considers that its cash and cash equivalents have low credit risk based on the external credit
ratings of the counterparties. Impairment losses for cash and cash equivalents held at amortised cost were assessed and considered immaterial.
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13.

Long-term policyholder and reinsurance assets and liabilities
Insurance contracts

Rm
2018
Balance at the beginning of the year

Policyholder Policyholder
liabilities
assets
210 554

(7 484)

Reinsurance
assets and
liabilities
(818)

Investment
contracts
with DPF(1)
11 845

(1 481)
663

Reinsurance assets
Reinsurance liabilities
Inflows

30 758

8 307

(1 576)

2 066

Premiums
Investment returns

28 477
2 258

8 307

(1 576)

1 966
100

Unwinding of discount rate
Investments
Fee revenue

2 296
(38)

(673)
673

(45)
45

100

23

Outflows

(40 366)

(7 170)

1 244

(3 731)

Claims and policyholder benefits under insurance contracts
Acquisition costs associated with insurance contracts
General marketing and administration expenses
Profit share allocations
Finance costs and fair value adjustments on financial liabilities
Taxation

(30 995)
(1 891)
(4 434)
(1 185)
(973)
(888)

(3 792)
(1 311)
(1 763)
(20)
(407)
123

1 308
1
43

(3 511)
(87)
(144)

(418)
165
(1 804)
491
730

Net income from insurance operations
Assumptions and modelling changes
Discretionary and compulsory margins and other variances
New business
Shareholder taxation on transfer of net income
Foreign currency translation
Balance at the end of the year

(108)

11

(361)

(262)

58

605
(1085)
(29)
148

(383)
44
(25)
102

216
200 744

(6 708)

(1)

(24)

(4)

199

(1 416)

10 437

(1 699)
283

Reinsurance assets
Reinsurance liabilities
Current
Non-current

82

20 762
179 982

(2 332)
(4 376)

(353)
(1 063)

226
10 211

The group cannot reliably measure the fair value of the investment contracts with discretionary participation features (DPF). The DPF is a contractual right that gives investors in
these contracts the right to receive supplementary discretionary returns through participation in the surplus arising from the assets held in the investment DPF fund.
These supplementary returns are subject to the discretion of the group.
Given the discretionary nature of these investments returns and the absence of an exchange market in these contracts, there is no generally recognised methodology available to
determine fair value. These instruments are issued by the group and the intention is to hold the instruments to full contract term.
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13.

Long-term policyholder and reinsurance assets and liabilities (continued)
Insurance contracts
Policyholder
liabilities

Rm
2017
Balance at the beginning of the year

204 155

Policyholder
assets
(7 314)

Reinsurance
assets and
liabilities
( 797)

Investment
contracts
with DPF(1)
11 462

(1 352)
555

Reinsurance assets
Reinsurance liabilities
Inflows

48 899

7 838

(1 417)

3 066

Premiums
Investment returns

28 152
20 726

7 838

(1 412)
(5)

2 145
921

Unwinding of discount rate
Investments

2 286
18 440

(52)
47

1
920

Fee revenue

(667)
667

21

Outflows

(41 899)

(7 403)

1 558

(2 551)

Claims and policyholder benefits under insurance contracts
Acquisition costs associated with insurance contracts
General marketing and administration expenses
Profit share allocations
Finance costs
Taxation

(31 501)
(2 315)
(4 368)
(903)
(924)
(1 888)

(3 903)
(1 441)
(1 734)
(24)
( 347)
46

1 571
(4)
38

(2 300)
(83)
(174)

(47)

6

(464)

(605)

(167)

6

21
(1 534)
425
624

245
(1 172)
78
244

90
(293)
(24)
60

Net income from insurance operations
Assumptions and modelling changes
Discretionary and compulsory margins and other variances
New business
Shareholder taxation on transfer of net income
Foreign currency translation
Balance at the end of the year

(137)
210 554

5
(7 484)

(1)

(1)
(138)
11 845

(1 481)
663

Reinsurance assets
Reinsurance liabilities
Current
Non-current

( 818)

7

24 607
185 947

(2 506)
(4 978)

(169)
(649)

493
11 352

The group cannot reliably measure the fair value of the investment contracts with discretionary participation features (DPF). The DPF is a contractual right that gives investors in
these contracts the right to receive supplementary discretionary returns through participation in the surplus arising from the assets held in the investment DPF fund.
These supplementary returns are subject to the discretion of the group.
Given the discretionary nature of these investments returns and the absence of an exchange market in these contracts, there is no generally recognised methodology available to
determine fair value. These instruments are issued by the group and the intention is to hold the instruments to full contract term.
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13.

Long-term policyholder and reinsurance assets and liabilities (continued)

Process used to decide on assumptions and changes in assumptions

Life companies outside South Africa
Assumptions used in the valuation of policyholder and reinsurance
contracts are set by references to local guidance, taxation legislation
and where applicable to the Actuarial Society of South Africa guidance.
Economic assumptions are set by reference to local economic
conditions at the valuation date. Margins are allowed for as prescribed
by local guidance and regulations.

Life companies in South Africa
Mortality and Morbidity
An appropriate base table of standard mortality or morbidity is
chosen depending on the type of contract and class of business.
Industry standard tables are used for smaller classes of business.
Company specific tables, based on graduated industry standard
tables modified to reflect the company specific experience, are
used for larger classes. Investigations into mortality and morbidity
experience are performed at least once a year for all classes of
business. The period of investigation extends over at least the latest
three full years. Assumptions are set as the best estimate taking into
account all relevant information. The results of the investigation are an
input used to set the valuation assumptions, which are applied as an
adjustment to the respective base table. In setting the assumptions,
provision is made for expected AIDS-related claims. For contracts
insuring survivorship, an allowance is made for future mortality
improvements based on expected future trends.
Withdrawal
The withdrawal assumptions are based on the most recent withdrawal
investigations taking into account past as well as expected future
trends. The withdrawal investigations are performed at least once a
year for all classes of business. The period of investigation extends
over at least the latest two full years. Assumptions are set as the best
estimate taking into account all relevant information. The withdrawal
rates are analysed by product type and policy duration. These
withdrawal rates vary considerably by duration, policy term and
product type. Typically the assumptions are higher for risk type
products than for investment type products, and are higher at early
durations. The surrender values assumed are as per the terms and
conditions and any other regulatory restrictions in place at the financial
position date.
Investment return and discount rate
For pure risk, life annuity, disability in payment and guaranteed
endowments business, best estimate discount rates are set at risk
free rates consistent with the duration and nature of the cashflows
allowing for an average illiquidity premium on the backing assets and
reduced by an allowance for investment expenses.

For other business, best estimate future investment returns are set
for the main asset classes as follows:
• Gilts – the derived yield from the gilt yield curve, at a duration of
10 years, at the balance sheet date 9,42% (2017: 8,99%).
• Equities – gilt rate plus 3,5 percentage points as an adjustment for
risk 12,92% (2017: 12,49%).
• Property – gilt rate plus 1 percentage point as an adjustment for
risk 10,42% (2017: 9,99%).
• Cash – gilt rate less 1,5 percentage points 7,92% (2017: 7,49%).
The overall investment return for a block of business is based on the
investment return assumptions allowing for the current mix of assets
supporting the liabilities. The pre-taxation discount rate is set at the
same rate. The rate averaged across these blocks of business is 10,6%
per annum in 2018 (2017: 10,3% per annum). Where appropriate the
investment return assumption is adjusted to make allowance for
investment expenses and taxation.
Expenses
An expense analysis is performed on the actual expenses incurred,
split between acquisition and maintenance expenses, in the calendar
year preceding the balance sheet date. This analysis is used to
calculate the acquisition costs incurred. The budget in respect of the
following year approved by the board is used to set the maintenance
expense assumption.
Expense inflation
The expense inflation assumption is set taking into consideration,
market implied inflation, the expected future development of the
number of in force policies, as well as the expected future profile of
maintenance expenses. The expense inflation assumption for pure
risk, life annuity, disability in payment and guaranteed endowments
business is consistent with market implied inflation rates. For other
classes of business the inflation rate is set at the effective 10-year gilt
yield curve rate (gilt rate) less 1,75% when the gilt rate is above 7,25%.
The expense inflation rate is set at 72% of the gilt rate when this is
below 5,25%. At gilt rates between 5,25% and 7,25% the inflation
rate is interpolated to ensure a smooth transition between the two
methodologies. This results in a best estimate inflation assumption
of 7,67% at 31 December 2018 (2017: 7,24%).
Taxation
Assumptions as to the amount and timing of future income tax and
capital gains tax (CGT) payments are based upon the applicable tax
law and rates effective as at the reporting date and as set out in the
Income Tax Act. Allowance is also made for dividends withholding tax
at the rate applicable at the reporting date. Deferred taxation liabilities,
in particular a provision for future CGT in respect of unrealised capital
gains/(losses), have been taken into account using the full face value.
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13.

Long-term policyholder and reinsurance assets and liabilities (continued)

Process used to decide on assumptions and changes in assumptions (continued)
Correlations

Embedded investment derivative assumptions

No correlations between assumptions are allowed for.

The assumptions used to value embedded derivatives in respect of
policyholder contracts are set in accordance with APN 110. Account
is taken of the yield curve at the valuation date. Both implied market
volatility and historical volatility are taken into account when setting
volatility assumptions. Correlations between asset classes are set
based on historical data. Over sixteen thousand simulations are
performed in calculating the liability.

Contribution increases
In the valuation of the policyholder and reinsurance contracts,
voluntary premium increases that give rise to expected profits within
broad product groups are not allowed for. However, compulsory
increases and increases that give rise to expected losses within
broad product groups are allowed for. This is consistent with the
requirements of SAP 104.

Using the simulated investment returns, the implied volatilities and prices of the following instruments are:
Implied volatilities
%
Maturity

Strike

Underlying
index

Vanilla put options
1 year at-the-money
1 year
1 year at-the-money
5 year at-the-money
5 year
5 year at-the-money
20 year at-the-money
20 year
20 year at-the-money

Spot
80% of spot
Forward
Spot
1,045 of spot
Forward
Spot
1,0420 of spot
Forward

FTSE/JSE top 40
FTSE/JSE top 40
FTSE/JSE top 40
FTSE/JSE top 40
FTSE/JSE top 40
FTSE/JSE top 40
FTSE/JSE top 40
FTSE/JSE top 40
FTSE/JSE top 40

Other put options
5 year

1,045 of spot

20 year

Price
%

2018

2017

2018

2017

20,76
24,88
19,98
22,30
21,47
21,29
27,22
28,44
29,16

17,27
21,16
16,58
21,88
21,06
20,94
27,46
28,63
29,15

5,98
1,53
7,73
7,68
14,29
16,34
3,04
14,34
27,71

4,83
0,92
6,42
7,88
14,74
16,09
3,72
16,72
27,70

6,14

6,48

0,52

0,59

60% FTSE/JSE top 40 index, 40% ALBI with annual
rebalancing
Present 5 year forward Pays out if the 5-year interest rate at the time of
rate as at maturity
maturity (in 20 years’ time) is lower than the strike

The TOP 40 index referred to above is a capital index whereas the ALBI is a total return index. “Spot” refers to the value of the index at
market close at the relevant date. “At-the-money (spot)” means that the strike price of the option is equal to the current market value of the
underlying. “At-the-money (forward)” means that the strike price of the option is equal to the market’s expectation of the capital index at
the maturity date of the option.
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13.

Long-term policyholder and reinsurance assets and liabilities (continued)

Changes in assumptions – All life companies
Modelling and other changes were made to realign valuation assumptions with future experience. These changes resulted in an increase in
the net of reinsurance policyholder liabilities of R387 million in 2018 compared to a net increase of R356 million in 2017.
Change in net of reinsurance policyholder liabilities due to assumption and modelling changes
2018

Rm

(14)
(48)
(4)
48

Withdrawals
Mortality and morbidity valuation assumptions
Economic valuation assumptions
Taxation impacts
Data refinements
Reinsurance modelling
Change in renewal expense assumption
New operating model - expense impact(1)
Balance of modelling and other changes

(76)
461
20

Total increase in net of reinsurance policyholder liabilities

387

(1)

2017
(276)
284
4
28
148
122
(18)
64
356

This is the anticipated impact of reserving for expenses that currently reside in Liberty Holdings Limited, that will be transferred to Liberty Group Limited with effect from 1 January
2019, in line with the change to the group's operating model which came into effect on the same date. The impact to new business strain in relation to this was R40 million (total
impact of R501 million).

14.

Long-term policyholder liabilities under investment contracts
2018

Rm

100 519
17 901
(1 273)
(16 083)
(1 251)

Balance at the beginning of the year
Fund inflows from investment contracts
Net fair value adjustment
Fund outflows from investment contracts
Service fee income

2017
91 613
17 417
9 116
(16 373)
(1 254)

Balance at the end of the year

99 813

100 519

Current
Non-current

5 262
94 551

6 797
93 722

38

63

1 251

1 254

Net income from investment contracts (prior to deferred acquisition cost and deferred revenue
liability adjustments)
Service fee income
Expenses:
Property expenses applied to investment returns
Shareholder taxation on transfer of net income
Acquisition costs
General marketing and administration expenses
Finance costs

377
(14)
(543)
(1 014)
(19)
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15.

Third-party financial liabilities arising on consolidation of mutual funds
2018

Rm

2017

Balance at the beginning of the year
Additional mutual funds classified as subsidiaries
Net capital contribution or change in effective ownership
Mutual funds no longer classified as subsidiaries
Distributions
Fair value adjustment

49 713
5 853
(4 362)
(4 236)
(1 189)
2 407

44 046
1 946
4 448
(4 006)
(1 340)
4 619

Balance at the end of the year

48 186

49 713

Certain mutual funds have been classified as investments in subsidiaries. Consequently fund interests not held by the group are classified as
third-party liabilities as they represent demand deposit liabilities measured at fair value. Maturity analysis is not possible as it is dependent
on external unit holders’ behaviour outside of Liberty’s control.
Liberty’s own credit risk is not applicable in the measurement of these liabilities as these liabilities are specifically referenced to assets and
liabilities contained in a separate legal structure that could not be attached in the event of a group entity holding the controlling units defaulting.

16.

Provisions
2018

Rm
Balance at the beginning of the year
Provision raised
Provision utilised
Balance at the end of the year

76
70
(1)
145

2017
191
51
(166)
76

The directors considered all possible obligations that may arise from legal actions and other claims against the group. Provisions have been
made where it is probable that losses will arise.
In the conduct of its ordinary business, the group is exposed to various actual and potential claims and other proceedings relating to
administration delays, alleged errors and omissions. Due to the nature of the provision, the timing of the expected cash flows is uncertain
but likely to be within the next two years.

17.

Deferred taxation

Rm

2018

2017

245

336

Deferred tax assets
Non-current
Deferred tax liabilities
Non-current

(2 694)

(3 386)

Total deferred taxation

(2 449)

(3 050)
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17.

Deferred taxation (continued)

Rm
2018
Normal taxation
Policyholder liabilities difference between tax
and accounting basis
Tax losses and special transfer balances
Intangible assets
Deferred acquisition costs
Deferred revenue liability
Temporary difference arising on consolidation
of L2D
Prepayments, provisions and other temporary
differences

Asset/
(liability)
(Provision)
at the
IFRS 9
Foreign
/release
beginning transitional
currency
for the
of the year adjustment translation
year
(1 916)

47

(2 532)
919
(10)
(205)
80

(1)

(109)

(7)
4
6

184
172
8
205
(77)

(231)
63

Disposal
Asset/
groups
(liability)
held for at the end
sale of the year
(118)

(2 097)

(109)

(2 355)
986
4
3

(133)
47

(4)

(468)

(364)
(9)

(371)

Capital gains taxation

(1 134)

782

(352)

Capital gains taxation
Temporary difference arising on consolidation
of L2D

(1 096)

804

(292)

Total

(3 050)

2017
Normal taxation
Policyholder liabilities difference between tax
and accounting basis
Tax losses and special transfer balances
Intangible assets
Deferred acquisition costs
Deferred revenue liability
Temporary difference arising on consolidation
of L2D
Prepayments, provisions and other temporary
differences

(38)

(22)
47

(1)

(1 909)

35

(2 417)
486
(36)
(196)
72

5
(1)
29

182

2

673

(60)
(118)

(2 449)

(42)

(1 916)

(120)
434
(3)
(9)
8

(2 532)
919
(10)
(205)
80

(231)

(231)

(121)

63

Capital gains taxation

(319)

(815)

(1 134)

Capital gains taxation
Temporary difference arising on consolidation
of L2D

(381)

(715)

(1 096)

62

(100)

(38)

(857)

(3 050)

Total

(2 228)

35

Unused tax losses
The group recognises deferred tax assets on carried forward tax losses to the extent there are sufficient estimated future taxable profits and/
or taxable temporary differences against which the tax losses can be utilised. The group holds unused assessable tax losses of R1 629 million
(potential tax benefit at 28% of R456 million) for which no deferred tax assets have been recognised.
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18.

Deferred revenue
2017

2018
Short-term
insurance
business

Rm

Long-term
investment
contracts

Total

Short-term
insurance
business

Long-term
investment
contracts

Total

Balance at the beginning of the year
Released to profit or loss
Deferred income relating to new business
Foreign currency translation

8
(7)
10
1

283
(35)
54

291
(42)
64
1

12
(11)
8
(1)

256
(32)
59

268
(43)
67
(1)

Balance at the end of the year

12

302

314

8

283

291

Current
Non-current

12

35
267

47
267

8

33
250

41
250

Deferred revenue is upfront fees received on short-term insurance business and long-term investment contracts as a prepayment for asset
management and other services. These amounts are non-refundable and released to income as the services are rendered.

19.

Deemed disposal taxation liability

Rm

2018

2017

Balance at the beginning of the year
Current balance to taxation liability

436
(436)

873
(437)

Balance at the end of the year

436

In accordance with the Rates and Monetary Amounts and Amendment of Revenue Laws Act, 13 of 2016, promulgated 17 January 2017, various
investments held to back policyholder liabilities were, from a capital gains taxation perspective, deemed to be simultaneously disposed of
and reacquired at market value on 29 February 2016. The effect of this was the crystallisation of unrealised taxable gains and losses relating
to these investments at the old capital gains taxation inclusion rate. The Income Tax Act requires the resultant net taxable gain to be spread
and included in equal amounts over three tax years commencing from the 2016 until the 2018 tax year. The consequential taxation payable
for the 2018 tax year of R436 million has been included in current taxation. Subsequent realised gains and losses of the affected investments
attract the new capital taxation inclusion rates applicable from 1 March 2016.
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20. Short-term insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets
20.1

Short-term insurance liabilities comprise
2018

Rm

2017

Gross of
reinsurance Reinsurance

Net of
reinsurance

Gross of
reinsurance Reinsurance

Net of
reinsurance

Outstanding reported claims
Claims incurred but not reported
Unearned premiums

445
98
441

(174)
(27)
(219)

271
71
222

319
88
373

(94)
(22)
(177)

225
66
196

Total short-term insurance liabilities

984

(420)

564

780

(293)

487

Current
Non-current

768
216

(243)
(177)

525
39

631
149

(165)
(128)

466
21

(116)
191
(263)
(24)

291
(889)
943
55

(111)
213
(229)
11

378
(931)
886
(42)

(116)

291

20.2 Movement analysis
Outstanding reported claims and claims
incurred but not reported
Balance at the beginning of the year
Cash-settled claims
Claims provided for
Foreign currency translation
Disposal group liabilities classified as
held for sale
Balance at the end of the year
Unearned premiums
Balance at the beginning of the year
Premiums received
Recognised to revenue
Foreign currency translation
Disposal group liabilities classified as
held for sale
Balance at the end of the year

407
(1 080)
1 206
79
(69)
543
373
1 908
(1 861)
68
(47)
441

11
(201)
(177)
(530)
514
(33)
7
(219)

489
(1 144)
1 115
(53)

(58)
342
196
1 378
(1 347)
35

407
436
1 816
(1 835)
(44)

(211)
(526)
538
22

225
1 290
(1 297)
(22)

(40)
222

373

(177)
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20. Short-term insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets (continued)
20.3 Claims development
The claims development tables below are based on the actual date of the event that caused the claim (incident year basis).
Short-term insurance liabilities – gross claims paid in respect of reporting year at the applicable exchange rate
Incident year
2013
and prior

Total

2018

2017

2016

2015

2014

2018

1 080

713

328

15

11

4

9

2017
2016
2015
2014
2013

1 144
1 184
931
780
980

856

186
869

41
171
808

47
119
84
597

14
25
39
183
980

Cumulative payments to date

6 099

1 184

1 070

1 031

851

1 250

Rm

713

Short-term insurance liabilities – net claims paid in respect of reporting year at the applicable exchange rate
Incident year
Total

2018

2017

2016

2015

2014

2013
and prior

2018

889

672

184

15

8

3

7

2017
2016
2015
2014
2013

931
921
735
616
562

720

158
770

23
110
653

17
27
58
490

13
14
24
126
562

904

943

794

595

746

Rm

Cumulative payments to date

21.

4 654

672

Financial liabilities

Rm
Designated at fair value through profit or loss on adoption of IFRS 9

Notes

2018

21.1

6 478
5 662
811
5

Subordinated notes
Commercial paper
Preference shares
Measured at amortised cost

21.1

1 626
1 626

Total financial liabilities

8 104
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Subordinated notes
Loan facilities
Redeemable preference shares
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21.

Financial liabilities (continued)

21.1

Financial liabilities summary
Designated
at FVPL(1)

Issue
date

Maturity
date

Coupon

3 Apr 2018
14 Aug 2020
12 Dec 2021
4 Oct 2022
4 Oct 2022
28 Feb 2023
28 Aug 2024
8 Oct 2025

7,64% (fixed) Semi annually
9,165% (fixed) Semi annually
2,50%>3m JIBAR (floating)
Quarterly
10,2% (fixed) Semi annually
2,28%>3m JIBAR (floating)
Quarterly
2,15%> 3m JIBAR (floating)
Quarterly
2,45%> 3m JIBAR (floating)
Quarterly
1,80%> 3m JIBAR (floating)
Quarterly

Loan facilities(4)
1 Nov 2018
1 Nov 2018
1 Nov 2018
1 Nov 2018
1 Nov 2018
1 Nov 2018
1 Nov 2018

31 Oct 2019 0,875%>6m JIBAR (floating) Semi annually
31 Oct 2021
1,17%>6m JIBAR (floating) Semi annually
31 Oct 2023
1,44%>6m JIBAR (floating) Semi annually
30 Apr 2019 Prime, less 1,84% (floating) Semi annually
31 Oct 2019 0,90%>6m JIBAR (floating) Semi annually
31 Oct 2021
1,20%>6m JIBAR (floating) Semi annually
31 Oct 2023
1,50%>6m JIBAR (floating) Semi annually

Commercial
paper(5)
18 Oct 2018
25 Oct 2018
26 Oct 2018
Preference
shares(6)

18 Jan 2019
25 Jan 2019
28 Jan 2019

0,50%>3m JIBAR (floating)
0,50%>3m JIBAR (floating)
0,50%>3m JIBAR (floating)

Amortised
cost

2018
Rm

2017
Rm

2018
Rm

5 500

5 662

5 681

5 576

1 000
500
400
600
900
1 100
1 000

1 063
508
414
605
929
1 144
999

1 018
1 024
517
408
639
932
1 143

1 019
1 033
501
408
610
902
1 103

Contractually
due(2)
Interest
payable
Rm

Subordinated
notes
3 Oct 2012
14 Aug 2013
12 Dec 2014
4 Oct 2016(3)
4 Oct 2016(3)
28 Aug 2017(3)
28 Aug 2017(3)
8 Oct 2018(3)

Fair
value

Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly

1 604

1 626

250
250
250
99
255
250
250

253
254
254
99
258
254
254

800

811

500
100
200

507
101
203
5

5

Total financial liabilities

6 478

5 686

Current
Non-current

910
5 568

2017
Rm

5
1 626

5 581

626
1 000

1 097
4 484

Fair value adjustments to financial liabilities arising from own credit (gross of tax)
2018

Rm

108
(68)

Balance at the beginning of the year restated under IFRS 9 (cumulative)
Fair value adjustments to financial liabilities arising from own credit during the year

40

Cumulative change in fair value attributable to credit risk
(1)
(2)
(3)

(4)
(5)
(6)

Financial liabilities reclassified as designated at fair value through profit or loss upon adoption of IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Previously these were measured at amortised cost.
The contractual undiscounted amount that will be required to be paid at maturity. This is representative of the nominal value.
These notes include a deferral of coupon payment feature in the event Liberty Group Limited breaches its Insurance Act, 2017 solvency capital requirement or if the payment of
the coupon would lead to such an event.
The loan facilities are issued to Liberty Two Degrees Ltd and 2 Degrees Properties (Pty) Ltd and are repayable in one bullet payment on the repayment date.
The commercial paper liabilities are issued by Vineyard Road Investments (RF) Pty Ltd to the STANLIB Money Market fund and Standard Bank Institutional Money Market fund.
5 000 cumulative, participation non-convertible redeemable preference shares valued at R1 000 each were issued by the wholly owned subsidiary Liberty Group Limited during
2013. These preference shares are executionary in nature facilitating the payment of profit share amounts that accrue in terms of the bancassurance business agreement with
Standard Bank (refer note 45.C.6). The preference shares are redeemable as and when the bancassurance business agreement is terminated.

The subordinated notes are callable by Liberty Group Limited prior to maturity date if certain regulatory or taxation events occur.
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21.

Financial liabilities (continued)

21.1

Financial liabilities summary (continued)

In 2018, Liberty Group Limited issued a R1 billion subordinated note. This was the first issue that was approved by the Prudential Authority
under the new capital regime that came into effect from 1 July 2018, and which included a requirement for the subordinated note to be
guaranteed. Liberty Holdings Limited provided a guarantee to the external noteholders. The Prudential Authority approval of the issuance
included a requirement to hold sufficient liquidity available to meet the note redemption and interest amounts. In addition, Liberty Group
Limited must maintain a solvency capital requirement cover of at least 1,15 times. Redemptions on maturity date are subject to the approval
of the Prudential Authority.
Prior to this, regulatory subordinated notes were subject to Financial Services Board approval. The Financial Services Board approval of the
pre-2018 Liberty Group Limited issuances also included a requirement to hold sufficient liquidity available to meet the note redemption
and interest amounts. Under the previous capital regime, Liberty Group Limited was required to maintain capital adequacy cover of at least
1,75 times. This requirement was complied with during 2017 and until 30 June 2018. Redemptions on maturity date were also subject to the
approval of the Financial Services Board.

21.2

Reconciliation of movement in financing activities disclosed in the statement of cash flows
Designated
at
FVPL
2018

Rm
Financial liabilities subordinated notes as previously reported
under IAS 39
Reclassification of financial liabilities from amortised cost to fair
value through profit or loss on adoption of IFRS 9
Opening balance fair value adjustment
Restated balance at the beginning of the year under IFRS 9
Finance costs(2),(3)
Note issues(1)
Capitalisation of note issue expenses(1)
Repayments(2)
Profit or loss fair value adjustment to financial liabilities(2)(3)
Fair value adjustments arising from own credit(2)
Balance at the end of the year
(1)
(2)
(3)

5 581
105

Amortised
cost
2018

2017

2018

2017

5 581

4 601

5 581

4 601

(5 581)
105

5 686
1 800
(1 499)
559
(68)
6 478

24
1 619
(17)

1 626

Advance of financial liabilities
Repayment of financial liabilities
Included in fair value adjustment is R513 million finance costs in 2018. Refer "Changes in accounting policies" note 49.
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Total

4 601
432
2 000
(12)
(1 440)

5 581

5 686
24
3 419
(1 516)
559
(68)
8 104

4 601
432
2 000
(12)
(1 440)

5 581

Notes to the group annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

22.

Repurchase agreements liabilities and collateral deposits payable
Notes

2018

2017

22.1
22.2

5 771
5 976

4 671
4 426

Total repurchase agreements liabilities and collateral deposits payable

11 747

9 097

Current
Non-current

11 747

8 131
966

Rm
Repurchase agreements liabilities
Collateral deposits payable

22.1

Reconciliation of movement in financing activities disclosed in the statement of cash flows

Repurchase agreements liabilities
Rm
Balance at the beginning of the year
Repurchase agreements issued(1)
Finance costs
Fair value adjustment(2)
Repurchase agreements repaid(1)
Balance at the end of the year

2018

2017

4 671
32 621

7 064
43 860
397

370
(31 891)

(46 650)

5 771

4 671

22.2 Reconciliation of movement in financing activities disclosed in the statement of cash flows

Collateral deposits payable
2018

2017

Balance at the beginning of the year
Net movement in collateral deposits payable(1)
Finance costs
Fair value adjustment(2)

4 426
1 098

4 684
(657)
399

Balance at the end of the year

5 976

Rm

(1)
(2)

452
4 426

Net movement in repurchase agreement liabilities and collateral deposits payable
Included in the fair value adjustment is finance cost of R370 million for repurchase agreement liabilities and R452 million for collateral deposits payable in 2018. Refer "Change in
accounting policies" note 49.

23.

Employee benefits

23.1

Summary
Notes

2018

2017

Asset
Defined benefit pension fund employer surplus

23.6

140

171

Liabilities
Short-term employee benefits
Long-term employee benefits (cash-settled)
Post-retirement medical aid benefit

23.2
23.3
23.7

802
104
471

828
123
495

1 377

1 446

Rm

Total liability
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23.

Employee benefits (continued)

23.2 Short-term employee benefits
Short-term incentive
schemes

Leave pay

Total

Rm

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

Balance at the beginning of the year
Additional provision raised
Utilised during the year
Foreign currency translation
Disposal group liabilities classified as held for sale

116
179
(178)
2
(8)

108
173
(164)
(1)

712
554
(547)
4
(32)

653
615
(553)
(3)

828
733
(725)
6
(40)

761
788
(717)
(4)

111

116

691

712

802

828

Balance at the end of the year

All outflows of economic benefits in respect of the short-term employee benefits are expected to occur within one year.

Leave pay
In terms of the group policy, employees are entitled to accumulate a maximum of 20 days compulsory leave and 20 days discretionary
leave. Compulsory leave has to be taken within 18 months of earning it, failing which it is forfeited. Only discretionary leave can be sold back
to the company.

Short-term incentive schemes (cash-settled)
In terms of the group remuneration policy, all permanent employees are eligible to receive a short-term incentive bonus in terms of the
various board approved short-term incentive schemes. These schemes recognise both individual and financial performance (both of the
respective business unit and group). Awards are approved by the remuneration committee and are subject to deferrals at certain levels (refer
to note 36.1). The non-deferred amounts are cash-settled.

23.3 Long-term employee benefits (cash-settled)
STANLIB deferred bonus
scheme
2018

Rm

2017

Balance at the beginning of the year
Net accrual for past service
Adjustments for referenced unit price movements
Cash settlements

123
58
(8)
(69)

111
76
7
(71)

Balance at the end of the year

104

123

50

83

Total service cost expensed through profit or loss

STANLIB deferred bonus scheme
Annual short-term incentive performance bonus payments, to qualifying STANLIB employees are subject to various mandatory deferrals.
This is achieved by investing the deferred portions of the short-term incentive awards into units of nominated STANLIB-managed unit trusts.
There is a one to three-year cliff vesting period.
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23.

Employee benefits (continued)

23.4 Details of funds
The group operates the following retirement and post-retirement
medical schemes for the benefit of its employees.

Defined benefit scheme:
Liberty Group Defined Benefit Pension Fund
The group operates a funded defined benefit pension scheme in
terms of section 1 of the Income Tax Act, 1962. With effect from
1 March 2001 the majority of employees accepted an offer to convert
their retirement plans from defined benefit to defined contribution.
Employees joining after 1 March 2001 automatically become members
of the defined contribution schemes. The defined benefit pension
scheme was closed to new employees from 1 March 2001. Employer
companies contribute the total cost of benefits provided, taking into
account the recommendation of the actuaries.

Defined contribution schemes:
Liberty Defined Contribution Pension Fund
Liberty Group Limited operates a funded defined contribution
pension scheme in terms of section 1 of the Income Tax Act, 1962.
The Liberty Defined Contribution Pension Fund offers a benefit to
Liberty employees based on the accumulated contributions and
investment returns at retirement.
Liberty Provident Fund
The Liberty Provident Fund offers a benefit to Liberty employees,
based on the accumulated contributions and investment returns at
retirement. The group contributes to the scheme for the benefit of
employees in terms of the rules of the fund.

Liberty Agency Fund
The Liberty Agency Fund offers a benefit to the group’s qualifying
agents based on the accumulated contributions and investment
returns at retirement. The employer makes a predetermined rate of
contribution per month as stipulated in the rules of the fund.
The Liberty Franchise Umbrella Fund and the Capital Alliance Holdings
Defined Contribution Pension Fund also have policies with Liberty
however the funds’ liabilities are immaterial.
There are a number of small employee retirement funds in the process
of being liquidated. These are fully funded with total liabilities of less
than R10 million.
All retirement schemes are governed by the Pension Fund Act,
1956 as amended.

Post-retirement medical benefit
The group operates an unfunded post-retirement medical aid
benefit for permanent employees who joined the group prior to
1 February 1999 and agency staff who joined the group prior to
1 March 2005. Medical aid costs are included in the profit or loss
within general marketing and administration expenses in the period
during which the employees render services to the group. For past
service of employees the group recognises and provides for the
actuarially determined present value of post-retirement medical
aid employer contributions on an accrual basis using the projected
unit credit method.
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23.

Employee benefits (continued)

23.5 Retirement benefit obligation
Liberty Group Defined
Benefit Pension Fund
2018

2017

Change in defined benefit funded obligation
Present value of funded obligation at the beginning of the year
Service cost benefits earned during the year
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation
Actuarial gain
Benefits paid

1 391
18
156
(175)
(97)

1 467
24
149
(138)
(111)

Present value of funded obligation at the end of the year

1 293

1 391

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial loss from return on plan assets
Employer contribution(1)
Reduction in employer surplus account(1)
Benefits paid

1 626
170
(171)
17
(17)
(97)

1 682
168
(113)
21
(21)
(111)

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year(2)

1 528

1 626

Rm

Surplus
Effect of limiting net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling

235
(95)

235
(64)

Net defined benefit asset

140

171

(1)

(2)

The employer’s best estimate of contributions expected to be paid to the Liberty Group Defined Pension Fund during 2019 is nil as it is anticipated the contributions will be funded
from the employer portion of the surplus account. The Pensions Fund Act requires a statutory valuation every three years.
The fair value of the plan assets for 2018 constitutes: 13,3% cash, 86% debt notes, 0,5% equities and 0,2% international funds (2017: 12% cash, 75% debt notes, 9% equities and
4% international funds).

In the opinion of the pension fund valuator, after the most recent statutory actuarial valuation as at 1 January 2018, the Liberty Group Defined
Benefit Pension Fund was financially sound. Management are of the opinion that the Fund is financially sound as at 31 December 2018.
Liberty Group Defined
Benefit Pension Fund
2018

Rm

2017
( 3)

Components of profit or loss
Net interest on the net defined benefit asset
Current service cost

18
(18)

21
( 24)

Components of other comprehensive income

(30)

( 41)

Actuarial gains

175

138

Demographic experience and assumptions
Financial assumptions

70
105

43
95

Return on plan assets excluding interest cost and expected income on employer surplus
Change in the effect of the asset ceiling

(174)
(31)
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23.

Employee benefits (continued)

23.6 Defined benefit pension fund employer surplus
Liberty Group Defined
Benefit Pension Fund
Rm
Balance at the beginning of the year
Investment gains

2018

2017

171
14

215
14

18
(4)

21
(7)

Agreed contribution to member benefit enhancements

(17)

(21)

Expected contributions
Variance to expected

(18)
1

(24)
3

Apportionment of surplus in terms of section 15C of Pension Funds Act

(28)

(37)

Other actuarial gains
Change in the effect of the asset ceiling

3
(31)

27
(64)

Expected return
Variance to expected

Balance at the end of the year

140

171

Current
Non-current

17
123

21
150

2018

2017

23.7

Post-retirement benefit medical aid obligation

Change in post-retirement medical aid benefit obligation
Rm
Present value of unfunded obligation at the beginning of the year
Service cost benefits earned during the year
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation
Benefits paid
Actuarial gain included in other comprehensive income

495
8
51
(13)
(70)

493
9
51
(13)
(45)

Present value of unfunded obligation at the end of the year

471

495

Current
Non-current

8
463

9
486

The liability obligation has been updated after the most recent actuarial valuation as at 31 December 2018.
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23.

Employee benefits (continued)

23.8 Sensitivity analysis – Post-retirement medical aid benefit
Shown in the table below are sensitivities of the value of the post-retirement medical aid benefit to changes in the medical inflation rates
without changes to the risk discount rate:
Decrease/(increase)
in liability
Rm
Variable
1% decrease in medical inflation rate
– active members
– pensioners
1% increase in medical inflation rate
– active members
– pensioners

2018

2017

37
17

41
13

(45)
(20)

(51)
(16)

23.9 Assumptions used in the valuation of obligations
Liberty Group Defined
Benefit Pension Fund
The valuation was based on the following principal actuarial
assumptions

Anticipated after taxation returns on investments
Discount rate
Future salary increases (excluding increases on promotion)

2018

10,88%

2017

Post-retirement
medical aid benefit
2018

2017

Unfunded liability and therefore
there is no asset-backing
10,83%
portfolio

Nominal government bond
curve

Nominal government bond
curve

Future salary increases based
on inflation curve plus 1% p.a.
to each point on the curve

Not applicable

Medical cost trend rate (applicable to members who retired before
1 January 2013)

Not applicable

Inflation curve adjusted
upwards by 1% p.a.

Medical cost trend rate (applicable to members who retired after
1 January 2013)

Not applicable

Curve implied by the difference
between a nominal government
bond curve
and an index linked gilt

Mortality assumption – pre-retirement
Based on the SA98 Tables
(Ultimate Rates) with allowance
for mortality improvements
– post-retirement

Retirement age – executives
– others
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Based on the SA98 Tables for
Pensioners (Ultimate Rates)
with allowance for mortality
improvements

Based on the SA98 Tables
Based on the SA98 Tables
(Ultimate Rates) with allowance (Ultimate Rates) with allowance
for mortality improvements
for mortality improvements
63
60 or 65

63
60 or 65

63
60 or 65

63
60 or 65
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23.

Employee benefits (continued)

23.10 Transactions between group companies and the funds
23.10.1 The contributions which the group companies have made on behalf of the employees during the year are as follows:
Rm
Retirement
Defined benefit funds(1)
Defined contribution funds
Medical
Post-retirement medical benefit paid – pensioners
(1)

2018

2017

17
388

21
375

13

13

Funded from employer surplus account.

23.10.2 The Liberty Group Defined Benefit Pension Fund has various banking relationships with Standard Bank Group Limited
and its subsidiaries. The summary of balances deposited and interest received are as follows:
Balance deposited
R'000

Balance at the beginning of the year
Balance at the end of the year

Interest received
R'000

2018

2017

2018

2017

12 195
20 429

3 745
12 195

737

832

23.10.3 The Liberty Group Defined Benefit Pension Fund has outsourced its management to Liberty Group Limited.
The summary of fees paid is as follows:
Fees paid
R’000

Liberty Group Defined Benefit Pension Fund – administration fees
– consultancy fees

2018

2017

167
1 296

169
1 687

23.10.4 The Liberty Group Defined Benefit Pension Fund has investments in certain mutual fund subsidiaries, Liberty Two
Degrees and in Standard Bank Group Limited as follows:
2017

Rm

1
69
12
7

Liberty Two Degrees
STANLIB Funds Limited
STANLIB Institutional Property
Standard Bank shares, bonds and money market investments
There were no investments in the above mentioned as at 31 December 2018.
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23.

Employee benefits (continued)

23.10 Transactions between group companies and the funds (continued)
23.10.5 The following retirement benefit funds have insurance policies with Liberty Group Limited and its subsidiaries, held as
investment policies in the funds. A summary of the transactions for each policy with each fund follows:
Fund value
2018

Rm

2017

Liberty Defined Contribution Pension Fund
Balance at the beginning of the year
Premiums
Fair value adjustments
Withdrawals

690
61
(9)
(78)

646
63
40
(59)

Balance at the end of the year

664

690

Liberty Provident Fund
Balance at the beginning of the year
Premiums
Fair value adjustments
Withdrawals

3 322
387
(53)
(299)

3 059
359
166
(262)

Balance at the end of the year

3 357

3 322

Liberty Agency Fund
Balance at the beginning of the year
Premiums
Fair value adjustments
Withdrawals

1 225
52
(16)
(86)

1 295
50
95
(215)

Balance at the end of the year

1 175

1 225

15

14

23.10.6 The various funds detailed above have contracted Liberty to manage the funds.
The total of fees paid is as follows:
Administration and consulting fees
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24.

Insurance and other payables
2018

2017

Long-term insurance and investment contracts

6 635

6 756

Long-term insurance contracts

6 454

6 611

Outstanding claims and surrenders
Commission creditors
Premiums received in advance

5 534
332
588

5 511
577
523

Long-term investment contracts

181

145

Other payables at amortised cost

708

Sundry payables
Preference share dividends
Investment creditors

655
29
24

Rm

Other payables designated at fair value through profit or loss

4 628

5 239

Sundry payables
Consolidated mutual funds’ payables
Preference share dividends
Property creditors
Investment creditors

1 122
997
1 199
894
416

1 634
1 013
944
718
930

Total insurance and other payables

11 971

11 995

Current
Non-current

11 915
56

11 952
43
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25.

Disposal groups classified as held for sale

As part of the strategy refresh exercise conducted during 2018, various cash-generating units were identified as either sub scale or no longer
applicable to Liberty's revised strategy. Consequently the board approved a process of disposals and strategic partnership negotiations which
is highly probable to lead to loss of control of these cash-generating units during 2019.
The cash-generating units impacted are asset management operations in Ghana, Uganda, Kenya and Botswana, Health risk solutions, the
short-term insurance technology start up and short-term insurance in Malawi and Namibia.
These were included in the consolidated financial statements of Liberty Holdings Limited in 2017.
Based on the requirements of IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, the assets and liabilities have been disclosed
as disposal groups, and are separately disclosed on the statement of financial position. The disposal groups are measured at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Certain of these disposal groups were measured at fair value less costs to sell, which led to
various impairments, as set out below. The fair value less costs to sell is based on an assessment of what management believe a purchaser
would value the business, taking into account the current business viability and operations. In the application of the fair value remeasurement,
the adjustments were first applied to the non- current assets as applicable under IFRS 5, thereafter the additional remeasurement was
sequenced across other non-current assets (including deferred tax assets), with the residual being applied to Other receivables.
The classes of assets and liabilities comprising the disposal groups classified as held for sale are as follows:
2018
Rm

Gross

Impairment

Total assets classified as held for sale

1 146

(249)

897

Intangibles assets
Properties
Equipment
Deferred taxation
Reinsurance assets - short-term insurance
Financial investments
Prepayments, insurance and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

183
17
24
118
18
71
497
218

(85)
(2)
(16)
(118)
(7)

98
15
8

Total liabilities classified as held for sale

278

278

Short-term insurance liabilities
Employee benefits
Insurance and other payables
Current taxation

116
40
116
6

116
40
116
6

Net assets of disposal groups held for sale

868

(21)

(249)

Net

11
71
476
218

619

No comparative information has been disclosed, since this is not a requirement of IFRS 5. The potential sales are not discontinued operations
as defined as they are not disposals of separate major lines of business or geographical areas of operation. Profit or loss from cash-generating
units within disposal groups have not been separately identified in the statement of comprehensive income.
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26.

Summary of the group’s financial, property, insurance and reinsurance assets and long-term
policyholder and reinsurance liabilities per class

26.1

Assets
Rand denominated

Foreign currency
denominated

Total

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

Equity instruments

80 297

92 673

29 558

42 364

109 855

135 037

Listed equities on the JSE or foreign exchanges
Unlisted equities
Scrip assets – listed equities on the JSE
Interests in joint ventures

70 425
1 947
6 628
1 297

82 885
1 716
6 879
1 193

29 553
5

42 358
6

99 978
1 952
6 628
1 297

125 243
1 722
6 879
1 193

116 946

107 780

21 558

15 915

138 504

123 695

3 078
291

307
312

60
5

94
3

3 138
296

401
315

66 774
40 691
5 375
737

65 465
37 105
3 696

18 977
1 521
655

13 219
947
1 325

85 751
42 212
6 030
737
340

78 684
38 052
5 021

Rm

Debt instruments
Listed preference shares on the JSE or foreign
exchanges
Unlisted preference shares
Listed term deposits on BESA, JSE or foreign
exchanges
Unlisted term deposits
Repurchase agreements and collateral assets
Policy loan receivables
Financial assets at amortised cost
Loans and receivables
Mutual funds

(1)

Property
Equity instruments
Interest-bearing instruments
Mixed asset classes
Investment policies
Long-term policyholder assets – insurance
contracts
Reinsurance assets
Derivative assets held for trading and for hedging
Collateral deposits receivable
Prepayments, insurance and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Properties
Total financial, property, insurance and
reinsurance assets
Other assets not included in the asset class
table
Intangible assets
Defined benefit pension fund employer surplus
Equipment
Interests in joint ventures – equity accounted
Interests in associate – equity accounted
Deferred taxation
Deferred acquisition costs
Disposal group assets classified as held for sale
Total assets as per statement of financial
position
(1)

340
895

327

1 222

86 360

89 088

12 303

10 522

98 663

99 610

866
13 084
15 088
57 322

1 846
13 553
18 576
55 113

84
2 962
2 250
7 007

61
2 495
3 598
4 368

950
16 046
17 338
64 329

1 907
16 048
22 174
59 481

8 208

8 517

1 254

1 187

9 462

9 704

6 708
1 625
5 700
4 019
4 226
13 701
35 670

7 484
1 409
5 629
1 806
6 096
11 842
34 559

494
535
86
727
3 273
291

365
424
12
265
3 327
209

6 708
2 119
6 235
4 105
4 953
16 974
35 961

7 484
1 774
6 053
1 818
6 361
15 169
34 768

363 460

366 883

70 079

74 590

433 539

441 473

572
140
1 038
56
10
245
777
897

231
171
1 128
51

437 274

444 127

336
737

Mutual funds are categorised into property, equity or interest-bearing instruments based on a minimum of 80% of the underlying asset composition of the fund by value being
of a like category. In the event of “no one category meeting this threshold” it is classified as mixed asset classes.
Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

83

GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISK MANAGEMENT

COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

APPENDICES

Notes to the group annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

26.	Summary of the group’s financial, property, insurance and reinsurance assets and longterm policyholder and reinsurance liabilities per class (continued)
26.2 Liabilities
Long-term policyholder liabilities

Rm
2018
Investment-linked (excluding discretionary participation
features (DPF))
Business with DPF
Non-participating annuities (including disability income
in claim)
Guaranteed capital endowments
Retail pure risk (excluding disability income annuities in
claim)
Institutional risk (excluding group disability income
annuities in claim)
Embedded derivatives
Total long-term policyholder and reinsurance
liabilities
2017
Investment-linked (excluding discretionary participation
features (DPF))
Business with DPF
Non-participating annuities (including disability income
in claim)
Guaranteed capital endowments
Retail pure risk (excluding disability income annuities in
claim)
Institutional risk (excluding group disability income
annuities in claim)
Embedded derivatives
Total long-term policyholder and reinsurance liabilities

27.

Fair value hierarchy

27.1

Introduction

Insurance
contracts

Investment
contracts

145 282
15 665

97 098

26 400
10 848

1 586
1 155

Investment
contracts Reinsurance
with DPF
liabilities

238
10 437

45

99 813

155 712
17 544

97 937

26 044
8 820

1 543
1 070

10 437

210 554

283

311 277

278

253 927
29 389

11 845

27 587
9 890

468
555
1 411

385

853
555
1 380

(31)
100 519

364
657
1 547

(26)

200 744

242 618
26 102
27 986
12 003

319
657
1 573

Total

11 845

663

323 581

The fair value of prepayments and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and other payables, that under the IFRS 9 business model
approach are held at amortised cost are not included in the hierarchy table as their settlement terms are short-term. These financial instruments
are not subject to material market sensitivities.

84

Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

Notes to the group annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

27.

27.2

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Asset hierarchy

The table below analyses the fair value measurement of applicable assets by level.
2018
Rm
Equity instruments

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

106 606

1

3 248

109 855

Listed equities on the JSE or foreign exchanges
Unlisted equities
Scrip assets – listed equities on the JSE
Interests in joint ventures

99 978

1 297

99 978
1 952
6 628
1 297

Debt instruments

85 890

51 351

186

137 427

186

5 375

110
8 374
42 212
655

Mutual funds(1)

6 127

91 003

1 533

Property
Equity instruments
Interest-bearing instruments
Mixed asset classes

12
1 449
107
4 559

938
13 824
17 231
59 010

Listed preference shares on the JSE or foreign exchanges
Unlisted preference shares
Listed term deposits on BESA, JSE or foreign exchanges
Unlisted term deposits
Repurchase agreements and collateral assets

1

3 138
77 377

Investment policies
Derivative assets held for trading and for hedging

8 219
6 235

Equity instruments
Currency exchange instruments
Interest rate instruments

793
1 039
4 403

Policy loan receivables(2)
Properties
Collateral deposits receivable
Prepayments and other receivables held at fair value through profit
or loss
Cash and cash equivalents held at fair value through profit or loss
Total assets subject to fair value hierarchy analysis

1 951

6 628

4 105
10 024
198 623

170 938

760
773

3 138
296
85 751
42 212
6 030
98 663
950
16 033
17 338
64 342

1 243

9 462
6 235
793
1 039
4 403

737

737

35 961

35 961
4 105

3 037

3 037
10 024

45 945

415 506

Other assets not subject to fair value hierarchy analysis:
Intangible assets
Defined benefit pension fund employer surplus
Equipment
Interest in joint venture – equity accounted
Interest in associate – equity accounted
Deferred taxation
Deferred acquisition costs
Long-term policyholder assets – insurance contracts
Reinsurance assets
Policy loan receivables(2)
Prepayments and other receivables held at amortised cost
Insurance contract receivables
Cash and cash equivalents held at amortised cost
Disposal group assets classified as held for sale
Total assets as per statement of financial position
(1)

(2)

572
140
1 038
56
10
245
777
6 708
2 119
340
664
1 252
6 950
897
437 274

Mutual funds are categorised into property, equity or interest-bearing instruments based on a minimum of 80% of the underlying asset composition of the fund by value being of
a like category. In the event of “no one category meeting this threshold” it is classified as mixed asset classes.
Certain policy loan receivables were reclassified as fair value through profit or loss upon adoption of IFRS 9. Previously these were measured at amortised cost.
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27.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

27.2

Asset hierarchy (continued)

The table below analyses the fair value measurement of applicable assets by level.
2017
Rm

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Equity instruments

132 122

13

2 902

135 037

Listed equities on the JSE or foreign exchanges
Unlisted equities
Scrip assets – listed equities on the JSE
Interests in joint ventures

125 243
13

1 709
1 193

125 243
1 722
6 879
1 193

50 721

206

122 473

180

3 696

135
11 235
38 026
1 325

Mutual funds(1)

4 819

94 092

699

Property
Equity instruments
Interest-bearing instruments
Mixed asset classes

10
816
1
3 992

1 897
14 885
22 173
55 137

Debt instruments
Listed preference shares on the JSE or foreign exchanges
Unlisted preference shares
Listed term deposits on BESA, JSE or foreign exchanges
Unlisted term deposits
Repurchase agreements and collateral assets

6 879
71 546
401
67 449

Investment policies
Derivative assets held for trading and for hedging

8 528
6 053

Equity instruments
Currency exchange instruments
Interest rate instruments

380
496
5 177

Properties
Total assets subject to fair value hierarchy analysis
Fair value assets not subject to fair value hierarchy analysis:
Collateral deposits receivable
Prepayments, insurance and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

208 487

159 407

26

347
352
1 176

401
315
78 684
38 052
5 021
99 610
1 907
16 048
22 174
59 481
9 704
6 053
380
496
5 177

34 768

34 768

39 751

407 645
1 818
6 361
15 169

Total fair value assets
Other assets not subject to fair value hierarchy analysis:
Intangible assets
Defined benefit pension fund employer surplus
Equipment
Interest in joint venture – equity accounted
Deferred taxation
Deferred acquisition costs
Long-term policyholder assets – insurance contracts
Reinsurance assets
Loans and receivables

430 993

Total assets as per statement of financial position

444 127

(1)

231
171
1 128
51
336
737
7 484
1 774
1 222

Mutual funds are categorised into property, equity or interest-bearing instruments based on a minimum of 80% of the underlying asset composition of the fund by value being of
a like category. In the event of “no one category meeting this threshold” it is classified as mixed asset classes.
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27.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

27.3

Liability hierarchy

The table below analyses the fair value measurements of financial instrument liabilities by level
Rm
2018
Policyholder long-term investment contract liabilities
Third-party financial liabilities arising on consolidation of mutual funds
Financial liabilities(1)
Liabilities held for trading and for hedging
Repurchase agreements liabilities
Collateral deposits payable
Other payables at fair value through profit or loss

Level 1

Level 2
99 813
46 628
6 478
8 457
5 771
5 976

Liabilities subject to fair value hierarchy analysis

173 123

2017
Policyholder long-term investment contract liabilities
Third-party financial liabilities arising on consolidation of mutual funds
Repurchase agreements liabilities
Liabilities held for trading and for hedging

100 519
48 484
4 671
6 311

Liabilities subject to fair value hierarchy analysis
Fair value liabilities not subject to fair value hierarchy analysis:
Policyholder long-term insurance contract liabilities –
embedded derivatives
Collateral deposits payable
Employee benefits
Insurance and other payables
Total fair value liabilities
(1)

159 985

Level 3

Total

4 628

99 813
48 186
6 478
8 457
5 771
5 976
4 628

6 186

179 309

1 558

1 229

1 229

100 519
49 713
4 671
6 311
161 214

1 411
4 426
951
11 995
179 997

Certain financial liabilities were reclassified as designated fair value through profit or loss upon adoption of IFRS 9. Previously these were measured at amortised cost.
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27.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

27.4

Fair value disclosure of financial assets and liabilities that are measured at amortised cost

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities which are measured at amortised cost are categorised into the following fair value hierarchies:
Amortised
cost

Fair value

340

316

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Loan facilities(1)

1 626

1 626

2017
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Loans and receivables – net carrying value

1 222

1 137

Loans and receivables
Less: accumulated impairment

1 259
(37)

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Subordinated notes
Redeemable preference shares

5 576
5

Rm
2018
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Policy loan receivables – net carrying value

(1)

Level 1

5 681
5

Level 2

Level 3

316
1 626

1 137

5 681
5

These loan facilities were drawn down on 1 November 2018, therefore the amortised cost and fair value is materially the same.

The fair value of receivables, cash and cash equivalents and other payables that are all held at amortised cost approximate their carrying
value and are not included in the above hierarchy table as their settlement terms are short-term and therefore from a materiality perspective
fair values are not required to be modelled.
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27.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

27.5

Reconciliation of level 3 assets and liabilities

The table below analyses the movement of level 3 assets for the year.
2018

2017

Balance at the beginning of the year
IFRS 9 reclassification from amortised cost to fair value through profit and loss of policy loan receivables

39 751
831

39 113

Restated balance after IFRS 9 opening adjustments
Fair value adjustment recognised in profit or loss as part of investment gains(1)
Fair value adjustment recognised in other comprehensive income(1)
Reclassification to level 3(2)
Foreign currency translation
Additions
Disposals
Movements on third-party share of financial instruments in mutual funds

40 582
823
19

Balance at the end of the year
Financial instruments - prepayments and other receivables(3)
Balance at the end of the year, including prepayments and other receivables

42 908
3 037
45 945

39 751

Properties
Financial instruments – equity and mutual funds
Financial instruments – debt
Financial instruments – policy loan receivables
Financial instruments – prepayments and other receivables
Financial instruments – investment policies

35 961
4 781
186
737
3 037
1 243

34 768
3 601
206

Rm

(1)
(2)

(3)

71
(67)
26
(26)
811
(128)
(49)

41
1 456
(276)
263

39 751

1 176

Included in the fair value adjustments is a R713 million unrealised gain (2017: R1 656 million unrealised loss).
These movements were assessed based on the latest information available and one or more changes in the observability of valuation inputs. These changes were effective at the
beginning of the year.
No movement analysis is provided for prepayments and other receivables that are included as level 3 assets in the fair value hierarchy. These amounts are typically short term trade
debtors and arise in the ordinary course of business. It is impracticable to separate additions and disposals.

The liabilities categorised as level 3 relate to the mutual fund third party portion. The movement in the year is prepared below:
2018

2017

Balance at the beginning of the year
Unrealised fair value adjustments and net movements on consolidated mutual funds

1 229
329

1 271
(42)

Balance at the end of the year

1 558

1 229

Rm

No movement analysis is provided for Insurance and other payables that are included as level 3 assets in the fair value hierarchy. These amounts
are typically short term trade creditors and arise in the ordinary course of business. It is impracticable to separate additions and disposals.

27.6
27.6.1

Sensitivity analysis of level 3 assets
Investment and owner-occupied property

Investment and owner-occupied properties fair values were obtained from independent valuators who derived the values by determining
sustainable net rental income, to which an appropriate exit capitalisation rate is applied. Exit capitalisation rates are adjusted for occupancy
levels, age of the building, location and expected future benefit of recent alterations.
The exit capitalisation rates applied at 31 December 2018 range between 6,3% and 9,5% (2017: between 6,3% and 11,0%). This compares
to the ten year government yield of 8.875% (2017: 8,06%). The non observable adjustments included in the valuation can therefore be
referenced to the variance to the ten year government rate. Discount rates in 2018 were between 12,0% and 16,5%.
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27.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

27.6

Sensitivity analysis of level 3 assets (continued)

27.6.1

Investment and owner-occupied property (continued)

The tables below indicates the sensitivity of the aggregate market values for a 1% change in the exit capitalisation rate.
Change in exit
capitalisation rate
Total

1%
increase

1%
decrease

2018
Properties below 6,8% capitalisation rate
Properties between 6,8 – 8,5% capitalisation rate
Properties between 8,6 – 9,5% capitalisation rate

31 033
1 867
3 061

26 933
1 660
2 757

36 015
2 133
3 441

Total

35 961

31 350

41 589

2017
Properties below 6,8% capitalisation rate
Properties between 6,8 – 8,5% capitalisation rate
Properties between 8,6 – 11,0% capitalisation rate

26 157
5 177
3 434

22 029
4 558
3 094

30 969
5 991
3 858

Total

34 768

29 681

40 818

Rm

The table below indicates the sensitivity of the aggregate market values for a 1% (2017: 0,5%) change in the discount rate.
Change in discount rate
Rm
2018
Total properties

Total

1%
increase

1%
decrease

35 961

34 558

37 170

Change in discount rate
Rm
2017
Total properties

Total

0,5%
increase

0,5%
decrease

34 768

34 063

35 414

Impact on investment property valuations as a result of media reports relating to Edcon Limited (Edcon)
During December 2018, Edcon requested a commercial contribution from its landlords over a 24 month period commencing 1 April 2019,
in return for an equity subscription. The proposal further required contributions from its lender group as well as a new equity subscription
from an institutional investor. At 31 December 2018, and at the time of reporting, significant uncertainty remains on whether the proposal
will be accepted by all stakeholders as various conditions precedent have not been met. Based on the proposal and subsequent information
provided by Edcon, Liberty management believe that the restructure proposed is likely to be successful if all the conditions are met. At the
time of approval of the annual financial statement the restructure had not been finally agreed upon.
Management has considered and evaluated two scenarios proposed by Edcon:

Scenario 1
• Base case with 40.9% rental reduction and receipt of equity for value of rental forfeited.
• The impact on the investment property valuation is an estimated R98 million decrease (excluding property consortiums) for Liberty
Holdings Limited. This excludes the value of the equity to be received.
• Market value of equity received – to be determined.
• The Liberty group is unlikely to accept this scenario.
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27.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

27.6

Sensitivity analysis of level 3 assets (continued)

27.6.1

Investment and owner-occupied property (continued)

Scenario 2
• Equity subscription in Edcon, with rental remaining at the current level.
• Impact on investment property valuation – no impact on portfolio valuation if equity subscription and rental agreement are not linked.
Management is actively monitoring developments relating to Edcon and plans are in place to mitigate any potential adverse impact.
Management concluded that no adjustment should be made to the year-end valuations in line with the second scenario which assumes
that Edcon will remain a going concern.
Both the investment and the owner-occupied properties are linked to policyholder benefits and consortium non-controlling interests which
limits the impact to group ordinary shareholder comprehensive income or equity for any changes in the fair value measurement.
27.6.2

Financial instrument assets
2018

Equities and mutual funds
Unlisted equities
Interests in joint ventures
Mutual funds
Investment policies
Debt
Unlisted preference shares
Unlisted term deposits
Policy loan receivables

2017

Rm

Discount
rate
%

Rm

Discount
rate
%

1 951
1 297
1 533
1 243

10–14
14
10–19
11

1 709
1 193
699
1 176

14–35
14
15–19
11

186

12

180
26

12

737

12

Approximately 97% (2017: 99%) of these assets are allocated to policyholder investment-linked portfolios and therefore changes in estimates
would be offset by equal changes in liability values.
2018

Rm
After tax net impact to profit or loss
and shareholder equity

Net
shareholder
exposure
1 191

2017

Change in discount rate
1%
increase
(83)

Net
1% shareholder
decrease
exposure
97

372

Change in discount rate
1%
increase

1%
decrease

(22)
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27.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

27.7

Accounting classifications of financial instruments under IFRS 9, including other measurement basis
Fair value through profit or loss
Held for
trading
and for Designathedging
ed

2018
Rm
Financial assets
Interests in joint ventures
Interests in associates
Financial investments
Policy loan receivables
Assets held for trading and
for hedging
Repurchase agreements,
scrip and collateral assets
Prepayments, insurance
and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities under
investment contracts
Third-party financial
liabilities arising on
consolidation of mutual
funds
Financial liabilities
Liabilities held for trading
and for hedging
Repurchase agreements
liabilities and collateral
deposits payable
Insurance and other
payables

1 297
13 824
308 339
737

16 803

10 340

10 340

Total

Total

2 486

Default

Fair value
through
other
comprehensive
income

2 486

1 297
13 824
327 628
737

56
10
340

1 353
13 834
327 628
1 077

10 340

10 340

12 658

12 658

12 658

3 037
10 024

3 037
10 024

664
6 950

1 252

4 953
16 974

379 545

7 954

1 318

388 817

349 916

16 803

99 813

99 813

48 186
6 478

48 186
6 478

8 457

8 457

Total fair Amortised
value
cost

Total per
Other statement
measureof
ment
financial
basis
position

99 813

48 186
8 104

1 626

8 457

8 457

11 747

11 747

11 747

4 628

4 628

708

6 635

11 971

170 852

179 309

2 334

6 635

188 278

The table above reflects the classification of the group's financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 December 2018 split into the
IFRS 9 measurement categories. The financial assets categories have been determined based on the contractual cash flow characteristics
and business model of the entity. Other measurement basis refers to equity accounting under IAS 28, or balances under IFRS 4.

27.8

Group’s valuation process

The group’s appointed asset managers have qualified valuators that perform the valuations of financial assets and appointed independent
valuators to determine fair values of properties required for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values. These valuations are
reviewed and approved every reporting period by the group balance sheet committee. The committee is chaired by the group’s financial director.
The fair value of level 3 instruments are determined using valuation techniques that incorporate certain assumptions that are not supported
by prices from observable current market transactions in the same instruments and are not based on available observable market data. Such
assumptions include the assumed risk adjusted discount rate applied to estimate future cash flows and the liquidity and credit spreads applied
to debt instruments. Changes in these assumptions could affect the reported fair value of the financial instruments.

92

Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

Notes to the group annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

27.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

27.9

Valuation techniques used in determining the fair value of assets and liabilities classified within level 2

INSTRUMENT

VALUATION BASIS/TECHNIQUES

MAIN ASSUMPTIONS

Unlisted preference shares

Discounted cash flow model (DCF)

Bond and interbank swap interest rate
curves
Agreement interest rate curves
Issuer credit ratings
Liquidity spreads

Unlisted term deposits, illiquid listed
term deposits and senior secured
term facility

DCF

Bond and interbank swap interest rate
curves
Issuer credit ratings
Liquidity spreads

Mutual funds
Investment policies

Derivative assets and liabilities

Quoted put (exit) price provided by the
fund manager

Price – not applicable

Quoted put/surrender price provided by
the issuer, adjusting for any applicable
notice periods (DCF)

Price – not applicable

Option pricing models

Volatility and correlation factors

DCF

Bond and interbank swap interest rate
curves

Notice period – bond interest rate curves
Bond interest rate curves

Forward equity and currency rates
Policyholder investment
contracts liabilities

Not applicable

– unit-linked policies

Current unit price of underlying unitised
financial asset that is linked to the liability,
multiplied by the number of units held

– fixed-term annuities

DCF

Bond and interbank swap interest rate
curves
Own credit/liquidity

Subordinated notes

DCF and listed bond prices

3-month JIBAR (floating rate notes)
Bond spread (Own credit/liquidity)
Yield curves, with implied credit spreads
Different cash flows of various bonds, with
fixed and floating rates

Commercial paper

DCF

Discount curve
Credit spread

Cash equivalents – short-term deposits

Market to market

Bonds and interbank swap interest curve

Yield curves
Cash on hand

Face value

Not applicable

Third-party financial liabilities arising on
the consolidation of mutual funds

Quoted put (exit) price provided by the
fund manager

Not applicable

Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

93

GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISK MANAGEMENT

COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

APPENDICES

Notes to the group annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

27.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

27.10 Valuation techniques used in determining the fair value of assets and liabilities classified within level 3
INSTRUMENT

VALUATION BASIS/TECHNIQUES

MAIN ASSUMPTIONS

Investment and
owner-occupied properties

DCF

Exit capitalisation and discount rates
Price per square metre
Long-term net operating income margin Vacancies
Market rental trends (Market Rental Growth Ranges
Retail: 5.5% to 5.75% per annum; Office: 4.5% to
6% per annum)
Economic outlook
Location
Hotel income trends/inflation based
Hotel occupancy (range between 60% – 75%)

Unlisted equities and debt, including
associates and joint ventures –
measured at fair value

Sale price (if held for sale)

Not applicable

DCF/earnings multiple

Cost of capital
Bond and interbank swap interest rate curves
Consumer price index
Gross domestic product
If a property investment entity, then assumptions
applied are as above under investment and owneroccupied property

Unlisted preference shares

Net asset value

Not applicable

Recent arm’s length transactions

Not applicable

DCF

Bond and interbank swap interest rate curves
Agreement interest rate curves
Issuer credit ratings
Liquidity spreads

Unlisted term deposits and illiquid
listed term deposits

DCF

Bond and interbank swap interest rate curves
Issuer credit ratings
Liquidity spreads

Mutual funds

Quoted put (exit) price provided
by the fund manager, adjusted
for liquidity

Price – not applicable
Notice periods and estimated repayment – bond
interest rate curves
Liquidity spreads

Investment policies

Probalistic valuation
methodology DCF

Face value
Premium burden
Life expectancy
Bond and interbank swap interest rate curves

Policy loans receivable

DCF

Prime interest rate
Term

Prepayments and other receivables

DCF

Applicable risk-free rate

Age Analysis

Applicable credit margin
Expected cash flows

Other payables

DCF
Age Analysis

Third party financial liabilities arising
on the consolidation of mutual funds
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28.

Share capital and share premium
2018

2017

2
3
1
33

2
3
1
33

39

39

3
1
9

3
1
9

13

13

24
2

24
2

Total issued share capital
Share premium

26
6 162

26
6 162

Total issued share capital and share premium

6 188

6 188

Group
Total issued share capital
Share premium

26
5 104

26
5 157

Company share premium
Cumulative fulfilment of employee share options/rights(2)
Share issue cost in subsidiary(3)

6 162
(979)
(79)

6 162
(927)
(78)

Total issued share capital and share premium

5 130

5 183

Rm
Authorised share capital
15 000 000 cumulative preference shares of 10 cents each
30 000 000 redeemable cumulative preference shares of 10 cents each
6 000 000 convertible redeemable cumulative preference shares of 25 cents each
400 000 000 ordinary shares of 8,33 recurring cents each

Unissued shares(1)
30 000 000 redeemable cumulative preference shares of 10 cents each
6 000 000 convertible redeemable cumulative preference shares of 25 cents each
113 797 627 ordinary shares of 8,33 recurring cents each

Company
Issued share capital
286 202 373 ordinary shares of 8,33 recurring cents each
15 000 000 cumulative preference shares of 10 cents each

(1)

(2)

(3)

Unissued shares reserved:
For the purpose of the Liberty Life Equity Growth Scheme and the Liberty Equity Growth Scheme, 6 608 952 (2017: 8 985 110) ordinary shares of 8,33 recurring cents each.
Reflects the effects of the purchase at market value and sale at the option/right price of the company shares by a subsidiary to meet the obligations of the various employee
equity-settled schemes.
This relates to transaction costs for the issue of new units in a subsidiary, Liberty Two Degrees.

The 15 000 000 cumulative preference shares are not redeemable and carry dividends at the rate of 11 cents per share per annum.
The preference shares confer the right, on a winding up of the company, to receive a return of R1 per share together with any arrears in
preference dividends in priority to any payment in respect of any other class of share in the capital of the company then issued.
The following unissued shares are all under the general authority and control of the directors 107 188 675 (2017: 104 812 517) ordinary shares
of 8,33 recurring cents each; 30 000 000 (2017: 30 000 000) redeemable cumulative preference shares of 10 cents each and 6 000 000
(2017: 6 000 000) non-redeemable cumulative preference shares of 25 cents each, which expires at the annual general meeting to be held
on 18 May 2019.
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28.	Share capital and share premium (continued)
The closing price for a Liberty Holdings Limited ordinary share on 31 December 2018: R110,00 (2017: R124,43).
Number of shares
Group
Ordinary shares
Issued shares at 31 December
Held as treasury shares in subsidiaries
Opening balance
Purchases during the year
Sold or distributed(1) during the year
Group effective number of shares issued at 31 December
(1)

2018

2017

286 202 373 286 202 373
(11 529 962)
(9 643 130)
(9 643 130)
(3 355 251)
1 468 419
274 672 411

(7 380 914)
(3 084 489)
822 273
276 559 243

Certain ordinary shares are held by The Liberty Holdings Group Restricted Share Trust in terms of the employee restricted share schemes. On vesting the trustees distribute the
relevant ordinary shares to the beneficiaries.

29.

Premiums
2018

2017

Insurance premiums

40 611

39 970

Long-term
Short-term

38 750
1 861

38 135
1 835

Reinsurance premiums

(2 090)

(1 950)

Long-term
Short-term

(1 576)
(514)

(1 412)
(538)

Rm

Net insurance premiums
Fund inflows from long-term investment contracts

38 521
17 901

38 020
17 417

Net premium income from insurance contracts and inflows from investment contracts

56 422

55 437

Long-term insurance

55 075

54 140

Retail
Institutional

43 553
11 522

43 467
10 673

1 347

1 297

881
466

845
452

Comprising:
Recurring premium income and inflows from investment contracts

32 524

31 830

Retail
Institutional
Medical risk
Motor, property and other

21 717
9 460
881
466

21 276
9 257
845
452

Single premium income and inflows from investment contracts

23 898

23 607

Retail
Institutional

21 836
2 062

22 191
1 416

Net premium income from insurance contracts and inflows from investment contracts

56 422

55 437

Short-term insurance
Medical risk
Motor, property and other
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30. Revenue from contracts with customers
2018

2017

Fee income and reinsurance commission
Service fee income from long-term policyholder investment contracts

1 232

1 227

Service fee income from investment contracts
Deferred revenue released to profit or loss
Deferred income relating to new business

1 251
35
(54)

1 254
32
(59)

Fee revenue

2 177

2 427

Management fees on assets under management
Performance fees(1)
Health administration fees
Other fee revenue

1 973
21
53
130

2 191

99

29

3 508

3 683

565

532

4 073

4 215

Rm

Reinsurance commission earned on short-term insurance business
Total fee income and reinsurance commission
Hotel sales operations
Hotel operations sales
Total revenue from contracts with customers
(1)

99
137

Performance fees are subject to variable constraints (refer accounting policy 8.2 set out in Appendix A). As at the reporting date, the group assessed the potential of any revenue
reversals due to these constraints and determined that the probability of such reversals is immaterial.

31.

Investment income and interest income on financial assets using the effective interest method

31.1

Investment income

Rm

2018

2017

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss(1)

18 652

Interest income
Dividends received

13 362
5 290
3 406
1 884

Listed equities
Unlisted equities
Non-financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Investment properties – rental income
Sundry income
Scrip lending manufactured dividends and fees
Investment return on defined benefit pension fund surplus
Interest income from loans and receivables

3 121
74
103
18

2 671
95
90
21
123

Total investment income

3 316

21 652

(1)

The group re-assessed its accounting presentation policy of all IFRS 9 related transactions. As part of the IFRS 9 implementation, all movements on financial instruments held at
fair value through profit or loss (including interest and dividends) are prospectively presented as fair value adjustments.
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31.	Investment income and interest income on financial assets using the effective interest
method (continued)
31.2

Investment income and interest income on financial assets using the effective interest method
2018

Rm
Financial assets classified at FVOCI (interest income in the statement of comprehensive income)
Term deposits
At amortised cost
Policy loan receivables - interest income
Interest income on cash and cash equivalents
Total interest income on financial assets using the effective interest rate method

1 230
18
268
1 516

32.

Investment gains and fair value adjustments to assets held at fair value through profit or loss

32.1

Fair value adjustments to assets held at fair value through profit and loss
2018

Rm
Investment properties
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (default)
Cash and cash equivalents at fair value through profit or loss
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Financial instruments held for hedging and for trading
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Foreign exchange differences on subsidiary monetary items
Total fair value adjustments to assets held at fair value through profit and loss(1)
(1)

493
2 075
912
4 097
(2 934)
454
56
3 078

The group re-assessed its accounting presentation policy of all IFRS 9 related transactions. As part of the IFRS 9 implementation, all movements on financial instruments held
at fair value through profit or loss (including interest and dividends) are prospectively presented as fair value adjustments. Included in the fair value adjustments for 2018 was
R5 200 million related to dividends received, R11 003 million related to interest income and R13 125 million related to investment losses.

32.2 Investment gains
2017

Rm
Investment properties
Financial instruments held for hedging and for trading
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss

523
(427)
18 767

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Consolidated mutual funds measured at fair value through profit or loss

16 204
2 563

Foreign exchange differences on subsidiary monetary items
Total investment gains
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33.

Claims and policyholder benefits
2018

2017

Insurance claims and policyholder benefits

39 504

38 819

Long-term
Short-term

38 298
1 206

37 704
1 115

Payments under long-term investment contracts

16 083

16 373

Total claims and policyholder benefits
Insurance claims recovered from reinsurers

55 587
(1 571)

55 192
(1 800)

(1 308)
(263)

(1 571)
(229)

Rm

Long-term
Short-term
Net claims and policyholder benefits
Comprising:
Long-term insurance – retail

54 016

53 392

41 263

40 436

Death and disability claims
Policy maturity claims
Policy surrender claims
Annuity payments

7 277
3 781
23 798
6 407

6 567
4 346
23 638
5 885

Long-term insurance – institutional

11 811

12 070

2 285
8 726
800

2 118
9 139
813

Short-term insurance

943

886

Medical risk
Motor, property and other

701
242

685
201

54 017

53 392

2018

2017

Long-term insurance

3 803

4 294

Insurance contracts
Investment contracts

3 288
515

3 843
451

112
498

118
523

Total acquisition costs

4 413

4 935

Incurred during the year
Deferred acquisition costs
Amortisation of deferred acquisition costs

4 452
(317)
278

4 960
(300)
275

Death and disability claims
Scheme terminations and member withdrawals
Annuity payments

Total claims and policyholder benefits

34.

Acquisition costs

Rm

Short-term insurance
Asset management and other
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35.

General marketing and administration expenses
2018

2017

4 133
3 729
582
2 740

4 120
3 968
601
2 656

Total general marketing and administration expenses

11 184

11 345

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets (note 3)
Auditors’ remuneration

68
70

201
57

Audit fees – current year
Other services

63
7

51
6

805
316
1 060
44
467
182
146
554

913
298
896
42
444
174
119
598

53
501

48
550

Employee costs

4 133

4 120

Salaries and wages
Defined benefit pension fund contributions (note 23.5)
Medical aid contributions
Staff and management incentive schemes
Share-based payment expense – equity settled schemes (note 36)
Other retirement contributions
Other

2 861
18
180
577
94
255
148

2 765
21
179
670
99
235
151

Permanent salaried staff and commission-remunerated agents (tied distribution)

9 321

9 727

In South Africa
In Africa regions

7 821
1 500

8 331
1 396

Rm
Employee costs
Office costs
Training and development costs
Other

Consulting fees and outsource arrangements
Depreciation (note 5)
Direct operating expenses – investment properties
– owner-occupied properties
– hotel operations
Asset management fees
Operating lease charges – property
Other related South African taxes
Financial services levy
Non-recoverable value added taxation

Number of staff
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36.

Share-based payments
2018

2017

Reconciliation of reserve
Equity growth scheme
Restricted share plans

41
194

19
182

Total share-based payments reserve

235

201

34

1

Per profit or loss – equity-settled schemes
Transfer of vested rights to retained surplus
Payment of Liberty Holdings Limited dividend to restricted share plans participants

94
(25)
(35)

99
(64)
(34)

Share-based payments – equity-settled schemes
Expense recognised in profit or loss

94

99

Share rights
Restricted share plans

22
72

6
93

Rm

Movement for the year

36.1

Equity-settled remuneration schemes

Liberty has a number of share incentive schemes, which entitle key
management personnel and senior employees to purchase Liberty
Holdings Limited shares. These share incentive schemes are the
Restricted Share Plans and the Liberty Equity Growth Scheme.

Liberty Holdings group restricted share plan
(long-term plan)
Awards are made to certain selected executives in the format of fully
paid-up shares in Liberty Holdings Limited which are held in a trust
subject to vesting conditions (service and performance) and will be
forfeited if these conditions are not met during the performance
measurement period.

Liberty Holdings group restricted share plan (deferred plan)
Annual short-term incentive performance bonus payments in
excess of thresholds determined annually by Liberty’s remuneration
committee, are subject to mandatory deferral. This is achieved by
investing the deferred portions of the short-term incentive awards
into Liberty Holdings Limited shares, which are held in a trust, subject
to vesting conditions.

Participants under the long-term and deferred plans are entitled to
receive dividends as paid. As the dividends are already priced into
the fair value of the shares on grant date, any receipt of dividends
to participants is accounted for as a reduction in the share-based
payments reserve. No voting rights are attached to the shares held
in trust.

Equity Growth Scheme
The Liberty Equity Growth Scheme confers rights on employees to
acquire Liberty ordinary shares equivalent to the value of the right at
date of exercise which are effectively settled by the issue of shares
equivalent to the value of rights. The group is required to ensure
that employee’s tax arising from benefits due at date of vesting in
terms of the scheme is paid in accordance with the Fourth Schedule
of the Income Tax Act of South Africa. Where employees have not
exercised at vesting date and elect not to fund the tax from their
own resources the tax due is treated as a diminution of the gross
benefits due under the scheme.
The expense related to the Liberty Equity Growth scheme for
2018 and 2017 was insignificant.
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36.

Share-based payments (continued)

36.1

Equity-settled remuneration schemes (continued)

Summary of movements under restricted share plans
Liberty Holdings group restricted share plan (long-term plan)
2018
Price range

Movement summary
Shares outstanding at the beginning of the year
Granted
Exercised
Cancellations

2017

R107,99 – R138,00
R115,00 – R130,58
R103,00 – R169,63

Shares outstanding at the end of the year

Number

Price range

Number

3 398 254
1 463 721 R103,00 – R113,01
(38 997) R115,00 – R131,24
(994 243) R111,43 – R160,40

3 047 357
1 572 233
(298 111)
(923 225)

3 828 735

3 398 254

42

58

Share based payment expense (Rm)

Awards granted subsequent to 28 February 2013 vest 33,33% at the end of year 3, 4 and 5 respectively.

Liberty Holdings group restricted share plan (deferred plan)
2018
Price range

Movement summary
Shares outstanding at the beginning of the year
Granted
Exercised
Cancellations

2017

R109,00 – R138,00
R111,43 – R160,40
R111,43 – R160,40

Shares outstanding at the end of the year

Number

Price range

615 503
252 619
R111,43
(290 355) R123,39 – R138,40
(64 915) R111,43 – R160,40

Number
746 755
311 065
(340 745)
(101 572)

512 852

615 503

30

35

Share based payment expense (Rm)
Awards vest 33,33% at the end of 18 months, 30 months and 42 months respectively.

37.

Finance costs

Rm
Interest expense:
– interest paid on policyholder claims and supplier balances
– interest on financial liabilities at amortised cost
– interest paid on repurchase agreements liabilities
– interest paid on collateral deposits payable
Total finance costs(1)
(1)

2018

2017

86
24

116
432
397
399

110

1 344

The group re-assessed its accounting presentation policy of all IFRS 9 related transactions. As part of the IFRS 9 implementation, all movements on financial liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss are prospectively presented as fair value adjustments. Included in the fair value adjustments for 2018 was R1 335 million related to finance costs.
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38.

Fair value adjustment to financial liabilities
2018

Rm
Fair value adjustment:
– on financial liabilities
– on repurchase agreements liabilities(1)
– on collateral deposits payable(1)

559
370
452
1 381

Total fair value adjustment to financial liabilities
(1)

Refer to "Changes in accounting policies" note 49.

39.

Corporate transactions

39.1

Restructure of Liberty Two Degrees

On 6 December 2016, Liberty Two Degrees (L2D) was listed on the
JSE as a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT). The REIT was registered
under the Collective Investment Schemes Control Act (CISCA), as
a Collective Investment Scheme in Properties (CISIP). L2D's assets
comprised investment properties purchased from Liberty Group
Limited(LGL), namely a portion of the Liberty Property Portfolio
(LPP) and Liberty PropCo Proprietary Limited (Liberty PropCo),
which owned a 25% undivided share in the Melrose Arch precinct
in Johannesburg. The objective of L2D was to improve policyholder
investment options and to provide access to Liberty's prestige direct
property portfolio to non policyholder investors.

At the same time, L2D purchased a further R1.2 billion share in
LGL properties. As part of the restructure, the put option that LGL
previously had which allowed LGL to sell further portions of its
undivided shares in existing properties to L2D from time to time,
was cancelled.

L2D was required by CISCA to be structured as a JSE-listed portfolio
within a trust and an external management company. At the date
of listing, STANLIB REIT Fund Managers (SRFM) Proprietary Limited,
a 100% held subsidiary of Liberty Holdings Limited (LHL), was
appointed as the manager. L2D was consolidated by LHL in terms
of the principles of IFRS 10.

STANLIB Asset Management Limited purchased a 49% interest
in Exeo Capital (Pty) Ltd (South Africa) and Exeo Capital (Pty) Ltd
Mauritius (Exeo Capital) for an amount of R7 million and R35 million
respectively, effective 1 January 2017. The investments are accounted
for as interests in joint ventures under IAS 28 Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures, applying the equity method.

During November 2018, L2D was converted from a CISIP to a
Corporate REIT, to form a new L2D. This restructure was to align
L2D with similar entities in the listed property sector. In terms of this
transaction, all previous unitholders of L2D received one ordinary
share in new L2D for every one unit held in L2D. The new L2D was
listed in place of the CISIP, which will in time be delisted and voluntarily
wound-up. SRFM was sold to new L2D from LHL for R307 million,
thereby internalising the asset management company. This resulted in
a transfer to the consolidated non-controlling interests of R128 million,
due to L2D's non-controlling interests.

39.3 Disposal groups held for sale

As a result of the restructure, on application of IFRS 10, New L2D
is now consolidated at LGL group level, rather than as previously
at LHL level.

39.2 Acquisition of interests in Exeo Capital in 2017

Refer note 25 for disposal groups held for sale.
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40. Taxation
40.1

Sources of taxation
2018

2017

South African normal taxation

1 387

1 754

Current year taxation
(Over)/under provision prior year current taxation
Current year deferred taxation
Over provision prior year deferred taxation

1 448
(158)
147
(50)

1 680
84
100
(110)

Foreign normal taxation

100

158

Current year taxation
Current deferred taxation

88
12

106
52

South African capital gains taxation

(435)

801

Current year taxation
Deferred taxation

347
(782)

(14)
815

241

215

Total taxation

1 293

2 928

Charged through profit or loss
Charged through other comprehensive income

1 255
38

2 864
64

Rm

Dividend withholding taxation
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40. Taxation(continued)
40.2 Taxation rate reconciliation
Rm

CIT(1)

2018
Taxation per profit or loss
Taxation specific to policyholder tax funds(2)

1 691
(254)

Shareholder taxation

CGT(3)(4)

Total

(436)
408

1 255
154

1 437

(28)

1 409

Profit before taxation per statement of comprehensive income
Preference dividends(5)
Adjustment for the revenue offset to policyholder taxation

4 399
1 284
154

(102)

4 297
1 284
154

Total

5 837

(102)

5 735

CIT

CGT

Effective rate of shareholder taxation
Adjustments due to:
Income exempt from normal taxation(6)
Non-tax deductible expenses:
Provisions and non deductible expenses
Impairments and non deductible loan write-offs
The effect of foreign income and withholding taxes
Over provision of taxes in respect of prior years
Utilised tax losses and special transfers
Special allowances and inclusions
Amounts disregarded from capital gains tax

24,6

27,5

Standard rate of South African taxation

28,0

%

(1)
(2)

(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

4,3
(4,0)
(0,1)
(0,9)
0,5
2,6
1,0
(5,1)
22,4

CIT represents corporate income tax.
Policyholder taxation funds and the risk policy fund are separate taxation persons which have differing taxation rules applied in the South African taxation legislation. There are
three separate policyholder funds defined as untaxed, individual and company. As these funds and related taxes are in essence direct taxes against investments held on behalf of
policyholders (not shareholders), it is not considered necessary to reconcile effective rates by fund.
CGT represents capital gains taxation. The CGT rate applicable to shareholders was 22,4% for 2018.
CGT arising on the possible disposal of subsidiaries or business units will only be provided for when a firm intention to sell has been mandated by the directors of the holding company.
Preference dividends relating to the bancassurance profit share, are not deductible for taxation purposes.
Relates mainly to dividends received.
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40. Taxation (continued)
40.2 Taxation rate reconciliation (continued)
CIT(1)

Rm

CGT(3)(4)

Total

2017
Taxation per profit or loss
Taxation specific to policyholder tax funds(2)

2 066
(380)

798
(597)

2 864
(977)

Shareholder taxation

1 686

201

1 887

Profit before taxation per statement of comprehensive income
Preference dividends(5)
Adjustment for the revenue offset to policyholder taxation

5 697
958
(977)

871

6 568
958
( 977)

Total

5 678

871

6 549

CIT

CGT

Effective rate of shareholder taxation
Adjustments due to:
Income exempt from normal taxation(6)
Non-tax deductible expenses:
Provisions and non deductible expenses
Impairments and non deductible loan write-offs
The effect of foreign income and withholding taxes
Tax losses (not recognised)/utilised
Underprovision of taxes in respect of prior years
Utilised tax losses and special transfers
Special allowances and inclusions
Foreign tax adjustment
Amounts disregarded from capital gains tax

29,7

23,1

Standard rate of South African taxation

28,0

%

(1)
(2)

(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

1,0
(3,0)
(2,5)
(0,2)
(0,7)
(0,1)
(0,5)
2,7
1,6

(0,2)

(0,5)
22,4

CIT represents corporate income tax.
Policyholder taxation funds and the risk policy fund are separate taxation persons which have differing taxation rules applied in the South African taxation legislation. There are
three separate policyholder funds defined as untaxed, individual and company. As these funds and related taxes are in essence direct taxes against investments held on behalf of
policyholders (not shareholders), it is not considered necessary to reconcile effective rates by fund.
CGT represents capital gains taxation. The CGT rate applicable to shareholders was 22,4% for 2017.
CGT arising on the possible disposal of subsidiaries or business units will only be provided for when a firm intention to sell has been mandated by the directors of the holding company.
Preference dividends relating to the bancassurance profit share, are not deductible for taxation purposes.
Relates mainly to dividends received.

All significant transactions that are accounted for in other comprehensive income (OCI) for both 2018 and 2017 attracted tax at the standard
tax rates with the exception of the foreign currency translation reserve which does not attract taxation as it emerges on consolidation of
foreign subsidiaries.
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41.

Cash utilised by operations

Reconciliation of total earnings to cash utilised by operations
Rm
Total earnings
Adjustments for:
Interest received
Interest paid
Dividends received
Taxation
Net fund inflows/(outflows) after service fees on policyholder investment contracts
Net (outflows)/inflows from third-party financial liabilities arising on consolidation of mutual funds
Distributions to third-party financial liabilities arising on consolidation of mutual finds
Service fee income deferred on new business
Deferred acquisition costs on new business
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Policyholder asset and liability transfers
Net movement on short-term insurance liabilities net of reinsurance
Amortisation of deferred acquisition costs
Amortisation of deferred revenue liability
Amortisation of intangible assets
Impairment of intangible assets
Depreciation of equipment
Movement on defined benefit pension fund surplus in total earnings
Retained income of joint ventures
Share-based payment expenses
Fair value adjustments on financial liabilities
Fair value adjustments to assets held at fair value through profit and loss
Investment gains
Remeasurement of disposal groups held for sale
Operating leases – accrued income adjustment
Cash flow hedge recycled through profit and loss
Investment gains attributable to third-party mutual fund financial liabilities
Income attributable to non-controlling preference shareholders in subsidiaries
Movement in provisions
Working capital changes:
Prepayments, insurance and other receivables
Insurance and other payables
Cash utilised by operations

2018

Restated
2017

3 042

3 704

(1 516)
110
1 255
567
(2 745)
(1 189)
64
(317)

(13 485)
1 344
(5 356)
2 864
(210)
2 388
(1 340)
67
(300)

( 729)

(10 324)

(12 722)
85
278
(42)
67

15 945
(52)
275
(43)
37
164
298
3
1
99

316
1
(4)
94
1 381
(3 078)

(18 835)
249
40
12
2 407
1 257
69

4 619
948
(115)

(10 319)
514

(6 823)
(130)

669
(155)

(1 089)
959

(9 805)

(6 953)
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42.

Distributions paid
2018

2017

Ordinary and preference share dividends as per statement of changes in equity
Dividends and redemptions received on preference shares held in relation to BEE transaction
Distributions paid to non-controlling interests in subsidiaries(1)

(1 943)
33
(1 286)

(1 944)
32
(1 163)

Total distributions paid

(3 196)

(3 075)

2018

2017

Taxation payable at the beginning of the year

(1 479)

(1 354)

Current taxation
Deemed disposal taxation liability

(1 043)
(436)

(481)
(873)

Taxation attributable
Taxation payable at the end of the year

(1 966)
353

(2 071)
1 479

Rm

(1)

Including preference share dividends in relation to Standard Bank bancassurance business agreement of R972 million (2017: R1 030 million).

43.

Taxation paid

Rm

353

Current taxation
Deemed disposal taxation liability

(3 092)

Total taxation paid

1 043
436
(1 946)

44. Related party disclosures
Liberty Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries is referred to as ‘Liberty’ or the ‘group’; Liberty Holdings Limited is referred to as the ‘company’;
Standard Bank Group Limited and its subsidiary (excluding Liberty) is referred to as ‘Standard Bank’.
Refer to Appendix D for the complete list of related parties. Where relevant, amounts are excluding value added taxation.

Key management personnel
Key management personnel have been defined as follows:
• Standard Bank Group Limited directors and executive committee members; and
• Liberty Holdings Limited directors and executive committee members.
Refer to the published annual financial statements of Standard Bank Group Limited for details pertaining to its key management members.
Details of the current directors of Liberty Holdings Limited are included in the remuneration section of this note.
LIBERTY HOLDINGS LIMITED EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEMBERS AS AT 31 December 2018(1)
David Munro (Chairman)

Benjamin Marais

Yuresh Maharaj (appointed as financial director 12 February 2018)

Pumeza Bam

John Maxwell

Sunil Nagar (appointed on 1 September 2018)

Giles Heeger

Johan Minnie

Philip Harrison (appointed as chief risk officer 1 June 2018)

Jeff Hubbard

Derrick Msibi

Sydney Mbhele (resigned on 31 January 2019)

David Jewell

Thiru Pillay

(1)

Ms Berlina Moroole resigned from the executive committee on 31 May 2018.

It is not considered necessary to disclose details of key management family members and their influenced or controlled separate entities.
To the extent that specific transactions have occurred between the group and these related parties (as defined in IAS 24) the details are
included in the aggregate disclosure contained below under key management and where significant full details of all relationships and terms
of the transaction are provided.

Post-employment benefit plans
Refer to note 23.
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44. Related party disclosures (continued)
A. Holding company – Standard Bank
A.1 Financial instrument investments
Liberty invests from time to time in securities issued by its holding company, Standard Bank, for the benefit of policyholders and shareholders:
Nominal holding
‘000

Fair value
Rm

2018

2017

2018

2017

Summary of ordinary share holdings and movements
Holdings at the beginning of the year

16 180

9 572

3 166

1 454

Liberty Group Limited
Mutual funds

11 804
4 376

5 327
4 245

2 310
856

809
645

Purchases

12 301

12 496

2 445

2 117

Liberty Group Limited
Mutual funds

10 938
1 363

10 608
1 888

2 187
258

1 836
281

Sales

(7 863)

(5 888)

(1 491)

(1 020)

Liberty Group Limited
Mutual funds

(6 463)
(1 400)

(4 131)
(1 757)

(1 264)
(227)

(677)
(343)

Standard Bank ordinary shares

Fair value adjustments

(433)

615

Liberty Group Limited
Mutual funds

(322)
(111)

342
273

Holdings at the end of the year

20 618

16 180

3 687

3 166

Liberty Group Limited
Mutual funds

16 279
4 339

11 804
4 376

2 911
776

2 310
856

1,29

1,02

Percentage of total issued ordinary shares (%)

Liberty entered into scrip lending agreements with Rand Merchant Bank and Investec. Included in the scrip lent to 31 December 2018 were
683 756 (2017: nil) ordinary shares in Standard Bank valued at R122 million (2017: nil).
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44. Related party disclosures (continued)
A. Holding company – Standard Bank (continued)
A.1 Financial instrument investments (continued)
Nominal holding
‘000

Fair value
Rm

2018

2017

2018

2017

Summary of preference share holdings and movements
Holdings at the beginning of the year

544

1 054

40

90

Liberty Group Limited
Mutual funds

525
19

1 005
49

39
1

86
4

Purchases

165

190

15

15

Liberty Group Limited
Mutual funds

159
6

190

14
1

15

Standard Bank preference shares

Sales

(700)

(58)

Liberty Group Limited
Mutual funds

(670)
(30)

(55)
(3)

Fair value adjustments

3

(7)

Liberty Group Limited
Mutual funds

3

(7)

Holdings at the end of the year

709

544

58

40

Liberty Group Limited
Mutual funds

684
25

525
19

56
2

39
1
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44. Related party disclosures (continued)
A. Holding company – Standard Bank (continued)
A.1 Financial instrument investments (continued)
Standard Bank term deposits

Fair value
2018

2017

10 932

11 866

Liberty Group Limited
Interest in consolidated structured entities
Mutual funds
Other

5 901
1 199
3 776
56

7 499
4 304
63

Purchases

8 552

8 467

Liberty Group Limited
Interest in consolidated structured entities
Mutual funds
Other

5 016
476
2 996
64

3 886
1 199
3 382

Sales

(8 702)

(9 448)

Liberty Group Limited
Mutual funds
Other

(5 491)
(3 179)
( 32)

(5 570)
(3 878)

Rm
Summary of term deposits holdings and movements
Holdings at the beginning of the year

Fair value adjustments

264

47

Liberty Group Limited
Interest in consolidated structured entities
Mutual funds
Other

218
85
(52)
13

86

Holdings at the end of the year
Liberty Group Limited
Interest in consolidated structured entities
Mutual funds
Other

(32)
(7)

11 046

10 932

5 644
1 760
3 541
101

5 901
1 199
3 776
56
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44. Related party disclosures (continued)
A. Holding company – Standard Bank (continued)
A.1 Financial instrument investments (continued)
Standard Bank credit enhanced structured entities

Fair value
2018

2017

Summary of holdings and movements
Holdings at the beginning of the year

471

552

Liberty Group Limited
Mutual funds

345
126

476
76

Rm

Purchases

327

Liberty Group Limited
Mutual funds

200
127

Sales

(278)

(346)

Liberty Group Limited
Mutual funds

(153)
(125)

(346)

Fair value adjustments

(2)

(62)

Liberty Group Limited
Mutual funds

(3)
1

15
(77)

Holdings at the end of the year

191

471

Liberty Group Limited
Mutual funds

189
2

345
126

A.2 Information technology outsourcing arrangement
Liberty partially outsources its information technology services to Standard Bank in terms of various agreements until 30 April 2021. Fees
charged for 2018 amounted to R27 million (2017: R28 million). During the year, Liberty Group outsourced their investment asset replication
service to Standard Bank. Implementation fees paid to Standard Bank were R6 million and replication fees charged were R21 million.
A.3 Software development
Liberty developed a number of distribution systems on behalf of Standard Bank in prior years. The annual maintenance fee received for
2018 amounted to R6 million (2017: R10 million). Standard Bank has assisted in the development of systems on behalf of Liberty for the
short-term insurance operations initiative. This amounted to R8 million in 2018.
A.4 System licence and support
Liberty makes use of the Standard Bank trading system, Alchemy, as well as system support. Standard Bank also provides infrastructure
support and services provided to support certain of the credit business systems. Fees paid for the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted
to R5 million (2017: R7 million).
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44. Related party disclosures (continued)
A. Holding company – Standard Bank (continued)
A.5 Banking arrangements
Liberty makes use of banking facilities provided by Standard Bank.

Summary of cash balances, interest earned and bank charges
Cash balances

Interest earned

2018

2017

Holdings at the beginning of the year

5 174

4 482

Liberty Holdings Limited
Subsidiaries

72
5 102

138
4 344

Net movements during the year

701

692

Liberty Holdings Limited
Subsidiaries

58
643

(66)
758

Rm

Holdings at the end of the year

5 875

5 174

Liberty Holdings Limited
Subsidiaries

130
5 745

72
5 102

Total
A.6 Operating lease income
Standard Bank leases several properties from Liberty, including
50% of its office at 5 Simmonds Street, Johannesburg, and various
retail branches in shopping centres. These leases are governed
by numerous separate lease agreements. Total lease receipts for
2018 amounted to R94 million (2017: R86 million).
A.7 Bancassurance
Liberty has extended the bancassurance business agreements with
Standard Bank group for the manufacture, sale and promotion of
insurance, investment and health products through the Standard
Bank’s African distribution capability. New business premium income
in respect of this business in 2018 amounted to R8 895 million
(2017: R9 129 million). In terms of the agreements, Liberty pays
profit shares to Standard Bank. The amounts to be paid are in
most cases dependent on source and type of business and are
paid along geographical lines. The total combined net profit share
amounts accrued as payable to the Standard Bank group for the
year to 31 December 2018 is R1 266 million (2017: R948 million).
The bancassurance business agreements are evergreen agreements
with a 24-month notice period for termination – as at the date of the
approval of these financial statements, neither party had given notice.

Bank charges

2018

2017

2018

2017

4
131

3
80

64

53

135

83

64

53

A binder agreement was entered into with Standard Bank effective
from 31 December 2012. The binder agreement is associated with
the administration of policies sold under the bancassurance business
agreement, and shall remain in force for an indefinite period with a
90-day notice period for termination. Fees payable for the year to
31 December 2018 are R265 million (2017: R206 million).
In December 2013, Liberty Group Limited, a 100% held subsidiary
of Liberty, issued 5000 cumulative, participating, non-controlling
redeemable preference shares for a total value of R5 million to The
Standard Bank of South Africa Limited in order to facilitate the payment
of profit shares under the bancassurance business agreement.
A.8 Insurance
Certain of Liberty’s insured risks are included in the Standard Bank
insurance programme. These include cover for crime, fraud and
professional indemnity, directors’ and officers’ and asset all risks
insurance. The proportionate share of premiums paid by Liberty to
Standard Bank for 2018 is R28 million (2017: R46 million).
A.9 Asset management fees – The Standard Bank Group
Retirement Fund (fund)
Asset management fees of R9 million (2017: R9 million) were paid to
STANLIB Asset Management Limited by the fund.
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44. Related party disclosures (continued)
A. Holding company – Standard Bank (continued)
A.10 Derivatives
Certain derivative transactions were entered into between Liberty Group Limited and the Corporate & Investment Banking Division of
Standard Bank.
All transactions were entered into in order to manage the market risk inherent in the group’s assets and liabilities.
The transactions were entered into on an arm’s length basis and only after obtaining competitive pricing quotations from other financial
institutions that conduct business in these markets.

Derivative instruments
Maturity analysis of net fair value
Fair value
of assets(1)

Rm
2018
Derivatives held for trading
Interest rate derivatives
Equity derivatives

Fair value
of liabilities(1)

Net
fair value

Within
1 year 1 to 5 years

After
5 years

1 202

(1 758)

(556)

(362)

(198)

4

959
243

(1 418)
(340)

(459)
(97)

(274)
(88)

(189)
(9)

4

(198)

4

Derivatives held for hedging

26

26

26

Foreign exchange derivatives

26

26

26

Total

1 228

(1 758)

(530)

(336)

2017
Derivatives held for trading

1 499

(1 380)

119

(109)

9

219

Interest rate derivatives
Equity derivatives

1 279
220

(1 152)
(228)

127
(8)

(109)

17
(8)

219

Derivatives held for hedging

(193)

(193)

(193)

Foreign exchange derivatives

(193)

(193)

(193)

(1 573)

(74)

1 499

Total
(1)

(109)

(184)

219

Collateral deposits receivable of R1 293 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017: R486 million) are deposited in Standard Bank bank accounts as collateral supporting South African
Futures Exchange and over-the-counter traded derivatives. Collateral deposits payable are R27 million (2017: R236 million).

A.11 Health risk product
During 2009 Liberty developed a health risk product aimed at individuals employed in Africa, excluding South Africa. Various Standard Bank
subsidiaries contracted to use this product as a benefit for their employees. 2018 premium income was R133 million (2017: R158 million).
A.12 Commission paid to Standard Bank
Liberty pays commission to Standard Bank for insurance policies sold through the bank’s various distribution channels. The commission paid
for the year to 31 December 2018 is R819 million (2017: R1 009 million). STANLIB also paid commission of R165 million (2017: R169 million) to
Standard Bank for the year to 31 December 2018 in relation to asset management business.
A.13 Liberty Kenya Holdings PLC (LKH) – short-term insurance
LKH insures various risks of Stanbic Holdings PLC. Premiums received and claims paid are R42 million (2017: R45 million) and R10 million
(2017: R23million) respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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44. Related party disclosures (continued)
A. Holding company – Standard Bank
A.14 Advisory fees in respect of notes issued

A.20 Disposal groups

During 2018, Liberty Group Limited issued R1 billion (2017: R2 billion)
subordinated notes. An advisory fee of R5 million (2017: R11.4 million)
was paid to Standard Bank in respect of the note issue.

As released on the JSE SENS on 27 February 2019, Liberty Holdings
Limited has entered into a sale and purchase agreement with the
Standard Bank of South Africa to dispose of 100% of the technology
that supports and enables its short-term insurance business, which
is operated as a division of Liberty Holdings Limited, including all
moveable assets used and intellectual property. The purchase
consideration is R148 million, which will realise a profit on sale of
R54 million, to be recognised in 2019. The transaction enables Liberty
to continue to provide short-term products to its customers, while
reducing future capital requirements, and to focus on the objective
of its strategy refresh being to concentrate on long-term insurance
and asset management businesses.

A.15 Sale and repurchase agreements
The group has entered into certain agreements of sale and
repurchase of financial instruments as part of the group’s asset/
liability matching process.
As at 31 December 2018 a total of R8 billion in assets (2017: R14 billion)
have been traded with Standard Bank under a repurchase agreement
with various repurchase dates. Open contracts totalled R416 million as
at 31 December 2018 (2017: R520 million). Finance costs recognised
in respect of these agreements for the year ended 31 December
2018 were R41 million (2017: R101 million).
A.16 Melville Douglas Investment Management Proprietary
Limited
Certain of the group’s assets totalling R340 million (2017: R325 million)
are managed by Melville Douglas Investment Management Proprietary
Limited, a subsidiary of Standard Bank. Fees charged are R2 million
(2017: R2 million) for the year.
A.17 Liberty Two Degrees (L2D)
During the year L2D was restructured and at the same time purchased
an additional share in the group's property portfolio (refer to
note 39.1 for detail), for which a portion of the funding was obtained
from Standard Bank. At 31 December 2018, the balance owing to
Standard Bank is R860 million. Interest paid for the year is R13 million.
Advisory fees of R9 million were paid in relation to the restructure.
A.18 Standard Insurance Limited
During 2018, Liberty received fee revenue of R10 million from
Standard Insurance Limited, a subsidiary of Standard Bank, in respect
of digital enablement services. This was on behalf of short-term
insurance operations.
A.19 Interests in consolidated structured entities
Passives Funding (RF) (Pty) Ltd (Passives Funding), Vineyard Road
Investments (RF) Ltd (Vineyard Road) and LibFin Note Issuer 1 (RF)
(Pty) Ltd (LibFin Note Issuer 1) are consolidated structured entities
and subsidiaries of Liberty Group Limited.
As at 31 December 2018, Passives Funding had exposures with
Standard Bank of term deposits of R502 million (2017: R501 million),
cash balances of R22 million (2017: R271 million) and interest rate
derivative assets of R24 million (2017: R12 million).
As at 31 December 2018 Vineyard Road had exposures with Standard
Bank of term deposits of R1 052 million (2017: R492 million).
As at 31 December 2018, LibFin Note Issuer 1 had exposures with
Standard Bank of term deposits of R206 million (2017: R206 million),
cash balances of R39 million (2017: R1 013 million), equity derivative
liabilities of R252 million (2017: R217 million) and interest rate derivative
assets of R14 million (2017: R10 million).

B.

Transactions with related entities

Refer to note 46 for related party relationships in respect of the
2004 BEE transaction.
B.1

Operating lease payments

STANLIB Limited, as a lessee, paid an amount of R62 million
(2017: R59 million) as an operating lease expense for rental of its
premises in the Melrose Arch precinct in Johannesburg. Liberty
PropCo (Pty) Ltd together with L2D hold a 25% undivided share in
the Melrose Arch precinct. Refer note 39.1.
B.2 JHI Retail (Pty) Ltd
Property management service net fees paid by Liberty to JHI
Retail (Pty) Ltd, a joint venture, in 2018 amounted to R80 million
(2017: R84 million). Salary and manager recharge expenses paid were
R66 million (2017: R62 million)
B.3 Transactions between consolidated mutual fund
subsidiaries and associates
Liberty previously owned direct interests in the STANLIB Infrastructure
Private Equity Fund 1, the STANLIB Africa Direct Property
Development Fund and STANLIB Multi-Manager Enhanced Yield,
which were accounted for as interests in mutual fund subsidiaries,
as well as the Africa Infrastructure Fund and Agri Vie Exeo Capital
Fund SA Partnership LLP, which were disclosed as interests in mutual
fund associates.
During 2018 the direct interests were transferred, along with other
directly owned financial assets, into units in various funds, namely
STANLIB Multi-Manager Retail Investor Hedge Fund, STANLIB
Multi-Manager NCIS Private Assets Qualified Investor Hedge Fund,
STANLIB Multi-Manager Africa (ex-SA) Private Assets Fund, Global
(ex-Africa) Alternatives Fund and Global Alternatives Fund of Funds.
Liberty's economic exposure to the investments that it had prior
to the restructure did not change as a result of the restructure.
The investments in underlying assets were transferred at fair value.
B.4 Liberty Two Degrees (L2D)
During the year L2D was restructured and at the same time purchased
an additional share in Liberty Group Limited's properties. Refer to
note 39 for more detail.
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44. Related party disclosures (continued)
C.

Key management personnel of Liberty Holdings Limited and Standard Bank, families of key management (as defined in
IAS 24) and entities significantly influenced or controlled by key management

C.1

Liberty Holdings Limited directors’, Liberty Group Limited directors’ and group executive committee members’ aggregate
compensation paid by the group or on behalf of the group for services rendered to Liberty Holdings and its subsidiaries:
2018

2017

Fixed remuneration

51 028

48 571

Cash portion of package
Other benefits
Retirement contributions

44 302
1 585
5 141

42 356
1 447
4 768

Variable remuneration awards(1)

55 373

34 227

Cash bonus
Deferred bonus

42 269
13 104

25 872
8 355

83 466

163 881

83 466

52 550

R’000

Long-term awards
Performance reward plan

(2)

52 550
50 281
8 500

Value of restricted shares granted(3)
Equity participation rights granted(4)
Buy-out payments(5)
Separation payments(6)
Non-executive directors’ fees
Total
(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)
(6)

16 046

30 596
14 662

205 913

291 937

In order to align incentive payments with the performance period to which they relate, the above variable remuneration relates to the year under review irrespective of when
payment is made.
The awards are fully subject to vesting conditions and performance conditions which are were approved by the remuneration committee in February 2019 in order to align to the
performance period of 2018. Conditions include a minimum threshold to achieve any vesting a target and a stretch target, with interpolation between targets. This plan is subject
to annual general meeting approval in May 2019.
The award value of restricted shares is the number of restricted shares granted times by the share price at award date. The awards are subject to performance conditions and service
duration. The value granted refers to awards approved by the remuneration committee in February 2018 in order to align to the performance period of 2017.
Rights granted are valued using option pricing methodology and are subject to performance conditions as well as service duration. The value granted refers to awards approved
by the remuneration committee in February 2018.
Buy-out payments paid on appointment as executive committee members.
Separation payments made to executive committee members who have resigned in view of their contribution to the group.
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44. Related party disclosures (continued)
C.

Key management personnel of Liberty Holdings Limited and Standard Bank, families of key management (as defined in
IAS 24) and entities significantly influenced or controlled by key management (continued)

C.2 Directors’ remuneration (single figure disclosure)

Directors(1)
(R’000)

NonExecutive executive
directors directors
of LHL
of LHL
and LGL and LGL

2018
JH Maree(3) (chairman)
AWB Band (lead
independent director)(4)
SL Botha
AP Cunningham(5)
MW Hlahla
N Khan
Y Maharaj (appointed
12 February 2018)
DC Munro
SP Ridley (appointed
1 September 2018)
CL Roskruge Cele
SP Sibisi
YGH Suleman
JH Sutcliffe(6)
SK Tshabalala(7)
H Walker (appointed
1 September 2018)

8 260
16 388

Total

24 648

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

Committee
fees

Directors
of
Ad hoc STANLIB
Limited
fees

Directors
of
Liberty
Two
Degrees
Group

2 894
935
347
2 210
347
347

Total
Liberty
group

2 894
605
476

130

787

104
102
345

180

115
171
689
944

230
518
949
1 421
2 816

130
104

1 808

2 457
823
2 314
629
692

18 428
4 924

59 065
115

128

10 976

3 575

60
468

240

4 702

2 457
823
2 314
629
692
8 260
16 388

115
347
260
347
2 712

Other
Standard
Total
Bank remuneraGroup(2)
tion

8 260
34 816
5 154
518
949
1 421
2 816
59 065

303
787

40 694

303
84 225

124 919

Ms T Skweyiya was appointed to the board on 15 December 2018 and did not receive any directors fees in the current year.
Other Standard Bank Group is defined as Standard Bank Group Limited and its subsidiaries excluding Liberty and is paid by Standard Bank Group.
The chairman of the board received a composite fee in lieu of committee fees for his services as a director of Liberty Holdings Limited and Liberty Group Limited.
Mr AWB Band is a director of Liberty Two Degrees Ltd, which includes STANLIB REIT Fund Managers (RF) (Pty) Ltd as part of the group. He received fees to the value of R656 000 as
part of his responsibilities as director of STANLIB REIT Fund Managers (RF) (Pty) Ltd, and R131 000 for Liberty Two Degrees Ltd.
Mr AP Cunningham is an international director and received a composite fee of £129 933 as a member of the board, committees and subsidiary boards in 2018. In addition ad hoc
committee and board attendance fees of R104 000 were paid. The rand equivalent of director’s foreign currency fees paid is R2 314 270.
Mr JH Sutcliffe is an international director and receives a composite fee of £152 750 as a member of the board, committees, subsidiary boards and chairman of a committee.
In addition ad hoc committee and board attendance fees of R104 000 were paid. 2018 rand equivalent of director’s foreign currency fees paid is R2 816 180.
Mr SK Tshabalala, a non-executive director of Liberty, was a full time employee of the Standard Bank Group and therefore did not receive directors’ fees or other remuneration
from Liberty.
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44. Related party disclosures (continued)
C.

Key management personnel of Liberty Holdings Limited and Standard Bank, families of key management (as defined in
IAS 24) and entities significantly influenced or controlled by key management (continued)

C.2 Directors’ remuneration (single figure disclosure)(continued)

Directors(1)
(R’000)

NonExecutive executive
directors directors
of LHL
of LHL
and LGL and LGL

2017
JH Maree(3) (chairman)
AWB Band (lead independent
director)
SL Botha
AP Cunningham(4)
T Dloti (resigned 30 May 2017) 24 975
MW Hlahla
MG Ilsley (resigned 31 July 2017)
MP Moyo (resigned 3 April 2017)
DC Munro (appointed
8 519
15 February 2017)(5)(6)
CL Roskruge Cele
SP Sibisi
YGH Suleman
JH Sutcliffe(8)
CG Troskie (resigned
31 December 2017)
6 059
SK Tshabalala(6)
Total
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

(5)
(6)

(7)

(8)

39 553

Committee
fees

Directors
of
Ad hoc STANLIB
Limited
fees

Directors
of
STANLIB
REIT
Fund
Managers

2 760

2 760

890
330
2 130

576
389

330
220
82

97
654
176

330
330
330
2 571

Total
Liberty
group

73
511
605

124

313

172
50

332
188

1 447

1 903
719
2 130
24 975
599
1 256
446
8 519
403
841
1 034
2 571

99

Other
Standard
Total
Bank remuneraGroup(2)
tion

1 903
719
2 130
24 975
599
1 256
446
57 107(7)

6 059
10 303

3 081

273

172

833

54 215

4 207

65 626
403
841
1 034
2 571

55 115

6 059
55 115

113 669

167 884

Ms NY Khan was appointed to the board of directors on 15 December 2017 and did not receive any directors fees in the current year.
Other Standard Bank Group is defined as Standard Bank Group Limited and its subsidiaries excluding Liberty and is paid by Standard Bank Group.
The chairman of the board received a composite fee in lieu of committee fees for his services as a director of Liberty Holdings Limited and Liberty Group Limited.
Mr AP Cunningham is an international director and received a composite fee of £121 317 in 2017 as a member of the board, committees and subsidiary boards. 2017 rand equivalent
of director’s foreign currency fees paid is R2 129 611.
Mr DC Munro was appointed as chief executive on 30 May 2017.
Mr SK Tshabalala, a non-executive director of Liberty, was a full time employee of the Standard Bank Group and therefore did not receive directors’ fees or other remuneration from
Liberty. Mr DC Munro, also a full time employee of the Standard Bank Group, was a non-executive director of Liberty from 15 February 2017 to 30 May 2017, and therefore did not
receive directors’ fees or other remuneration from Liberty during this period.
Detailed disclosure of the single figure remuneration for Mr DC Munro is available in the Standard Bank Group 2017 remuneration report. The amount has been proportioned based
on his appointment to the Liberty board from 15 February 2017. Included in the amount is a deferred R20 million cash award conditional on service to Liberty, 50% of which will be
delivered after three years and 50% of which will be delivered after five years.
Mr JH Sutcliffe is an international director and received a composite fee of £148 300 in 2017 as a member of the board, committees, subsidiary boards and chairman of a committee.
2017 rand equivalent of director’s foreign currency fees paid is R2 571 290.
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44. Related party disclosures (continued)
C.

Key management personnel of Liberty Holdings Limited and Standard Bank, families of key management (as defined in
IAS 24) and entities significantly influenced or controlled by key management (continued)
C.3 Executive director's and prescribed officers' remuneration
Remuneration, including incentives, is calculated pro rata to the period served as a prescribed officer. The presentation of the remuneration
components below reflect the award values in relation to the performance period to which they relate. Single figure disclosure is in accordance with
King IV. Additional disclosure is provided for purposes of completeness and comparability with information provided in previous periods. Not all
components are immediately settled and are linked to the ordinary share price of Liberty Holdings as well as being contingent on performance
and service periods. .
2018
R'000

DC Munro

2017
Y Maharaj(1)

DC Munro(2)

T Dloti(3) CG Troskie(4)

Single figure disclosure
Fixed remuneration(5)

7 771

3 645

4 394

4 348

4 397

Cash portion of package
Other benefits
Retirement contributions

6 938
182
651

3 115
183
347

3 919
88
387

3 767
214
367

3 915
93
389

Variable remuneration awards(6)(7)

8 119

3 985

4 125

Cash
Restricted share plan

5 983
2 136

3 055
930

3 187
938

Long-term awards

498

630

1 531

1 662

Restricted share plan(11)
Dividends

498

630

1 531

385
1 277

16 388

8 260

8 519

24 975

6 059

Additional disclosure
Fixed remuneration(5)

7 771

3 645

4 394

4 348

4 397

Cash portion of package
Other benefits
Retirement contributions

6 938
182
651

3 115
183
347

3 919
88
387

3 767
214
367

3 915
93
389

Variable remuneration awards(6)(7)

8 119

3 985

4 125

Cash
Restricted share plan

5 983
2 136

3 055
930

3 187
938
33 400

19 096

Separation payment
Total remuneration

Long-term awards

15 000

7 079

Performance reward plan(8)
Value of restricted shares granted(9)
Equity participation rights granted(10)

15 000

7 079

9 000
24 400
19 096

Separation payment
Total remuneration

30 890

14 709

41 919

23 444

4 397

Accrued and settled
Deferred in terms of short-term incentives policy(5)
Deferred in terms of long-term incentives policy(8)

13 754
2 136
15 000

6 700
930
7 079

7 581
938
33 400

23 444

4 397

(1)
(2)

(3)
(4)
(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

Appointed as finance director on 12 February 2018.
Appointed as chief executive on 30 May 2017. Mr DC Munro was awarded share rights in the equity growth scheme with a Black Scholes value of R16,198,750 upon his appointment
which has been included in long-term awards.
Resigned from the board on 30 May 2017. Mr T Dloti was awarded a separation payment upon resignation.
Resigned from the board on 31 December 2017, with a three month notice period.
Fixed remuneration includes all guaranteed amounts and value of benefits granted only conditional to services rendered to Liberty. Generally fixed remuneration is adjusted annually
for inflation and market conditions effective 1 April each year.
Variable awards are performance based and referenced to the guaranteed package in the month of the award being granted. Deferred portions of awards are allocations of restricted
shares under the conditions of the restricted share deferred bonus scheme.
Short-term incentives were approved based on the group results for the 2018 financial year and payable in the 2019 financial year. Incentives are calculated as a percentage of
total guaranteed package as at 31 December 2018.
The awards are fully subject to vesting conditions and performance conditions which are were approved by the remuneration committee in February 2019 in order to align to the
performance period of 2018. Conditions include a minimum threshold to achieve any vesting a target and a stretch target, with interpolation between targets. This plan is subject
to annual general meeting approval in May 2019.
The award value of restricted shares is the number of restricted shares granted times by the share price at award date. The awards are subject to vesting conditions and service
duration. The value granted refers to awards approved by the remuneration committee in February 2018 in order to align to the performance period of 2017. The award, at the
election of the individual executive, can be taken up to 50% as share rights in the equity growth scheme with the balance being allocated to the restricted share plan (long-term plan).
Rights granted are valued using option pricing methodology and are subject to performance conditions as well as service duration. The 2017 award includes the sign-on award
noted under (2) above and an additional award was approved by the remuneration committee in February 2018, with a Black Scholes value of R8 201 250.
Mr Y Maharaj had two tranches of LTIP (Restricted Share Plan) awards vesting relating to the financial performance of 2018 but these tranches were forfeited due to the performance
condition not being met hence no value is reflecting relevant to the 2018 Restricted Share Plan.
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44. Related party disclosures (continued)
C.

Key management personnel of Liberty Holdings Limited and Standard Bank, families of key management (as defined in
IAS 24) and entities significantly influenced or controlled by key management (continued)
C.4 Entities significantly influenced or controlled by key management
i.

Aggregate details of insurance, annuity and investment transactions between Liberty Holdings Limited, any subsidiary,
associate or joint venture of Liberty Holdings Limited and key management personnel, their families (as defined per IAS 24)
and entities significantly influenced or controlled by key management:

Insurance products

Aggregate insured cover

Premiums received

2018

2017

2018

2017

Life

106 191

66 147

736

659

Morbidity

180 863

79 097 (included in life premiums)

R’000

Investment products

Surrender value
2018

61

Fund value
2018

R’000

2017

2017

Balance at the beginning of the year
Appointments and resignations
Premiums received
Investment return credited net of charges
Commission and other transaction fees
Claims and withdrawals

41 199
695
4 371
(1 505)
( 456)
(2 827)

38 179
1 838
761
3 880
( 724)
(2 735)

Balance at the end of the year

41 477

41 199

ii.

Aggregate details of key management personnel, their families (as defined under IAS 24) and entities significantly influenced
or controlled by key management, investments in STANLIB mutual funds that are either classified as subsidiaries or associate
entities of Liberty Holdings Limited:

STANLIB mutual funds
2018

R’000

2017

Total value of investments at the beginning of the year
New investments
Appointments and resignations
Redemptions
Fair value adjustments

27 494
42 179
12
(14 939)
581

12 375
6 486
18 041
(9 743)
335

Total value of investments at the end of the year

55 327

27 494

2018

2017

Properties

220

156

Within 1 year
1 to 5 years

86
134

79
77

45.

Commitments

45.1

Operating lease commitments

Rm
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45.	Commitments (continued)
45.2 Capital commitments
2018

2017

Equipment and internally generated computer software

543

741

Under contracts
Authorised by the directors but not contracted

60
483

45
696

1 497

1 432

748
749

385
1 047

Committed capital(1)

1 337

1 071

Total commitments

3 597

3 400

Rm

Properties
Under contracts
Authorised by the directors but not contracted

45.3 Committed capital

(1)

Liberty has committed capital to certain infrastructure and development funds through consolidated mutual fund subsidiaries. The committed funds are drawn down when required.

The above 2018 capital commitments will be financed by available bank facilities, existing cash resources, internally generated funds,
R49 million (2017: R61 million) from non-controlling interests in unincorporated property partnerships in respect of investment properties
and R433 million (2017: R391 million) from non-controlling interest in Liberty Two Degrees.
Throughout the group there are various short-term leases (less than one year) for office and computer equipment. The obligations outstanding
at 31 December are not material.

46. Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) transaction
Liberty Holdings Limited’s 100% held subsidiary, Liberty Group Limited, entered into a series of transactions during 2004 whereby an
investment in aggregate of R1 251 million was made in cumulative redeemable preference shares. The proceeds of this were used by the BEE
entities to purchase Liberty Group Limited shares. On 1 December 2008, in terms of a section 311 transaction to remove Liberty Holdings’
control structure, each BEE entity accepted an exchange of Liberty Holdings Limited ordinary shares for Liberty Group Limited shares on
a one-for-one basis.
Number of Liberty
Holding Ltd shares

BEE entity

Beneficiary

Lexshell 622 Investments (Pty) Ltd
Lexshell 623 Investments (Pty) Ltd

The Black Managers’ Trust(1)
The Liberty Community Trust(2)

Total
(1)
(2)

Remaining amounts invested

2018

2017

2018

2017

‘000

‘000

Rm

Rm

1 095
5 159

1 280
5 159

11
88

20
103

6 254

6 439

99

123

Registered as Katleho Managers Trust.
Registered as Katleho Community Trust with a subsequent name change in 2014 to the Liberty Community Trust.

The cumulative redeemable preference shares attract dividends at 67% of Standard Bank’s prime lending rate. The preference dividends are
payable on each date the company (which has issued the preference shares) receives an ordinary dividend from Liberty Holdings Limited.
The preference shares do not meet the definition of a financial asset in terms of International Financial Reporting Standards and therefore the
investment value of the preference shares has reduced group equity and is stated in the analysis of group equity as a negative empowerment
reserve. Receipt of preference share redemptions and dividends will be credited directly to reserves.
For the purposes of earnings per share calculations, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue is reduced by the number of
Liberty Holdings Limited’s shares held by the empowerment subsidiaries directly funded by the proceeds received from the preference
shares. In accordance with interpretations of International Financial Reporting Standards, the reduction of the weighted average number
of shares will reduce to the extent that the preference shares are redeemed or to the extent any preference shares are sold to an external
party without recourse.
With effect from 1 January 2015 the trading restrictions on the underlying Liberty Holdings shares securing the cumulative redeemable
preference shares were lifted. If however, part or all these shares are traded, any related outstanding preference share liability would need
to be settled from the proceeds.
Liberty Holdings Limited
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47.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have significant non-controlling interests

47.1

Summary
Accumulated non-controlling
interests

Rm
Subsidiaries
Unincorporated property partnerships

Notes

2018

2017

49.2
49.3

4 041
4 349

3 759
4 188

8 390

7 947

Total non-controlling interests

47.2

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
Percentage of
ownership interest held by
non-controlling interest
%

Name of subsidiary

Principal
place of
business

Liberty Holdings Namibia (Pty)
Limited
Namibia
Liberty Kenya Holdings PLC
Kenya
Liberty Two Degrees Limited
South Africa
Aggregate insignificant subsidiaries

Profit/(loss) allocated
to non-controlling
interest
Rm

Accumulated
non-controlling
interests
Rm

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

25,0
42,3
41,1

25,0
42,3
36,9

2
10
259
(10)

3
46
179
13

31
413
3 535
62

30
352
3 309
68

261

241

4 041

3 759

Total
All the above entities have a 31 December year end.

47.3

Unincorporated property partnerships
Percentage of
ownership interest held by
non-controlling interest
%

Name of property
partnership

Location

Sandton City
Sandton Convention Centre
Liberty Hotels(1)
Botshabelo Shopping Centre
Melomed Hospital(2)

South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
South Africa
South Africa

2018

2017

25
40
25
30
30

25
40
25
30
30

Total
(1)

Liberty Hotels consist of Sandton Sun and Towers and Garden Court Sandton City.

(2)

Melomed Hospital is part of the John Ross Eco Estate development.
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Profit/(loss) allocated
to non-controlling
interest
Rm
2018

2017

Accumulated
non-controlling
interests
Rm
2018

2017

333
24
(4)
6
24

297
35
(5)
(5)
23

3 770
244
116
88
131

3 611
259
120
88
110

383

345

4 349

4 188
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47.	Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have significant non-controlling interests
(continued)
47.4
47.4.1

Summarised financial information – non-controlling interests’ share
Subsidiaries
Liberty Two Degrees Limited

Rm

2018

Statement of financial position
Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Comprehensive income
Total revenue(1)
Total comprehensive income
47.4.2

4 177
128
(669)
(101)

2018

3 283
68
(42)

418
259

300
179

Liberty Kenya
Holdings PLC

2017

71
4
(37)
(7)

69
4
(29)
(14)

44
2

46
3

2018

2017

1 737
422
(1 575)
(171)
611
10

1 576
241
(1 342)
(123)
659
46

Unincorporated property partnerships
Melomed
Hospital

Rm
Statement of financial position
Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Loans to group entities
Comprehensive income
Total revenue(1)
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
(1)

2017

Liberty Holdings
Namibia (Pty) Limited

2018

2017

131
2

110

(2)
25
24

23
23

Botshabelo
Shopping Centre
2018
88
3
(1)
(2)
8
6

2017

Sandton City
2018

2017

88 3 770 3 611
4
62
55
(4)
(59)
(95)
(3)
40
(2)
(5)

438
333

388
297

Sandton
Convention Centre
2018

2017

243

259
1
(1)

1
29
24

39
35

Liberty Hotels
2018

2017

101
34
(20)
1

104
32
(16)

142
(4)

134
(5)

Total revenue includes investment gains/(losses), rental income and interest income.

47.5
47.5.1

Significant restrictions
Liberty Holdings Namibia (Pty) Limited and Liberty Kenya Holdings PLC

Both Liberty Holdings Namibia (Pty) Limited and Liberty Kenya Holdings PLC own licenced asset management and insurance entities that
are regulated and therefore subject to statutory capital requirements set by each jurisdiction’s regulators. These require that the entities
hold a prescribed minimum capital and dividend distributions from these entities are only available from excess net assets over the required
minimum capital.
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48. Interests in unconsolidated structured entities
The table below summarises the types of structured entities that the group does not consolidate but in which it holds an interest.

STRUCTURED ENTITY

NATURE OF ASSET

NATURE AND PURPOSE OF ENTITY

Blue Diamond Investments No 3
(RF) Limited*(3)

Listed notes in a vehicle that
houses South African listed
debt instruments
Residential mortgage
backed securitisation
Senior, secured loan

An SPV set up by Standard Bank, designed to provide third- party
investors indirect exposure to corporates, and in doing so, reduce
the group’s exposure to credit risk.
Standard Bank securitisation vehicle

Blue Granite Investments No 1
(RF) Limited*
Calibre Mortgage Fund
(Pty) Limited*
Compass Securitisation
(RF) Limited
Greenhouse Funding 3
(Pty) Limited

Unlisted, rated, asset
backed note
Residential mortgage
backed securitisation

Special purpose vehicle (SPV) set up by South African Home Loans
(Pty) Limited (SAHL) into which it originates home loans. The SPV is
funded by debt provided by Liberty and equity provided by SAHL
Mercantile Bank securitisation vehicles (equipment leases).

Merchant West Asset Rentals

A structured entity set up by Nedbank Ltd. It is a securitisation
vehicle into which it originates home loans, and into which Liberty
can lend on a secured basis. Equity is provided by Nedbank Ltd.
Vehicle loan backed assets
The issuance of notes backed by the rights, title and interest in
and to instalment sale agreements together with the underlying
assets in relation to each such instalment sale pursuant to a
securitisation scheme.
Listed, rated, asset-backed note Merchant West securitisation vehicles

Nitro Securitisation 5 Issuer Trust

Vehicle loan backed assets

SA Securitisation Programme
(RF) Limited
SA Taxi Finance Solutions (Pty)
Limited

Listed, rated, asset-backed note SASFIN securitisation vehicle
Senior, unrated debentures
secured by underlying assets

SPV set up by SA Taxi to raise debt funding which it in turn uses to
originate taxi loans

Siyakha Fund (RF) Limited*

Residential mortgage
backed securitisation
Vehicle loan backed assets

Standard Bank securitisation vehicle

Mmela Mobility Finance
(RF) Limited

Superdrive Investments
(RF) Limited

The Thekwini Fund series*

Residential mortgage
The Thekwini Fund 9 (RF) Limited backed securitisations

RMB securitisation vehicle

An SPV set up by BMW Financial Services South Africa (Pty)
Limited, the main purpose of which is to acquire the rights, title
and interest in vehicle instalment sale agreements, pursuant to a
securitisation scheme.
SAHL securitisation vehicles

The Thekwini Fund 10 (RF) Limited
The Thekwini Fund 11 (RF) Limited
The Thekwini Fund 12 (RF) Limited
The Thekwini Fund 13 (RF) Limited
The Thekwini Fund 15 (RF) Limited
Torque Securitisation (RF) Limited Listed, rated, vehicle loan
Vehicle loan securitisation vehicle
backed note
Standard Bank 3JB
Listed, rated, asset-backed note SA Taxi securitisation vehicles (taxi loans).
Universal Credit S.A.

Segregated investment fund

Investment fund

Total
* Related party entities
Blue Granite Investments No 1 (RF) Limited and Siyakha Fund (RF) Limited are subsidiaries of Standard Bank.
South African Home Loans (Pty) Limited (SAHL) is a joint venture of Standard Bank.
(1)
(2)
(3)

Carrying values are disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position as a financial investment.
Income received comprises interest income and investment gains/(losses).
During the year control of the SPV was re-assessed and it has been recognised as a consolidated structured entity during 2018.
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Carrying value(1) Rm
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY OF STRUCTURED
ENTITY

PRINCIPAL NATURE OF
FUNDING

Blue Diamond is a repack vehicle (SPV)
that houses South African debt in a single
instrument which investors can purchase
Raising funding in the securitisation market

Credit linked notes issued to
third-party investors

2018

2017

Income received(2) Rm
2018

192

2017
21

48

4

9

2 943

318

297

897

933

79

82

Debt funders in the
securitisation market

65

253

15

11

Raising funding in the securitisation market to Debt funders in the
fund vehicles
securitisation market
Raising funding in the securitisation market
Debt funders in the
securitisation market
Raising funding in the securitisation market
Debt funders in the
securitisation market
SPV set up by SA Taxi to raise funding in the Debt funders in the
securitisation market which in turn uses the securitisation market
funding to originate taxi loans
Raising funding in the securitisation market
Debt funders in the
securitisation market
Funds of the securitisation scheme are raised Debt funders in the
securitisation market
directly or indirectly by the issue of debt
instruments in order to manage the assets
so acquired.
SPV is set up by SAHL to raise funding in the Debt funders in the
securitisation market which it in turn uses to securitisation market
originate home loans

317

SPV set up by SAHL as a funding vehicle into
which Liberty can lend on a secured basis

Debt funders in the
securitisation market
Liberty as debt provider

Raising funding in the securitisation market to Debt funders in the
fund equipment leases
securitisation market
Raising funding in the securitisation market
Debt funders in the
securitisation market
Raising funding in the securitisation market

3 295
110

241

9

25

308

308

27

31

625

659

57

65

105

1

11

403

403

35

36

25

30

2

3

21
204
223

1
19
21

1
2
20
21

34

1

1

203
223
30
Debt funders in the
securitisation market
Raising funding in the securitisation market to Debt funders in the
fund taxi loans.
securitisation market
Investment fund
Liberty as debt provider

14

Raising funding in the securitisation market

25

1

1 187

1 067

199

7 713

7 664

803
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49. Changes in accounting policies
The group adopted all the new, revised or amended accounting
pronouncements as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB) which were effective for the group from 1 January 2018.
In particular, the following standards had an impact on the group's
financial statements:

49.1

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The group has applied IFRS 9 retrospectively, but elected not to
restate comparative information for disclosures as permitted by the
transition requirements. Any impacts were recognised in opening
retained income on 1 January 2018. As a result, the comparative
disclosures provided continue to be accounted for in accordance
with the group's previous accounting policy for financial instruments
(application of IAS 39). The group elected to continue to apply the
hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39 in the adoption of IFRS 9.
In addition the group adopted the consequential amendments to
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, which were applied in the
2018 financial year. Comparative disclosures have not been restated.

Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018 in respect
of financial instruments

Financial assets
IFRS 9 applies two criteria to determine how financial assets should
be classified and measured, namely:
a. the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets; and
b. the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.
Liberty Holdings Limited is the holding company of various operating
subsidiaries engaged in the provision of financial services including
long-term, short-term and health insurance, investment holdings
and asset management.
Under IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement,
the group designated the significant majority of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss. The group has applied IFRS 9’s
classification and measurement requirements based on the facts and
circumstances of the various business models at the date of adoption
of IFRS 9 in determining the transition adjustment.
• The business model of Liberty Group Limited, the group's South
African long-term insurance operations, is fair value through
profit or loss (default) for all financial assets. The only exception
being intercompany funding loans which are held to collect
contractual cash flows and classified at amortised cost. These
loans are eliminated on consolidation into Liberty Holdings Limited
consolidated financial statements. Policyholder loan assets within
Liberty Group Limited, which were previously held at amortised
cost under IAS 39, are now default measured at fair value through
profit or loss under IFRS 9.
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• Application of the business model approach for the various other
operating subsidiaries (being long-term insurance in other Africa
territories, short-term and health insurance, asset management
and investment holding entities) results in changes to classification
for certain components of “Other receivables” and “Cash and cash
equivalents”. Under IFRS 9 they are all now classified at amortised
cost. Previously certain components were designated at fair value
through profit or loss under IAS 39. Due to the short-term nature
of these financial instruments, there was no material impact on the
change in measurement nor were there any impairment provisions
on adoption of IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities classification and measurement under IFRS 9 has
not changed significantly from IAS 39. Financial liabilities are either
held at fair value (either required or designated) or at amortised
cost. A summary of changes from those adopted under IAS 39 are:
• Subordinated notes and redeemable preference shares included
in Liberty Group Limited's financial liabilities, previously measured
at amortised cost, have been irrevocably designated at fair
value through profit or loss on 1 January 2018. Any effects of
changes in the liability’s own credit risk will be presented in other
comprehensive income effective from 1 January 2018. This
results in more relevant information because financial assets and
financial liabilities are managed and performance is evaluated
on a fair value basis for information provided internally to the
group’s key management personnel. Reporting on a fair value
basis also eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency.
• The classification and measurement of subcomponents of “Other
payables” (related to those entities outside of Liberty Group
Limited) are classified at amortised cost under IFRS 9, rather
than as previously designated at fair value through profit or loss
under IAS 39.
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49. Changes in accounting policies (continued)
49.1 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
Opening transition adjustment as at 1 January 2018

As previously
reported
under IAS 39
at amortised
cost

Rm
Loan receivables
Financial liabilities

894
(5 581)

As classified
under
IFRS 9
at fair value
through
Transition
profit or
adjustment
loss
(63)
(105)

Gross transition adjustment
Taxation

(168)
47

Net transition adjustment

(121)

49.1.1

831
(5 686)

Change in presentation policy due to IFRS 9

As a result of implementation of IFRS 9, the group adopted certain consequential amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements,
which requires the disclosure of interest revenue on the effective interest rate method, as well as impairment losses on financial assets held
at amortised cost.
As a result of the changes to IAS 1, the group re-assessed all movements on financial instruments (assets and liabilities) held at fair value
through profit or loss (including interest and dividends). Any movements that are not of a capital nature are disclosed as fair value movements.
The impact of this is that the group no longer separately discloses 'finance costs' for financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit
or loss under IFRS 9, and no longer discloses interest and dividends for financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss.
These changes were adopted in line with the group's transitional approach on IFRS 9 and did not change comparative disclosures.

Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

127

GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISK MANAGEMENT

COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

APPENDICES

Notes to the group annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

49. Changes in accounting policies (continued)
49.1.2

Effect on the classification of financial assets and financial liabilities on application of IFRS 9

The following table shows the original classification and carrying amount under IAS 39, and the new carrying amount under IFRS 9 for each
class of the group's financial assets and financial liabilities as at 1 January 2018.

Original
classification
under IAS 39(1)

Rm

New
classification
under
IFRS 9(1), (2)

Financial assets
Equity instruments
Listed
Unlisted
Scrip assets- listed equities on the JSE
Interests in joint ventures

Designated FVPL
Designated FVPL
Designated FVPL
Designated FVPL

Default FVPL
Default FVPL
Default FVPL
Default FVPL

Debt instruments
Listed preference shares
Unlisted preference shares
Listed term deposits
Unlisted term deposits

Designated FVPL Default FVPL
Designated FVPL Default FVPL
Designated FVPL
Designated FVPL Default FVPL
Designated FVPL
FVOCI
Designated FVPL Default FVPL
Designated FVPL
FVOCI

Original
carrying
amount
under
IAS 39

New
carrying
amount
under
IFRS 9 Difference

394 645

394 582

135 037

135 037

125 243
1 722
6 879
1 193

125 243
1 722
6 879
1 193

117 452

117 452

401
315

401
312
3
68 993
2 257
7 434
29 993
60
7 999

(3)
3
(9 691)
2 257
7 434
(8 059)
60
7 999

5 021
1 222

5 021
1 159

(63)

328
894

328
831

(63)

78 684
38 052

Repurchase agreements and collateral assets
Loan and receivables/Policy loan receivables

Designated FVPL Default FVPL

Loan and receivables/Policy loan receivables
Loan and receivables/Policy loan receivables

Amortised cost
Amortised cost

Amortised cost
Default FVPL

99 610

99 610

Property
Equity instruments
Interest-bearing instruments
Mixed assets classes

Designated FVPL
Designated FVPL
Designated FVPL
Designated FVPL

Default FVPL
Default FVPL
Default FVPL
Default FVPL

1 907
16 048
22 174
59 481

1 907
16 048
22 174
59 481

Investment policies
Derivative assets held for trading and for hedging
Collateral deposits receivable
Prepayments and other receivables
(excluding IFRS 4 Insurance balances)

Designated FVPL Default FVPL
Held for trading Default FVPL
Held for trading Default FVPL

8 072
6 620
1 818

8 072
6 620
1 818

4 624

4 624

Prepayments and other receivables
Prepayments and other receivables

Designated FVPL Default FVPL
Amortised cost

4 624

3 601
1 023

15 169

15 169

2 538

1 706
832
10 763
1 868

Mutual funds

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and on hand
Cash at bank and on hand
Short-term cash deposits
Short-term cash deposits

Designated FVPL Default FVPL
Amortised cost
Designated FVPL Default FVPL
Amortised cost

Policyholder long term investment contracts
Third-party financial liabilities arising on consolidation of
mutual funds
Financial liabilities
Liabilities held for trading and for hedging
Repurchase agreements liabilities and collateral deposits payable
Other payables (excluding Insurance payables)
Long-term investment contracts
Other payables

(1)
(2)

FVPL = Fair value through profit or loss
FVOCI = Fair value through other comprehensive income

128

Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

12 631
176 605

176 710

100 519

100 519

Designated FVPL
Designated FVPL
Held for trading
Designated FVPL

49 713
5 581
6 311
9 097
5 384

49 713
5 686
6 311
9 097
5 384

Designated FVPL Designated FVPL
Designated FVPL Designated FVPL
Amortised cost

145
5 239

145
4 244
995

Financial liabilities
Designated FVPL Designated FVPL
Designated FVPL
Amortised cost
Held for trading
Designated FVPL

(63)

(1 023)
1 023
(832)
832
(1 868)
1 868
105

105

(995)
995
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49. Changes in accounting policies (continued)
49.2 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 established a comprehensive framework for determining and reporting the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue
and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. It replaces all existing revenue standards and their related interpretations
in IFRS and applies to all contracts with customers except for contracts that are within the scope of other standards on leases, insurance
contracts and financial instruments and therefore does not impact the majority of the group’s revenue. The group’s revenue subject to
IFRS 15 is mostly attributed to service fee income from policyholder investment contracts, fee revenue including management fees on assets
under management, performance fees, health administration fees and reinsurance commission earned on short-term insurance business.
Performance fees subject to variable constraints in the asset management business are not material.
The group has adopted IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method (without practical expedients), with the effect of initially applying this
standard at the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018). Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 has not been restated. Additionally,
the disclosure requirements in IFRS 15 have not been applied to comparative information. Apart from providing more qualitative disclosures
on the group’s revenue transactions, the application of IFRS 15 has not had a significant impact on the financial position and/or financial
performance of the group. As at the date of initial application, no adjustments were required to the group’s performance or financial position.
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Notes to the group annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

50. Change in presentation of the cash flow statement
During 2018 a comprehensive review of the group’s long-term insurance business model was undertaken. In addition consideration was also
given to the new regulatory capital regime effective 1 July 2018 and the enterprise risk management framework. All of the above support
a change in key judgement relating to the appropriateness of all cash flows relating to investment portfolios backing policyholder liabilities
and supporting regulatory and group risk adjusted minimum capital levels. Management are of the opinion that these should be reflected as
cash flows from operating activities rather than as previously reflected as cash flows from investing activities. This provides more relevant
information as it more accurately reflects the nature of the cash flows.
Due to the materiality of items, the cash flow statement for 2017 has been restated.
The table below reflects the specific line items that are impacted by the change in presentation policy.
31 December 2017
Prior to
adoption of
change in
presentation
policy

Rm
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash utilised by operations
Purchase of properties
Proceeds on sales of properties
Net purchase of financial instruments
Repayment of collateral deposits payable
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of properties
Proceeds on sales of properties
Net purchase of financial instruments
Repayment of collateral deposits payable

5 121
(7 082)

(3 581)
(681)
13
(2 238)
(258)

Impact of Including the
change in
change in
presentation presentation
policy
policy
(3 292)
129
(681)
13
(2 495)
(258)
3 292
681
(13)
2 366
258

1 829
(6 953)
(681)
13
(2 495)
(258)
(289)
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Due to the change in presentation as a result of IFRS 9 for the year ended 31 December 2018, dividends received, interest received and finance
costs on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, are included in the fair value adjustments in the statement of comprehensive
income. Consequently in the presentation of the cash flow statement, as the receipts and payments for these items are disclosed as proceeds
or repayments of the financial instruments, they are not separately presented as interest received, dividends received and finance cost in the
statement of cash flows for 31 December 2018. In line with the transition approach for IFRS 9, comparatives were not restated.
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Risk management
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Enterprise risk management (ERM) at a glance
The board is committed to increasing customer and shareholder value through the prudent management of risks, mindful of the interests
of all stakeholders. The board oversees all risk activities and has ultimate responsibility. It delegates much of its work to the group risk
committee (GRC), from whom it takes recommendations on risk appetite and capital management strategy.

Risk categories

Risk governance
• M
 anage day-to-day risk origination and
management in accordance with risk policy and
strategy
• Identify and assess risks and implement
management’s response
• Report and escalate material risks and issues to
governance bodies
• Track losses and implement remedial actions

Strategic and business
Section 2

First line of defence
Insurance
Section 3
Market
Section 4
Credit
Section 5
Liquidity
Section 6
Operational
Section 7

Business unit management

Second line of defence
Heads of compliance, risk and
actuarial functions and statutory
actuaries

Third line of defence
Independent assurance providers –
internal and external audit and other
independent service providers

1.

Enterprise risk management

1.1

Overview

Liberty has adopted an Enterprise Risk Management (ERM)
approach which enables the group to consider the potential impact
of risks on stakeholders. Liberty’s framework is substantially based
on the ERM principles embodied in the Prudential Authority’s
Solvency Assessment and Management (SAM) framework.
Liberty’s risk processes consider both internal and external
environments, and their impact on shareholders, customers and
other stakeholders.
Liberty’s significant risk categories are strategic and business,
insurance, market, credit, liquidity and operational risk.
The group’s strategic plans are subject to consideration of the tradeoff between risk and reward, taking into account the risk appetite
and risk target statements approved by the board.
Systems to quantify insurance, market, credit and liquidity risk
are in place. Operational risks are addressed through qualitative
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• P
 rovide oversight of and challenge to the first line
of defence
• Propose risk policy and strategy
• Champion implementation of risk policy on
strategy
• Provide assurance to board and regulators
• P
 rovide assurance over effective functioning
of the first and second lines of defence
functions including independent assessment
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the ERM
framework

assessment and analysis of exposures, incidents and effectiveness
of mitigating controls. Information in respect of the management of
each of these risk categories follows in sections 2 to 7.
The management of concentration risk is critical across many of
the significant risk categories. Information on the key concentration
risks follows in section 8.
Section 9 provides information on the sensitivity of IFRS earnings to
selected risk events, while section 1.7 (Capital Management) indicates
the group’s ability to cover its regulatory capital requirements.
The group continues to make good progress on formalising
processes which ensure that finance and risk matters are considered
in the determination of remuneration and incentives.
Liberty’s capital requirements, as measured internally and in terms
of current regulatory requirements, are well covered.
Liberty’s risk management system is functioning effectively and the
business continues to be managed within risk appetite.

Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

1.

Enterprise risk management (continued)

1.2

Risk strategy

Liberty’s approach to risk management places consideration of risk as a focal point in business activities. It enables the business to make
informed risk based decisions and manage expected returns by selecting the risks it is willing to assume. Liberty’s risk strategy is integrally
linked with the business strategy, with risk mitigating actions designed to improve the prospects of achieving the business goals.

Risk strategy

Business strategy link

Liberty’s risk philosophy is to ensure the sustainable growth of its
business, by encouraging profitable risk-taking and ensuring that it
operates within risk appetite.

Liberty’s strategy plan is based on strategic objectives and
concentrates on the growth of the core business.

Liberty’s risk preferences are classified according to:
• risks that the group actively seeks as a result of being in the
business of underwriting and managing risks (i.e. insurance,
market, credit and liquidity risks), all of which are viewed as
value-enhancing; and
• risks that are not actively sought but arise as a consequence of
being in business and will be managed to an acceptable level to
protect value (operational risk, and strategic and business risk).
All other risks are avoided as far as possible.

The strategic objectives provide clear direction for management,
with detailed strategies being constructed around each. Risk
preferences are considered in the formulation of these detailed
strategies, and in any supporting operational capabilities that are
built.
Impacts of decisions taken during the formulation and execution
of these detailed strategies are considered against the planned risk
profile, and form part of the broader feedback loop of business
decision-making (with particular attention paid to the extent that
a decision pushes the group outside risk appetite).
Surplus risk budget is deployed to liquid, well-diversified market
and credit risks offering superior risk-adjusted returns which assist
with capital efficiency.
Liberty has gone through a strategy refresh which takes into
account the current business environment in which it operates.

1.3

Risk appetite and risk target

Definition
Risk appetite is defined as the maximum amount of risk that the
group is prepared to accept in pursuit of its business objectives.
As such, risk appetite defines the group’s willingness and capacity
to accept high or low levels of exposure to specific risks or groups
of risks.
Liberty’s risk management system also includes the setting of a risk
target range, defined as the amount of risk the group aims to take
within which to optimise returns. The risk target range is set at a
level within the group risk appetite that allows for the achievement
of long-term targeted returns and targeted enterprise value while
keeping the possibility of risk appetite breaches at acceptable levels.

Determining risk appetite
The setting of the level of risk appetite is based on stakeholder
input and fundamentally driven by the requirement to deliver very
high levels of financial security for customers through appropriate
maintenance of the group’s ongoing solvency. The dual and at
times conflicting objectives of creating shareholders’ equity and
minimising risks are controlled through these limits.
Consideration is also given to the strategic, working capital and
regulatory capital requirements of the group.
Management is tasked with conducting Liberty’s business at the
targeted risk levels to ensure that the planned optimisation of
returns is achieved. Insufficient risk taken, where value enhancing
opportunities exist, is considered to be as undesirable as breaches
of upper risk limits.

Risk dimensions and measurement
The group’s risk appetite statement is regularly reviewed to ensure
its appropriateness to business objectives. Risk appetite is measured
across the following risk dimensions:
• IFRS headline earnings at risk: This is a measure of the fall
in IFRS headline earnings over the next year (normalised for
the BEE transaction and for the earnings mismatch arising on
consolidation of Liberty Two Degrees Limited) expected in a
moderate stress event (i.e. ‘1 in 10’ year event) relative to forecast
IFRS headline earnings over the next year.
• Regulatory capital coverage: This is a measure of the ratio of
the available regulatory capital of the group to the sum of the
regulatory capital requirements across all entities within the
group. This minimum multiple is determined using a risk-based
stress approach and reviewed for its continued appropriateness
annually.
• Economic value at risk: This is an internal risk measure
assessing the loss in the economic value of in-force business
at a point in time as a result of an extreme stress event
(e.g. ‘1 in 200’ year event) expressed as a proportion of the current
economic value of the group. On the economic basis, assets
and liabilities are measured as the amounts for which they can
be exchanged, transferred or settled between knowledgeable
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.
Liberty’s risk profile is monitored quarterly and reported to
management and the board’s risk oversight committees.
Consideration is given to the risk profile relative to risk limits in
determining whether specific management actions are required.

Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

133

GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISK MANAGEMENT

COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

APPENDICES

Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

1. Enterprise risk management (continued)
1.3 Risk appetite and risk target (continued)
1.4

IFRS
Headline earnings at risk

Risk target range
– level at which
the group aims to
operate

Risk appetite
boundary – hard
risk limits

Risk
inside
appetite

Regulatory capital
coverage

Economic value
at risk

Risk management framework

Effective application of the ERM framework is achieved through
processes and operational requirements which have been
translated into a comprehensive series of risk management policies,
procedures and guidelines. These reflect the overall commitment to
risk management, stipulating the required direction and the parties
responsible for implementation.

1.5

Governance of the risk management system

The board is ultimately accountable for the effective governance
of risk management. It is the responsibility of the board to ensure
that clearly defined risk management roles and responsibilities for
the group chief executive (supported by the exco), sub-committees
and key functions are in place. The board delegates its oversight and
management responsibilities in terms of the three lines of defence
governance model. This requires operating management (first line)
to operate with risk in mind, with risk professionals overseeing all
risk types and providing input from the corporate centre (second
line) and the third line providing assurance on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the ERM framework.
This model is illustrated in the diagram on page 132. It essentially
gives three independent views of risk and its implementation,
ensures that risk management is embedded in the culture of Liberty
and provides assurance to the board and senior management that
risk management is effective.
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Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

1. Enterprise risk management (continued)
1.5

Governance of the risk management system (continued)

Board of directors

STANLIB board

Remuneration
committee

Group audit
and actuarial
committee

Group risk
committee

Directors’ affairs
committee

Social, ethics and
transformation
committee

Group IT
committee

Remco

GAAC

GRC

DAC

SET

GITC

Significant
transactions
committee

Related party
committee

STC

RPC

Group actuarial
committee
GAC

• Other subsidiary boards
• Subsidiary internal review
committees
(where appointed)

Group control
and risk oversight
committee
(GCROC)

Group executive committee (Exco)

Group
balance sheet
management
committee

People, social,
ethics and
transformation
committee

Actuarial control
committee

Asset liability
committee

Integrated
regulatory
programme
steering
committee

Compliance
management
committee

LibFin credit
committee

Group operational
risk committee

Group
reinsurance,
underwriting and
claims committee

Customer
fairness
committee

Product approval
committee

Marketing and
communications
committee

Sales and
distribution
committee

Customer
fund control
committee
Board

STANLIB credit
committee

Board committees with independent members
Subsidiary boards and committees
Management oversight committees

Property
investment
executive
committee

Management committees
*	
Listed subsidiaries Liberty Two Degrees Limited and
Liberty Kenya Holdings PLC operate their own governance
structures and processes which are in conformance with
Liberty’s governance standards.
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Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

1.

Enterprise risk management (continued)

1.5

Governance of the risk management system (continued)

The following governance committees are involved in the control of
the risk management system:
• The group risk committee (GRC) is responsible for providing the
board with oversight relating to risk and control matters, and
reviews Liberty’s risk and control philosophy, strategy, policies and
processes. The GRC is also responsible for reviewing compliance
with risk policies and for the overall risk profile of Liberty. Certain
members of the GRC are also members of the group remuneration
committee (Remco) which ensures that relevant finance and risk
matters are considered.
• The group audit and actuarial committee (GAAC) has primary
responsibility for risks relating to the production of financial
statements and for legal compliance. It also works closely with
the GRC to ensure that a comprehensive system of combined
assurance is in place.
• The group social, ethics and transformation committee (SET)
monitors and regulates “people” risks (such as those that arise
from major business-wide change), customer fairness related
risks as well as other risks that arise from its mandate.
• The group information technology committee (GITC) monitors
and regulates risks related to technology and information
assets and processes, including, disaster recovery, information
technology (IT) security, IT investments and IT projects. The GITC
ensures the integration of technology and information risks
into the group’s risk management system. Exco is responsible
for ensuring appropriate IT process governance and ensuring
prioritisation of project delivery.
• The group control and risk oversight committee (GCROC) and
its sub-committees are responsible for maintaining capital and
risk policies, methodologies, procedures and plans to ensure
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management system.
• The group balance sheet management committee (GBSMC) is
delegated authority by the exco to manage the group’s overall
financial position. This committee is also responsible for providing
recommendations to the GRC regarding all risk and control related
issues that require escalation to the board.

1.6

Understanding Liberty’s risks

1.6.1 Risk identification and assessment process
Liberty has a clearly defined business strategy, making it possible to
identify events that would hinder the business from achieving its
objectives as well as identifying opportunities that might assist the
business in advancing towards or achieving its objectives.
Current and emerging risks that could threaten the business model,
strategy and sustainability are identified and assessed through a
top-down risk identification and assessment process. In addition,
risks identified through the business unit (BU) strategic planning
processes provide a bottom-up view.
Other regular risk identification exercises are conducted at an
initiative/project, process or product level. These may be based
on the BU’s approved strategic objectives or on critical processes
identified by the group.
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Risks identified and assessed within the BUs are aggregated
and ranked at group level to ensure that the group understands
where BUs are focusing their time and attention. The risk function
monitors the risk identification and assessment process and reports
on risk status and management’s response each quarter to the GRC.
• The aggregated balance sheet’s risk profile, which considers
both risks identified via the top-down and bottom-up processes,
is monitored by the GBSMC and reviewed by the GCROC and
GRC with actions driven by management structures.

1.6.2 Stress testing
In support of risk identification, assessment and measurement,
comprehensive scenario analysis is undertaken to identify severe
but plausible scenarios. Stress testing then assesses the group’s
sensitivity to these scenarios which:
• alerts management of potential adverse unexpected outcomes
related to a variety of risks;
• assesses the group’s ability to maintain minimum specified levels
of capital based on the board approved risk appetite;
• assesses the group’s resilience to adverse events by identifying
areas of potential vulnerability e.g. business continuity in the
event of a severe pandemic;
• increases understanding of the group’s risk profile through a
forward looking assessment of the group’s risk exposure under
stressed conditions;
• validates assumptions in respect of the group’s risk appetite;
• ensures adequate focus on the management actions that are
appropriate to avoid undue risk, and to enable faster reaction to
a change in circumstances; and
• forms an input into the Own Risk and Solvency Assessment
(ORSA) as required in terms of the Insurance Act, 2017.
A range of scenarios, covering different levels of severity and
plausibility, are considered as part of the stress testing system.
Scenarios are forward-looking over the same period as the business
planning horizon and focus on both macro-economic and insurancedriven events.

1.6.3 Risk mitigation
Where Liberty accepts a risk within its strategy, it may still want to
limit its exposure to an acceptable level via various mitigants such as
underwriting, financial controls, hedging and asset allocations.
Once the level of risk Liberty is willing to take has been set by the
board and the risks have been assessed, management is better
able to determine the mitigation strategy deemed to be the most
effective. The chief risk officer (CRO) considers risks both gross and
net of risk mitigation in the oversight of the ERM system.
Mitigants used depend on the risk type. The mitigants are subject to
oversight by the second line of defence, and controls are audited by
the third line. Risk specific mitigation methods for specific risks are
covered in later sections.

Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

1.

Enterprise risk management (continued)

1.6

Understanding Liberty's risks (continued)

1.6.4 Risk response, monitoring and reporting
The monitoring of risk exposures and key controls is inherently part of the ERM process, as is the reporting of emerging and significant risks
for each BU and the group as a whole. Where significant breaches are reported, progress made against action plans is monitored.
Risk information is reported quarterly to the GCROC and the GRC to ensure that decision making is based on an understanding of the
potential impact on risk. The group’s risk exposure relative to risk appetite and risk target on each risk measure is reported to the GBSMC,
GCROC and GRC.
If the group is operating outside the risk target range, appropriate actions to return to within the range are considered. If the group is
outside of risk appetite, immediate corrective action is taken. Risk response decisions are developed as part of the ERM process and formal
accountability is assigned to provide a greater level of assurance to the board.

1.6.5 Liberty’s top risks
The top risks process is a top-down risk identification and assessment process, which provides the business with another lens with which
to identify the risks that could prevent the organisation from achieving its business objectives. Top risks are defined as elevated, material
risks expected to potentially materialise within a relatively short time frame that are currently on the minds of the board of directors and
executives. This spans all risks faced across the business and may include strategic as well as operational risks.
The top risks to which the group is exposed have not changed materially over the year. All top risks and their related mitigation actions are
overseen by the board and the GRC. A strategy refresh exercise is currently underway which aims to mitigate most of the risks.

Specific risks

Management actions

Increased instability in the South African sociopolitical and economic environment

Liberty maintains a strong capital position, offers offshore investment alternatives
to policyholders and manages its asset/liability matching position within risk
limits. In addition, Liberty performed stress tests during the course of 2018 which
included a scenario of populist policies and fiscal failure in South Africa to prepare
for the potential impacts on the business.

Changing regulatory landscape

Liberty continues to develop strategic responses to new and emerging
regulation. The strategy refresh considers the regulatory environment in the
strategic direction being set.

Inability to adapt Liberty’s business model in an agile
manner

The group strategy refresh process is designing an approach to deliver attractive
customer and advisor experiences.

Inability to provide competitive products and services
that address evolving customer needs

The refreshed strategy aims to address commercial challenges. Liberty is working
on improving its customers’ loyalty and confidence in its brand. This includes
supporting advisors to deliver exceptional customer experiences.

Poor investment performance relative to customer
expectations

Liberty continues to enhance investment capabilities, particularly in STANLIB.
Clear management actions have been put in place for key portfolios that are not
performing according to expectation.

Lack of key capabilities to execute on the strategy.

Liberty is continuously refining and building new capabilities, including people
skills, in order to adapt to a rapidly evolving and competitive environment and
continues to create partnerships to execute strategy.
A sub-component of this risk includes the strengthening of the change
management capability which is core to the execution.

Inadequate information and cyber security

Liberty continues to invest in the group’s information and cyber security. After the
cyber breach experienced in June 2018, existing plans were further enhanced in
consultation with international experts in the field. Plans continue to be updated
based on changes to the threat landscape and technology enhancements.

Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

137

GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISK MANAGEMENT

COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

APPENDICES

Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

1.

Enterprise risk management (continued)

1.6

Understanding Liberty’s risks (continued)

1.6.5 Liberty’s top risks (continued)

Specific risks

Management actions

Substantial complexity in Liberty’s products, systems
and processes may reduce the speed of execution and
the ability to deliver desired customer experiences.

Liberty has restructured its operating model to deal with this risk. In addition, a
number of initiatives are being driven to simplify the systems and product set.
Complexity reduction is being embedded in the business culture.
Liberty prioritises projects so as to strike the right balance between initiatives at
a strategic level to grow the business and programmes to remedy operational
concerns.

Operational risks (such as data risk, financial control
risk, fraud risk and third party risk) may lead to poor
decisions, financial loss, reputational impact and may
adversely affect performance.

1.7

A “risk and compliance enhancement programme” was initiated in 2017 focused
on strengthening the risk and control environment of the business. Substantial
progress has been made during 2018.

Capital management

1.7.1 Capital management strategy
The capital management strategy is designed to ensure that
the group remains within risk appetite, has sufficient capital to
meet strategic initiatives and working capital requirements, the
allocation and use of capital generates a return that appropriately
compensates investors for the risks incurred and that the regulatory
capital requirements are met. Capital is deployed to each legal
entity within the group such that the available capital exceeds any
applicable regulatory capital requirement. Appropriate buffers allow
the group to be managed within its risk appetite.
In terms of the Insurance Act, 2017, which came into effect on 1 July
2018, the Prudential Authority prescribed updated methodology
for South African insurers to use in calculating their available capital
and solvency capital requirement. The act also prescribes solvency
capital requirements for designated insurance groups. At this stage
Liberty Holdings Limited has not been designated as the controlling
company of an insurance group.
Available capital is the amount by which the value of the assets
exceeds the value of liabilities, both measured on a prescribed
prudential basis. The group ensures that available capital is of
suitable quality and is accessible when required.
The capital buffer is the amount by which available capital exceeds
the regulatory capital requirement for the group. The capital
buffer is managed to support risk target levels, strategic initiative
requirements and the dividend policy of the group. The group’s
dividend policy takes cognisance of capital requirements at a group
level. Similarly all dividends sourced from regulated entities are only
approved where they do not compromise capital adequacy at each
legal entity level.

The group’s capital position is reported quarterly to the board. The
board considers reports from the head of the actuarial function
before dividends are declared by either Liberty Group Limited or
Liberty Holdings Limited.

1.7.2 Available capital
The group is largely funded through ordinary share equity which
is the highest quality of capital available to protect policyholders.
In addition, the group has seven subordinated debt instruments,
totaling R5,5 billion nominal value at 31 December 2018, issued by
Liberty Group Limited to increase its available capital, in order to
fund its working capital requirements and to lower the weighted
average cost of capital for the group. The details of the instruments
are provided in note 21 to the annual financial statements.
In July 2018, Standard & Poor’s assigned a ‘zaAAA’ South African
National Scale issuer credit rating to Liberty Group Limited, a longterm South Africa national scale issue rating of ‘zaAA’ to Liberty
Group Limited’s non-deferrable subordinated notes and a ‘zaAA-’ to
Liberty Group Limited’s deferrable subordinated notes.
Available capital and solvency capital requirements
The following table summarises the available capital and solvency
capital requirements for Liberty Group Limited at 31 December 2018.

2018
Rm
Available capital (or “own funds”)
Solvency capital requirement (SCR)
SCR coverage ratio (times)
Target SCR coverage ratio (times)
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Liberty
Group
Limited
32 586
17 400
1.87
1.5 – 2.0

Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

2.

Strategic and business risk

Strategic risk is the possibility of adverse outcomes resulting from
adopting a particular strategy and/or having a weak competitive
position. This may arise from errors in business structures, capital
allocation, government action and misunderstandings of economic
growth and inflation.
Business risk is the risk that future experience will differ from
expectations due to unanticipated concentrations of risk or new
business levels being different from expected (as measured by
volume or mix).
Strategic and business risk comprises new business risk, strategic
and execution risk and reputational risk.
Management regularly monitors strategic and business risks and
seeks to respond appropriately and manage them against Liberty’s
appetite for risk.
Liberty has a clearly defined business strategy, making it possible to
identify events that would hinder the business from achieving its
objectives as well as opportunities that might assist the business in
advancing towards or achieving its objectives.
Risks that impact the ability of the business to meet commercial
goals are identified through analysis of the external and internal
environment.
Current and emerging risks that could threaten the business model,
strategy and sustainability are identified and assessed through a
top-down risk identification and assessment process. In addition,
risks identified through the business units’ strategic planning
processes provide a bottom-up view.
Risks identified and assessed within the BUs are aggregated and
ranked at group level to ensure that the group understands where
BUs are focusing their time and attention.
The aggregated risk profile, which considers both risks identified via
the top-down and bottom-up processes, is monitored and reviewed
by the GCROC and GRC with actions driven by management
structures.

3.

Insurance risk

3.1

Definition

Insurance risk arises due to uncertainty regarding the timing and
amount of future cash flows from insurance contracts. This could
be due to variations in mortality, morbidity, policyholder behaviour
or expense experience in the case of life products, and claims
incidence, claim severity or expense experience in the case of shortterm insurance products. These could have adverse impacts on the
group’s earnings and capital if different from those assumed.
The insurance risks with the greatest impact on the financial
position and comprehensive income are covered in more detail in
sections 3.5 to 3.7.

3.2 Ownership and accountability
The management and staff in all BUs accepting insurance
risk are responsible for the day-to-day identification, analysis,
pricing, monitoring and management of insurance risk. It is also
management’s responsibility to report any material insurance risks,

risk events and issues identified to senior management through
pre–defined escalation procedures.
The head of actuarial function, and statutory actuaries where
applicable, and group insurance risk department provide
independent oversight of compliance with the group’s risk
management policies and procedures and the effectiveness of the
group’s insurance risk management processes.
There are a number of management committees in place responsible
for managing all aspects of insurance risk. These committees are:
•
•
•
•

group control and risk oversight committee (GCROC);
group reinsurance, underwriting and claims committee;
group product approval committee; and
actuarial control committee.

These committees are sub-committees of the group executive
committee.
The functions of the various committees responsible for managing
insurance risk include:
• recommending insurance risk related policies to GCROC for
approval and ensuring compliance therewith;
• ensuring that insurance risk is appropriately controlled by
monitoring insurance risk triggers against agreed limits and/or
procedures;
• gaining assurance that material insurance risks are being
monitored and that the level of risk taken is in line with the risk
appetite statement at all times;
• considering any new insurance risks introduced through new
product development or strategic development and how these
risks should be managed;
• monitoring, ratifying and/or escalating to GCROC all material
insurance risk-related breaches/excesses highlighting the
corrective action undertaken to resolve the issue;
• monitoring insurance risk capital requirements as they apply
to the management of the group and its subsidiaries’ balance
sheets; and
• approving the reinsurance, underwriting and claim management
strategies and overseeing the implementation of those
strategies.
The head of actuarial function and statutory actuaries, where
applicable, provide oversight of the long-term insurance risks
undertaken by the group by:
• providing an opinion at least annually on the financial soundness
of the life insurance entities within the group;
• overseeing the setting of assumptions used to provide best
estimate liabilities plus compulsory and discretionary margins
(as described in the accounting policies) in accordance with the
assumption setting policy; and
• providing an opinion on the actuarial soundness of premium
rates in use for new business, and on the profitability of the
business, taking into consideration the reasonable benefit
expectations of policyholders and the associated insurance and
market risks.
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Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

3.

Insurance risk (continued)

3.3 Risk identification, assessment, measurement and
management
Risk management takes place prior to the acceptance of risks
through the product development and pricing processes and
at the point of sale. Risks continue to be managed through the
measurement, monitoring and treatment of risks once the risks are
contracted.

3.3.1 Risk management through product development,
pricing and at the point of sale
The product development and pricing process defines the terms
and conditions on which the group is willing to accept risks. Once
a policy has been sold, the group is placed on risk for the duration
of the contract and the group cannot unilaterally change the terms
and conditions of the policy except where the policy allows for
rate reviews. It is for these reasons that risks need to be carefully
assessed and appropriately mitigated before a product is launched
and before new policies are accepted onto the group’s balance
sheet. The product development and approval process ensures
that:
• risks inherent in new products are identified and quantified;
• sensitivity tests are performed to enhance understanding of the
risks and appropriateness of mitigating actions;
• pricing is adequate for the risk undertaken;
• product design takes account of various factors including size
and timing of fees and charges, appropriate levels of minimum
premiums, commission structures and policy terms and
conditions;
• the group makes use of reinsurance to reduce its exposures to
some insurance risks;
• customers’ needs and expectations will be met by the product;
• the controls required to provide the product within risk appetite
are identified and established; and
• post-implementation reviews are performed to ensure that
intended outcomes are realised and to determine if any further
action is required.

3.3.2 Risk management post-implementation of products
and of in-force policies
The ongoing management of insurance risk, once the risk has
been contracted, includes the management of costs; premium
adjustments where permitted and appropriate; management
strategies and training of sales staff to encourage customers to
retain their policies; and careful follow up on disability claims and
annuitant deaths.
Experience investigations are conducted at least annually on all
significant insurance risks to ascertain the extent of deviations from
assumptions and their financial impacts. If the investigations indicate
that these deviations are likely to persist in future, the assumptions
will be adjusted accordingly for the subsequent measurement of
policyholder contract values. Furthermore, any deviations that are
likely to persist are also used to inform the product development
and pricing of new and existing products.
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Insurance risks are assessed and reviewed against the group’s risk
appetite and risk target. Mitigating actions are developed for any
risks that fall outside of management’s assessment of risk appetite
in order to reduce the level of risk to within the approved tolerance
limits.
IFRS sensitivities for the primary insurance risks are provided in
section 9. Embedded value sensitivities for insurance risks are also
prepared for internal use and reporting to analysts.
The analysis of insurance earnings by product classification
disclosed in note 2 (segment information) of the annual financial
statements shows insurance earnings split between risk business and
investment business for the group’s SA Retail and Liberty Corporate
business units.

3.4 Reporting
Each relevant BU prepares monthly and quarterly reports that
include information on insurance risk. The reports are presented to
the relevant BU executive committees and relevant risk committees
for review and discussion. Major insurance risks are incorporated into
a report by the CRO on the group’s overall risk which is submitted to
the GRC. In addition, the GAC reviews actuarial methodology and
assumptions to support the GRC. Where it is deemed necessary,
material insurance risk exposures are escalated to the board.
In respect of insurance risks, the reports contain the results of
experience investigations conducted along with other indicators of
actual experience. These reports also raise any issues identified and
track the effectiveness of any mitigation plans put in place.

3.5 Policyholder behaviour risk
This is the risk of policyholders’ behaviour within the insurance
entities deviating from that expected, mainly due to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

regulatory and legislative changes (including taxation);
changes in economic conditions;
competitor behaviour;
policy conditions and practices;
changes in policyholders' circumstances; and
policyholders’ perceptions.

The primary policyholder behaviour risk is termination risk.
This generally arises when policyholders discontinue or reduce
contributions, or surrender or lapse their policies at a rate that is not
in line with expectations. This behaviour results in a loss of future
charges that are designed to recoup expenses and commission
incurred early in the life of the contract and to provide a profit margin
or return on capital. An increase in terminations generally gives rise
to a loss, as the loss of these future charges generally exceeds the
charges that the group applies to the policyholder benefits in these
events. However with certain products the general principle does
not always apply. For example, level premium risk products at certain
durations will produce a strain to earnings if actual terminations are
lower than assumed.

Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

3.

Insurance risk (continued)

3.5 Policyholder behaviour risk (continued)
In the measurement of policyholder contract values, margins as
described in the accounting policies or prudential standards are
added to the best estimate termination rates.
In the calculation of solvency capital requirements, allowance is
made for the following risks in respect of policyholder behaviour:
• The risk that the actual level of terminations is different from
expected;
• The risk of a termination catastrophe to capture a run-on-a-bank
type of scenario; and
• The risk that the extent to which embedded derivatives in
products are exercised differs from expectations.
Policyholder behaviour risk, in particular surrender and lapse risk,
remains significant with the experience being volatile and linked in
part to the economic cycle. This risk is managed through frequent
monitoring of experience and actively driving retention initiatives
in areas exhibiting deteriorating experience. Focusing on being
customer centric, including listening to customers to understand
the drivers of the experience, enables appropriate actions to be
taken.
The termination experience of each intermediary’s business
is monitored and appropriate action is taken when required.
In addition, opportunities to switch to new generation Liberty
products are periodically made available to existing policyholders.
In December 2018, the group entered into a reinsurance contract
expected to cover in part the losses incurred under certain
catastrophic termination events (i.e. a severe termination event
that occurs over a period of 12 months). This cover is in place for
24 months. The group has entered into this arrangement to reduce
the exposures to catastrophic termination events and for capital
management purposes.

3.6 Underwriting risks
The primary purpose of underwriting is to ensure that an appropriate
premium is charged for each risk and that cover is not offered
to uninsurable risks. Underwriting risks are the risks that future
demographic or claims incidence experience will exceed the
allowance for expected demographic or claims incidence experience,
as determined through provisions, pricing, risk measures and value
measures. Underwriting risks include, amongst others, mortality and
morbidity risks, longevity risks and non-life (short-term insurance)
risks.
The group views these underwriting risks as risks that are core to
the business. Liberty uses its specialist skills (with assistance from
reinsurers where considered necessary) to enhance risk selection
for the assessment, pricing and management of these risks to
generate favourable shareholder returns. These risks are diversified
by exposure across many different lives, geographies, and product
types and will generally be retained if they are within risk appetite.
Liberty is exposed to the risk that its risk selection capabilities fall
behind those of its competitors. Liberty continues to acquire and
retain specialist skills and to actively drive specific risk selection
initiatives to counteract this risk.

3.6.1 Mortality and morbidity risk
Mortality risk is the risk of mortality (death) claims being higher than
anticipated.
Morbidity risk is the risk of policyholder health related (disablement and
dread disease) claims being higher than expected.
The group has the following processes and procedures in place to
manage mortality and morbidity risk:
a. Pricing
Premium rates are differentiated by factors which historical
experience has shown are significant determinants of mortality and
morbidity claim experience. Premium rates and product designs are
updated when required. For corporate schemes, specific attention
is paid to industry so that rates quoted can reflect the impact of the
industry on mortality risk. Industry loadings tend to be lowest for
administration type work and highest for heavy industrial work.
Prior to taking on individual risk policies, appropriate underwriting
processes are conducted, such as blood tests, which influence
pricing on the policy prior to acceptance.
Actual claims experience is monitored on a monthly basis so that
deteriorating experience can be timeously identified. Product
pricing and the measurement of the liabilities are changed if the
deteriorating experience is expected to continue and cannot be
mitigated. Detailed mortality and morbidity investigations are
conducted on a bi-annual basis for key products.
b. Terms and conditions
The policy terms and conditions contain exclusions for non-standard
and unpredictable risks that may result in severe financial loss.
Terms are built into the policy contracts that permit risk premiums
to be reviewed on expiry of a guarantee period. In particular:
• for individual risk business, most in-force risk premiums are
reviewable (after 10 to 15 years on Lifestyle Protector business
and annually on Credit Life and Emerging Consumer Market
business);
• for institutional risk business, the risk premiums are reviewable
annually; and
• for non-South African businesses, similar terms exist.
Delays in implementing premium increases and market or
regulatory restraints over the extent of the increases may reduce
their mitigating effects.
c. Underwriting
Underwriting guidelines concerning authority limits and procedures
to be followed are in place.
All individual business applications for risk cover are underwritten,
except for some policies with smaller sums assured where
specific allowance for no underwriting has been made in the
product design and pricing. For other smaller sums assured, the
underwriting process is largely automated. For individual and
institutional business, larger sums assured in excess of specified
limits are reviewed by experienced underwriters and evaluated
against established processes. For institutional risk business, these
specified limits are scheme specific based on the size of the scheme
and distribution of sums assured. Since applications on institutional
business below the specified limits are not medically underwritten,
very few lives are tested for HIV. However, the annually reviewable
terms on institutional business enable premiums to keep pace with
emerging claim experience.
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Risk management (continued)
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3. Insurance risk (continued)
3.6 Underwriting risks (continued)
3.6.1 Mortality and morbidity risk (continued)
Specific testing for HIV is carried out based on the assessment of
the risk.
Part of the underwriting process involves assessing the health
condition and family medical history of applicants. Terms and
conditions are varied accordingly.
Non-standard risks such as hazardous pursuits, hazardous
occupations and medical conditions are assessed at underwriting
stage. The expertise of reinsurers is used in the rating of nonstandard risks.
Financial underwriting is used where necessary to determine
insurable interest.
For institutional risk business, the exposure by entity and industry
class are considered at underwriting stage to ensure that
concentration risk remains within risk appetite.
d. Claims management
For mortality, claims are validated against policy terms and
conditions.
For morbidity, experienced claims assessors determine the merits
of the claim in relation to the policy terms and conditions. In the case
of disability annuitants, claim management ensures the continued
eligibility for monthly income and includes interventions that may
result in the full or partial medical recovery of the claimant. The
actual disability experience is highly dependent on the quality of the
claim assessments.
e. Reinsurance
Reinsurance is used by the group to reduce exposure to: a particular
line of business; a particular individual; a single event; and to benefit
from the risk management support services and technical expertise
offered by reinsurers.
The group has a centralised reinsurance function that works closely
with BUs and subsidiaries to optimise and monitor reinsurance at a
group level and to ensure consistent governance and execution of
the group’s reinsurance strategy.
Regular reviews, which consider risk appetite, are conducted on
reinsurance arrangements for new business. The levels of reinsurance
purchased for new business written in 2018 were broadly similar to
those in recent years. Given that a large proportion of the group’s
business is long-term individual risk business, where the proportion
of the risk that is reinsured is fixed for life at the inception of the
policy, the group’s overall reinsurance result is heavily influenced
by historic reinsurance arrangements. In some instances where
underlying policyholder benefits are annually renewable, for example
institutional business, reinsurance is annually renewable.
Existing reinsurance arrangements include proportional reinsurance
(quota share and surplus type arrangements) on both a treaty and
facultative basis and catastrophe reinsurance which is renewed
annually.
Catastrophe reinsurance is consolidated across BUs and is in place
to reduce the risk of many claims arising from the same event.
For corporate schemes, catastrophe reinsurance is considered

142

Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

particularly useful to reduce the risk of multiple claims from a single
event, as many lives may be in the same place at the same time.
Various events are excluded from the catastrophe reinsurance (e.g.
epidemics and radioactive contamination).
f.

Allowance in policyholder liabilities and capital
requirements
In the measurement of policyholder liabilities, margins as described
in the accounting policies or prudential standards are added to the
best estimate mortality and morbidity rates.
In the calculation of solvency capital requirements, allowance is
made for the following risks in respect of mortality and morbidity:
• the risk that the actual level of mortality and morbidity
experience is different from that expected; and
• the risk that mortality or morbidity catastrophe events (including
epidemic type events) occur.
Mortality and morbidity risk gives rise to significant capital
requirements in particular due to potential catastrophic events.
Since it is difficult to obtain reinsurance for certain catastrophic
events, such as epidemics on reasonable terms, the mortality and
morbidity capital requirements are likely to remain significant.
Although the overall mortality and morbidity experience is within
expectations, there has been poor experience in certain pockets
of business (such as on retail lump sum disability business and
on institutional income protection business) in the last couple of
years, which appears correlated with the current poor economic
conditions. Liberty has taken action to review the premiums for
some institutional clients and continues to monitor and gain insight
from this experience to drive appropriate management action
timeously.

3.6.2 Longevity risk
Longevity risk is the risk of annuitant mortality being lower than
expected, that is annuitants living longer than expected.
For life annuities, the loss arises as a result of the group having
undertaken to make regular payments to annuitant policyholders
for their remaining lives, and possibly to the annuitant policyholders’
spouses for their remaining lives. The most significant risks on these
liabilities are continued medical advances and improvements in
social conditions that lead to longevity improvements being better
than expected.
The group manages the longevity risk by:
• annually monitoring the actual longevity experience and
identifying trends over time;
• making allowance for future mortality rates falling in the
pricing of new business and the measurement of policyholder
liabilities. This allowance will be based on the trends identified in
experience investigations and external data; and
• regularly verifying annuitants are still alive.
The eligibility of annuitants paid in South Africa who have valid South
African identification numbers is established by a monthly check of
existence with the Department of Home Affairs. The eligibility of
other annuitants is established with the requirement of a “proof of
existence” certificate on an annual basis.

Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

3.

Insurance risk (continued)

3.6 Underwriting risks (continued)
3.6.2 Longevity risk (continued)
Claims on disability income business also give rise to annuity
payments which are contingent on the claimants being alive and
their continued disablement. The claims management of the
disability income business is covered under morbidity risk.

3.6.3 Non-life (short-term) insurance
a. Introduction
Liberty holds a 100% share in Total Health Trust Limited, which
sells medical expense insurance business to both government
employees and corporate customers in Nigeria.

Liberty holds a 57,7% controlling share in Liberty Kenya Holdings
Plc, which includes companies conducting short-term insurance
business in the East Africa region, including medical expense cover.
In addition, Liberty holds:
• 51% Liberty General Insurance Uganda Ltd;
• 100% Liberty General Botswana (Pty) Ltd; and
• 55% Liberty General Insurance Company Ltd (Malawi).

Medical expense cover is also provided via a subsidiary of Liberty,
namely Liberty Health Holdings (Pty) Ltd, to customers in 22 African
countries.

b. Classes of short-term insurance
The following classes of short-term insurance business are covered:

Class of business definition
Medical expense

Cover for personal medical expenses.

Fire

Cover against loss or damage to property due to fire, explosion, storm and other occurrences customarily
included.

Motor

Cover for losses arising out of the use of motor vehicles, inclusive of third-party risks but exclusive of transit
risks.

Liability

Provides indemnity for actual or alleged breaches of professional duty arising out of the insured’s activities,
indemnifies directors and officers of a company against court compensation and legal defence costs,
provides indemnity for the insured against damages consequent to a personal injury or property damage.

Personal accident

Provides financial compensation for the insured person sustaining bodily injury, solely and directly caused
by accidental, violent, visible and external means, and which shall within 12 calendar months result in death,
disablement or the incurring of medical expenses.

Other

Classes of business not included under those listed above. These include engineering, workmen’s
compensation, marine and aviation, theft, agriculture, bonds, goods in transit and glass.

The following table summarises the premiums earned and claims loss ratios incurred for the classes of short-term insurance business.
2018

2017

Gross
premiums
earned
Rm

Gross claims
loss ratio
%

Gross
premiums
earned
Rm

Gross claims
loss ratio
%

Medical expense
Fire
Motor
Personal liability and personal accident
Other

1 048
208
270
98
237

79
35
61
39
44

1 033
221
257
135
189

78
31
58
27
28

Total

1 861

65

1 835

61

Class of insurance business
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3. Insurance risk (continued)
3.6 Underwriting risks (continued)
3.6.3 Non-life (short-term) insurance (continued)
c. Underwriting risks associated with short-term insurance
The risks under any one insurance contract are the frequency with
which the insured event occurs and the uncertainty of the amount
of the resulting claim. For a pool of insurance contracts, the principal
risks are that the actual claims and benefit payments exceed the
premiums charged for the risks assumed and that the reserve set
aside for policyholders’ liabilities proves to be insufficient.
Pricing risk
Pricing risk is managed by carefully establishing criteria by which
each potential customer is allocated to the appropriate risk
category, applying the underwriting rules, and by establishing prices
appropriate to each risk category. Underwriting performance is
measured by monitoring the claims loss ratio which is the ratio of
claims to premiums.
Reserving risk
For claims that have been reported by the financial position date,
expert assessors estimate the expected cost of final settlement.
For expected claims that have not been reported by the financial
position date an incurred but not reported (IBNR) provision is
calculated using appropriate techniques. Consideration is also given
to any stipulated minimum IBNR prescribed by regulations. These
provisions for claims are not discounted for the time value of money
due to the expected short duration of settlement.
Using the experience of a range of specialist claims assessors,
provisions are reviewed at least annually to ensure they are
sufficient.
Catastrophic risk
Catastrophic risk has the potential to cause significant loss or impact
on current year earnings and capital through a single event or a
number of correlated events.
Reinsurance and the diversification of types of short-term insurance
offered are used to reduce risks from single catastrophic events or
accumulations of risk. Various reinsurance arrangements are in
place, with retention levels and catastrophe cover levels varying by
line of business.
The aggregate risk exposure to medical expenses is managed
through claim limits by loss event within the terms of each policy.

3.7

Expense and new business risks

Expense risk is the risk of changes in future expense expectations
from those assumed in the calculation of expected financial
outcomes e.g. the actual cost per policy differs from that assumed
in the pricing or valuation basis.
New business risk is the risk of the value of new insurance business
deviating from that expected in calculating expected financial
outcomes. This can arise from actual volume, mix and/or quality of
new business deviating from that expected. New business strain is
included in this risk type. A large proportion of Liberty’s new business
is sold to the South African affluent individual market segment. This
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concentration exposes Liberty significantly to changes affecting this
segment.
Allowance is made for expected future maintenance expenses in the
measurement of long-term policyholder contract values using a cost
per policy methodology. These expected expenses are dependent
on estimates of the number of in-force and new business policies.
As a result, the risk of expense loss arises due to expenses increasing
by more than expected as well as from the number of in-force and/
or new business policies being less than expected.
The group manages the expense and new business risk by:
• regularly monitoring actual expenses against budgeted expenses;
• regularly monitoring new business volumes and mix;
• regularly monitoring withdrawal rates including lapses; and
• implementing cost control measures in the event of expenses
exceeding budget or of significant unplanned reductions in the
number of in-force policies.
In the measurement of policyholder liabilities, a margin as described
in the accounting policies is added to the best estimate expenses.
In the calculation of capital requirements, allowance is made for the
following risks in respect of expenses:
• the risk that the actual level of expenses is different from
expected; and
• the risk that the rate at which the group’s expenses increase is
greater than assumed relative to the rate of inflation. The risk
that inflation is higher than expected is treated as a market risk.
Even though expense risk does not give rise to large capital
requirements, the management of expense risk is core to the
business. The expenses that the group expects to incur on policies
are allowed for in product pricing. If the expenses expected to
be incurred are considerably higher than those of other insurers
offering competing products, the ability of the group to sell business
on a profitable basis will be impaired. This not only has capital
implications, but can also affect the group’s ability to function as a
going concern in the long-term.
In 2017, the value of Liberty’s new business was well below
budgeted long-term expectations as a result of lower margins
on products sold and lower than budgeted business volumes. A
financial remediation programme was initiated to expedite the
changes required in products, underwriting, pricing and customer
experience to improve the value of new business. Focus was
also placed on tighter expense management and simplifications
in products and operational processes to drive further expense
efficiencies to maintain competitive expense assumptions in
the valuation of the policyholder liabilities. In 2018, the group
implemented changes to products, pricing, and underwriting and
increased focus on expense management. The volumes of new
business remain under pressure and work in respect of this financial
remediation programme is ongoing.

Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

4.

Market risk

4.1

Definition

Market risk is the risk of adverse financial impact resulting directly
or indirectly, from fluctuations in equity prices, interest rates, credit
spreads, foreign currency exchange rates, property values and
inflation as well as any changes in the implied volatility assumptions
associated with these variables.

4.2 Ownership and accountability
The group’s market risk policy establishes a set of governing
principles for the identification, measurement, monitoring,
management and reporting of market risk across the group. It
supports the overarching risk management framework with respect
to market risk.
The asset and liability committee (ALCO), which is a sub-committee
of the group balance sheet management committee (GBSMC), is
charged with ensuring that market risk remains within approved
risk limits. LibFin is responsible for managing the group’s aggregate
market risk exposure within risk parameters approved by group risk
and GBSMC.
Notwithstanding LibFin’s broad mandate with respect to the
management of market risk, there remain pockets of market risk
which have not yet been brought into the LibFin scope. These
risks are deemed to be immaterial but continue to be monitored in
accordance with the group’s market risk policy.
STANLIB and external asset managers are responsible for the
management of portfolios of investment assets and are required
to manage investment risks within their mandates. Oversight of
investment performance risk is provided by the client fund control
committee through the monitoring of asset managers and the
setting of appropriate policyholder fund mandates.
Group market risk provides independent oversight of the adequacy
and effectiveness of market risk management processes across the
group and reports material risks to GBSMC, GCROC and GRC.

4.3 Risk identification, assessment and measurement
Identification of market risk as and when it arises is fundamental to
the group’s approach to managing market risk
In the case of market risks which arise from an insurance/
investment product, identification and measurement requires an
evaluation of the product’s design, whether it is an existing product
or a new product proposal, to ensure a thorough understanding of
the market risk implications of the product.
In the case of market risks which arise from shareholders’ equity, the
risk may be identified and measured by considering the market risks
that apply to the assets in which these funds have been invested.
Once identified and measured, an assessment of the risk is
performed. Risk assessment considers:
• The extent to which the group wishes to maintain the market
risk exposure on a long-term strategic basis. This includes market
risks arising from assets within the Shareholder Investment
Portfolio (SIP) (explained in section 4.4.1);
• The extent to which market risks to which the group does not
wish to maintain exposure on a long-term strategic basis, as they
are not expected to provide an adequate return on capital over

time, may be mitigated (either through improved product design
or through open market activity); and
• The extent to which the group does not wish to maintain the
exposure but is unable to adequately and/or economically
mitigate these risks through hedging. In certain instances, these
market risks are second order risks arising as a result of, for
example, liquidity risks or reputational risks. Whilst these risks
cannot necessarily be hedged, they are identified, measured,
monitored and managed as far as possible.
Group risk is actively involved in this process through regular
engagement with the business as well as through representation
on various governance committees such as ALCO, GBSMC and the
group product approval committee.

4.4 Risk management
The group’s shareholders are exposed to market risk arising
predominantly from:
• The long-term policyholder asset/liability mismatch risk. This
occurs if the group’s property and financial assets do not move in
the same direction or by the same magnitude as the obligations
arising under its insurance and investment contracts despite the
controls and hedging strategies employed;
• Exposure to management fee revenues not already recognised
in the negative rand reserves(1);
• Financial assets forming the group’s capital base (also referred
to as shareholders’ equity) including currency risks on capital
invested outside South Africa; and
• Financial assets held to back liabilities other than long-term
policyholder liabilities.
The market risk associated with assets backing long-term
policyholder investment-linked liabilities, including discretionary
participation feature (DPF) liabilities, is largely borne by the
policyholder. However, poor performance on policyholder funds
adversely affects asset related fee income. It can also lead to
reputational damage and subsequently to increased policyholder
withdrawals and a reduction in new business volumes.

4.4.1 Shareholder Investment Portfolio (SIP)
This portfolio comprises shareholder assets and investment
exposures expected to remain on the LGL group balance sheet over
the long term in order to support solvency requirements. These are
invested and managed for the benefit of LGL group, and thereby
LHL shareholders, within a clearly defined investment mandate.
The board through the GRC, approves the long-term asset mix of
the portfolio. The long-term asset mix, also known as the strategic
asset allocation is defined on a through-the-cycle basis and aims
to maximise after-tax returns for a level of risk consistent with the
group’s risk appetite. In determining the strategic asset allocation,
consideration is given to the risk capacity already utilised by LGL
group’s core business activities as well as to liquidity, regulatory and/
or operational constraints. During the course of 2018 the decision
was taken to blend the strategic asset allocation to equities between
index trackers and active equity management. The strategic asset
allocation is overlaid with a tactical asset allocation which allows for
some dynamic management of the investment portfolio.
(1)

Negative rand reserves are negative liabilities (within long-term policyholder liabilities)
and policyholder assets arising when the discounted value of expected future inflows
exceeds the discounted value of expected future outflows.
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4.

Market risk (continued)

4.4 Risk management (continued)
4.4.1 Shareholder Investment Portfolio (SIP) (continued)
LibFin is responsible for implementing the investment strategy and monitoring performance with oversight from group risk functions and
ultimately the board. The implementation of the investment strategy is in part achieved through the mandating of STANLIB and other asset
managers. The tactical asset allocation is primarily performed by STANLIB within a mandate approved by the GRC.
The group recognises the importance of investing in a diversified portfolio of financial assets. The typical asset classes included in the
portfolio are equity, fixed income, property and cash, both in local and foreign currency. Allocations are also made to alternative asset classes
in search of yield and diversification benefits. As a result, the portfolio is exposed to currency movements as well as market movements in
the underlying asset classes.
In the short-term, market movements may contribute to some earnings volatility. The diversified nature of the portfolio should, however,
serve to minimise the overall impact on earnings.
The SIP exposures at 31 December are summarised in the table below.
Exposure category
Rm
Equities
Bonds
Cash
Property
Other
Total

Local

2018
Foreign
3 736
734
213

%

Local

Total

%

30
32
18
9
11

4 431
7 197
5 385
3 093
1 649

4 787
304
49
937

9 218
7 501
5 434
3 093
2 586

33
27
20
11
9

21 755

6 077

27 832

100

4 403
8 051
4 602
2 533
1 762

1 158

8 139
8 785
4 815
2 533
2 920

21 351

5 841

27 192

100

15 029

55

17 235

62

8 691
3 472

32
13

6 677
3 920

24
14

Assets backing capital
Assets backing policyholder
liabilities
90:10 exposure(1)
(1)

2017
Foreign

Total

The 90:10 exposure is the exposure on certain contracts which include terms that allocate 10% of the investment returns to Liberty shareholders.

Reconciliation of SIP exposure to LGL group shareholders’ equity
Rm

2018

2017

Shareholder investment portfolio
Less: 90:10 exposure
Less: Corporate debt
Add: Liberty Two Degrees adjustment(2)

27 192
(3 472)
(5 632)
932

27 832
(3 920)
(5 500)

Liberty group shareholders’ equity

19 020

18 412

(2)

This represents the difference between Liberty group’s share of the net asset value of Liberty Two Degrees as at the reporting date and the listed price of Liberty Two Degrees
units multiplied by the number of units in issue to Liberty group at the reporting date. Adjusting the valuation from net asset value to share price is required to ensure consistency
between policyholder liabilities and their backing assets, and to provide a market consistent valuation of the Liberty Two Degrees shares held within the shareholder investment
portfolio.

4.4.2 Asset/liability management portfolio (ALM Portfolio)
The group has chosen to mitigate a number of market risk
exposures, arising from asset/liability mismatches, to which it does
not wish to be exposed on a long-term strategic basis through
hedging. The decision to hedge these risks is based on the fact that:
• Continuing to assume these market risks may result in the group
operating outside of its risk appetite;
• These market risks are capital intensive and over time have
the potential to reduce shareholders’ returns on capital unless
actively managed;
• There is a liquid and tradable market in which to hedge these
market risks; and
• Some of the risks (for instance those which arise from selling
investment guarantees) are asymmetric in nature, and could
compromise the group’s solvency in severe market conditions.
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Risk mitigation is achieved through a dynamic hedging programme,
managed by LibFin. The hedging programme aims to manage the
risks within the groups agreed risk appetite framework through the
use of best practice market risk management techniques.
The following exposures are included in the hedging programme:
• Embedded derivatives provided in contracted policies
(e.g. minimum investment return guarantees and guaranteed
annuity options as described in section 4.8.2 b);
• Interest rate exposure introduced primarily as a result of writing
guaranteed immediate annuities, deferred annuities and
guaranteed investment plans;
• Guaranteed Index Trackers; and
• Negative rand reserves.

Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

4.

Market risk (continued)

4.4 Risk management (continued)
4.4.2 Asset/liability management portfolio (ALM Portfolio)
(continued)
These risks are managed in the ALM Portfolio using a variety of
hedging instruments available in the market.
In some instances, reducing exposure to undesirable risks may
result in increased exposure to other risks. In addition to this, as
the risk appetite limits cover different dimensions, hedging activity
may in certain cases mitigate risk in one dimension whilst resulting
in increased risk in others. In recognition of these unintended
consequences, the impact of hedging decisions is assessed
across all dimensions prior to transacting. Post-transacting, hedge
effectiveness is monitored closely by group market risk.
The nature of the existing business results in certain risks being
difficult to hedge, such as long-dated implied volatility exposures,
movements in long-dated interest rates and correlation risks. It is
not possible to hedge these risks perfectly, hence some residual
risks and associated volatility remain. In such instances limits are
imposed on the magnitude of risk accepted. In addition, capital is
held against unhedgeable risks. An assessment of the exposure
to these residual risks is included within the sensitivity analysis on
pages 165 to 167.

4.5 Alignment of market risk exposure to risk appetite
statement
The maximum amount of risk assumed within the group is defined
by the group risk appetite.
Group risk targets are set within risk appetite. These targets guide
the setting of market risk limits for the ALM Portfolio. During 2018,
the group remained within market risk limits.
The strategic asset allocation and associated tactical asset allocation
ranges for the SIP are defined taking into consideration risk capacity
already utilised by LGL group’s core activities. The portfolio is
constructed with the aim to optimise the residual risk appetite while
retaining a conservative investment mandate.

4.6 Risk reporting
Daily market risk reports are generated within LibFin on the ALM
Portfolio, using the latest available asset and liability information.
These risk reports facilitate the process of managing the portfolio
within agreed market risk limits.
The SIP exposures to market risk are summarised twice a month in a
market risk exposure report and monitored relative to tactical asset
allocation ranges accordingly.

Market risk exposure across both portfolios is reviewed by ALCO
on a monthly basis and on a quarterly basis by GCROC. The GCROC
oversees LibFin’s management of the market risk within the
approved risk management and governance framework. In addition,
it monitors the group’s current market risk exposures alongside the
group’s other risk exposures and overall risk appetite limits.
Furthermore, on a quarterly basis, the head of group market
risk reports on the adequacy and effectiveness of market risk
management processes across the group, highlighting material
exposures to GRC. Where it is deemed necessary, material market risk
exposures are reported to the board.

4.7 Summary of group assets subject to market risk
The following table summarises the group’s exposure to financial,
property and insurance assets. This exposure has been split into
the relevant market risk categories and then attributed to the main
effective “holders” of the risk defined as follows:
• Long-term policyholder investment-linked (including DPF)
liabilities – liabilities that are determined with reference to
specific assets and where a significant portion of the market risk
is borne by the respective policyholders. The group would be
exposed to reputational risk if returns are poor. In addition, the
group is exposed to any embedded derivatives (e.g. minimum
investment return guarantees) provided on benefits linked to
these assets. The embedded derivatives liabilities have been
included in "Other policyholder liabilities”.
• Other policyholder liabilities – liabilities where shareholders
bear the market risk, but have largely hedged the risk via
suitable matching assets. Annuities, guaranteed investment
plans, embedded derivative liabilities and negative rand
reserves (excluding those on portfolios of risk contracts with a
policyholder asset at portfolio level) have all been included here.
• Third-party financial liabilities arising on consolidation of mutual
funds – certain mutual funds in which the group invests are
classified as subsidiaries where the group has assessed it has
control of these funds in terms of IFRS. These mutual funds
are consolidated into the group results. The market risks on
the underlying assets that are assumed by the non-Liberty
unit holders in these mutual funds are classified as third-party
financial liabilities.
• Non-controlling interests – this includes interests held by nonLiberty shareholder participants in unincorporated property
partnerships and subsidiaries. See note 47 for details.
• Residual liabilities and shareholders’ interests – this shows the
residual assets left once assets have been allocated to cover the
liabilities mentioned above. Shareholders would be exposed to
the market risk on these assets apart from where this risk can
be offset. Details on offsetting, enforceable master netting and
similar agreements are set out in note 9.4.
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Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

4. Market risk (continued)
4.7 Summary of group assets subject to market risk (continued)
Attributable to

Risk category
(Rm)
2018
Assets subject to market risk
Equity price
Property price(1)
Mixed portfolios – excluding
investment policies(2)
Assets subject to market and
credit risk
Interest rate
Investment policies in mixed
portfolios
Reinsurance assets(3)
Equity derivatives
Long-term policyholder assets
Other assets not included in
the asset class table (refer
note 26.1)

Long-term
policyholder
investmentlinked
(including
Total assets DPF) liabilities
227 141

190 541

(7 136)

24 103

7 883

11 750

123 673
39 139
64 329

108 886
23 856
57 799

(4 038)
(287)
(2 811)

13 498
6 657
3 948

7 883

5 327
1 030
5 393

199 690

84 156

43 716

24 083

507

47 228

187 316

73 901

42 017

24 083

507

46 808

9 462
2 119
793

9 462
793

1 699

420

6 708

6 708

3 735

3 735

437 274

Total

Third-party
financial
liabilities
Residual
arising on
liabilities and
Other
policyholder consolidation Non-controlling shareholders’
interests
interests
liabilities(4) of mutual funds

Percentage (%)

274 697

36 580

48 186

8 390

69 421

62,8

8,4

11,0

1,9

15,9

(1)

Equity price risk is included in property price risk where the invested entity only has exposure to investment properties. Property company debt instruments of R5 300 million are
included in the interest rate risk line.

(2)

Mixed portfolios are subject to a combination of equity price, interest rate and property price risks depending on each portfolio’s construction. A substantial portion of the mixed
portfolios will be subject to equity price and interest rate risk. The exact proportion is difficult to calculate accurately given the number of mutual funds and hedge funds contained in
the group portfolios.

(3)

Reinsurance assets are claims against reinsurers outstanding at the reporting date. They are not subject to market risk other than time value of money (interest rate) for the periods
to settlement.

(4)

Negative exposure to the various risk categories can occur in ‘Other policyholder liabilities’ since the present value of future inflows can exceed the present value of future benefits and
expenses resulting in a negative liability. The group offsets these negative liabilities against policyholder investment-linked liabilities. The policyholder market risk exposure, however,
remains unchanged. Hence, shareholders bear all the risks of shorting assets backing the policyholder investment-linked liabilities by the amount of these negative liabilities.
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Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

4. Market risk (continued)
4.7 Summary of group assets subject to market risk (continued)
Attributable to

Risk category
(Rm)
2017
Assets subject to market risk
Equity price
Property price(1)
Mixed portfolios – excluding
investment policies(2)
Assets subject to market and
credit risk
Interest rate
Investment policies in mixed
portfolios
Reinsurance assets(3)
Equity derivatives
Long-term policyholder assets
Other assets not included
in the asset class table
(refer note 26.1)
Total
Percentage (%)

Third-party
financial
liabilities
arising on
Other
consolidation Non-controlling
policyholder
interests
liabilities(4) of mutual funds

Total assets

Long-term
policyholder
investmentlinked
(including DPF)
liabilities

247 241

204 691

(7 666)

31 809

7 497

10 910

147 580
40 180

125 110
25 010

(4 350)
(329)

23 158
5 423

7 497

3 662
2 579

59 481

54 571

(2 987)

3 228

186 748

86 131

40 425

17 904

450

41 838

174 890

76 047

38 944

17 904

450

41 545

9 704
1 774
380

9 704
380

Residual
liabilities and
shareholders’
interests

4 669

1 481

293

7 484

7 484

2 654

2 654

444 127

290 822

32 759

49 713

7 947

62 886

65,5

7,4

11,2

1,8

14,1

(1)

Equity price risk is included in property price risk where the invested entity only has exposure to investment properties. Property company debt instruments of 1 933 million are
included in the interest rate risk line.

(2)

Mixed portfolios are subject to a combination of equity price, interest rate and property price risks depending on each portfolio’s construction. A substantial portion of the mixed
portfolios will be subject to equity price and interest rate risk. The exact proportion is difficult to calculate accurately given the number of mutual funds and hedge funds contained in
the group portfolios.

(3)

Reinsurance assets are claims against reinsurers outstanding at the reporting date. They are not subject to market risk other than time value of money (interest rate) for the periods
to settlement.

(4)

Negative exposure to the various risk categories can occur in ‘Other policyholder liabilities’ since the present value of future inflows can exceed the present value of future benefits and
expenses resulting in a negative liability. The group offsets these negative liabilities against policyholder investment-linked liabilities. The policyholder market risk exposure, however,
remains unchanged. Hence, shareholders bear all the risks of shorting assets backing the policyholder investment-linked liabilities by the amount of these negative liabilities.
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Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

4. Market risk (continued)
4.7 Summary of group assets subject to market risk (continued)
A breakdown of the residual amount where group shareholders assume any market risk on the backing assets, except where offset applies,
follows:
Rm
Provisions
Deferred taxation
Deferred revenue
Deemed disposal taxation liability
Short-term insurance liabilities
Financial liabilities
Liabilities held for trading and for hedging
Repurchase agreements liabilities and collateral deposits payable
Employee benefits
Insurance and other payables
Current taxation
Disposal group liabilities classified as held for sale
Ordinary shareholders' equity

2018

2017

145
2 694
314

76
3 386
291
436
780
5 581
6 311
9 097
1 446
11 995
1 043

984
8 104
8 457
11 747
1 377
11 971
347
278
23 003
69 421

4.8 Market risk by product type
The relevant market risks associated with the various policyholder
products are discussed by product type below:

4.8.1 Investment-linked (excluding insurance contracts
with DPF) products
Investment-linked products provide the policyholder with benefits
which are dependent on the investment return on a portfolio of
assets from the date of premium payment. As a result, a significant
portion of the market risk on these products is borne by the group’s
policyholders.
• For IFRS defined investment contracts, the group typically holds
the assets on which the unit prices are based. In such a scenario,
there is virtually no mismatch;
• In respect of IFRS defined insurance contracts with investmentlinked components, the liability is reduced by the corresponding
negative rand reserve. Some market risk is consequently retained
on this business to the extent that the negative rand reserve
does not move in line with the investment-linked liabilities. This
risk is managed as part of the ALM Portfolio;
• A significant portion of investment-linked business has
embedded derivatives in the form of minimum investment
return guarantees or guaranteed minimum death benefits. This
risk is managed as part of the ALM Portfolio;
• On a portion of business in this category, policyholders receive
90% of both the positive and negative returns achieved on
the underlying assets. This leaves shareholders’ earnings with
exposure to the remaining 10%, thereby introducing earnings
volatility due to the exposure to market risk (the 90:10 fee
exposure);
• Management fees charged on this business are determined as a
percentage of the fair value of the underlying assets, which are
subject to market risk. As a result the management fees tend to
fluctuate but by design, will always be positive; and
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22 444
62 886

• Timing delays can occur between the receipt of premiums from
policyholders and the date that the funds are actually invested
for the benefit of the policyholder. Such delays could result in
either a profit or loss for the shareholder as the policyholder
is guaranteed the implied performance of the referenced
investments from the date of premium payment.

4.8.2 Guarantees and options on investment-linked
business
Significant exposure to market risk arises on guarantees and
options on investment-linked business. These product features are
embedded in various products. IFRS as well as Advisory Practice
Notes and Standards of Actuarial Practice, issued by the Actuarial
Society of South Africa, require them to be separately identified and
measured as embedded derivatives on a market consistent basis.
LibFin actively manages the group’s exposure to these embedded
derivatives within the ALM Portfolio as part of its dedicated hedging
programme.
The policyholder liabilities in respect of minimum investment return
guarantees including the policyholder bonuses and guaranteed
annuity options amounted to R1 220 million (2017: R958 million)
and R327 million (2017: R422 million) respectively.
a. Minimum investment return guarantees
Minimum investment return guarantees are provided on the death
and/or maturity proceeds of policies invested in selected investment
portfolios. The liabilities from these embedded derivatives are
valued in accordance with valuation techniques that approximate
market consistent option pricing techniques using stochastic Monte
Carlo simulation. These techniques mirror a mid-market, market
consistent price to be paid to externally transfer the risk.
The interest rate, equity and other market risks emanating from
minimum investment return guarantee products are actively
managed by LibFin where appropriate hedging instruments exist.

Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

4. Market risk (continued)
4.8 Market risk by product type (continued)
4.8.2 Guarantees and options on investment-linked business (continued)
b. Guaranteed annuity options (GAOs)
GAOs give the policyholder the option to convert the maturity proceeds of a retirement annuity to an annuity product at a predefined rate.
From 1997 onwards, very few policies with GAOs were sold. From 2001, GAOs were no longer offered as the group believed that it could
not adequately manage the associated risks at the time and anticipated a low interest rate environment going forward. As in the case of
minimum investment return guarantees, liabilities from these embedded derivatives are valued in accordance with valuation techniques
that approximate market consistent option pricing using stochastic Monte Carlo simulation techniques.
GAOs expose the group to a low interest rate environment. Interest rates impact not only the projected value of the proceeds of the policy
but also the value of the annuity offered at the date of retirement.
The following table provides the typical guaranteed conversion terms sold with the GAOs, as well as the annuity payments per annum that
are affordable using best estimate interest rate and annuitant longevity assumptions as at the financial position date, along with interest rate
sensitivities:
Annuity payment per annum per R1 000 of annuity consideration
Guaranteed
conversion rate

Best estimate
annuity rate (BE)

BE interest
rate x 1,12

BE interest
rate x 0,88

Male

Female

Male

Female

Male

Female

Male

Female

55

69,80

63,50

97,60

92,92

106,03

101,58

87,53

82,59

60

78,00

70,20

101,25

95,83

109,43

104,27

91,51

85,79

65

88,00

79,00

107,71

101,44

115,49

109,52

98,46

91,84

70

97,50

88,00

116,73

110,21

123,97

117,75

108,14

101,27

Age

Notes:
1.

The rates above are based on an annuity with a 10-year guarantee period.

2.

The annuity rates per annum calculated have been based on an average annuity consideration of R200 000.

The above table shows that, based on best estimate assumptions
at the financial position date, the annuity payment per annum per
the guaranteed annuity rate does not exceed the annuity payment
per annum that is currently affordable per R1 000 of annuity
consideration (i.e. none of the options are in-the-money at the
financial position date). The group is exposed to the risk of a fall in
interest rates on GAOs as the annuity payment per annum that is
affordable per R1 000 of annuity consideration falls as interest rates
fall, increasing the likelihood that guaranteed annuity options would
be exercised by the policyholder.
The value of the annuity is also sensitive to the annuitant longevity
assumption, which gives rise to the longevity risk described in the
insurance risk section.
The GAO applies to the full proceeds of the underlying policy. Since
retirement annuity policies typically have a large equity component,
the GAO also gives rise to equity risk. Increasing equity prices
generally increase the value of the GAO liabilities. Similarly other
smaller components of the investment proceeds are exposed to
interest rate, property and currency risk.

To some extent the upside equity risk exposure on GAOs can be
offset against the downside equity risk exposure on guaranteed
maturity values.
The bulk of GAO exposure relates to policies with terms to maturity
up to 12 years. However, terms to maturity extend as far out as 25
years.
c. Guaranteed Index Trackers
Guaranteed Index Trackers are a set of unitised investment
funds, offered to both individual and corporate customers, which
guarantee the customer a zero tracking error against an observable
market index at low cost. Investors can select between a local equity
(Top 40), local bond (ALBI) or cash total return (STEFI) index tracker.
STANLIB Index Investments is mandated by LibFin to actively
manage the equity and interest rate risks stemming from the sale
of Guaranteed Index Trackers. This activity is performed within a
clearly defined mandate and forms part of the ALM Portfolio.

4.8.3 Non-participating annuities
Non-participating annuities (including disability income annuities in
payment) provide benefit payments that are fixed and guaranteed
(although a small proportion of the business provides inflation–
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4. Market risk (continued)
4.8 Market risk by product type (continued)
4.8.3 Non-participating annuities (continued)
related increases on annuities in payment). These liabilities are
backed almost entirely by fixed income securities. The group’s
primary financial risk on these contracts is the risk that interest
income and capital redemptions from the financial assets backing
the liabilities are insufficient to fund the guaranteed benefits
payable.
LibFin manages interest rate risk on non-participating annuity
business in the ALM Portfolio as part of its dedicated hedging
programme. Seeking to hedge very long-dated annuity liabilities
with available market instruments, typically of a much shorter tenor,
results in convexity risk whereby, for large changes in interest rates,
the annuity liability value tends to change by more than the value
of the backing asset. Group market risk monitors convexity risk
through a combination of principal component analysis and defined
stress tests designed to capture non-linear risk of this nature.

4.8.4 Long-term insurance contracts with DPFs
The group has a number of portfolios of long-term insurance
contracts with DPFs, most of which have been acquired through
acquisitions of other insurers. With the exception of the Prudential
conventional business, which is backed by a segregated pool of
assets, a notional pool of assets is tracked for each DPF fund, to
ensure that each group of policyholders receive their relevant
benefits.
Bonuses are declared on this business taking a number of factors into
account, including the previously declared bonus rates, policyholder
reasonable expectations, expenses, actual investment returns on
the underlying assets, expectations of future investment returns
and the extent to which the value of assets exceeds the value of
benefits allowing for both the guaranteed benefits and projected
future bonuses at the most recently declared rates, among
other factors. Once declared, a portion of the bonus, depending
on the type of contract, forms part of the guaranteed benefits.
The bonuses declared are in accordance with the Principles and
Practices of Financial Management (PPFM) documents which are
available on Liberty’s website (www.liberty.co.za).
The group recognises the full value of the backing assets as a liability.
The guaranteed portion of the liability is sensitive to interest rates.
The group bears equity risk to the extent that equities are held to
back the guaranteed portion of liabilities. The group bears interest
rate risk to the extent that the assets backing the guaranteed
portion of the liability are not a match for these fixed and guaranteed
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payments. However, the group’s market risk can be passed on to
the policyholder to the extent that the assets in the portfolio exceed
the value of the guaranteed portion of liabilities.
In the case where the value of the asset is less than the value of
the prospective/retrospective liability, a negative bonus stabilisation
reserve (BSR) will be calculated (as the difference between assets
and the policyholder liability). The total liability will then be equal
to the sum of the prospective/retrospective liability plus the value
of the BSR, which will be equal to the backing asset. The only
exception to this would be where the negative BSR had to be limited
to comply with SAP104, in which case the total liability (still equal to
value of calculated liability plus negative BSR) would be greater than
the value of the assets.

4.8.5 Pure risk products (excluding annuities)
Pure risk products are predominantly recurring premium policies
that provide benefits that are fixed and guaranteed at inception of
the contract. The liabilities on these products are normally negative.
These liabilities are sensitive to interest rates and their exposure is
included as part of the ALM Portfolio.

4.8.6 Guaranteed
products

investment

plans

and

structured

Guaranteed investment plans are single premium policies that have
benefit payments that are fixed and guaranteed at inception of the
contract. These liabilities are sensitive to interest rates and their
exposure is included as part of the ALM Portfolio.

4.9 Market risk by asset or liability class for financial
instruments
4.9.1 Interest rate risk
The tables below show financial instrument assets and liabilities
directly and primarily exposed to interest rate risk. Due to practical
considerations, interest rate risk details contained in investments
in non-subsidiary mutual funds and investment policies are not
provided. Derivative instrument exposure to interest rates is shown
separately in note 9.5.
Accounts receivable and accounts payable are not included in the
analysis below as settlement is generally expected within 90 days.
The effect of interest rate risk on these balances is considered
insignificant given the short-term duration of the underlying cash
flows.

Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

4. Market risk (continued)
4.9 Market risk by asset or liability class for financial instruments (continued)
4.9.1 Interest rate risk (continued)
The group’s net exposure to interest rate yield curve risk is provided in the sensitivities analysis on pages 165 to 167.
Financial instrument assets by term to maturity and type of interest
(Debt instruments, collateral deposits receivable, cash and cash equivalents)
Amount by maturity date
(Rm)

Fixed

2018
Floating

Total

Fixed

2017
Floating

Total

Within 1 year
1 – 5 years
6 – 10 years
11 – 20 years
Over 20 years
Variable

12 828
11 069
14 398
11 780
18 064
202

25 503
38 509
5 773
6 653
4 423
10 381

38 331
49 578
20 171
18 433
22 487
10 583

6 759
8 915
14 378
10 597
17 735
299

27 000
27 783
8 509
8 854
657
9 196

33 759
36 698
22 887
19 451
18 392
9 495

Total

68 341

91 242

159 583

58 683

81 999

140 682

Financial instrument liabilities by term to maturity and type of interest
(Repurchase agreements liabilities, collateral deposits payable, commercial paper, subordinated notes and Liberty Two Degrees
financial liabilities)
Amount by maturity date
(Rm)
Within 1 year
1 – 5 years

2018
Fixed

Floating

Total

45

13 288

1 432

2 968
2 113

2 113

18 369

19 846

6 – 10 years
Total

2017

1 477

Fixed

Floating

13 333

1 019

8 131

9 150

4 400

1 441

2077

3 518

2 005

2 005

12 213

14 673

2 460

Total

4.9.2 Currency risk
The bulk of the group’s assets are rand denominated.
Offshore assets are held in policyholder portfolios to match the corresponding liabilities. The group is exposed to currency risk through
minimum investment return guarantees issued on contracts invested in offshore portfolios and related mismatches, 90:10 fee exposure and
management fees. In addition, some of the shareholders’ equity base is invested in offshore assets including subsidiaries in the rest of Africa.
Investment guarantees have not been offered on new business fully invested in offshore portfolios since 2005. The rand value of
management fees derived from offshore portfolios is subject to currency risk. Strengthening of the rand against the offshore currencies
reduces the rand value of management fees on offshore portfolios and increases the liability in respect of rand denominated minimum
investment return guarantees on this business. The weakening of the rand will have the opposite effect.
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4. Market risk (continued)
4.9 Market risk by asset or liability class for financial instruments (continued)
4.9.2 Currency risk (continued)
The following table shows a breakdown of Liberty’s foreign assets by currency.
Foreign currency exposure
Rm

2018

2017

United States Dollar
European Euro
Kenyan Shilling
British Pound
Japanese Yen
Hong Kong Dollar
Swaziland Elangeni
Australian Dollar
Mexican Pesos
Indonesian Rupiah
Canadian Dollar
South Korean Won
Swiss Franc
Namibia Dollar
Malaysian Ringgit
Polish Zloty
Brazilian Real
Ugandan Shilling
Danish Krone
Botswana Pula
Other

43 356
5 784
5 018
4 738
2 238
1 453
853
658
651
517
499
495
379
353
350
336
308
269
265
251
1 308

47 311
5 462
4 221
4 180
3 366
1 449
791
796
605
472
519
793
583
337
325
301
441
241
376
194
1 827

Total financial, property and insurance assets by currency (1)

70 079

74 590

(1)

It is not practical to isolate foreign currency assets contained within rand denominated mutual funds (which are not subsidiaries) and investment policies. Such indirectly held foreign
assets are hence excluded above.

4.9.3 Property market risk
The group is exposed to tenant default, depressed rental markets and unlet space within its investment property portfolio affecting property
values and rental income. The managed diversity of the property portfolio and the existence of multi-tenanted buildings significantly reduce
the exposure to this risk. At 31 December 2018 the proportion of unlet space in the property portfolio was 4% (2017: 7%).
Property market risk also arises in respect of shareholder exposures to investment guarantees and negative rand reserves as well as through
the SIP.
The group’s direct exposure to property holdings at 31 December is as follows:
Rm

2018

2017

Investment properties including operating leases accrued income
Owner-occupied properties

34 316
1 645

33 256
1 512

Gross direct exposure
Attributable to non-controlling interests

35 961
(7 884)

34 768
(7 497)

Net exposure

28 077

27 271

Concentration use risk within directly held properties is summarised below:
Shopping malls
Office buildings
Hotels
Other property

29 520
2 439
748
3 254

28 219
2 536
762
3 251

Gross direct exposure

35 961

34 768

Directly held properties have been classified according to their main value in use.
The main items in other property are shares in the Melrose Arch precinct, John Ross Eco Junction and the Sandton Convention Centre.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018

4. Market risk (continued)
4.9 Market risk by asset or liability class for financial
instruments (continued)
4.9.3 Property market risk (continued)
A portion of LGL’s exposure to property is held in listed shares in
Liberty Two Degrees Limited. To the extent that policyholders
and shareholders are invested in shares, they are exposed to the
volatility of the price at which the listed shares trade. Liberty Two
Degrees Limited is consolidated by the group and therefore its
property exposure is included in the gross direct exposure. Further
details on this transaction are set out in note 39.1.
Property exposure, including indirect exposure from mutual funds
with more than 80% invested in property assets and from equity
and debt in property companies, can be seen from the table in
section 4.7.

4.10 Derivative instrument market risk
Certain group entities are parties to contracts for derivative financial
instruments, mainly entered into as part of the dynamic hedging
strategy used to manage asset/liability mismatches and to facilitate
investment portfolio optimisation.
Instruments used to mitigate risks such as equity, interest rate and
currency risk include vanilla futures, options, swaps, swaptions and
forward exchange contracts. Derivative financial instruments give
rise to counterparty credit default risk and operational risk, both of
which are managed appropriately and discussed in sections 5 and 7
of this report.
Derivative financial instruments are either traded on a regulated
exchange, e.g. South African Futures Exchange (SAFEX), or
negotiated over-the-counter (OTC) as a direct arrangement
between two counterparties. Instruments traded on SAFEX are
margined and SAFEX is the counterparty to each transaction. OTC
instruments are only entered into with appropriately approved
counterparties in terms of signed international swap and derivative
agreements (ISDAs) and collateral support agreements (CSAs).

4.11 Diversification benefits
The group’s risk profile, and hence its capital requirements,
benefits from the fact that various risks are not 100% correlated
and as a result, it is unlikely that they crystalise simultaneously.
In measuring and monitoring the risk profile, and associated capital
requirements, allowance is made for this so-called “diversification
benefit”. Risk preferences may be adjusted from time to time to
optimise this diversification benefit. Despite this, individual risks and
the appropriateness of various models employed continue to be
carefully monitored in recognition of the fact that correlations tend
to converge to 100% in times of significant stress.

5.

Credit risk

5.1

Definition

Credit risk refers to the risk of loss or of adverse change in the
financial position resulting, directly or indirectly, from fluctuations
in the credit standing of counterparties and any debtors to which
shareholders and policyholders are exposed. Credit risk is measured
as a function of probability of default (PD), exposure at default
(EAD) and the recovery rates (RR) post a default.

5.2 Taking of credit risk
Liberty has a strong credit risk sanctioning and monitoring capability.
This capability enables Liberty to accept the risks inherent in the
credit book. These credit risks are partially a function of Liberty’s
core business activities, but also as part of a deliberate decision
by Liberty to add credit risk exposures to diversify the risks on the
balance sheet and to generate risk adjusted returns for shareholders.
Liberty prefers to take credit risk to back its long dated and relatively
illiquid liabilities due to the risk adjusted returns it is able to achieve.
Looking forward, credit risks may be exacerbated by current and
emerging macro-economic trends which may impact on the
contribution of credit risk to Liberty’s profit and loss.

5.3 Management and measurement

The group uses currency swaps to mitigate the risk of certain
changes in cash flows arising from changes in foreign currency rates
and uses hedge accounting to account for these transactions.

The board has delegated credit risk management to the group
chief executive who, in turn, has delegated this responsibility to the
GBSMC. The GBSMC has adopted and overseen the implementation
of a group credit risk policy which is largely in line with the credit
philosophy adopted by Standard Bank.

The group applies cash flow hedge accounting on qualifying
transactions. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are
recognised in the cash flow hedging reserve. The ineffective part of
any gain or loss is recognised immediately in fair value through profit
or loss. The forecast timing of the release of net cash flows from the
cash flow hedging reserve into profit or loss at 31 December is as
disclosed in note 9.6 of the annual financial statements.

Day-to-day management of credit risk has been mandated to
STANLIB Credit Alternatives Franchise which considers and, where
appropriate, approves all credit risk taken for directly managed
credit opportunities. The investment committee of STANLIB
Credit Alternatives Franchise is made up of credit professionals
with experience from the banking sector as well as independent
members in order to ensure a robust credit process and independent
decision-making.

There were no transactions for which cash flow hedge accounting
had to be discontinued in 2018 or 2017 as a result of highly probable
cash flows no longer being expected to occur.

Credit risk is subject to a robust credit analysis, review and approval
process. After origination, exposures are closely monitored and
steps taken to mitigate risks if a deterioration becomes evident.

The fair value of derivative instruments held at 31 December is
included in the held for trading and hedging categories of assets
and liabilities in note 9.6 to the group’s financial statements. Refer to
note 9.5 for the maturity analysis of net fair value by derivative type.

The Liberty group head of credit risk exercises oversight on the
activities of the asset managers managing credit risk for Liberty
under mandate.
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Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

5. Credit risk (continued)
5.3 Management and measurement (continued)
STANLIB’s independent compliance function monitors compliance
by STANLIB’s portfolio managers with credit limits set by its
investment committees and investment restrictions specified either
in client mandates or in applicable legislation, with appropriate
escalation and reporting if required. STANLIB’s credit policy meets
the requirements of the group credit risk policy.
The GBSMC and client fund control committee are responsible
for defining the credit characteristics of asset manager mandates
supported by LibFin. The GBSMC is primarily responsible for
decisions directly impacting shareholders, but does consider
the possible impact its decisions may have on policyholders. The
client fund control committee, together with representatives
from business, is primarily responsible for defining the credit
characteristics of asset manager mandates on behalf of
policyholders.
Regardless of whether the credit risk taken is for the risk and reward
of the shareholders or policyholders, Liberty recognises the need
for credit to be originated and managed within a prudent and
disciplined risk management framework. Where credit risk is for the
risk and reward of policyholders, Liberty is still exposed to indirect
consequences of the credit loss such as possible reputational
damage, legal disputes and portfolio outflows.
Credit risk originated by BUs is managed by them. BUs are
responsible for ensuring that the group credit risk policy is adopted
and that adequate systems, policies and procedures are put in place
to meet the group’s requirements.
The group risk function is responsible for oversight of all credit risk.
It establishes and defines the overall framework for the consistent
governance, identification, measurement, monitoring, management
and reporting of credit risk. Group risk also tracks concentrations
and trends that may arise in the credit portfolio.
Significant shareholder and policyholder credit exposures are
reported to GBSMC, GCROC and GRC. Shareholder exposures are
subject to individual counterparty limits set by the group.

5.4 Characteristics of credit risk exposures
Through the investment activities of mandated asset managers,
Liberty has largely been exposed to listed and more liquid credit
instruments. However, the STANLIB Credit Alternatives Franchise
mandate requires investment into illiquid credit assets, including
exposure to unlisted and structured instruments, to benefit from
higher returns and diversification. This is in line with the board
approved credit strategy and risk appetite for the business.
The continued efforts of the STANLIB Credit Alternatives Franchise,
together with the restructure of existing asset manager mandates
in line with core competencies, have resulted in a further level of
diversification and improved returns for the credit risks being taken in
the credit portfolio. While group risk remains satisfied that the credit
portfolio is sound, well positioned and within risk appetite levels, it is
recognised that loss events may occur from time to time in a credit
portfolio of this nature.
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Overall, the credit risk portfolio as at 31 December 2018 remains
heavily weighted to South African counterparties including
government, state-owned enterprises and top tier South African
banks. It also includes special purpose companies (e.g. securitisation
and structured credit) and other corporate entities. In addition, the
group is also exposed to underlying credit risk through investment in
mutual funds, Liberty Two Degrees Limited, the property portfolio
and investment policies.

5.5 Rating methodology
For the purposes of this report, standard rating classifications used
by external ratings agencies have been applied.

Rating scale
Where applicable, internal ratings are mapped to equivalent external
rating agencies’ (Moody’s, Standard and Poor's) rating scales. These
external, globally recognisable rating categories are defined below.

Investment grade
A– and above

Strong to extremely strong capacity to meet
financial commitments.

BBB

Adequate capacity to meet financial commitments,
but vulnerable to severe adverse economic
conditions.

Non-investment grade
BB

Less vulnerable in the near-term but faces major
ongoing uncertainties to adverse business, financial
and economic conditions.

Below BB

Vulnerable to adverse business, financial and
economic conditions.

The above ratings may be modified by the addition of a plus or minus
sign to show relative standing within the major rating categories.

Not rated
The group is not restricted to investing purely in rated instruments
or where counterparties are rated and accordingly invests in assets
that offer appropriate returns after an internal assessment of credit
risk. For most material investments in unrated instruments or
through unrated counterparties, internal ratings were undertaken.
However, at any one time there will always be some unrated
exposures, generally entered into through asset managers, where
the internal ratings methodology has not been applied. This does
not imply that the potential default risk is higher or lower than for
rated assets.
Due to the extent of work required to obtain or prepare a credit
rating, certain asset holdings (principally related to the consolidation
of mutual funds) do have assets with underlying ratings, however
they may be classified as not rated for practical reasons.
Exposure to prepayments, insurance and other receivables is
predominantly not rated due to the large number of counterparties
and the short period of credit exposure. This credit exposure is
managed by BUs.
The loans reflected as not rated relate to loans granted by Liberty to
policyholders, which are secured by their policies.

Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

5. Credit risk (continued)
5.5 Rating methodology (continued)
Pooled funds
The group invests in mutual funds through which it is also exposed to credit risk of the underlying assets in which the mutual funds are
invested. The group’s exposure to mutual funds is classified at fund level and not at the underlying asset level. Although mutual funds are
not rated, fund managers are required to invest in credit assets within the defined parameters stipulated in the fund’s mandate. These rules
limit the extent to which fund managers can invest in unlisted and/or unrated credit assets and generally restrict funds to the acquisition of
investment grade assets.

5.6 Credit exposure
The following table provides information regarding the aggregated credit risk exposure of the group to debt instruments categorised by
credit ratings (if available) at 31 December.
Rm

A- and
above

BBB+

BB

BB- and
below

Not
rated

2018
Debt instruments

15 514

4 248 31 637 29 429 36 088 11 121

5 523

4 944

138 504

172

47

5 912
5 037

1 738
3 738

132
186
3 175
374
1 077

3 138
296
91 781
42 212
1 077

Listed preference shares
Unlisted preference shares
Listed term deposits
Unlisted term deposits
Loans

2 639
11 665
1 210

Mutual funds – interest-bearing
instruments
Investment policies
Reinsurance assets
1 654
Derivatives and collateral deposits
receivable
2 508
Prepayments, insurance and
514
other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
3 782

BBB

BBB-

BB+

54

9
1
84
110
1 755 15 034 19 233 33 269
2 439 16 484 10 195 2 735

35

8 208

284

2 551

1 398

82
452

29
4 155

395
5 712

1 254
430
3 572
14

2 316

384

Pooled
funds

Total

17 338

17 338
9 462
2 119

27

10 340

3 933
159

4 953
16 974

Total assets bearing credit risk 23 972

5 066 38 407 45 142 36 102 17 009

5 907 10 747 17 338 199 690

13 874
10 098

4 248 37 450 41 703 33 675 15 043
818
957 3 439 2 427 1 966

4 024
1 883

6 154 13 342 169 513
4 593 3 996 30 177

8 349

1 238 33 124 28 299 24 944 20 704

5 048

1 989

123 695

13

1
47
158
136
4
1 103 26 206 17 449 19 423 10 466
135 6 918 10 713 5 467 10 080
3

29

153
175
219
223
1 219

401
315
83 705
38 052
1 222

Local
Foreign
2017
Debt instruments
Listed preference shares
Unlisted preference shares
Listed term deposits
Unlisted term deposits
Loans

4 976
3 360

3 863
1 156

Mutual funds – interest-bearing
instruments
Investment policies
Reinsurance assets
1 339
Derivatives and collateral deposits
receivable
1 802
Prepayments, insurance and
other receivables
620
Cash and cash equivalents
2 940

4 087

128

Total assets bearing credit risk 15 050

3 112 34 105 45 425 24 965 27 822

5 364

8 731 22 174 186 748

7 808
7 242

1 942 33 682 43 205 19 939 25 950
1 170
423 2 220 5 026 1 872

3 892
1 472

6 597 18 640 161 655
2 134 3 534 25 093

Local
Foreign

8 498

21

28

5

160

329

2 544

4

66
1 627

30
594

485
5 599

12

188
3 031

1 206
193

22 174

22 174
9 704
1 774

1

7 871

5 148
194

6 361
15 169
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Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

5. Credit risk (continued)

6.

Liquidity risk

5.7

6.1

Definition

Reinsurance assets

Reinsurance is used to manage insurance risk and consequently
reinsurance assets are raised for expected recoveries on projected
claims. This does not, however, discharge the group’s liability as
primary insurer. In addition, reinsurance debtors are raised for
specific recoveries on claims recognised.
A detailed credit analysis is conducted prior to the appointment
of reinsurers. Cognisance is also taken of the potential future
claims on reinsurers in the assessment process. Financial strength,
performance, track record, relative size, ranking within the industry
and credit ratings of reinsurers are taken into account when
determining the allocation of business to reinsurers. In addition
efforts are made to appropriately diversify exposure by using several
reinsurers. A review of these reinsurers is done at least annually.

5.8 Derivatives
A detailed credit analysis of all LibFin over-the-counter derivative
counterparties is performed and approved by the STANLIB Credit
Alternatives Investment Committee prior to any trading taking
place. In principle, trading is limited to:
• Financial institution counterparties with a strong credit rating;
and
• Financial institutions where Liberty has negotiated international
swap and derivative agreements (ISDAs) and Credit Support
Annexures (CSAs) with a zero threshold. Refer to note 9.4
Offsetting for details.
Wherever possible exchange traded derivatives are entered into
by Liberty, or by agents acting for Liberty, as these offer Liberty
protection through the exchanges’ margining and settlement
processes.
Derivative contracts are only entered into in accordance with
applicable legislation.

5.9 Insurance and other receivables
The group has formalised procedures in place to collect or recover
amounts receivable. In the event of default, these procedures
include industry supported lists that help to prevent rogue agents,
brokers and intermediaries from conducting further business. Full
impairment is made for non-recoverability as soon as management
is uncertain as to the recovery.
Investment debtors are protected by the security of the underlying
investment not being transferred to the purchaser prior to payment.
Established broker relationships and protection afforded through
the rules and directives of the JSE Limited further reduce credit risk.

5.10 Capital requirements
The capital requirements allow for credit risk by increasing the
current risk spreads on the assets proportionally by a specified
amount assumed to occur in a severe credit risk event.
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Liquidity risk is the risk that a legal entity cannot maintain or
generate sufficient cash resources to meet its payment obligations
in full as they fall due, or can only do so at an unsustainable cost or at
materially disadvantageous terms.
The group is exposed to liquidity risk in the event of heightened
benefit withdrawals and risk claims where backing assets cannot
be readily monetised. Liquidity risk also arises through collateral and
margin calls related to derivative transactions used to hedge asset/
liability matching risks.

6.2 Ownership and accountability
The group’s liquidity risk policy defines a unified governance
structure and common principles of managing liquidity risk across
the group and is approved by the GCROC. The policy, including
requirements in respect of risk metrics and contingency planning,
is implemented under the oversight of the group liquidity risk
function.
ALCO is charged with ensuring that liquidity risk remains within
approved tolerance levels. The management of material liquidity
risks of the group, which predominantly emanate from LGL, is
delegated to LibFin.

6.3 Risk identification, assessment and measurement
The group’s approach to measuring liquidity risk is aligned to
international best practice standards. Risk identification applies
to liquidity requirements that are known in advance as well as to
unknown liquidity requirements that are typically contingent on the
occurrence of another event.
The identification of contingent liquidity requirements typically
necessitates an assessment and evaluation of relevant liabilities
as well as new and existing product designs. Group risk is actively
involved in reviewing new product designs to ensure a thorough
understanding of the liquidity risk implications of each product. The
GBSMC is required to approve any instances where new products are
anticipated to introduce material liquidity risk onto the balance sheet.
Liquidity risk is primarily measured by means of a Liquidity Coverage
Ratio (LCR). The LCR models 30-day and one-year liquidity stresses
(relating to sustained cash outflows as a result of severe lapse,
mortality and morbidity catastrophes, as well as financial market
shocks) by comparing stressed net cash outflow requirements to
available sources of high quality liquid assets, held as part of a liquid
asset buffer. The liquid asset buffer consists of eligible asset types
chosen based on their proven ability to generate liquidity under
both normal and significantly stressed market conditions.
The liquid asset buffer is comprised of various liquid assets that take
into consideration factors such as price volatility, sufficient quantum,
diversity of assets, as well as time and cost to liquidate.
The LCR at 31 December 2018 indicates a healthy surplus of sources
of liquidity available to meet stressed outflows across the LGL
balance sheet.

Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

6. Liquidity risk (continued)
6.4 Risk management

and evaluate risk factors that may give rise to a liquidity risk event.
These indicators are monitored per specified frequencies and
tolerance levels.

LibFin manages the group’s material liquidity risks in accordance
with applicable regulations and the Liquidity Risk Strategy, as
approved by the GBSMC. The risk is managed within approved risk
limits and with oversight from group risk.

The EWI process and liquidity contingency plan have a clear
response strategy that increases the likelihood that management
will be able to respond appropriately to mitigate any material
potential liquidity impact in advance of an event.

Liquidity risk arising from contractual agreements and policyholder
behaviour is primarily managed by matching liabilities with backing
assets that are of similar maturity, cash flow profile and risk nature.
A variety of tools are available to LibFin to manage remaining cash
flow mismatches (which include collateral and margin calls as a result
of market moves from derivative trades used to match liabilities).
These tools enable non-cash liquid assets, held in the liquid asset
buffer, to be easily converted into cash.
Where the group purchases backing assets that have predictable
cash flow profiles, but which give rise to structural liquidity
mismatches between projected cash inflows and outflows, the
liquidity position is actively managed to prevent any undue future
liquidity strains.
In addition to the active management of liquidity risk, a liquidity
contingency plan has been approved by the ALCO and serves
as a pre-approved action plan to be executed during a liquidity
stress event. The liquidity contingency plan is designed to protect
stakeholder interests and provide confidence that the group can
meet its liquidity requirements in a time of crisis.
The liquidity contingency plan includes an early warning indicator
(EWI) process. The EWI process defines insurer-specific indicators
that are monitored to enable management to pro-actively identify

6.5 Risk reporting
Liquidity risk reports are produced daily and are used to help
manage liquidity risk. Detailed reporting is provided to the ALCO
with additional reporting being provided to both the GCROC and
the GRC on a quarterly basis.

6.6 Liquidity profile of assets
The majority of Liberty’s assets match its liabilities from a liquidity
perspective, including both investment-linked business and
investment guarantees.
For certain long-term liabilities, such as life annuities, Liberty has
consciously invested in less liquid assets such as unlisted credit,
which aim to match the duration of the underlying liability’s
expected cash flow profile, in order to enhance returns and achieve
diversification benefits.
In the case of unlisted property assets backing property liabilities,
it is not always practical to realise assets as claim payments arise,
due to the relatively small number of high-value properties and
their illiquid nature. For this reason, property exposures are afforded
specific attention by the Property Investment Executive committee
(PIE) and orderly sales and purchases are managed within the
mandate approved by the GBSMC.

The table below breaks down the group’s assets according to time to liquidate. It is worth noting that, in a stressed environment, the market
value of these assets is likely to be negatively affected.
Financial, property and insurance asset liquidity
Liquid assets (realisable within one month e.g. cash, listed equities,
term deposits)
Medium assets (realisable within six months e.g. unlisted equities, certain
unlisted term deposits)
Illiquid assets (realisable in excess of six months e.g. investment properties
and policyholder assets)
Total

2018
%

Rm

2017
%

Rm

74

321 472

76

333 857

16

67 279

14

63 590

10

44 788

10

44 026

100

433 539

100

441 473

6.7 Liability profile
Liberty projects both expected and stressed cash flow profiles of its liabilities, and ensures that sufficient liquid assets are held to meet its
liquidity requirements.
Liquidity risk arises mainly as a result of changes to expected lapse, mortality and longevity experience relative to assumptions, client
disinvestment from investment portfolios housing illiquid assets and market moves that result in margin and collateral calls.
Policy terms and conditions limit the extent of Liberty’s liquidity exposure by applying notice periods for large disinvestments and restricting
claims to the value at which assets are realised in the event of sale.
The tables below illustrate the maturity profile of the group’s financial instrument liabilities and the expected liability cash flows arising out
of long-term insurance and investment contracts. Note 20 of the annual financial statements shows the anticipated settlement profile of
short-term insurance liabilities on a best estimate basis.
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Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

6. Liquidity risk (continued)
6.7 Liability profile (continued)
6.7.1 Maturity profile of financial instrument liabilities
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the financial instrument liabilities of the group based on the remaining undiscounted
contractual obligations. These figures will be higher than amounts disclosed in the statement of financial position (where the effect of
discounting is taken into account) except for short duration liabilities. Policyholder liabilities under investment contracts, investment
contracts with DPF and insurance contracts are shown in a separate table below. Derivative financial instrument liabilities are shown in a
separate table in note 9.5.
Contractual cash flows (excluding policyholder liabilities
and derivative liabilities)
4 – 12
0 to 3
months 1 – 5 years 6 – 10 years Variable
Total
months(1)

Rm
2018
Subordinated notes
Commercial paper
Redeemable preference shares(2)
Liberty Two Degrees financial liabilities
Third-party financial liabilities arising on consolidation
of mutual funds
Repurchase agreements liabilities
Collateral deposits payable
Insurance and other payables
Total

173
811

378

4 972

745

1 573

5
48 186
649
347

54

2

71 849

2 119

6 599

2 400

87

2

8

3

100

120

1 343

3 995

2 224

7 682
5

2017
Subordinated notes
Redeemable preference shares(2)
Third-party financial liabilities arising on consolidation of
mutual funds
Repurchase agreements liabilities
Collateral deposits payable
Insurance and other payables

49 713
3 582
4 426
11 756

Total

5 784
5 976
11 971
5

5

149

1 006

196

41

2

69 597

1 688

5 042

2 226

89

2

6

3

Percentage portion (%)
(1)

0 – 3 months are either due within the time frame or are payable on demand.

(2)

No fixed maturity date, however, redeemable with a two year notice period at the instance of the company or the holder.

6.7.2 Expected cash flows from long-term insurance
business
The tables below give an indication of liquidity needs in respect
of cash flows required to meet obligations arising from long-term
insurance business.
The amounts in the investment-linked liabilities cash flow table
represent the expected cash flows arising from the value of units,
allowing for future premiums (excluding future non-contractual
premium increases), growth, benefit payments and expected
policyholder behaviour. The amounts in the non-investment-linked
liability cash flow table represent the expected cash flows from the
non-investment-linked liabilities.
Undiscounted cash flows are shown and the effect of discounting
is taken into account to reconcile to total liabilities and assets. For
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7 921
811
5
2 318
48 186

5 135
5 976
11 568

Percentage portion (%)

160

2 398

82 972

49 713
4 737
4 426
11 995
5

78 558
100

investment-linked contracts, the cash flows relating to the DPF
portion are assumed to occur in proportion to the cash flows of the
guaranteed units. The cash flows for the guaranteed element and
the non-guaranteed element of insurance contracts with DPF have
been combined and are included in the investment-linked cash flow
table.
In respect of annually-renewable risk business (namely lump sum
group risk business, group disability income business and credit life
business) no allowance has been made for the expected cash flows
except in respect of incurred but not reported claims (IBNR) and
disability income annuities in payment where applicable.
The liabilities in respect of embedded derivatives are assumed to
run off in the same proportion as the investment-linked cash flows
that give rise to them.

Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

6. Liquidity risk (continued)
6.7 Liability profile (continued)
6.7.2 Expected cash flows from long-term insurance business (continued)
Insurance contracts

Expected cash flows (Rm)
2018
Investment-linked liabilities
Within 1 year
1 – 5 years
6 – 10 years
11 – 20 years
Over 20 years

Policyholder
liabilities

Policyholder
assets

Reinsurance
assets and
liabilities

15 569
57 136
14 770
32 979
35 851

Total investment-linked liabilities

156 305

Non-investment-linked liabilities/(assets)
Within 1 year
1 – 5 years
6 – 10 years
11 – 20 years
Over 20 years
Effect of discounting cash flows

5 187
22 887
14 470
25 814
61 980
(85 899)

226
(314)
1 004
1 785
7 736
10 437
(2 332)
(6 416)
(3 548)
3 063
62 905
(60 380)

(349)
(701)
(633)
(586)
969
(116)

44 439

(6 708)

(1 416)

Total long-term insurance policyholder liabilities/
(assets)

200 744

(6 708)

(1 416)

Total surrender value of long-term insurance
policyholder liabilities

Total non-investment-linked liabilities/(assets)

Investment
contracts
with DPF

Investment
contracts

4 679
8 251
8 057
20 633
55 346
96 966
584
1 266
2 054
30
36
(1 123)
2 847

10 437

99 813

166 589

10 405

99 545

19 299
63 806
15 890
36 105
33 014

493
125
969
2 159
8 099

6 226
9 026
9 943
21 373
51 204

Total investment-linked liabilities

168 114

11 845

97 772

Non-investment-linked liabilities/(assets)
Within 1 year
1 – 5 years
6 – 10 years
11 – 20 years
Over 20 years
Effect of discounting cash flows

5 308
19 287
13 671
26 070
65 667
(87 563)

Expected cash flows (Rm)
2017
Investment-linked liabilities
Within 1 year
1 – 5 years
6 – 10 years
11 – 20 years
Over 20 years

(2 506)
(6 690)
(3 889)
2 604
66 130
(63 133)

(169)
(218)
(294)
(613)
(2 655)
3 131

42 440

(7 484)

(818)

Total long-term insurance business liabilities/
(assets)

210 554

(7 484)

(818)

Total surrender value of long-term insurance
policyholder liabilities

176 459

Total non-investment-linked liabilities/(assets)

571
1 239
2 041
40
44
(1 188)
2 747
11 845

100 519

11 852

100 157
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6. Liquidity risk (continued)
6.8 Capital requirements

7.3

The group’s view is that liquidity risk is more appropriately managed
by means of a sophisticated liquidity risk management framework
such as that outlined above rather than by holding additional
capital. Holding a large amount of capital may provide only a small
buffer to an extreme liquidity event where assets and liabilities are
not well matched. It is much more effective to hold a liquid asset
buffer (which may come as an opportunity cost) to ensure sufficient
liquidity in a stressed event.

A comprehensive short-term insurance programme is in place
which addresses the diversified requirements of the group. The
programme includes the following cover:

As Liberty is a subsidiary of Standard Bank Group Limited, it is also
included in the group wide liquidity risk stress testing and planning
undertaken by Standard Bank.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

7.

Operational risk

7.4

7.1

Definition

Liberty defines operational risk as the risk of loss arising from
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events.
Whilst the definition includes business conduct risk and compliance
and legal risk, these receive additional focus and are hence
considered as separate risk categories within Liberty. Operational
risk excludes risks arising from strategic decisions. Technology,
cyber, data and information risks are material components of
operational risk.
Operational risk is recognised as a distinct risk category which
the group strives to manage within acceptable levels through
sound operational risk management practices which are regularly
reviewed and enhanced.
Liberty also operates a robust business continuity capability which is
considered a key component of managing operational risk.

7.2

Approach to managing operational risk

Operational risk exists in the natural course of business activities. The
approach to managing operational risk recognises that it is neither
possible nor commercially viable to eliminate all operational risk and
hence applies fit-for-purpose mitigation practices to achieve an
optimal operational risk profile. Operational risk is not typically taken
in exchange for reward, however, management thereof seeks as far
as possible to limit any negative financial, reputational, customer,
staff and regulatory impact.
The operational risk policy is aligned to the group’s risk management
framework and sets out minimum requirements for identification,
assessment, management, monitoring and reporting of operational
risk. This is achieved through conducting self-assessments,
measuring and monitoring key indicators and managing operational
risk loss events (including near misses).
Management and oversight of operational risk is the responsibility of
every BU and first-line team. They are supported by various specialist,
BU and group operational risk teams. The group operational risk
function is independent from business line management and is part
of the second line of defence reporting to the group CRO.
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Insurance cover for operational risk

Directors and officers liability
Crime and professional indemnity
Cyber
Public liability
All risks for assets
Motor fleet
Fidelity cover for retirement funds and trustees.

Capital requirements

An allowance for operational risk is made in the calculation of the
SCR.

7.5

Reporting

The preparation of quarterly risk reports forms an integral part of
monitoring the group’s overall operational risk profile. The content
of reports is subject to robust review and challenge through the
group operational risk committee, GCROC and GRC.
Operational risk reports include information relating to:
•
•
•
•
•

Key operational risks
Risk and control assessments
Material operational risk incidents
Key indicators
Control environment.

7.6

Key operational risks for 2018

Operational risk management is a high priority for Liberty.
Complexity is a key causal factor for operational risks. A number of
ongoing technology and process initiatives are in place to reduce
complexity and streamline systems and processes. The following
were deemed to be the key risks for 2018:
Operational process risk
Operational process risk, specifically related to risk in operational
transaction processes that may impact service to customers, is an
area of key focus and monitored continuously through various risk
and control practices. Operational process risk incidents are dealt
with speedily to ensure limited customer impact.
Compliance and legal risk
This is the risk of loss, including legal or regulatory sanctions or
damage to reputation resulting from: the failure to comply with
relevant legal, statutory, supervisory or regulatory requirements;
inadequacy, inaccuracy or absence of written agreements; or any
type of financial crime.
Compliance exposure assessments are carried out within the BUs
with oversight from the group compliance function to provide
the board with assurance on the status of compliance within the
organisation.

Risk management (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

7. Operational risk (continued)
7.6

Key operational risks for 2018 (continued)

Liberty seeks positive and constructive engagement with its
regulators and policymakers, both directly and through appropriate
participation in industry forums, to partner with them in ensuring
optimal regulatory outcomes for the industry and all its stakeholders.
Information security risk (including cyber risk)
Liberty defines information security risk as the risk of intentional
and/or unauthorised use, modification, disclosure or destruction of
information resources, which would compromise the confidentiality,
integrity or availability of information. The global cyber risk threat is
dynamic and continuously changing.
Liberty was subject to an incident of illegal and unauthorised
access to its IT infrastructure during 2018. In addition to the regular
group-wide assessments conducted, Liberty undertook extensive
assessment of the cyber landscape and position with specific focus
on data, technology, infrastructure and defence. Identified cyber
resilience gaps and opportunities were used to further develop and
update the cyber resilience strategy, framework and roadmap for
implementation. The current cyber resilience capability is part of
broader organisational capabilities including, but not limited to, an
information security structure, a privacy office, data and information
management and governance structures as well as relevant
network, infrastructure and application monitoring processes. In
addition, Liberty has access to holding company Standard Bank
Group Limited’s capabilities.
Information Technology risk
Information Technology risk refers to the risk associated with the
use, ownership, operation, involvement, influence and adoption of
information and technology within the group.
The group is highly dependent on and constantly increasing its
use of information and technology to ensure improved operations
and customer service. Increasing legal and regulatory compliance
requirements, and the importance of IT in enabling such compliance,
heightens the importance of managing information and technology
operations within an acceptable risk profile.
Risks are effectively managed through the three lines of defence
approach, with a specific IT risk and compliance function in place
to ensure adequate focus on this key risk. These risks are mitigated
through various controls, which are implemented and closely
monitored by management. The group continuously invests in
its systems and processes to ensure that its customers are well
protected. Actions to reduce the likelihood of risks materialising
are identified and accountabilities for remediation are driven by
management.

third party service providers. The head of business conduct risk is
responsible for embedding the board approved business conduct
risk policy and providing the second line of assurance for this risk
type. All risks that may influence the customer outcome across the
value chain are being dealt with as part of this risk type, including
aspects such as product design, approval of marketing material,
policyholder investment performance, customer complaints and
claims management.
The group customer fairness committee, supported by customer
fairness committees in each BU, assist in achieving fair outcomes for
all Liberty’s customers.
Liberty supports the steps taken by National Treasury, the Financial
Sector Conduct Authority and industry body Association for Savings
and Investment South Africa (ASISA) to improve the outcomes
for all financial customers and will continue to work with them to
achieve this.
Financial crime risk
This is defined as the risk of economic loss, reputational impact and
regulatory sanction arising from any type of financial crime against
the group. Financial crime includes fraud, theft, money laundering,
violent/cyber-crime, bribery, corruption, collusion and misconduct
by staff, customers, suppliers, business partners, stakeholders and
third parties.
Financial crime risk is managed through a combination of
specialist group-wide forensics and compliance capabilities and
by strengthening the risk culture to pro-actively mitigate risks and
manage incidents. Focus is placed on ensuring robust prevention
and detection controls are in place and are continuously enhanced
based on internal and external trends.
People risk
People risk is defined as the risk of loss arising from inadequate
practices for the recruitment, development, management and/
or retention of employees and contractors. It also includes the
risk of loss due to insufficient people capacity, capabilities and/or
inappropriate behaviour.
The group continues to place significant focus on its people,
specifically through the review of the organisational structure
undertaken in the latter part of 2018. There are processes in place
to continuously assess (through surveys, employee engagement
and research) and enhance policies and practices employed to
ensure that suitable people are attached to roles and there is
sufficient support for them to perform and grow. The availability of
appropriately qualified and skilled individuals in the market remains
a challenge. Liberty has initiatives in place to continue building this
skills base internally by ensuring robust development plans and
opportunities for individuals.

Business conduct risk
Within Liberty, business conduct risk has evolved to not only
include the risk of delivering poor outcomes to customers, but also
the risk of loss caused by the behaviour of employees, advisors or
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8.

Concentration risk

8.1

Introduction

Concentration risk is the risk that the group is exposed to financial loss which, if incurred, would be significant due to the aggregate
(concentration) exposure the group has to a particular asset, counterparty, customer or service provider.
In addition to concentration risks detailed in previous sections, the group has identified the risks detailed below.

8.2 Standard Bank risk concentration
Standard Bank Group Limited is Liberty Holdings Limited’s holding company. Normal credit processes are followed before any asset
exposure is entered into with Standard Bank.
The following table summarises the group’s exposure to Standard Bank for each applicable asset category:
2018
Overall group
Exposure to
investment Standard Bank

Rm
Equity instruments
Debt instruments
Cash and cash equivalents
Derivative assets(1)
Collateral deposits receivable

109 855
138 504
16 974
6 235
4 105

3 687
11 295
5 875
1 228
1 293

Total

275 673

23 378

Derivative liabilities(1)
(1)

(8 456)

(1 758)

2017
Overall group Exposure to
%
investment Standard Bank
3,4
8,2
34,6
19,7
31,5

135 037
123 695
15 169
6 053
1 818

3 166
11 443
5 174
1 499
486

8,5

281 772

21 768

20,8

(6 311)

(1 573)

%
2,3
9,3
34,1
24,8
26,7
7,7
24,9

Due to netting agreements in place with Standard Bank Group Limited, the group’s exposure is limited to the net asset/liability value.

In the ordinary course of business the group invests in various mutual funds which in turn may have some exposure to Standard Bank. The
group does not control these mutual funds. Consequently, it has not been deemed necessary to quantify the aggregate Standard Bank
exposure in each mutual fund.

8.3 Asset manager allocation
The group engages the services of the following asset managers who manage assets on its behalf:
2018
%
STANLIB (subsidiary)
Self-managed including LibFin business unit
Other
(1)

Total financial, property and insurance assets
(1)

Rm

2017
%

Rm

74
17
9

320 937
74 558
38 044

77
15
8

337 874
66 701
36 898

100

433 539

100

441 473

This includes assets managed by other asset managers utilising STANLIB Linked Investment Services Provider platform.

Risks associated with asset managers are:
•
•
•
•

poor fund performance resulting in the reduced ability of the group to retain and sell investment-linked products;
adoption of poor credit policies exposing the group to undue credit risk;
inadequate ability to manage the relationship between the return on risk capital for the risk being taken at a granular level; and
illiquidity of instruments invested in which could result in value destruction should these investments need to be realised in the shortterm.

These aspects are considered and monitored by the client fund control committee and the GBSMC.

8.4 South Africa
The group was founded in South Africa over 60 years ago and has, during this time, concentrated mainly on providing risk and investment
products to South African customers. Consequently both the group’s asset base and liabilities contain significant South African sovereign
risk.
Section 4.9.2 and note 26.1 to the annual financial statements summarise the exposures to foreign currency and indicate the rand
concentration risk.
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9.

Sensitivity analysis

The group’s earnings and available capital are exposed to insurance
and market risks amongst others through its insurance and asset
management operations. Assumptions are made in respect of the
market and insurance risks in the measurement of policyholder
contract values. This section provides sensitivity analyses to
changes in some of these variables.

The table below provides a description of the sensitivities provided
on market risk assumptions.

The sensitivities presented are calculated at a point in time and
applied consistently across the financial position of the group.
It should however be noted that in many cases changes to certain
economic or policyholder behaviour assumptions do not result in
linear impacts to policyholder contract values and are not always
consistent in the direction of impact to ordinary shareholders’
equity. For example, increases to withdrawal rates may reduce
ordinary shareholders’ equity for investment products, but increase
it for certain sub-sets of risk products. The group follows a dynamic
asset/liability matching strategy (within the risk appetite constraints
set by the board). The nature of the exposures and associated
hedging instruments lead to non-linear sensitivity impacts. Caution
is therefore advised in interpreting these sensitivity disclosures in
earnings or capital resilience analyses.
The upper and lower sensitivities chosen reflect management’s
judgement of a reasonably likely annual possible change in
the respective variable on a through the economic cycle basis.
The sensitivity analysis does not cover extreme or irregular events
that may occur, but extreme sensitivities are considered by the GRC
and are used in the calculation of capital requirements.
The table below provides a description of the sensitivities that are
provided on insurance risk assumptions.

Insurance risk
variable

Description of sensitivity

Assurance mortality

A level percentage change in the
expected future mortality rates on
assurance contracts

Annuitant longevity

A level percentage change in the
expected future mortality rates on
annuity contracts

Morbidity

A level percentage change in the
expected future morbidity rates

Withdrawal

A level percentage change in the
expected future withdrawal rates

Expense per policy

A level percentage change in the
expected maintenance expenses

Insurance risk sensitivities are applied as a proportional percentage
change to the assumptions made in the measurement of
policyholder contract values.

Market risk variable

Description of sensitivity

Interest rate yield
curve

A parallel shift in the interest rate
yield curve

Implied option
volatilities

A change in the implied short-term
equity, property and interest rate
option volatility assumptions

Equity price

A change in local and foreign equity
prices

Rand currency

A change in the ZAR exchange rate to
all applicable currencies

Sensitivities on expected taxation and on long-term expense
inflation assumptions have not been provided.
The equity price and rand currency sensitivities are applied as an
instantaneous event at the financial position date with no change
to long-term market assumptions used in the measurement
of policyholder contract values. In other words, the assets are
instantaneously impacted by the sensitivity on the financial position
date. The new asset levels are applied to the measurement of
policyholder contract values, where applicable, but no changes are
made to the prospective assumptions used in the measurement
of policyholder contract values. The interest rate yield curve and
implied option volatility sensitivities are applied similarly but the
assumptions used in the measurement of policyholder contract
values that are dependent on interest rate yield curves and implied
option volatilities are updated.
Over a reporting period, assets are expected to earn a return
consistent with the long-term assumptions used in the
measurement of policyholder contract values. The instantaneous
sensitivities applied at the financial position date show the impacts
of deviations from these long-term assumptions (e.g. the increase
in the equity price sensitivity shows the impact of assets earning
the sensitivity amount in excess of the long-term equity return
assumption).
The market sensitivities are applied to all assets held by the group
(and not just assets backing the policyholder contract values). Each
sensitivity is applied in isolation with all other assumptions left
unchanged.
The table below summarises the impact of the change in the
above risk variables on policyholder contract values and on
ordinary shareholders’ equity and attributable profit after taxation.
The market risk sensitivities are net of risk mitigation activities as
described in the market risk section. Consequently the comparability
to the previous year is impacted by the level of risk mitigation at the
respective financial position dates.
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9. Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Assumption description
Rm

Gross of reinsurance
impact on
Change in variable
policyholder
%
contract values

2018
Insurance assumptions
Mortality
Assured lives
Annuitant longevity
Morbidity
Withdrawals
Expense per policy

Net of reinsurance Impact on ordinary
impact on shareholders’ equity
policyholder
and attributable
contract values profit after taxation

+2
–2
+4(1)
–4(2)
+5
–5
+8
–8
+5
–5

464
(466)
392
(375)
764
(759)
502
(543)
420
(420)

379
(380)
392
(375)
628
(625)
509
(552)
420
(420)

(273)
274
(282)
270
(452)
450
(366)
396
(305)
305

+12
–12
+20
-20
+15
–15
+12(3)
–12(4)

(6 119)
7 540
61
(45)
21 810
(21 853)
(5 924)
5 940

(6 162)
7 573
61
(45)
21 810
(21 853)
(5 924)
5 940

(357)
239
(21)
11
1 528
(1 481)
(563)
681

Market assumptions
Interest rate yield curve
Option price volatilities
Equity prices
Rand exchange rates

(1)

Annuitant life expectancy increases i.e. annuitant mortality reduces.

(2)

Annuitant life expectancy reduces i.e. annuitant mortality increases.

(3)

Strengthening of the rand.

(4)

Weakening of the rand.
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9. Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Assumption description
Rm

Change in variable
%

2017
Insurance assumptions
Mortality
Assured lives
Annuitant longevity
Morbidity
Withdrawals
Expense per policy

Gross of
reinsurance
impact on
policyholder
contract values

Net of
reinsurance
impact on
policyholder
contract values

Impact on
ordinary
shareholders’
equity and
attributable profit
after taxation

+2
–2
+4(1)
–4(2)
+5
–5
+8
–8
+5
–5

434
(436)
390
(374)
662
(661)
528
(571)
389
(389)

361
(362)
390
(374)
562
(561)
512
(554)
389
(389)

(260)
261
(281)
269
(405)
404
(369)
399
(282)
282

+12
–12
+20
-20
+15
–15
+12(3)
–12(4)

(5 267)
6 567
16
6
23 398
(22 696)
(5 402)
5 394

(5 236)
6 541
16
6
23 397
(22 696)
(5 402)
5 394

(274)
168
(11)
(4)
1 948
(1 978)
(630)
643

Market assumptions
Interest rate yield curve
Option price volatilities
Equity prices
Rand exchange rates

(1)

Annuitant life expectancy increases i.e. annuitant mortality reduces.

(2)

Annuitant life expectancy reduces i.e. annuitant mortality increases.

(3)

Strengthening of the rand.

(4)

Weakening of the rand.
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Independent auditor’s report
for the year ended 31 December 2018

To the Shareholders of Liberty Holdings Limited

Report on the audit of the separate financial statements
Our opinion

Basis for opinion

In our opinion, the separate financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the separate financial position of Liberty
Holdings Limited (the Company) as at 31 December 2018, its
separate financial performance and its separate cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act
of South Africa.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
separate financial statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Independence

What we have audited

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional
Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other
independence requirements applicable to performing audits of
financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and
in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to
performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B).

Liberty Holdings Limited’s separate financial statements set out on
pages 173 to 194 and 195 to 221, comprise:
• the separate statement
31 December 2018;

of

financial

position

as

at

• the separate statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;
• the separate statement of changes in company shareholders’
funds for the year then ended;
• the separate statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and
• the notes to the separate financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the separate financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the separate financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Disclosure and valuation of investments in certain
subsidiaries as held for sale in terms of IFRS 5

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, an evaluation of
management’s classification of the investments in subsidiaries as
held for sale. This evaluation included the following:

Refer to note 10 in the financial statements.
At year-end, management concluded that interests in certain
subsidiaries will be accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 –
Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
(IFRS 5).

•

evaluating whether the investments meet the IFRS 5 definition
of held for sale and the sale is highly probable by agreeing this
to signed sales agreements and management’s approval of
the sales, and

The application of IFRS 5 is significant to our audit because the
assessment of the classification is complex, the transaction and
its accounting is non-routine and involves significant management
judgements. These judgements include, amongst others:

•

assessing whether the valuation of the investments classified
as held for sale are at the lower of the carrying amount and
fair value less cost to sell by comparing the carrying amount of
the investments in subsidiaries to the agreed sales amounts
per the contracts.

•

the date of classification of the non-current assets as held
for sale,

•

whether the classification
discontinued operations,

•

the valuation of the assets of the investments held for sale, and

•

the disclosure with regard to the determination of fair value
less costs to sell.
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of

In addition we considered management’s judgement applied as to
whether these investments meet the definition of discontinued
operations and found this to be reasonable.
With the assistance of our technical accounting specialists,
we reviewed the financial statement disclosures against the
requirements of IFRS 5 noting no exceptions.

Independent auditor’s report (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We evaluated management’s assessment of sufficient taxable
In the current year, the Company recognised a net deferred tax asset profits against which the unused tax losses can be utilised in future
of R83 million on the statement of financial position to the extent periods for reasonableness.
that future profits will be available and the deferred tax asset can be To support the recognition of the deferred tax assets we compared
utilised.
management’s assessment with approved business plans and
Deferred taxation (Refer to note 6 in the financial statements)

Management considered a number of factors including whether
there will be sufficient taxable profits and the sale of certain
operating subsidiaries of the Company in future periods to support
the recognition of the deferred tax asset.

forecasts and found this to be reasonable.

We reviewed management’s projections of future taxable profits,
which assumes an appropriate growth on future taxable income
over the next four years. In addition, the estimated taxable capital
The recognition of the deferred tax asset is considered to be a matter gains from the disposal groups identified in note 25 of the financial
of most significance to the current year audit due to the judgment statements justified the deferred tax asset recognised.
applied by management in assessing the probability of the realisation Our tax specialists discussed with management the tax
of these deferred tax assets in future.
positions taken and in corroboration read communications from
taxation authorities.
We also assessed management’s utilisation of a portion of the
deferred tax asset during the current year and concur with
their assessment.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Liberty
Holdings Limited Annual financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018 that includes the Directors’ Report, the Audit
Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s Compliance
Certificate as required by the Companies Act of South Africa,
which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and
the other sections of the Liberty Holdings Limited Integrated report,
which is expected to be made available to us after that date. Other
information does not include the and separate financial statements
and our auditor’s reports thereon.
Our opinion on the separate financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not and will not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the separate financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the separate financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information
that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the separate
financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the separate financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of separate financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the separate financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group and the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group
and/or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the separate
financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the separate financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these separate financial
statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
separate financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s internal
control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the separate financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group and / or Company to cease to
continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the separate financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the separate financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the separate financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory
requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette
Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of Liberty
Holdings Limited for 22 years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: A. du Preez
Registered Auditor
Johannesburg

28 February 2019

Key judgements in applying assumptions on application of
accounting policies
for the year ended 31 December 2018
Key assumptions can materially affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities. The assumptions require complex
management judgements and are therefore continually evaluated.
They are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. The following key assumptions are
considered material assumptions applied in preparing these annual
financial statements.

Application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
Classification and measurement of financial instruments: IFRS 9 was
applicable for years commencing 1 January 2018. The classification
of financial assets depends on the business model applicable
to managing those assets. No judgement is applied for equity
instruments as they are measured at fair value through profit or
loss (default). At the date of transition to IFRS 9, Cash and cash
equivalents, Intercompany loans and Other receivables meet the
criteria to be classified at amortised cost within Liberty Holdings
Limited company.

Impairment of intergroup balances
The expected credit loss model is used to calculate impairment
provisions for assets held at amortised cost, which includes
intergroup loan balances. A key judgment is the expected credit
loss rate for intergroup loans. Management are of the opinion
that the loss given default is low and repayment terms of loans
to subsidiaries are dictated by the holding company. Refer to
note 5.3 for impairments on intergroup loans.

Measurement of financial guarantee
Liberty Holdings Limited issued a financial guarantee to the external
noteholders of Liberty Group Limited's 8 October 2018 tranche of
subordinated notes. A key judgement is the subsequent valuation
of the guarantee, which the is higher of the amount determined
in accordance with the expected credit loss model in IFRS 9 and
the amount initially recognised (fair value) less, where appropriate,
the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with
the principles of IFRS 15. Liberty Holdings Limited has chosen to
debit the cost of investment in subsidiary for the provision of the
guarantee on day one. This accounting policy choice was made with
reference to the substance of the group's parent and subsidiary
relationship. In addition, Liberty Holdings Limited has charged
Liberty Group Limited for the provision of this guarantee, at the
amount equal to the day one fair value. This will be recognised over
the term of the subordinated notes.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries
The company assessed its investments in subsidiaries for
impairment as at 31 December 2018. If an indicator exists, for
semi-dormant, dormant and investment holding subsidiaries,
the subsidiaries impairment is referenced to the net asset value
calculated on a fair value basis. Operating subsidiaries are assessed
against discounted cash flow models or price earnings valuation
techniques referenced to approved business plans. STANLIB Kenya
Ltd has incurred significant operating losses and the cost of the
investment was impaired.

Disposal groups held for sale
Management has assessed that it is highly probable that the carrying
values of certain of the company's operations will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than continuing use.
The strategic intent to exit these operations followed Liberty
Holdings Limited's strategy refresh, as supported by the board
of directors. Senior management have committed plans to sell
these disposal groups, which involve an active programme to
locate a buyer for the sale, marketed at a price that is reasonable
in relation to its current fair value. The disposal groups are available
for immediate sale in their present condition. It is unlikely that any
significant changes will be made to the plans to sell these disposal
groups. It is highly probable that they will be disposed of within the
next 12 months.
A key judgement in this process is the classification as held for sale,
and the determination of fair value less costs to sell. Management
have used budgets and forecasts, indicative non-binding offers,
current market conditions and other relevant information, in the
assessment of fair value less costs to sell for each disposal group.
Further details are contained in note 10.

Deferred taxation
Asset measurement: Deferred taxation assets are assessed for the
probability of recovery based on the applicable estimated future
business performance and related projected taxable income.
The company's expected future activities and results support
the recognition of the deferred tax asset in accordance with the
guidance provided in IAS 12. Judgement is applied as to the timing
of the utilisation of the deferred tax asset. The deferred tax asset is
mainly attributable to the utilisation of tax losses.
Refer Appendix A for the detailed accounting policies.
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Company statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2018

Rm

Notes

2018

2017

1
2
3
4
5.1
6
7
8
9
10

15
6
3
10
10 335
83
1 775
12
130
577

12
6
3

Assets
Intangible asset
Equipment
Interest in joint venture
Interests in associate
Interests in subsidiaries
Deferred taxation
Financial investments
Prepayments and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Disposal groups and assets held for sale

12 946

Total assets

11 329
145
1 590
57
72
13 214

Liabilities
Financial liability
Employee benefits
Intergroup balances with subsidiaries
Other payables
Current taxation

11
12
5.3
13

30
39
505
154

33
129
163
152

728

477

26
6 162
5 795
235

26
6 162
6 348
201

Total equity

12 218

12 737

Total equity and liabilities

12 946

13 214

Total liabilities

Equity
Ordinary shareholders’ equity
Share capital (refer note 28 in the group annual financial statements)
Share premium (refer note 28 in the group annual financial statements)
Retained surplus
Share-based payment reserve

14

The company has, as permitted by IFRS 9, elected not to restate its comparative financial statements. Therefore comparability will not be
achieved by the fact that the comparative financial information has been prepared on an IAS 39 basis. Refer to note 27 for more detail on
the adoption of IFRS 9.
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Company statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Rm

Notes

2018

2017

15
16.1
16.2
17.2
17.1

153
2 582
26

154
2 946

Revenue
Revenue from contracts with customers
Investment income
Interest income on financial assets held at amortised cost
Investment losses
Fair value adjustments to assets held at fair value through profit and loss

Total income
General marketing and administration expenses
Impairment losses on financial assets held at amortised cost
Remeasurement of disposal groups and assets held for sale
Profit on sale of subsidiary

18
19
10

Profit before taxation
Taxation
Total earnings and comprehensive income

20

(384)
(626)
2 135
(599)
(336)
(227)
282

2 716
(690)

1 255
105

2 026
(111)

1 360

1 915

The company has, as permitted by IFRS 9, elected not to restate its disclosures for comparative financial statements. Therefore comparability
will not be achieved by the fact that the comparative financial information has been prepared on an IAS 39 basis. Refer to note 27 for more
detail on the adoption of IFRS 9.

Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

175

GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISK MANAGEMENT

COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

APPENDICES

Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Share
capital
and share
premium(1)

Rm
Balance at 1 January 2017
Total comprehensive income
Ordinary dividends (total 691 cents per share)
Preference dividends
Funding of restricted share plan
Share-based payments
Transfer of vested equity options reserve

6 188

Balance at 31 December 2017
Total comprehensive income
Ordinary dividends (total 691 cents per share)
Preference dividends
Funding of restricted share plan
Share-based payments
Transfer of vested equity options reserve

6 188

Balance at 31 December 2018

6 188
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Share–
based
payment
reserve
200
(34)

99
(64)
201
(35)

99
(30)
235

Retained
surplus
6 300
1 915
(1 944)
(2)
15

Total
12 688
1 915
(1 978)
(2)
15
99

64
6 348
1 360
(1 943)
(2)
2

12 737
1 360
(1 978)
(2)
2
99

30
5 795

12 218

Company statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2018
Rm

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash utilised by operations
Interest received
Dividends received
Distributions paid
Taxation paid

21

22
23

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of financial investments
Purchase of equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets(1)
Disposal of subsidiary – STANLIB REIT Fund Managers (RF) (Pty) Ltd
Capital injection in subsidiaries
Capital reduction in subsidiary
Advances on subsidiary loan
Receipts on subsidiary loan
Acquisition of associate – MobiLife Financial Services (Pty) Ltd

7.2
2
1
5.2
5.2
5.2
5.3
5.3
4

2018

2017

248

465

(395)
26
2 582
(1 980)
15

(463)
148
2 798
(1 980)
(38)

(192)

( 545)

(56)
(2)
(5)
308
(316)

(78)
(2)
(6)

(266)
155
(10)

(680)
8
(273)
486

Cash flows from financing activities
2

Funding of restricted share plan

58
72

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
(1)

9

130

15
(65)
137
72

This excludes R94 million capitalised computer software under development which has been reclassified from prepayments and other receivables in 2018 to better reflect the
substance of the balance as an intangible asset.
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Notes to the company annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2018

1.

Intangible assets

Rm

2018

2017

Computer software – internally generated and under development
Cost at the beginning of the year
Additions(1)
Reclassified as assets held for sale

15
99
(94)

9
6

Cost at the end of the year

20

Accumulated amortisation at the beginning of the year
Amortisation

(3)
(2)

(1)
(2)

Accumulated amortisation at the end of the year

(5)

(3)

15

15

12

Cost at the beginning of the year
Additions

11
2

9
2

Cost at the end of the year

13

11

Accumulated depreciation at the beginning of the year
Depreciation (equipment, fixtures, furniture and fittings)

(5)
(2)

(4)
(1)

Accumulated depreciation at the end of the year

(7)

(5)

6

6

Ordinary shares at cost – ownership 49%

3

3

Total interests in joint venture

3

3

Net carrying value at the end of the year
(1)

Includes R94 million capitalised computer software under development which has been reclassified from prepayments and other
receivables in 2018 to better reflect the substance of the balance as an intangible asset. These are not ready for their intended use yet
and there is no amortisation provided to date.

2.

Equipment

Equipment, fixtures, furniture and fittings

Net carrying value at the end of the year

3.

Interest in joint venture

JHI Retail (Pty) Ltd

4.

Interests in associate

MobiLife Financial Services (Pty) Ltd
Ordinary shares at cost – ownership 24,5%

10

Total interests in associate

10
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Notes to the company annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

5.

Interests in subsidiaries

5.1

Summary

Rm

2018

2017

Shares held at cost
Impairment provision

11 313
(978)

12 270
(941)

Total interests in subsidiaries

10 335

11 329

Shares at cost at the beginning of the year
Capital injections
Capital reduction in subsidiary
Financial guarantee provided to subsidiary – Liberty Group Ltd (refer note 11)
Disposal of subsidiary – STANLIB REIT Fund Managers (RF) (Pty) Ltd
Disposal group assets classified as held for sale (refer note 10)

12 270
316

11 598
680
(8)

Shares at cost at the end of the year

11 313

5.2
Movement analysis of shares at cost
Shares at cost

30
(26)
(1 277)
12 270

Impairment provision
Impairment provision at the beginning of the year
Impairment charge through profit or loss
Disposal group assets classified as held for sale (refer note 10)

(941)
(763)
726

(788)
(153)

Impairment provision at the end of the year

(978)

(941)

Subsidiaries impairment testing
Equity investments in subsidiary companies are measured at cost less any impairment losses. The carrying amount of these investments
are assessed annually for impairment indicators. If an indicator exists, for semi-dormant, dormant and investment holding subsidiaries, the
subsidiaries impairment is referenced to the net asset value calculated on a fair value basis. Operating subsidiaries are assessed against
discounted cash flow models or price earnings valuation techniques referenced to approved business plans.
STANLIB Kenya Ltd has incurred significant operating losses and therefore the cost of investment has been impaired and disclosed as a
disposal group asset held for sale.

5.3

Intergroup balances with subsidiaries(1)

Rm

2018

Intergroup balances – designated at fair value through profit or loss under IAS 39
Intergroup balances – at amortised cost under IFRS 9

(505)

Total intergroup balances with subsidiaries

(505)

(1)

2017
(129)
(129)

Intergroup balances were reclassified as amortised cost upon adoption of IFRS 9. Previously these were designated at fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to the company annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

5.

Interests in subsidiaries (continued)

5.3

Intergroup balances with subsidiaries (continued)

5.3.1 Movement analysis of intergroup balances with subsidiaries
Rm

2018

2017

Intergroup balances – at amortised cost
Reclassification of intergroup balances to amortised cost under IFRS 9
Advances
Receipts
Interest income (refer note 16.2)
Foreign exchange movements
Impairment losses on financial assets held at amortised cost
Disposal group assets classified as held for sale (refer note 10)

(129)
249
(155)
17
8
(336)
(159)

Intergroup balances – at amortised cost

(505)

Intergroup balances – designated at fair value through profit or loss
Intergroup balances at the beginning of the year under IAS 39 designated at fair value through profit or
loss under IAS 39
Reclassification of intergroup balances to amortised cost under IFRS 9
Advances
Receipts
Fair value adjustments

(129)
129

273
(486)
(219)
(129)

Total intergroup balances – designated at fair value through profit or loss
Intergroup balances with subsidiaries at the end of the year(2)
(2)

303

(505)

(129)

Intergroup balances are callable on demand.

5.3.2 Movement in impairment losses on intergroup balances at amortised cost
Rm

2018

Impairment losses on intergroup balances at the beginning of the year
Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the period
Disposal group assets classified as held for sale (refer note 10)

206
336
(6)

Total impairment losses on intergroup balances

536

Intergroup balances impairment testing
The group applied IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 and comparative disclosures have not been restated. Under IFRS 9, loss allowances for intergroup
loan receivables are measured under the general expected credit loss impairment model. There was no material change in the impairment
allowance between IAS 39 and IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018.
The risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition. For the
year ended 31 December 2018, impairment losses are therefore recognised for 12 months' expected credit loss.
During the course of 2018 management reassessed the purpose and nature of these loans, as well as the recoverability. Subsequent to year
end the board has approved certain share issuances to a value of R540 million, the proceeds of which will be used to repay the loans. Certain
loans have been impaired at year end, where the company has assessed the recoverability of these loans as being low. These applicable
subsidiaries are not generating sufficient cash flows to realistically settle the intergroup balances within the foreseeable future, Refer to
note 25.3.
The remaining loans and current accounts are working capital short-term term funding loans and are typically repaid timeously. Effective
1 January 2019, all of these loans will accrue interest on outstanding balances at the group's weighted average cost of capital.
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6.

Deferred taxation
Asset
at the
beginning
of the year

Rm

(Provision)/
release
for the year

Asset
at the end
of the year

2018

Normal taxation

146

(62)

84

Utilisation of tax losses

146

(62)

84

Capital gains taxation

(1)
145

Total

(1)
(62)

83

2017

Normal taxation

146

146

Utilisation of tax losses

146

146

Capital gains taxation

(1)

(1)

145

Total

145

Liberty Holdings Limited holds, in addition, unused assessable tax losses of R433 million (potential tax benefit at 28% of R121 million) in
respect of which no deferred tax asset has been recognised. The company’s expected future activities and results support the recognition
of a deferred tax asset of R83 million.

7.

Financial investments

7.1

Financial investments comprise

Rm

2018

2017

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (default)
Equity instruments
Unlisted
Mutual funds
Unlisted

9
1 766

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Equity instruments
Unlisted
Mutual funds
Unlisted
Total financial investments

7.2

8
1 582
1 775

1 590

1 590
56
129

1 512
78

1 775

1 590

Movement analysis

Balance at the beginning of the year
Additions
Fair value adjustments – through profit or loss default
Balance at the end of the year

The mutual fund financial instrument is an interest bearing, unquoted and unlisted money market fund. This has been classified as a
liquid asset for liquidity risk purposes. Interest rate risk for mutual funds information is not provided as explained in note 4.9.1 of the risk
management section of the group annual financial statements. The exposure to mutual funds is classified at fund level and not at the
underlying asset level. The credit rating is classified as pooled funds as explained in note 5.5 of the risk management section of the group
annual financial statements.
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Notes to the company annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

8.

Prepayments and other receivables

Rm

2018

2017

Sundry receivables

12

57

Total prepayments and other receivables (all current)

12

57

Prepayments and other receivables at amortised cost (2017: fair value through profit
or loss)

Upon adoption of IFRS 9, other receivables need to be disclosed per measurement choice. Refer to the transition note 27 for more detail.
Inflow of economic benefits relating to the above balances are expected to occur within one year.

9.

Cash and cash equivalents

Rm

2018

2017

78
52

23
49

130

72

Cash and cash equivalents at amortised cost (2017: fair value through profit or loss)
Cash at bank and on hand
Short-term cash deposits
Total cash and cash equivalents

Impairments on cash and cash equivalents held at amortised cost are measured on a 12-month expected credit loss basis and reflects
the short term maturities of the exposures. Impairment losses for cash and cash equivalents held at amortised cost were assessed and
considered immaterial.

10.

Disposal groups and assets held for sale

As part of the strategy refresh exercise conducted during 2018, various cash-generating units were identified as either sub scale or no longer
applicable to Liberty's revised strategy. Consequently the board approved a process of disposals and strategic partnership negotiations
which is highly probable to lead to loss of control of these cash-generating units during 2019.
The cash-generating units impacted are asset management operations in Ghana, Uganda, Kenya and Botswana, Health risk solutions, the
short-term insurance technology start up and short-term insurance in Malawi and Namibia.
Based on the requirements of IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, the interest in subsidiaries and assets
have been disclosed as disposal groups and assets, and are separately disclosed on the statement of financial position. The disposal groups
are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, which lead to impairments, as set out below.
The interest in subsidiaries and assets comprising the disposal groups and assets classified as held for sale are as follows:
Net carrying
value

Rm

Remeasurement
of disposal
groups

Total

2018

Interest in subsidiaries
Total Health Trust Ltd
Liberty General Insurance Company Ltd (Malawi)
STANLIB Kenya Ltd
STANLIB Ghana Ltd
STANLIB Uganda Ltd
Liberty Health Holdings (Pty) Ltd

104
–
17
19
9
561

(227)

104
–
17
19
9
334

Assets
Short term insurance technology asset
Total disposal groups and assets held for sale

94
804

94
(227)

577

No comparative information has been disclosed, since this is not a requirement of IFRS 5. Profit or loss from cash-generating units within
disposal groups have not been separately identified in the income statement.
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11.

Financial liability

Rm

2018

Financial guarantee

30

Total financial liabilities

30

The financial guarantee was issued to external bond noteholders who subscribed to Liberty Group Limited's subordinated notes, issued on
8 October 2018. The guarantee provides for punctual performance of all payment obligations, should Liberty Group Limited default on any
obligations. The guarantee is measured at the higher of the expected credit loss and the initial fair value less any cumulative revenue that
has been recognised. Should Liberty Group Limited default on its obligations, Liberty Holdings Limited would be exposed to the full value
of the obligations relating to the 8 October 2018 subordinated notes. The guarantee was provided as a result of the new capital regime that
came into force from 1 July 2018 under the Prudential Authority.

12.

Employee benefits

Rm

12.1

Notes

2018

2017

12.2

39

33

39

33

Summary

Short-term employee benefits
Total employee benefits

12.2

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term incentive
schemes

Leave pay
Rm

2018

Balance at the beginning of the year
Additional provision raised
Utilised during the year
Balance at the end of the year

2017

2018

Total

2017

2018

2017

3
10
(8)

3
8
(8)

30
33
(29)

23
41
(34)

33
43
(37)

26
49
(42)

5

3

34

30

39

33

All outflows in economic benefits in respect of the short-term employee benefits are expected to occur within one year.
Leave pay
In terms of the group policy, employees are entitled to accumulate a maximum of 20 days compulsory leave and 20 days discretionary
leave. Compulsory leave has to be taken within 18 months of earning it, failing which it is forfeited. Only discretionary leave can be sold back
to the company.
Short-term incentive schemes (cash-settled)
In terms of the group remuneration policy, all permanent employees are eligible to receive a short-term incentive bonus in terms of the
various board approved short-term incentive schemes. These schemes recognise both individual and financial performance (both of the
respective business unit and group). Awards are approved by the remuneration committee and are subject to deferrals at certain levels.
The non deferred amounts are cash-settled.

12.3

Transactions between the company and group retirement funds

The contributions which the company has made on behalf of the employees during the year are as follows:
Contributions
R’000

Retirement
Defined benefit funds(1)
Defined contribution funds
(1)

2018

2017

2 142
14 517

1 737
14 202

Funded from employer surplus account.

Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

183

GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISK MANAGEMENT

COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

APPENDICES
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13.

Other payables

Rm

2018

2017

Sundry payables
Deferred revenue

124
30

163

Total other payables (all current)

154

163

Other payables at amortised cost (2017: designated at fair value through profit or loss)

14.

Share-based payments – equity-settled

Reconciliation of reserve
Rm
Equity growth scheme (rights)
Liberty Holdings Limited ordinary shares
Restricted scheme plans
Liberty Holdings Limited ordinary shares

41

19

194

182

Total share-based payments reserve

235

201

Movement for the year

34

1

Per profit or loss – equity-settled schemes
Allocated costs to subsidiaries
Transfer of vested rights to retained surplus
Dividend payments to participants

85
14
(30)
(35)

97
2
(64)
(34)

Details of these schemes and the relevant IFRS 2 valuation assumptions are contained in note 36 to the group financial statements.

15.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Rm

2018

2017

Administration fees for services to group companies

153

154

Administration fees are recognised over time, in accordance with IFRS 15.
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16.

Investment income and interest income on financial assets held at amortised cost

16.1

Investment income

Rm

2018

2017

Financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss
148

Interest income

Subsidiaries and joint ventures
Dividends received from subsidiaries(1)
Dividends received from joint ventures(2)

2 554
28

2 772
26

Total investment income

2 582

2 946

Liberty Group Ltd
STANLIB Ltd
Liberty Group Properties (Pty) Ltd
STANLIB Lesotho (Pty) Ltd
STANLIB REIT Fund Managers (RF) (Pty) Ltd
Liberty Life Uganda Assurance Ltd
Liberty Life Swaziland Ltd
Liberty Holdings Namibia (Pty) Ltd
Liberty Kenya Holdings PLC

2 252
162

2 600
114
2
6
16
13
12
9

Total

2 554

(1)

(2)

Dividends received from subsidiaries:

5
46
14
51
2
22

2 772

Dividends received from JHI Retail (Pty) Ltd.

16.2

Interest income on financial assets held at amortised cost

Rm

2018

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents
Interest income on prepayments and other receivables

9
17

Total interest income on financial assets held at amortised cost

26

17.

Investment losses and fair value adjustments to assets held at fair value
through profit or loss

17.1
Fair value adjustments to assets held at fair value through profit and loss
Interest in subsidiaries – measured at cost
(763)

Subsidiary impairment charge

Intergroup balances – at amortised cost
8

Foreign exchange movements

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (default)
1
128

Equity instruments – unlisted
Mutual funds – unlisted

(626)

Total fair value adjustments to assets held at fair value through profit or loss
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17.

Investment losses and fair value adjustments to assets held at fair value through profit or
loss (continued)

17.2

Investment losses

Rm

2017

Interest in subsidiaries – measured at cost
Subsidiary impairment charge
Fair value adjustments

(153)
(231)

Loan waiver – Liberty Restricted Share Trust (indirectly owned)
Impairment and foreign exchange movements

(12)
(219)

Total investment losses

(384)

18.

General marketing and administration expenses

Rm

2018

2017

Comprising:
Employee costs
Office and sundry costs

277
322

344
346

Total general marketing and administration expenses

599

690

General marketing and administration expenses include the following:
Audit fees – current year
Amortisation of intangible asset (refer note 1)
Depreciation of equipment (refer note 2)
Consulting fees
Other related South African taxes

3
2
2
88
13

4
2
1
75
22

Financial Services levy
Non-recoverable value added tax

2
11

2
20

Employee costs

277

344

Salaries and wages
Staff and management retention and incentive schemes
Share-based payment expenses (refer note 14)
Other

127
33
85
32

155
42
97
50

19.

Impairment losses on financial assets held at amortised cost

Rm

2018

Impairment losses on intergroup loans at amortised cost (refer note 5.3.2)

336

Total Impairment losses on financial assets held at amortised cost

336
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20. Taxation
20.1

Sources of taxation

Rm

2018

2017

South African normal taxation

(121)

100

Current deferred taxation
(Over)/under provision prior year current taxation

62
(183)

100

Other related South African taxes
Dividend withholding taxation
Total taxation

16

11

(105)

111

The over provision in 2018 relates to a release of the prior year provision due to a revised assessment from the South African
Revenue Services.

20.2 Taxation rate reconciliation
Corporate income tax
Rm
Taxation per profit or loss
Profit before taxation per statement of comprehensive income

2018

2017

105
1 255

111
2 026

%
Effective rate of taxation
Income exempt from normal taxation:
Dividends received
Non-tax deductible expenses:
Provisions and non-deductible expenses(1)
Impairments and non-deductible loan write-offs
Revenue offset for withholding taxes
Special allowances and inclusions
Under/(over) provision prior year current taxation
Utilisation/(creation) of tax losses and special transfers
Standard rate of South African taxation
(1)

(8,4)
58,2
(7,6)
(29,8)
(1,3)
(0,2)
9,7
7,4
28,0

5,5
38,8
(6,5)
(2,2)
(0,5)
0,3
(4,9)
(2,5)
28,0

Includes impairments on subsidiaries which are not deductible for tax purposes.
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21.

Cash utilised by operations

Reconciliation of total earnings to cash utilised by operations
Rm
Total earnings
Adjustments for:
Interest received
Dividends received
Taxation
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Subsidiary impairment charge
Amortisation of intangible asset
Depreciation
Investment gains
Foreign exchange movements on intergroup balances – at amortised cost
Profit on sale of subsidiary
Fair value adjustments on subsidiaries loans – designated at fair value through profit and loss(1)
Impairment losses on intergroup loans at amortised cost
Remeasurement of disposal groups and assets held for sale
Share-based payment expenses including allocated cost to subsidiaries
Working capital changes:
Prepayments and other receivables(1)
Employee benefits
Other payables
Cash utilised by operations
(1)

Loans with indirectly owned subsidiaries, if any, are included in prepayments and other receivables.
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2018

2017

1 360

1 915

(26)
(2 582)
( 105)

(148)
(2 798)
111

763
2
2
(129)
(8)
(282)

153
2
1

231
336
227
99

99

(343)
(52)

(434)
(29)

(49)
6
(9)

(59)
3
27

(395)

(463)

Notes to the company annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

22.

Distributions paid

Rm

2018

2017

Dividends as per statement of changes in shareholders’ funds:
Ordinary dividends
Preference dividends

(1 978)
(2)

(1 978)
(2)

Total distributions paid

(1 980)

(1 980)

(152)
167

(79)
(111)
152

15

(38)

23.

Taxation paid

Taxation payable at the beginning of the year
Taxation attributable
Taxation payable at the end of the year
Total taxation paid

24.

Remuneration of directors and prescribed officers

Refer to note 44 in the group annual financial statements for details of directors and prescribed officers remuneration.

25.

Related party disclosure

A list of related parties, as defined, is contained in the related party disclosures note 44 to the group financial statements. Related party
transactions with the direct holding company and ultimate holding company, directors and related entities, and joint ventures are also
disclosed therein.
The disclosures below are additional to the group note:

25.1

Loans, dividends and administration fees

Long-term and working capital loans are provided to various subsidiaries by Liberty Holdings Limited, details of outstanding amounts and
relevant terms are provided in note 5 to the company financial statements.
Details of dividends received from subsidiaries are provided in note 16 to the company financial statements.
Rm
Fees earned for management and administration services:
Liberty Group Limited
STANLIB Limited
Various foreign registered subsidiaries
Standard Insurance Limited
Total

2018

2017

36
51
56
10

33
67
54

153

154

25.2 Share-based payments transactions
The value of certain Liberty Holdings Limited share rights granted to employees of the group’s subsidiaries are charged to the applicable
subsidiary. In the case of employees who have transferred to the Standard Bank group subsequent to the initial grant dates and who
retained their awards, the charges are recovered from the Standard Bank group.
Rm

2018

2017

Summary of charges:
Liberty Group Limited

14

2

Total

14

2
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25.

Related party disclosure at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

25.3 Subsidiaries directly owned(1)
Amount of issued
share capital

Insurance

Percentage of issued
share capital units held
2018

2017

Liberty Group Ltd
Liberty Life Assurance Uganda Ltd
Liberty Life Swaziland Ltd
Liberty Life Lesotho Ltd
Total Health Trust Ltd(4)
Liberty General Insurance Uganda Ltd
Liberty General Insurance Company Ltd (Malawi)

R28 895 619
USh3 000 000 000
E10 000 000
M30 000 000
N400 000 000
USh4 000 000 000
MK684 302 099

100
51
75
100
100
100
39(2)

100
51
75
100
100
100
39(2)

STANLIB Ltd
Liberty Holdings Swaziland (Pty) Ltd
STANLIB Kenya Ltd(4)
STANLIB Lesotho (Pty) Ltd
STANLIB Ghana Ltd(4)
STANLIB Uganda Ltd(4)
STANLIB REIT Fund Managers (RF) (Pty) Ltd
STANLIB Property Development (Pty) Ltd

R423 110 000
E100
KSh1 620 359 500
M1 950 000
GHC727 843
USh4 400 000 000
R26 000 100
R100

100
100
100
75
100
100
100

100
100
100
75
100
100
100
100

R507 965 196
N10 000 000
P12 612 527
KSh2 026 187 651
N$159 101 200
ZMW5 000 000
R46 691 386
R185 031 395

100
100
100
58
75
100
100
100

100
100
100
58
75
100
100
100

Liberty Health Holdings (Pty) Ltd(4)

R948 560 139

100

100

Liberty Group Properties (Pty) Ltd (Property Asset Management)
Liberty Nominees (Pty) Ltd (Shareholder transactions)
Mentenova Consultants and Actuaries (Pty) Ltd (Consulting services)
Mentenova (Pty) Ltd (Brokerage services)

R100
R5 000 001
R12 900 000
R100

100
100
100
60

100
100
100
60

R100
E2 500 000

100
100

100
100

N400 000 000
MK684 302 099
KSh1 620 359 500
GHC727 843
USh4 400 000 000
R948 560 139

100
39(2)
100
100
100
100

Asset management

Investment holding

Lexshell 615 Investments (Pty) Ltd
Liberty Holdco Nigeria Ltd
Liberty Holdings Botswana (Pty) Ltd
Liberty Kenya Holdings PLC(1)
Liberty Holdings Namibia (Pty) Ltd
Liberty Holdings Zambia Ltd
Stonehouse Capital (Pty) Ltd
Own Your Life Rewards (Pty) Ltd

Health services

Other

Dormant

Liberty Group Shelf Company No. 1 (Pty) Ltd
Standard Insurance Ltd Swaziland

Disposal groups held for sale
Total Health Trust Ltd
Liberty General Insurance Company Ltd
STANLIB Kenya Ltd
STANLIB Ghana Ltd
STANLIB Uganda Ltd
Liberty Health Holdings (Pty) Ltd

Liberty Holdings Limited, indirectly through its various subsidiaries, has interests in a number of other subsidiaries. Further details can be
obtained from the group financial statements in Appendix D. A register containing full information on all the group subsidiaries is available
for inspection at the registered office of the company.
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

The above subsidiaries are all unlisted, except for Liberty Kenya Holdings PLC, which is listed on the Nairobi Stock Exchange.
Liberty General Insurance Company Ltd (Malawi) is held 16% by another subsidiary (Liberty Nominees (Pty) Ltd) of the holding company.
Intergroup balances were reclassified as amortised cost upon adoption of IFRS 9. Previously these were designated at fair value through profit or loss.
Reclassified as disposal groups held for sale
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Shares at cost
Rm

Impairment provision
Rm

2018

2017

11 313

12 270

8 437
5
8
30

Intergroup balances(3)
Rm
2017

2018

31

(129)

(536)

8 407
5
8
20
105
45
8

(747)
11
1
3

(833)
6

1

2
2

90

115

24

1 308
1
176
6
15
17
26
24

508
1
79
230
119
47
185

45
1 308
1
6

2018

2017

(978)

(941)

(89)

(24)

508
1
79
230
119

(508)
(1)

(1)

47
185

(50)
(185)

(50)
(185)

650
236
5
13
24

2

2

18
313
74
5
1
43
23
44
146

(726)

105
8
232
15
17
900

(8)
(215)
–
(8)
(495)

3
18
170
34
6
42
21
45

(10)
(287)
(70)

(23)
(146)

184

(210)
5

1 277

5

3

(380)
(210)

2017

43

(2)
(24)

236
5
13
24

2018

Impairment provision
Rm

165
(1)
6

5

(6)
(6)

4
156
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26.

Fair value hierarchy for financial instruments

IFRS 13 requires that an entity discloses for each class of assets and liabilities measured at fair value, the level in the fair value hierarchy into
which the fair value measurements are categorised in their entirety. The fair value hierarchy reflects the significance of the inputs used in
making fair value measurements
The IFRS 13 fair value hierarchy has the following levels:
• Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
• Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
• Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
The IFRS 13 carrying value of prepayments and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and other payables approximate their fair value
and are not included in the hierarchy analysis as their settlement terms are short-term and therefore from a materiality perspective fair
values are not required to be modeled. The table below analyses the fair value measurement of applicable assets by level.
Fair value hierarchy for financial investments 31 December 2018
Rm

Level 2

Level 3

Total

9

9
1 766

9

1 775

8
(129)

8
1 582
(129)

(121)

1 461

2018

Unlisted
Equity instrument
Mutual fund

1 766
1 766

2017

Unlisted
Equity instrument
Mutual fund
Intergroup balances with subsidiaries

1 582
1 582

As the intergroup balances with subsidiaries are callable on demand, the fair value amount approximates the amortised cost.
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27.

Changes in accounting policies

27.1

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The company applied IFRS 9 retrospectively, and restated opening
retained income on 1 January 2018 for the cumulative impact of any
changes (Rnil for Liberty Holdings Limited company). As a result,
the comparative information provided continues to be accounted
for in accordance with the company's previous accounting policy
for financial instruments (application of IAS 39).

The company applied IFRS 9’s classification and measurement
requirements based on the facts and circumstances of the various
business models at the date of adoption of IFRS 9 in determining
the transition adjustment.

As a result of adoption of IFRS 9, the company adopted certain
consequential amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements, which requires the disclosure of interest revenue on
the effective interest rate method, as well as impairment losses on
financial assets held at amortised cost.

Application of the business model approach for Liberty Holdings
Limited resulted in changes to classification for “Other receivables”
and “Cash and cash equivalents”. Under IFRS 9 these balances are
now classified at amortised cost. Previously under IAS 39 they
were designated at fair value through profit or loss. Due to the
short-term nature of these financial instruments, there was no
material impact on the change in measurement nor were there any
impairment provisions on adoption of IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018.

In addition the company adopted the consequential amendments
to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, which were applied
in the 2018 financial year. Comparative disclosures have not
been restated.

Intragroup balances with subsidiaries, which were previously
designated at fair value through profit or loss, were reclassified to
amortised cost on transition to IFRS 9, as they are held to collect
contractual cash flows under IFRS 9.

Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2018 in respect of
financial instruments

Financial liabilities

Financial assets
IFRS 9 applies two criteria to determine how financial assets should
be classified and measured, namely:
a. the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets; and
b. the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.
Liberty Holdings Limited is the investment holding company of
various operating subsidiaries engaged in the provision of financial
services including long-term, short-term and health insurance,
investment holdings and asset management.

Financial liabilities classification and measurement under IFRS 9 has
not changed significantly from IAS 39. Financial liabilities are either
held at fair value (either required or designated) or at amortised
cost. The classification of Other payables are classified at amortised
cost under IFRS 9, rather than as previously designated at fair
value through profit or loss under IAS 39. Intercompany funding
loans, previously designated at fair value through profit or loss
under IAS 39, will be measured at amortised cost. These loans
are eliminated on consolidation into Liberty Holdings Limited
consolidated financial statements.

Effect on the classification of financial assets and financial liabilities on application of IFRS 9
The following table shows the original classification and carrying amount under IAS 39, and the new carrying amount under IFRS 9 for each
class of the group's financial assets and financial liabilities as at 1 January 2018.
Original
New
Original
New
carrying
carrying
classification
classification
amount
amount
Rm
under IAS 39(1)
under IFRS 9(1)
under IAS 39 under IFRS 9

Financial assets
Equity instruments
Unlisted
Mutual funds
Intergroup balances with subsidiaries(2)
Prepayments and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Designated FVPL
Designated FVPL
Designated FVPL
Designated FVPL
Designated FVPL

Default FVPL
Default FVPL
Amortised cost
Amortised cost
Amortised cost

8
1 590
(129)
57
72

8
1 590
(129)
57
72

Designated FVPL

Amortised cost

163

163

Financial liabilities
Other payables
(1)
(2)

FVPL = fair value through profit or loss
The intergroup balances with subsidiaries were assessed for impairment in terms of the expected credit loss model in IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018. There were no material
impairments identified.
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27.

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

27.2

Change in presentation policy due to IFRS 9

As a result of the changes to IAS 1, the company re-assessed all movements on financial instruments (assets and liabilities) held at fair value
through profit or loss (including dividends and interest). Any movements in the income statement related to these financial instruments
at fair value through profit or loss are presented as fair value adjustments, rather than previously as dividends, interest received or finance
costs. There changes were adopted in line with the company's transitional approach on IFRS 9 and did not impact comparative disclosures.

27.3

IFRS 15 Revenue recognition from contracts with customers

The company has adopted IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method (without practical expedients), with the effect of initially applying
this standard recognised at the date of initial application (ie 1 January 2018). Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 has not been
restated. Additionally, the disclosure requirements in IFRS 15 have not been applied to comparative information. Apart from providing more
qualitative disclosures on the company's revenue transactions, the application of IFRS 15 has not had a significant impact on the financial
position and/or financial performance of the company. As at the date of initial application, no adjustments were required to the company's
performance or financial position.
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Appendix A – Detailed accounting policies
for the year ended 31 December 2018

The accounting policies summarise those polices, and the potential impacts of new IFRS standards or interpretations, which are useful to
users of these financial statements. These should be read in conjunction with ’Accounting principles (including accounting policy elections)
(pages 14), 'Key judgements in applying assumptions on application of accounting policies' (pages 16) and ’Changes in accounting policies’
(pages 126), as well as with reference to the 'Summary of the group's assets and liabilities by measurement basis' (pages 20). Accounting
policies for which no choice is permitted in terms of IFRS have been included only if management concluded that the disclosure would assist
users in understanding the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the materiality of the item being discussed. Accounting
policies which are not applicable from time to time have been removed, but will be included if the type of transaction occurs in future.

1.

New IFRS standards and amendments

1.1

New standards not yet effective that will impact on the group and company results or disclosures

The following new standards have been issued by the IASB, however, are not yet effective for the current financial year. The group and
company will comply with the new standards from the effective date and has elected not to early adopt any at this stage.

STANDARD

SCOPE

POTENTIAL IMPACT TO THE GROUP AND
COMPANY

The new standard sets out the principles for the Liberty as a lessor
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure Liberty group, as a lessor, has operating leases only.
Effective for years
of leases.
Enhanced disclosures are required to improve information
commencing 1 January
IFRS 16 replaces the existing leases standard and the disclosed about a lessor's risk exposure, particularly to
2019
residual value risk with any rights it retains in underlying
related interpretations.
Liberty will apply IFRS
assets. Liberty company is not a lessor.
Lessor accounting
16 retrospectively
Liberty as a lessee
without restating
Substantially, lessor accounting has remained unchanged.
comparative figures.
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as Liberty group performed an assessment of contracts and
operating leases or finance leases and to account for it was concluded that leases of properties were the only
material class of underlying assets that will be recognised
those two types of leases differently.
as right-of-use assets. All other classes of underlying assets
Lessee accounting
will be treated as leases of low value and be expensed on
IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease a monthly basis. Liberty will also apply the exemption for
accounting model for lessees. This fundamentally changes short-term leases. Liberty company does not have any
how Liberty will recognise operating leases. A lessee lease liabilities.
recognises a right-of-use asset representing its right to use
The group will recognise right-of-use assets and lease
the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its
liabilities for its operating leases of property under IAS 17.
obligation to make lease payments. There are recognition
Previously, the group recognised operating lease expenses
exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low-value
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The
items.
nature of expenses related to those leases will now change
from operating lease charges to depreciation charges for
right-of-use assets and interest expense on lease liabilities.
IFRS 16 will result in the front-loading of expenses as
interest expense charges will be higher during the initial
years of the lease, and decrease as the lease liability
unwinds. The impact of the difference is not expected to
be material for the group.
IFRS 16 Leases

Based on an assessment of leases as at 1 January 2019, the
group estimates that it will recognise right-of-use assets
and equivalent lease liabilities of less than R300 million as
at 1 January 2019.
Transition
Liberty is applied IFRS 16 initially on 1 January 2019, using
the modified retrospective approach. Comparatives are
not restated under this approach.
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1.

New IFRS standards and amendments (continued)

1.1

New standards not yet effective that will impact on the group and company results or disclosures (continued)
POTENTIAL IMPACT TO THE GROUP AND
COMPANY

STANDARD

SCOPE

IFRS 17
Insurance Contracts
Effective for years
commencing
1 January 2022
(following IASB
due process) with
three transitional
approaches
permitted, namely:
• retrospective;
• modified
retrospective; and
• fair value approach.

IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4, which was issued in 2004 as
an interim standard. IFRS 4 permits various accounting
models relating to insurance contracts, allowing
reporting entities to account for insurance contracts
(particularly measurement thereof) using the local
actuarial practices, resulting in a multitude of different
approaches. Consequently, the financial position and
financial performance of otherwise similar companies are
not always comparable.

The impact to the group is expected to be significant
specifically in areas such as profit recognition, presentation
in the statement of comprehensive income and level of
transparency of components of reserving. Data collection
and storage, modelling and general ledger configuration
will require significant development.

IFRS 17 establishes a contractual service margin (CSM) at
initial measurement of the liability. The CSM represents
the unearned profit on the contract and results in no gain
on initial recognition. The CSM is released over the life of
the contract in line with the level of service provided in
each period. The interest rate on the CSM is locked in at
the rate at inception. The CSM will be utilised as a “shock
absorber” in the event of changes to best estimate cash
flows. On loss making (onerous) contracts, there is no
CSM and the full loss is recognised at the date of inception.
The GMM is modified for contracts that have participation
features and this is the variable fee approach.

The group has made certain management working
assumptions regarding various design decisions in order
to commence the practical implementation of IFRS 17.
Build work on the general measurement model has
commenced.

Early adoption is
permitted.

In addition, the proposal made by the South African
Revenue Services to move to an IFRS adjusted basis
for taxation of insurers means IFRS 17 is likely to have
IFRS 17 prescribes a single accounting model under significant taxation consequences.
which insurance contracts are measured using current
An entity may re-assess its classification and designation of
estimates. The application of IFRS 17 will enable investors
financial instruments under IFRS 9, on adoption of IFRS 17.
to understand and compare the financial positions and
performances of those reporting entities that issue IFRS 17 Project governance
insurance contracts. In addition, financial results of
Liberty has formed an IFRS 17 steering committee,
insurance companies will be comparable with companies
sponsored by the group’s financial director, which is
in other industries and jurisdictions.
responsible for providing overall strategic direction to the
Under IFRS 17, a general measurement model (GMM) is project and to monitor progress and interdependencies
applicable to long-term insurance contracts, and is based with other group initiatives. The committee comprises
on a fulfilment objective (risk-adjusted present value of representation from Finance, Risk, Actuarial, IT, Internal
best estimate future cash flows). It requires the use of Audit and business. The committee is supported by a
current estimates, which are those informed by actual number of working groups responsible for various work
trends and investment markets.
streams.

Education training sessions have taken place and continue
both in South Africa as well as the rest of Africa.
Liberty Holdings Limited company will not be impacted
as it is an investment holding company and does not issue
insurance contracts.

The financial impact of IFRS 17 has not yet been fully
An optional simplified premium allocation approach (PAA) assessed. It is anticipated that the impact will only be
is available for contracts that have a coverage period of 12 quantified with reasonable certainty in 2020.
months or less. The PAA is similar to the current unearned
premium reserve profile recognised over time.
The IASB has established a Transition Resource Group to
assist companies, auditors and regulators with a public
forum to discuss areas that are subject to interpretation
and potentially require clarity.

1.2

Amendments and improvements to standards

Other amendments to standards that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but not mentioned previously,
are not expected to have a significant impact on the group and company’s reported assets and liabilities.
Annual improvements effective 1 January 2019 that were not early adopted are not expected to have a significant impact on the group and
company’s reported assets and liabilities and disclosures.
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2.

Basis of consolidation

The group annual financial statements consolidate the annual financial statements of the company and its subsidiaries.
TYPE

MEASUREMENT

Interests in
subsidiaries
comprising interest
in subsidiary
companies, mutual
funds and structured
entities

Subsidiaries are defined as entities that are controlled by the group. In order for control to exist, the group must have:
1. power over the investee;
2. exposure or rights to variable returns from involvement with the investee; and
3. the ability to use power over the investee to affect the amount of the group’s returns. The group must possess
all three elements to conclude that it controls an investee. Refer to key judgements for assessment of control.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group (effective date of acquisition)
and are no longer consolidated from the date that control ceases (effective date of disposal). Gains and losses on
disposal of subsidiaries are included in profit or loss. The accounting policies for subsidiaries are consistent, in all material
respects, with the policies adopted by the group. Intergroup transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses are
eliminated on consolidation.
Interests in mutual fund subsidiaries and subsidiaries interests that back policyholder liabilities are shown at fair value in
accordance with IAS 27.

Separate financial
statements

Interests in subsidiary companies in the company financial statements comprise shares, which are measured at cost
less any required impairment. Acquisition costs are recorded as an expense in the period in which they are incurred,
except for the costs to issue debt or equity securities, which are part of the consideration transferred. The carrying
amounts of these investments are reviewed annually for impairment. Intergroup balances with subsidiaries, under the
IFRS 9 business model assessment for 2018, are measured at amortised cost. These are subject to the expected credit
loss impairment model.
Under IAS 39, intergroup loan balances were designated and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

TYPE

MEASUREMENT

Business
combinations

The group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries.
The cost of an acquisition is measured as the sum of the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising from
contingent consideration amendments.
Transaction costs are recognised within profit or loss as and when they are incurred.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest.
The excess of the consideration transferred, being the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired, is recorded as goodwill.
The group elects to measure non-controlling interests on the acquisition date at either fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the subsidiary’s identifiable net assets on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in the statement of comprehensive income.

Unincorporated
property
partnerships

Refer to key judgements for assessment of control (page 16)
Non-controlling interests in the unincorporated property partnerships are measured at their proportionate share of the
fair value in the various properties and any non-distributed net accumulated profit or loss.
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2.

Basis of consolidation (continued)

TYPE

MEASUREMENT

Interests in joint
arrangements

Joint arrangements are arrangements whereby the group and one or more parties have joint control of an entity.
Classification of a joint arrangement as either a joint operation or a joint venture depends on the contractual rights and
obligations of the parties to the arrangement.
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control, have rights to the assets, and
obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.
For interests in joint operations, the group recognises its share of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The group
accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses in accordance with the relevant IFRSs applicable to those
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

Interests in joint
ventures – equity
accounted

Interests in joint ventures in the group financial statements are accounted for using equity accounting principles for the
duration in which the group has the ability to exercise joint control.
The group’s interests in these joint ventures are carried initially at cost. The group’s share of post-acquisition profit or
losses is recognised in profit or loss and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves.
Any goodwill in respect of joint ventures acquired is recognised as part of interests in joint ventures in the statement of
financial position.
The group discontinues equity accounting when the group’s share of losses exceeds or equals its interests in the joint
venture, unless it has incurred obligations or guaranteed obligations in favour of the joint venture. At each reporting
date the group determines whether there is objective evidence that the interests in joint ventures are impaired. The
carrying amounts of such investments are then reduced to recognise any impairment by applying the impairment
methodology. Where the accounting policies for joint ventures are not consistent, in all material respects, with policies
adopted by the group, adjustments are made to ensure consistency with the group policies.
Interests in joint ventures are accounted for at cost less any impairment in the company financial statements. The
carrying amounts are reviewed annually for impairment.

Interests in joint
ventures measured
at fair value through
profit or loss

Investments in joint ventures which are held specifically to provide investment returns to investment-linked insurance
policies are designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with the measurement
exemption in IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. These interests in joint ventures are subsequently
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

TYPE

MEASUREMENT

Interests in
associates

An associate is an entity over which the group has the ability to exercise significant influence, but not control or joint
control, through participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investment.
Judgement is applied in assessing which entities the group has the ability to significantly influence. In the case of voting
rights, it is generally demonstrated by the group holding 20% or more of the voting power of the investee.
Interests in associates are accounted for at cost less any impairment in the company financial statements. The carrying
amounts are reviewed annually for impairment.

Interests in
associates measured
at fair value – mutual
funds

The mutual funds in which the group has exposure to economic interest in the fund and has the irrevocable
management agreement over the fund’s asset manager, therefore providing significant influence, are deemed to be
interests in associates. On initial recognition, they are designated as at fair value through profit or loss, based on the
measurement exemption in IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures for investment-linked insurance funds.
Judgement is applied in assessing which entities the group has the ability to significantly influence.
Initial measurement is at fair value on trade date with subsequent measurement at fair value based on quoted
repurchase prices at the close of business on the last trading day on or before the statement of financial position date.
Fair value adjustments on mutual funds are recognised in profit or loss.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018

2.

Basis of consolidation (continued)

TYPE

MEASUREMENT

Common control
transactions

Common control is defined as a business combination in which all of the combining entities (subsidiaries) are ultimately
controlled by the same party both before and after the business combination, and control is not transitory.
The cost of an acquisition of a subsidiary under common control is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Any costs directly attributable to the
acquisition are expensed in profit or loss. On acquisition the carrying values of assets and liabilities are not restated to
fair value. The acquirer incorporates assets and liabilities at their pre-combination carrying amounts. Any excess/deficit
of the purchase price over the pre-combination recorded ultimate holding company’s net asset value of the subsidiary
is adjusted directly to equity. Any differences to values of the subsidiary’s underlying assets and liabilities compared to
those presented by the ultimate holding company and adjustments to achieve harmonisation of accounting policies will
be adjusted on consolidation. Under this approach comparatives are not restated.
The principles of when control arises are the same as those for interests in subsidiaries where purchase price accounting
is applied.

Transactions with
non- controlling
interests

The group applies a policy of treating transactions, including partial disposals with non-controlling interests that do not
result in the gain or loss of control, as transactions with equity owners of the group. For purchases of additional interests
from non-controlling interests, the excess of the purchase consideration over the group’s proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s additional net asset value acquired is accounted for directly in equity. Profits or losses on the partial disposal
of the group’s interest in a subsidiary to non-controlling interests are also accounted for directly in equity.
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3.

Foreign currencies

The group’s presentation currency is South African rand (ZAR). All
amounts are shown in rand millions unless otherwise indicated. The
functional currency of the group’s operations is the currency of the
primary economic environment where each operation physically
has its main activities.

3.1

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that differ to the functional currency at the statement of
financial position date are translated into the functional currency at
the ruling rate at that date.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the
date of transaction, and those measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was determined. Foreign exchange gains or losses are
recognised as part of fair value adjustments on financial instruments
in profit or loss.
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3.2

Group foreign operations

Assets and liabilities of group foreign operations whose functional
currency is different to the presentation currency are translated
from their respective functional currency into the group’s
presentation currency at closing rates ruling at statement of
financial position date. The income and expenditure and equity
movements are translated into the group’s presentation currency
at rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the date
of the various transactions.
All resulting translation differences arising from the consolidation
and translation of foreign operations are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as a foreign
currency translation reserve.
When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences in the foreign
currency translation reserve relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from the reserve to profit or loss when the gain or loss
on disposal is recognised.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.

Appendix A – Detailed accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

4.

Financial instruments

The group and company adopted IFRS 9 retrospectively on
1 January 2018 with any adjustments recognised in the group's
opening 1 January 2018 retained surplus. Based on the transitional
approach adopted, as permitted by IFRS 9, comparative financial
results and disclosures were not restated. Accordingly, the group's
previously reported financial results up to 31 December 2017
are presented in accordance with the requirements of IAS 39
and for 2018, the financial instruments are presented in terms of
IFRS 9. The impact of this is that 2017 classification, measurement
and disclosures remain under IAS 39. For ease of reference, the
accounting policies include reference to IFRS 9 and IAS 39. For
noting, IFRS 9 did not change initial recognition, derecognition,
offsetting or the fair values of financial instruments at fair value
(IFRS 13).
As permitted under IFRS 9, the group has elected to continue to
apply the hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39.

Initial recognition and measurement
All financial instruments are measured initially at fair value plus
directly attributable transaction costs and fees, except for those
financial instruments that are subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss where such transaction costs and fees are
immediately recognised in profit or loss. Financial instruments
are recognised (derecognised) on the date the group commits to
purchase (sell) the instruments (trade date accounting).

4.1

Financial assets

Financial assets include financial investments, assets held for
trading and for hedging, interests in associates and interests in joint
ventures measured at fair value through profit or loss, repurchase
agreements, scrip and collateral assets, components of receivables
that are not measured under IFRS 4, cash and cash equivalents and
intercompany balances.

Financial assets under IFRS 9
Financial assets are classified based on the business model and nature of cash flows associated with the instrument.

Nature
Amortised cost

A debt instrument that meets both of the following conditions (other than those designated at fair
value through profit or loss):
• Held within a business model whose objective is to hold the debt instrument (financial asset) in
order to collect contractual cash flows.
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment
includes determining the objective of holding the asset and whether the contractual cash flows
are consistent with a basic lending arrangement.

Fair value through OCI

Upon adoption of IFRS 9, the group and company has no equity instruments that have been elected
to be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.
A debt instrument that meets both the following conditions (other than those designated at fair value
through profit or loss):
• held within a business model in which the debt instrument (financial asset) is managed to both
collect contractual cash flows and sell financial assets; and
• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
This assessment includes determining the objective of holding the asset and whether the contractual
cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement.

Held for trading

Those financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term (including all
derivative financial assets) and those that form part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit taking.

Designated at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial assets are designated to be measured at fair value through profit or loss to eliminate or
significantly reduce an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Fair value through profit or loss
(default)

Financial assets that are not classified into one of the abovementioned financial asset categories; and/
or where the business model is that performance is assessed on a fair value basis.
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4.

Financial instruments (continued)

4.1

Financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial measurement, financial assets are classified, according to the business model assessment, in their respective categories
and measured at either amortised cost or fair value as follows:
Amortised cost (policy loans
receivable that are at amortised
cost)

Amortised cost using the effective interest method with interest recognised in interest income, less
any expected credit impairment losses which are recognised as part of credit impairment charges.

Fair value through OCI (applicable
to the consolidated money market
mutual fund)

Debt instrument: Fair value, with gains and losses recognised directly in the fair value through OCI
reserve. When a debt financial asset is disposed of, the cumulative fair value adjustments, previously
recognised in OCI, are reclassified to fair value adjustments on financial instruments.

Directly attributable transaction costs and fees received are capitalised and amortised through interest
income as part of the effective interest rate. Interest income is shown as a separate line on the face of
the income statement (combined with interest income on financial assets held at fair value through
OCI).

Interest income on debt financial assets is recognised in interest income in terms of the effective
interest method. Interest income from these assets is shown as a separate line on the face of the
statement of profit or loss (combined with interest from financial assets held at amortised cost).
Held for trading (derivatives)

Fair value, with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in fair value adjustments.

Designated at fair value through
profit or loss

Fair value gains and losses (including interest and dividends) on financial assets are recognised in the
income statement as part of fair value gains or losses on financial instruments.

Fair value through profit or loss
(default)

Fair value gains and losses on the financial asset are recognised in the income statement as part of fair
value gains or losses on financial instruments.

Refer to note 9.1 for the detailed classification under IFRS 9 for the group.

Impairment
Expected credit losses (ECL) are recognised on debt financial assets classified as at either amortised cost or fair value through OCI and
financial guarantee contracts that are not designated at fair value through profit or loss.
The measurement basis of the ECL of a financial asset includes assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR)
at the reporting date which includes forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. A significant change in credit risk (SICR) is when there is a
material change in the probability of default, since origination. The measurement basis of the ECL, which is set out in the table that follows, is
measured as the unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, the time value
of money and forward-looking information.
Stage 1

A 12-month ECL is calculated for financial assets which are neither credit-impaired on origination nor
for which there has been a SICR.

Stage 2

A lifetime ECL allowance is calculated for financial assets that are assessed to have displayed a SICR
since origination and are not considered low credit risk.

Stage 3 (credit impaired assets)

A lifetime ECL is calculated for financial assets that are assessed to be credit impaired. The following
criteria are used in determining whether the financial asset is impaired:
• Default: A financial asset is considered to be in default when there is objective evidence of
impairment. Exposures which are overdue for more than 90 days are also considered to be
in default.
• Significant financial difficulty of borrower and/or modification
• Probability of bankruptcy or financial reorganisation
• Disappearance of an active market due to financial difficulties.

ECLs are recognised as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the asset. Therefore assets subject to ECLs are disclosed on a net
basis, in the statement of financial position. The gross ECLs are disclosed in the note.
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Appendix A – Detailed accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

4.

Financial instruments (continued)

4.1

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Financial assets which are written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
• balances with banks;
• highly liquid short-term funds on deposit; and
• cash on hand.
Instruments included in this category are those with an initial
term of three months or less from the acquisition date. It does not
include money market securities held for investment. Cash and
cash equivalents are classified according to the business model
assessment, either at fair value through profit or loss default, or
at amortised cost. Due to the short-term nature of cash and cash
equivalents, the amortised cost approximates fair value.

Prepayments and other receivables
Prepayments and other receivables are initially measured at fair
value through profit or loss, with subsequent measurement at fair
value through profit or loss (default) or at amortised cost. Those
balances at amortised cost are subject to ECL impairment testing.
The group has elected to apply the simplified approach for trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component,
contract assets and lease receivables. This means that the entity
assesses lifetime losses on day one, and does not have to do the
three stage testing as per the general ECL calculation.

Financial assets under IAS 39
Under IAS 39, financial assets within the group and company were
classified either as:
• Fair value through profit or loss being financial assets held-fortrading, financial assets held for hedging and designated at fair
value through profit or loss at inception; or

In general, financial assets within the group and company were
designated on initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss,
in line with the group’s strategy to manage financial investments
acquired to match its insurance and investment contract liabilities.
In addition, shareholders' equity is invested under a formal capital
management strategy that actively measures performance on a
fair value basis. Interest income and dividends received on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss were recognised separately
as investment income.
Financial assets carried at amortised cost were subjected to IAS 39’s
incurred loss impairment model.

Reclassification (IFRS 9 and IAS 39)
Reclassifications of financial assets under IFRS 9 are permitted
when, and only when, the group changes its business model
for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial
assets are reclassified. Under IAS 39, financial assets could only be
reclassified in rare circumstances.

Derecognition (IFRS 9 and IAS 39)
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the investments have expired or on trade
date when they have been transferred and the group has also
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Noncash financial assets pledged, where the counterparty has the
right to sell or repledge the assets to a third party, are classified as
repurchase agreements, scrip and collateral assets.

Financial liabilities under IFRS 9
Financial liabilities include financial liabilities under investment
contracts, third-party financial liabilities arising on consolidation of
mutual funds, financial liabilities, liabilities held for trading and for
hedging, repurchase agreements liabilities and collateral deposits
payable and other payables.

• Loans and receivables, measured at amortised cost (being
policyholder loans).
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4.

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities under IFRS 9 (continued)
Nature
Held-for-trading

Those financial liabilities incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term (including
all derivative financial liabilities) and those that form part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit taking.

Designated at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial liabilities are designated to be measured at fair value if in doing so it would eliminate or
significantly reduce an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise where the financial liabilities
are managed and their performance evaluated and reported on a fair value basis.

Amortised cost

All other financial liabilities not included in the above categories.

Subsequent measurement
Held-for-trading

• Fair value, with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in fair value
adjustments on financial instruments.

Designated at fair value through
profit or loss

• Fair value, with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value (including finance costs but
excluding fair value gains and losses attributable to own credit risk) recognised in the fair value
adjustments on financial instruments.
• Fair value gains and losses attributable to changes in own credit risk are recognised within OCI,
unless this would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in which case the own credit risk
changes are recognised within profit or loss.

Amortised cost

• Amortised cost using the effective interest method recognised in interest expense.

Other payables
Other payables are initially measured at fair value through profit
or loss, with subsequent measurement either at fair value through
profit or loss (default) or at amortised cost, depending on the
business model assessment.

Financial liabilities under IAS 39

when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a
debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised at fair
value, which is generally equal to the premium received, and
then amortised over the life of the financial guarantee. Financial
guarantee contracts (that are not designated at fair value through
profit or loss) are subsequently measured at the higher of the:

Financial liabilities under IAS 39 were either held for trading liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss, financial liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss, or classified at amortised cost.
Under IAS 39, finance costs for financial liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss were separated from the fair value
movement.

• The amount determined in accordance with the expected credit
loss model in IFRS 9; and

Reclassification – a financial liability may not be reclassified.

During the year, Liberty Holdings Limited company provided a
guarantee to external noteholders for Liberty Group Limited's
subordinated notes issued in 2018. For guarantees between a
holding company and its subsidiary, IFRS allows an accounting
policy choice for the issuer of the guarantee to either debit the
cost of investment in subsidiary or debit an expense in profit or
loss. The company's accounting policy choice is to debit the cost of
investment in subsidiary on day one.

Derecognition (IFRS 9 and IAS 39) – financial liabilities are
derecognised when they are extinguished, that is when the
obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Inter-company loans (IFRS 9 and IAS 39)
Based on an assessment of the business model and contractual
cash flows under IFRS 9, in the company financial statements,
inter-company loans (being financial instruments) are classified
at amortised cost. Under IAS 39, they were designated on initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Intergroup balances
are callable on demand.

4.2

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the group
(issuer) to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for
a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
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• The amount initially recognised (fair value) less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of IFRS 15.

IFRS does not explicitly provide guidance for the borrower of
a guarantee. As the borrower of the guarantee (being Liberty
Group Limited), based on the substance of the parent / subsidiary
relationship, Liberty Group Limited has recognised a capital
contribution from its parent, on the issue of the subordinated
notes. Liberty Holdings Limited has charged Liberty Group Limited
for the provision of the guarantee, which will be recognised as an
expense over the term of the subordinated notes.

Appendix A – Detailed accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

4.

Financial instruments (continued)

4.3

Derivative financial instruments

GENERAL

INITIAL RECOGNITION

SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT

Derivative financial
instruments
• Financial
asset
when fair value is
positive

Initially recognised at fair value on the date the derivative Subsequently measured at fair value.
contract was entered.
Fair values of exchange-traded derivatives are obtained
The best evidence of fair value at initial recognition is the from quoted market prices. Fair values of over-the-counter
transaction price (i.e. the fair value of the consideration derivatives are obtained using valuation techniques,
given or received) unless the fair value of that instrument including discounted cash flow models and option pricing
• Financial liability is evidenced by comparison with other observable models.
when fair value is current market transactions in the same instrument or The method of recognising fair value gains and losses
based on a valuation technique whose variables include
negative
depends on whether the derivatives are designated as:
only observable market data.
• hedging instruments, and if so, the nature of the
hedge relationship; or
• held for trading instruments.

4.4

Hedge accounting

TYPE OF HEDGE

NATURE AND TREATMENT

Derivatives that qualify for cash
flow hedge accounting

Those derivatives designated as hedges of highly probable future cash flows attributable to a
recognised asset or liability.
Hedge accounting is applied provided certain criteria are met.
The group documents, at the inception of the hedge relationship, the relationship between hedged
items and hedging instruments, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking
various hedging relationships.
• The group documents its assessment, both at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing
basis, of whether the hedging instruments are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair
values or cash flows of hedged items.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash
flow hedges are recognised in the cash flow hedging reserve in the statement of comprehensive
income. The ineffective part of any gain or loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss as investment
income gains or losses.
Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) are transferred to profit or loss in the
periods in which the hedged forecast cash flows affect profit or loss.
If the derivative expires, is sold, terminated, exercised, no longer meets the criteria for cash flow hedge
accounting, or the designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued. The cumulative
gains or losses recognised in OCI remain in OCI until the forecast transaction affects profit or loss in
the case of a financial asset or a financial liability. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to
occur, the cumulative gains and losses recognised in OCI are immediately transferred to profit or loss
as investment gains or losses.

Derivatives that do not qualify for
hedge accounting

All gains and losses from changes in the fair values of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge
accounting are recognised immediately in profit or loss as investment gains or losses.
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4.

Financial instruments (continued)

4.5

Fair value

Fair value is applied as defined in IFRS 13. It is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The group holds a number of financial instruments that are
classified as held for trading or held for hedging and designated at
fair value through profit or loss.
For financial instruments, where the fair value of the financial
instrument differs from the transaction price, the difference is
commonly referred to as day one profit or loss. Day one profit or loss
is recognised in profit or loss immediately where the fair value of the
financial instrument is either evidenced by comparison with other
observable current market transactions in the same instrument,
or is determined using valuation models with only observable
market data as inputs. Day one profit or loss is deferred where the
fair value of the financial instrument is not able to be evidenced by
comparison with other observable current market transactions in
the same instrument, or determined using valuation models that
utilise non-observable market data as inputs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, fair value is measured based on
quoted market prices or dealer price quotations for assets and
liabilities that are traded in active markets and where those quoted
prices represent fair value at the measurement date. If the market
for an asset or liability is not active or the instrument is unlisted, the
fair value is determined using other applicable valuation techniques.
These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions,
discounted cash flow analyses, net asset values, pricing models and
other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants.
IFRS 13 requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level
according to the following fair value hierarchies:
• Level 1 – Values are determined using readily and regularly
available quoted prices in an active market for identical assets
or liabilities. These prices would primarily originate from the
Johannesburg Stock Exchange, the Bond Exchange of South
Africa or an international stock or bond exchange.
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• Level 2 – Values are determined using valuation techniques or
models, based on assumptions supported by observable market
prices or rates either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) prevailing at the financial position date.
The valuation techniques or models are periodically reviewed
and the outputs validated.
• Level 3 – Values are estimated indirectly using valuation
techniques or models for which one or more of the significant
inputs are reasonable assumptions (that is unobservable inputs),
based on market conditions.
Realised and unrealised gains or losses arising from changes in the
fair value of these financial assets are recognised in profit or loss
within net fair value gains on financial assets at fair value in the
period in which they arise. The fair value of financial assets with
standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets
is determined by reference to regulated exchange quoted ruling
market prices at the close of business on the last trading day on or
before the statement of financial position date. If quoted market
prices are not available, reference is also made to readily and
regularly available broker or dealer price quotations. For units in
mutual funds and shares in open-ended investment companies, fair
value is determined by reference to published repurchase prices.
If a market for a financial asset is not active, the group establishes
fair value by using various valuation techniques detailed in the fair
value hierarchy note to the annual financial statements. These
include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to
the current market value of other instruments that are substantially
the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models
making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as
possible on entity-specific inputs.
Where the fair value of financial instruments is determined using
discounted cash flow techniques, estimated future cash flows are
based on management’s best estimates and the discount rate used
is a market-related rate for a similar instrument. Certain financial
instruments are valued using pricing models that consider, among
other factors, contractual and market prices, correlation, time value
of money, credit risk, yield curve volatility factors and prepayment
rates of the underlying positions. The use of different pricing models
and assumptions could produce materially different estimates of
fair values.

Appendix A – Detailed accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

4.

Financial instruments (continued)

4.5 Fair value (continued)
Fair value adjustments for unquoted instruments are included in investment gains and losses and are determined
as follows:
INSTRUMENT

VALUATION TECHNIQUE

METHOD OF VALUATION

Fixed and variable
rate preference
shares, bonds and
inflation-linked
bonds

Discounted cash flow (DCF) model

Cash flows are projected by using either the applicable fixed dividend/
coupon, or by extrapolating the future variable dividend/ coupon using
an applicable market implied curve. These dividends/ coupons are then
valued using a discount curve which allows for the credit risk of the particular
issuer, where the credit spread is derived from instruments which display
similar credit risk characteristics.

Structured notes
(including creditlinked and equitylinked notes)

Fair valued by unbundling the note into its The funded portion of the note is valued as a floating rate deposit
constituent parts, and summing the value or floating rate credit instrument using a DCF model. Changes in the
of each of these parts.
probability of default of either issuer or any reference entity results in a
credit adjustment to the value of the instrument. Embedded optionality is
valued using an appropriate option-pricing model. Fixed rate notes generally
include an interest rate swap, and this is valued using the appropriate
market implied curve. The sum of these components is used as the value of
the structured note.

INSTRUMENT

VALUATION TECHNIQUE

METHOD OF VALUATION

Swaps

DCF model.

Cash flows are projected either by using the applicable fixed coupon, or by
extrapolating the future variable coupon using an applicable market implied
curve. These coupons are then valued using a market implied swap discount
curve.

Forwards

Fair valued by comparing the agreed
forward price to the market implied
forward price of the instrument, and
discounting the difference using a market
implied discount curve.

Unlisted equities
and debt (including
unlisted variable rate
preference shares)

Fair valued using appropriate valuation
techniques such as DCF analysis or
recent arm’s length market transactions
in respect of the equity instrument.

Fixed deposits
and negotiable
certificates of
deposit

Fair valued by unbundling the deposit The floating rate deposit is valued at face value and adjusted where
into a floating rate deposit and an interest necessary for the probability of default of the issuer. The interest rate swap
rate swap.
is valued using the appropriate market implied curve. The sum of these two
components is used as the value of the deposit.

Investment policies
with other insurers

Fair values based on the underlying
investments supporting the policy,
adjusting for applicable liquidity or credit
risk.

Over-the-counter
options (OTC)

Fair valued using an appropriate optionpricing model, for example the Black
Scholes Model.
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4.

Financial instruments (continued)

4.5

Fair value (continued)

INSTRUMENT

VALUATION TECHNIQUE

Repurchase
agreements, scrip
and collateral assets
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METHOD OF VALUATION
Securities sold subject to linked repurchase agreements are reclassified in the
statement of financial position as repurchase agreements. Such securities
are measured in accordance with the measurement policy as described
under the accounting policy for financial assets. The liability to the counterparty is included in repurchase agreements liabilities and collateral deposits
payable on the statement of financial position. The difference between
the repurchase and sales price is treated as interest and amortised over
the life of the repurchase agreement using the effective interest method
and disclosed as finance costs over the period of the agreement in the
statement of comprehensive income. Financial assets pledged as collateral
on derivative positions are disclosed with repurchase agreements, scrip and
collateral assets on the statement of financial position. Marketable securities
lent under scrip lending arrangements are measured in accordance with the
stated accounting policy applicable to the security and are reflected on the
statement of financial position.

Appendix A – Detailed accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

5.

Policyholder insurance and investment contacts

5.1

Professional Guidance issued by the Actuarial Society of South Africa

In terms of IFRS 4, insurance contracts are measured under existing local practice at the date of adoption of IFRS 4. The group had, prior to
the adoption of IFRS 4, adopted the Professional Guidance Notes (PGNs) issued by the Actuarial Society of South Africa to determine the
value in respect of insurance contracts issued in South Africa. The group has continued to value long-term insurance contracts in accordance
with these. The naming convention has changed and the term ‘Professional Guidance Note’ (PGN) was replaced with either ‘Advisory Practice
Note’ (APN) or ‘Standard of Actuarial Practice’ (SAP) depending on whether the former PGN was ‘best practice’ or ‘mandatory’ respectively.
These are available on the Actuarial Society of South Africa website (www.actuarialsociety.org.za).
Where applicable, the APNs and SAPs are referred to in the accounting policies and notes to the annual financial statements.

5.2

Insurance and investment contract classification

The group enters into contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or, in some cases, both.
Insurance contract

A contract under which one party (the insurer) accepts significant insurance risk from another party (the policyholder)
by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects
the policyholder or, in the case of life annuities, the lifespan of the policyholder is greater than that assumed. Such
contracts may also transfer financial risk. The group defines significant insurance risk as the possibility of having to pay
benefits on the occurrence of an insured event that are significantly more than the benefits payable if the insured event
did not occur.
Where the value of policyholder contracts is negative or positive in aggregate, this is shown as long-term policyholder
liabilities – insurance contracts and long-term policyholder assets – insurance contracts.
Insurance contracts where the group accepts significant insurance risk from the policyholder are classified depending
on the duration of or the type of insurance risk, as follows:
• long-term insurance; and
• short-term insurance.
Insurance contracts where another insurer (or reinsurer) accepts significant insurance risks from the group are
reinsurance contracts.

Investment contract A contract that transfers financial risk with no significant insurance risk. Financial risk is the risk of a possible future
change in one or more of a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate,
index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index or other measurable variable.
Policyholder investment contracts are classified depending on the duration of or the type of investment benefit, as
follows:
• long-term investment with discretionary participation feature (DPF);
• and long-term investment without DPF.

5.3

Discretionary participation features (DPF)

A number of insurance and investment contracts contain a DPF. This feature entitles the policyholder to receive, as a supplement to
guaranteed benefits, additional benefits or bonuses:
• that are likely to be a significant portion of the total contractual benefits;
• whose amount or timing is contractually at the discretion of the group; and
• that are contractually based on:
—— the performance of a specified pool of contracts or a specified type of contract; and/or
—— realised and/or unrealised investment returns on a specified pool of assets held by the group.
The terms and conditions or practice relating to these contracts set out the bases for the determination of the amounts on which the
additional discretionary benefits are based (the DPF eligible surplus) and limits within which the group may exercise its discretion as to the
quantum and timing of the payment to policyholders.
A proportion, as set out in the policy conditions, of the eligible surplus (usually 9/10ths of the surplus) must be attributed to policyholders
as a group (which can include future policyholders), while the amount and timing of the distribution to individual policyholders is at the
discretion of the group, subject to the advice of the statutory actuary. Management of this business is in accordance with the group’s
Published Principles and Practices of Financial Management, as lodged with the Financial Services Board. The terms reversionary bonus and
smoothed bonus refer to the specific forms of DPF contracts underwritten by the group.
All components in respect of DPFs are included in the policyholder liabilities.

Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

209

GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISK MANAGEMENT

COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

APPENDICES

Appendix A – Detailed accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

5.

Policyholder insurance and investment contacts (continued)

5.4

Long-term insurance contracts

Measurement

These contracts are valued in accordance with the Financial Soundness Valuation (FSV) method as described in SAP 104,
using a discounted cash flow methodology. The value of the policyholder contract is reflected as policyholder liabilities
under insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF if the value is negative in aggregate and as policyholder
assets under insurance contracts, if the value is positive in aggregate. The discounted cash flow methodology allows for
premiums and benefits payable in terms of the contract, future administration expenses and commission, investment
return and tax and any expected losses in respect of options.
The value of the contracts is based on assumptions of the best estimate of future experience, plus compulsory margins
as required in terms of SAP 104, plus additional discretionary margins. Derivatives embedded in the group’s insurance
contracts are not separated and measured at fair value if the embedded derivative itself qualifies for recognition as
an insurance contract. The liabilities in respect of the investment guarantees underlying maturity and death benefits
and guaranteed annuity options are measured in accordance with APN 110 on a market-consistent basis. Discretionary
margins are held to ensure that the profit and risk margins in the premiums are not capitalised before it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the entity.
Profits emerge over the lifetime of the contracts in line with the risks borne by the group. Discretionary margins include
an allowance for the shareholders’ participation in the investment bonus expected to be declared and a portion of the
management fees levied under certain classes of investment-linked business. In addition discretionary margins are held
where required for prudent reserving.
Liabilities for individual investment-linked policies where benefits are in part dependent on the performance of
underlying investment portfolios (including business with stabilised bonuses) are taken as the aggregate value of
the policies’ investment in the investment portfolio at the valuation date (the investment-linked reserve element),
reduced by the excess of the present value of the expected future risk and expense charges over the present value
of the expected future risk benefits and expenses on a policy-by-policy cash flow basis (the rand reserve element).
Reversionary bonus classes of policies and policies with fixed and guaranteed benefits are valued by discounting the
expected future cash flows at market-related rates of interest, reduced by an allowance for investment expenses
and the relevant compulsory margins (the guaranteed element). Future bonuses have been allowed for at the latest
declared rates where appropriate. The rand reserve element of investment-linked policies and the guaranteed element
in respect of other policies are collectively known as the rand reserve.
In respect of corporate life and lump sum disability business, no discounting of future cash flows is performed. However,
a provision will be held if the expected guaranteed premiums under the current basis and investment returns in the
short term are not sufficient to meet expected future claims and expenses. For corporate investment contracts with
DPF, in addition to the value of the policies’ investment in the investment portfolios held, an additional provision will be
held if the expected fee recoveries in the short term are not sufficient to meet expected expenses. Within the group all
investment contracts invested in smoothed bonus portfolios are classified as investment contracts with DPF. In respect
of insurance and investment contracts with DPF where bonuses are smoothed, bonus stabilisation provisions are
held arising from the difference between the after taxation investment performance of the assets net of the relevant
management fees and the value of the bonuses declared. In accordance with SAP 104, where the bonus stabilisation
provision is negative, this provision is restricted to an amount that can reasonably be expected to be recovered through
under-distribution of bonuses during the ensuing three years. All bonus stabilisation provisions are held as part of the
liabilities under these contracts. The liability estimates are reviewed biannually. Any changes in estimates of the liability
are reflected in profit or loss as they occur.
Where policyholders, in respect of certain policies, are entitled to a part surrender, any part surrender is treated as a
derecognition of the policyholder liability.
Shadow accounting is applied to policyholder insurance contracts where the underlying measurement of the
policyholder insurance liability depends directly on the fair value of any owner-occupied properties. Any unrealised
gains and losses on such owner-occupied properties are recognised in other comprehensive income as described in
accounting policy 6.2. The shadow accounting adjustment to policyholder insurance contracts is recognised in other
comprehensive income to the extent that the unrealised gains or losses, together with any related taxation on owneroccupied properties backing policyholder insurance liabilities are also recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.
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Appendix A – Detailed accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

5.

Policyholder insurance and investment contacts (continued)

5.4

Long-term insurance contracts (continued)

Incurred but not
reported claims

Provision is made in the long-term policyholder liabilities under insurance contracts for the estimated cost at the end of
the year of claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) at that date.

Liability adequacy
test

IBNR provisions for the main categories of business are calculated using run-off triangle techniques. These liabilities are
not discounted due to the short-term nature of IBNR claims.

Claims

Claims on insurance contracts, which include death, disability, maturity, surrender and annuity payments, are charged to
income when notified of a claim based on the estimated liability for compensation owed to policyholders.
Outstanding claims are recognised in insurance and other payables.
Reinsurance recoveries are accounted for in the same period as the related claim.

Acquisition costs

5.5

Long-term investment contracts with a DPF switching option

Measurement

5.6

At each statement of financial position date the adequacy of the insurance liabilities is assessed. If that assessment
shows that the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities (as measured under the FSV basis) net of any related
intangible present value of acquired in-force (PVIF) business assets is inadequate in light of the estimated future cash
flows (based on the best estimate basis underlying the FSV basis, but excluding compulsory margins as described in
SAP 104 as well as any additional discretionary margins), the deficiency is recognised in profit or loss.

On certain investment contracts, policyholders have an option to switch some or all of their investment from a DPF
fund to a non-DPF fund (and vice versa). The value of the liability held with respect to these contracts is taken at the
aggregate value of the policyholder investment in the investment portfolio at the valuation date.

Long-term investment contracts without DPF measurement

Measurement
and initial
recognition

The group issues investment contracts, as follows:

Service fees
on investment
management
contracts and
deferred revenue
liability (DRL)

Service fee income on investment management contracts is recognised on an accrual basis as and when the services
are rendered. A DRL is recognised in respect of upfront fees, which are directly attributable to a contract, that are
charged for investment management services. The DRL is then released to revenue when the services are provided,
over the expected duration of the contract on a straight-line basis. Regular charges billed in advance are recognised on
a straight-line basis over the billing period, which is the period over which the service is rendered. Outstanding fees are
accrued as a receivable in terms of the investment management contract.

Amounts received
and claims incurred
on investment
management
contracts

Amounts received under investment contracts, such as premiums, are recorded as deposits to investment contract
liabilities, whereas claims incurred are recorded as deductions from investment contract liabilities.

Deferred
acquisition costs
(DAC) in respect
of investment
contracts

Commissions paid and other incremental acquisition costs are incurred when new investment contracts are obtained
or existing investment contracts are renewed.

Without fixed benefits (investment-linked and structured products). Fair value of these
financial liabilities are dependent on the fair value of the underlying financial assets,
derivatives and/or investment property and are designated at inception as at fair value
through profit or loss. The best evidence of the fair value at initial recognition is the
transaction price (i.e. the fair value of the consideration received) unless the fair value
of that instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable current market
transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables
include only data from observable markets. The group’s valuation methodologies
incorporate all factors that market participants would consider and are based on
observable market data. The fair value of a investment-linked financial liability is
determined using the current unit price multiplied by the number of units attributed to
the policyholder at the statement of financial position date. If an investment contract is
subject to a put or surrender option exercisable at the reporting date, the fair value of the
financial liability is never less than the amount payable on the put or surrender option.

With fixed and guaranteed
benefits
(term
certain
annuity). Future benefit
payments and premium
receipts are discounted
using market-related rates
at the relevant statement
of financial position date.
Profit on initial recognition is
amortised over the life of the
contract.

These costs are expensed when incurred, unless specifically attributable to an investment contract with an investment
management service element. Such costs are deferred and amortised over the expected life of the contract (10 – 16 years
for linked annuities, one year for corporate investment business and five years for other investment contracts) taking into
account all decrements, on a straight-line basis, as they represent the right to receive future management fees.
A DAC asset is recognised for all applicable policies with the amortisation being calculated on a portfolio basis.
An impairment test is conducted annually at reporting date on the DAC balance to ensure that the amount will be
recovered from future revenue generated by the applicable remaining investment management contracts.
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5.

Policyholder insurance and investment contacts (continued)

5.7

Short-term insurance

Short-term insurance provides benefits under short-term policies, typically one year or less, under which the group accepts significant
insurance risks from the policyholder if the policyholder incurs losses relating to uncertain future events such as mechanical breakdown of
equipment, theft, fire, weather-related events, fraud, third-party claims and medical expenses etc.
Provision for
The provision for unearned premiums represents the portion of the current year’s premiums that relates to risk
unearned premiums periods extending into the following year. The unearned premiums are calculated using a straight-line basis, except
for those insurance contracts where allowance is made for uneven exposure.
on short-term
contracts
Liability adequacy
on short-term
contracts

Provision is made for underwriting losses that may arise from unexpired risks when it is anticipated that unearned
premiums will be insufficient to cover future claims, as well as claims-handling fees and related administrative costs.

Provision for
reported claims and
claims incurred but
not reported (IBNR)

Provision is made on a prudent basis for the estimated final cost of all claims that had not been settled on the
accounting date, less amounts already paid. Claims and loss adjustment expenses are charged to income as
incurred based on the estimated liability for compensation owed to contract holders or third-parties damaged
by the contract holders. The group’s own assessors or contracted external assessors individually assess claims.
The claims provisions include an estimated portion of the direct expenses of the claims and assessment charges.
Provision is also made for claims arising from insured events that occurred before the close of the accounting
period, but which had not been reported to the group at that date (IBNR claims). This provision is calculated using
the chain ladder run-off triangle technique. These provisions for claims are not discounted for the time value of
money due to the expected short duration to settlement.

Deferred acquisition Commissions that vary and are related to securing new contracts and renewing existing contracts are deferred
costs (DAC)
over the period in which the related premiums are earned, and recognised as an asset. All other costs are
recognised as expenses when incurred. Refer to note 8 of the group annual financial statements for details of
amounts recognised in profit or loss.
Deferred revenue
liability (DRL)

5.8

A deferred revenue liability (DRL) is raised for any income receivable on the placement of reinsurance for risks
arising from short-term insurance contracts. The DRL is released to income systematically over the coverage
period of the respective reinsurance contract.

Receivables and payables

Receivables and payables relating to insurance and investment contracts are recognised when due. These include amounts due to and from
agents, brokers, intermediaries, insurance contract holders and policyholders. The receivables are included under prepayments, insurance
and other receivables and the payables are included under insurance and other payables.
Receivables and payables related to insurance contracts are subsequently measured in terms of IFRS 4, whilst those related to investment
contracts are designated at fair valued in terms of accounting policy 4.1 and 4.2.

5.9

Reinsurance contracts held

The group cedes some insurance risk in the normal course of business. Reinsurance contracts are contracts entered into by the group with
reinsurers under which the group is compensated for the entire or a portion of losses arising on one or more of the insurance contracts
issued by the group.
The measurement of reinsurance contracts is the same as for long-term insurance contracts. The value of reinsurance contracts is reflected
as a reinsurance asset if positive in aggregate, and as a reinsurance liability if negative in aggregate. Short-term balances due from reinsurers
are classified within loans and receivables.
Reinsurance assets are assessed for impairment at each statement of financial position date. If there is reliable objective evidence, as a result
of an event that occurred after its initial recognition, that amounts due may not be recoverable, the group reduces the carrying amount of
the reinsurance asset to its recoverable amount and recognises that impairment loss in profit or loss.
Outward reinsurance premiums are recognised as an expense and are accounted for in the same accounting period that premiums received
are recognised as revenue.

212

Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

Appendix A – Detailed accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

6.

Non-financial assets

6.1

Investment properties

Investment
properties include
property that is
being constructed or
developed for future
use as investment
property. They are
held to earn rental
income and capital
appreciation.

6.2

If the fair value of investment property under construction or development cannot be measured reliably, it is
measured at cost until such time as construction is complete or fair value can be reliably measured. The open-market
fair value is determined annually by independent professional valuators. The fair value adjustments on investment
properties are included in profit or loss as investment gains in the period in which these gains or losses arise and are
adjusted for any double counting arising from the recognition of lease income on the straight-line basis compared to
the accrual basis normally assumed in the fair value determination.

Owner-occupied properties

NATURE

MEASUREMENT

DEPRECIATION

Owner-occupied
properties are held
by the group for
use in the supply of
services or for its
own administration
purposes.

Owner-occupied properties are stated at revalued
amounts, being fair value at the date of valuation less
subsequent accumulated depreciation for buildings and
accumulated impairment losses. If the open-market
valuation information cannot be reliably determined,
the group uses alternative valuation methods such
as discounted cash flow projections or recent prices
on active markets. The fair value adjustments on
owner-occupied properties are recognised in OCI and
accumulated in a revaluation reserve in equity to the
extent that the accumulated adjustment is a surplus. Any
accumulated deficits are recorded in profit or loss. On
disposal or transfer (change in use) of owner-occupied
properties to investment properties, the amounts
included in the revaluation reserve are transferred
directly to retained surplus. The deemed cost for any
reclassification (between investment properties and
owner- occupied properties) is at fair value, at the date
of reclassification.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss at rates
appropriate to the expected useful lives of owneroccupied buildings and any significant component part.
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation is calculated on
the opening open-market fair value less any expected
residual value. If the expected residual value is greater
than or equal to the carrying value, no depreciation
is provided for. On the date of the revaluation, any
accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the
gross carrying amount of the property and the net
amount restated to the revalued amount. Subsequent
depreciation charges are adjusted based on the revalued
amount for each property. Any difference between the
depreciation charge on the revalued amount and that
which would have been charged under historic cost is
directly transferred net of any related deferred taxation,
between the revaluation reserve and retained earnings as
the property is utilised.

6.3

Operating leases

Leases of assets under which the lessor effectively retains all the risks and benefits of ownership are classified as operating leases.

The group as lessor
Receipts of operating leases from properties held as investment properties are accounted for as income on the straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.
When an operating lease is terminated, any payment required by the lessee by way of penalty is recognised as income in the period in which
termination takes place.

The group as lessee
Lease payments arising from operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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6.4

Intangible assets

TYPE AND
DESCRIPTION
Goodwill

INITIAL RECOGNITION
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition of a
business combination over the fair value attributable to Liberty’s
share of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition of
subsidiaries is included in intangible assets and goodwill on
acquisitions of associates and joint ventures is included in interests
in associates and interests in joint ventures respectively.
Goodwill is capitalised at opening net carrying value for business
combinations prior to that date, or cost in respect of subsequent
acquisitions. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (CGU)
being the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash
inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets.

Computer software
development costs

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs
are recognised as an expense as incurred. However, costs that are
associated with an identifiable system, which will be controlled by
the group and has a probable benefit exceeding the cost beyond
one year, are recognised as an asset. These costs comprise all
directly attributable costs necessary to create, produce and
prepare the asset for its intended use.
Development costs are recognised as an intangible asset when
the following criteria are met:
• the group is able to demonstrate its intention and ability to
complete and use the software;
• the technical feasibility of the development can be
demonstrated;
• the availability of resources to complete the development
can be demonstrated;
• it can be demonstrated how the development will generate
probable future economic benefits; and
• the ability to reliably measure costs relating to the
development.
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SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT,
IMPAIRMENT AND AMORTISATION
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and
carried at capitalised value less accumulated
impairment losses. Any impairment calculated
is expensed to profit or loss. Gains and losses on
disposal of an entity include the carrying amount
of goodwill relating to the entity sold.
Each CGU containing goodwill is tested annually
for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised
whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its
CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to a CGU and then to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets on a pro rata basis.
Impairment losses relating to goodwill are not
reversed.
Computer software development costs
recognised as assets are amortised in profit or
loss on a straight- line basis at rates appropriate to
the expected useful life of the asset. Amortisation
commences from the date the software is
available and brought into use. As the software is
proprietary and specific to the group operations,
no residual value is estimated.

Appendix A – Detailed accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

6.

Non-financial assets (continued)

6.4

Intangible assets (continued)

TYPE AND
DESCRIPTION

SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT, IMPAIRMENT AND
AMORTISATION

INITIAL RECOGNITION

Present value of
acquired in-force
policyholder
insurance contracts
and investment
contracts with
discretionary
participation
features (DPF)

Where a portfolio of policyholder contracts is acquired,
either directly from another insurer or through the
acquisition of a subsidiary, the present value of acquired
in-force (PVIF) business on the portfolio, being the net
present value of estimated future cash flows of the
existing contracts, is recognised as an intangible asset.

The PVIF is amortised on a basis consistent with the
settlement of the relevant liability in respect of the
purchased contracts and carried in the statement of
financial position at cost less any accumulated amortisation.

Customer
relationships and
contracts

Those acquired as part of business combination are
capitalised at fair value, represented by the estimated net
present value of the future cash flows from the relevant
relationships and contracts acquired at the date of
acquisition.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the intangible asset
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful/economically beneficial life. Amortisation is charged
to profit or loss. The estimated useful life is re-evaluated on
an annual basis.

Technology-based
intangible assets

Consist of software acquired as part of business The expected useful lives are included in note 3 to the
combinations and are capitalised at its fair value at the group annual financial statements.
date of acquisition, as determined by an independent
valuer. The fair value is determined utilising a method
which calculates the cost involved in creation of the
software.

Distribution forces

The group capitalizes the value attributed to contracted The expected useful lives are included in note 3 to the
distribution forces that are acquired through business group annual financial statements.
combinations that provide a competitive advantage
to procure future new business. Values attributable to
distribution forces are capitalised at the date of acquisition
at the fair value determined by an independent valuer.
The fair values are determined by an excess earnings
valuation methodology.

6.5

Equipment

The group’s equipment provides it with the necessary infrastructure
to operate effectively. Equipment principally comprises computer
equipment and fixtures and fittings. The cost of these assets is
recognised in the income statement over time as a depreciation
charge. Where purchased software is an integral part of the related
hardware, it is accounted for as equipment, however where that
software is not integral to the related hardware, it is accounted for
as an intangible asset. Depreciation periods are detailed in note 5 of
the group annual financial statements.

6.6

Impairment of other non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that
are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable

The estimated life is re-evaluated annually. These cash
flows ignore the effects of taxation which is separately
adjusted for on application of the deferred taxation
accounting policy.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately when
incurred for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Liberty Holdings Limited
Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

215

GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISK MANAGEMENT

COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

APPENDICES

Appendix A – Detailed accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

7.

Equity

Equity shares

Shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets to the holder. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of equity instruments as consideration for the acquisition
of a business reduce the proceeds from the equity issue.

Treasury shares

Where any group company purchases the company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes), is deducted from equity attributable to the
company’s equity holders on consolidation until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where such shares
are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction
costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity. Any net income in relation to treasury shares (both fair
value movements and dividends) is eliminated from group profit for the year. The number of shares in the earnings per
share calculation is reduced for treasury shares held during the period on a weighted average basis.

Black economic
empowerment
(BEE) transaction

Investments in BEE entities via equity instruments, the proceeds of which were used by the BEE entities to finance
share purchases from shareholders to facilitate Liberty’s 2004 BEE transaction, do not meet the IAS 39 definition
of a financial asset and are considered to be a reduction of equity. Cash flows arising from Liberty Holdings Limited’s
dividends are used by the BEE entities to redeem these equity instruments and fulfil dividend obligations and are
recognised directly in equity. The number of shares in the earnings per share calculation is reduced for the respective
weighted average Liberty Holdings Limited shares held by the BEE entities.
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Appendix A – Detailed accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

8.

Other significant accounting policies

8.1

Employee benefits

TYPE OF BENEFIT

DESCRIPTION

Leave pay provision

The group recognises a liability for the amount of accumulated leave if the group has a present or constructive obligation
to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Incentive scheme

Incentive scheme bonuses are short-term bonuses which are recognised as an expense as incurred when the group has
a present or constructive obligation and the amount can be reliably measured.

Pension obligations
(defined benefit and
defined contribution
plans)

Group companies operate various pension schemes. The schemes are generally funded through payments to trustee
administered funds, determined by periodic actuarial calculations. The group has no legal or constructive obligations
to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods.
Defined benefit plan
The liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present
value of the defined benefit obligation at the statement of financial position date less the fair value of plan assets, together
with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. Plan assets exclude any insurance
contracts issued by the group. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by appointed qualified statutory
actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of government bonds that are denominated in the
currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity that approximate the terms of the related
pension liability. When the calculation results in a benefit to the group, the recognised asset is limited to the net total
of any unrecognised past service costs and the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of future
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.
The group’s current service costs, any past service cost and gain or loss on settlement plus any net interest on the
net defined benefit liability (asset) are recognised in profit or loss. Actuarial gains or losses, return on plan assets and
any change in the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding amounts recognised in net interest) are included in other
comprehensive income. Net interest is determined by multiplying the net defined benefit liability (asset) (after allowing
for the effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling) by the discount rate determined as at the start
of the annual reporting period, taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the
period as a result of contribution and benefit payments. Net interest on the defined benefit liability (asset) therefore
comprises the expected return on plan assets, interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and interest on the effect
of applying the asset ceiling.
For active employees, amounts relating to future service are recognised as expenses or income systematically over the
periods representing the expected remaining service period of employees.
Defined contribution plans
The group pays contributions to privately administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognised as an employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Other postemployment
obligations

Some group companies provide post-retirement healthcare benefits to their retirees. The entitlement to these
benefits is usually conditional on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of
a minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment using
an accounting methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension plans. Actuarial gains and losses arising from
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to other comprehensive income
immediately. Appointed qualified actuaries value these obligations annually.
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Appendix A – Detailed accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

8.

Other significant accounting policies (continued)

8.2

Revenue recognition

REVENUE TYPE

DESCRIPTION

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Insurance premium
income (recognised
under IFRS 4)

Life-insurance
premiums,
health Long-term insurance premiums – recognised when due in terms of the
insurance premiums and short-term contract, other than in respect of universally costed policies (policies where
insurance premiums
insurance risk charges are dependent on the excess of the sum assured over
the value of investments underlying the contract) and recurring premium
pure risk policies (collectively the Lifestyle series) and corporate schemes.
Premiums receivable in respect of corporate schemes are recognised
when there is reasonable assurance of collection in terms of the policy
contract. Premiums in respect of universally costed and recurring premium
risk policies are recognised as premiums when received, as failure to pay
a premium will result in a reduction of attributable fund value, if available,
or else in the lapse of the policy. Premium income on insurance contracts
is shown gross of reinsurance. Premiums are shown before deduction of
commission. Premium income received in advance is included in insurance
and other payables.
Gross written premiums on short-term contracts - accounted for as income
when the risk relating to the insurance policy commences. This is recognised
over the contractual period of risk cover by using an unearned premium
provision. All premiums are shown before deduction of commission payable
to intermediaries and exclude value-added tax (VAT).

Reinsurance
premiums
(recognised under
IFRS 4)
Investment income
(for financial
instruments,
recognised under
IFRS 9 / IAS 39, and
for rental income,
under IAS 17)

Recognised when due for payment in accordance with the terms of each
reinsurance contract.

Comprises rental income from properties, Dividends – recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
scrip lending fees and manufactured Under IFRS 9, dividends received are included in the fair value adjustments
dividends, interest, and, under IAS 39, for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
dividends received.
Rental income – accounted for on a straight-line basis under IAS 17 Leases.
Scrip lending fees and manufactured dividends – recognised on an accrual
basis and included in profit or loss within investment income.
Interest income and expenses for all interest-bearing financial instruments:
• For financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or
loss – recognised within fair value adjustments under IFRS 9 (IAS 39,
recognised as investment income and finance costs respectively) in
profit or loss.
• For financial assets held at amortised cost or classified at fair value
through other comprehensive income, as interest income on financial
assets at amortised cost and financial assets classified at fair value
through other comprehensive income; using the effective interest
method.
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Appendix A – Detailed accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

8.

Other significant accounting policies (continued)

8.2

Revenue recognition (continued)

REVENUE TYPE

DESCRIPTION

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Revenue recognition from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers arises from transactions not associated with financial instruments, insurance contracts or investment
properties.
Hotel sales
operations

Sale of accommodation, food and
beverages, other guest facilities and
rentals received.

Fee revenue

Management fees on assets under Management fees on assets under management are recognised over
management, performance fees on assets the period for which the services are rendered, in accordance with the
under management, administration fees substance of the relevant agreements.
and development fees.
Performance fees are earned, over and above asset management fees, on
superior fund performance which exceeds specific agreed targets (typically
market-related benchmarks) and are recognised when the performance
obligation has been satisfied. Performance fees include variable
consideration and therefore revenue is recognised only to the extent that it
is highly probable that no significant revenue reversal will occur. In assessing
whether a potential revenue reversal is significant, the group assesses the
magnitude of the reversal in relation to the relevant contract as a whole. Prior
to 1 January 2018: Performance fees were recognised when performance
exceeded targets and the group was unconditionally entitled to the income.

Sales are recognised over the period for which the services are rendered.
Revenue is shown net of value added tax, returns, rebates and discounts.

Administration fees received for the administration of medical schemes
are recognised when the services are rendered, in accordance with the
substance of the relevant agreements.
Development fees are recognised over the period of the contract based on
percentage of costs incurred.
Reinsurance
commission

Commission earned from reinsurers on Recognised over the term of the contract.
placement of short-term reinsurance
contracts.

Revenue is recognised either when the performance obligation
has been satisfied ('point in time') or as control of the goods or
service is transferred to the customer ('over time'). This requires an
assessment of the group and company's performance obligations
and of when control is transferred to the customer. Where revenue
is recognised over time, this is in general due to the group and
company performing and the customer simultaneously receiving
and consuming the benefits over the life of the contract as services
are rendered. For each performance obligation over time, the group
and company applies a revenue recognition method that faithfully
depicts the group and company's performance in transferring
control of the service to the customer. Due to the nature of the
group's business, the majority of its revenue from contacts with
customers is considered to be recognised 'over time'. If performance
obligations in a contract do not meet the over time criteria, the
group recognises revenue at a point in time. Only revenue from
hotel operation sales is included in this category.
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
contracts with customers, excluding amounts collected on behalf
of third parties and, including an assessment of any variable
consideration dependent on the achievement of agreed key
performance indicators. Such amounts are only included based on
the expected value or most likely outcome method, and only to the
extent that it is highly probable that no significant revenue reversal

will occur. In assessing whether a significant reversal will occur,
the group considers both the likelihood and the magnitude of the
potential revenue reversal.
As a result of the contracts which the group enters into with its
customers, a number of different assets are recognised on the
group's statement of financial position. Further details are included
in note 11 of the group annual financial statements. Payment terms
and conditions included in customer contracts are typically due in
full within 30 days.
The group has applied IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method
and therefore the comparative information has not been restated
and continues to be reported under IAS 18, IAS 11 and related
interpretations. The details of accounting policies under IAS 18 and
IAS 11 are disclosed separately only if they are different from those
under IFRS 15 and the impact of changes is disclosed in note 49.

Deferred revenue
Upfront fees received on short-term insurance business and
long-term investment contracts are recognised as a prepayment.
These amounts are non-refundable and released to income as the
services are rendered over the expected duration of the contract
on a straight-line basis. Refer to note 18 of the group annual financial
statements for the details of amounts recognised in profit or loss.
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8.

Other significant accounting policies (continued)

8.3

Share-based payment transactions

The group operates both equity settled and cash-settled share-based payment compensation schemes.
Equity
The equity compensation staff incentive schemes that have unvested conditions are the equity growth scheme and
compensation plans the restricted share plan scheme.
Equity growth
scheme

The equity growth scheme implemented during 2005 confers rights to permanent employees to acquire Liberty
Holdings Limited shares equivalent to the value of the right at date of exercise. Delivery of the shares is affected at future
dates, which are determined at the time of granting the rights. The rights issued to participants carry no entitlement to
dividends or voting rights.
The fair value of the rights are measured at grant date using an appropriate model which takes into account the terms
and conditions of the scheme, as well as the historical share price movement. The fair value is expensed over the vesting
period on a straight-line basis in the statement of comprehensive income, over the period during which employees will
become entitled to the rights granted (vesting period). The expense recognised is adjusted to ultimately reflect the
actual number of rights vested, after which no further adjustments are made. The expense is credited to a share-based
payments reserve. When the rights have vested the relevant amount is transferred from the share-based payment
reserve to retained surplus.

Restricted share
plan

The restricted share plan was introduced in 2012 and allows for two methods of participation, namely:
• deferred plan; and
• long-term incentive plan.
Selected permanent key employees are granted fully paid-up shares at no consideration in terms of retention and,
in certain cases, performance agreements. Unconditional vesting occurs on predetermined dates (depending on
fulfilment of a service condition) subject in certain cases to performance targets being met. Prior to vesting, these shares
are held in a trust, with the employee being the vested beneficiary to the economic value and income from the share. As
such, participants are entitled to receive dividends on these shares during the vesting period but hold no voting rights.
The fair value of the equity instruments granted on the date of grant is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, adjusted to reflect actual levels of vesting. The expense is
credited to a share-based payments reserve. There is no consideration payable by the participant when the shares vest,
at which time the share-based payments reserve will be transferred to retained surplus.

In calculating the amount to be expensed representing the value of
share-based payments granted to employees and the movement in
the liability of long-term cash incentive schemes, various assumptions
relating to expected take up of rights and incentives, equity share
price, dividend yields and related volatility are applied. Details of these
are contained in note 36 to the group annual financial statements.

8.4

Taxation

Income taxation on the profit or loss for the periods presented
comprises current and deferred taxation.

Current taxation
Current taxation is the expected taxation payable, using taxation
rates enacted at the reporting date, including any prior year under
or overprovisions.
The group is subject to taxation in a number of jurisdictions. There
may be transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination has an element of uncertainty during the ordinary
course of business. The group recognises liabilities based on objective
estimates of the quantum of taxes that may be due. Where the
final tax determination is different from amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation is provided in full using the liability method.
Provision is made for deferred taxation attributable to temporary
differences in the accounting and taxation treatment of items in the
financial statements. A deferred taxation liability is recognised for
all temporary differences, at enacted or substantially enacted rates
of taxation at the statement of financial position date, except for
differences:
• relating to goodwill;
• arising from initial recognition of assets or liabilities which affect
neither accounting nor taxable profits or losses; and
• relating to investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements
(excluding mutual funds) where the group controls the timing
of the reversal of temporary differences and it is probable that
these differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
In respect of temporary differences arising on fair value adjustments
on investment properties, deferred taxation is provided at the
use rate if the property is considered to be a long-term strategic
investment or at the capital gains effective rate if recovery is
anticipated to be mainly through disposal.

Appendix A – Detailed accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

8.

Other significant accounting policies (continued)

8.4

Taxation (continued)

A deferred taxation asset is recognised for the carry forward
of unused taxation losses, unused taxation credits and
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which they can
be utilised. Deferred taxation assets are assessed for probable
recoverability based on applicable estimated future business
performance and related taxable projected income.
The major categories of assets and liabilities giving rise to a
deferred taxation balance are investment properties revaluation
surpluses, policyholder valuation basis, life fund special transfers,
deferred acquisition costs, deferred revenue, unrealised gains on
investments, intangible assets and provisions.

8.5

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group has a known present
legal or constructive obligation of uncertain timing or amount, as a
result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of the group
resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Judgement
is applied as to the quantum and timing of these resources
considering all available information. Provisions are discounted using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific
to the liability.

8.6

Segment information

Liberty underwent a strategy and operating model refresh during
2018 which has reduced emphasis on growth opportunities
across Africa as well as other diversification initiatives and
increased remedial efforts on its core long-term insurance and
asset management businesses in South Africa. As a result of the
operating model refresh, there are no longer specific customer
facing units (previously being Individual Arrangements, Group
Arrangements and Asset Management), supported by centralised
enablement support functions. The group is now organised as SA
Retail (including corporate support functions), Liberty Corporate
and Africa regions. The information is presented in the same
format as is presented to the chief operating decision makers
when making operating decisions and for allocating resources
and assessing performance. Certain reporting adjustments are
provided separately to reconcile to IFRS reported earnings.
The 2017 segment information has accordingly been restated.

8.7

Disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and
liabilities that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale
or distribution to owners rather than continuing use, are classified
as held for sale or for distribution and are accounted for as follows:
Non-current assets held as investments for the benefit of
policyholders as part of the group’s investment management and
life insurance activities are not classified as held for sale as ongoing
investment management implies regular purchases and sales in the
ordinary course of business.
• Immediately before classification as held for sale or for
distribution, the assets (or components of a disposal group)
are remeasured in accordance with the group’s accounting
policies and tested for impairment. Thereafter, all the assets in
the disposal group are measured at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell (this is an accounting
policy choice, and is not limited to only the non-current
assets). Impairment losses on initial classification as held for
sale or for distribution as well as subsequent gains and losses
on remeasurement of these assets or disposal groups are
recognised in profit or loss.
• Assets (or components of a disposal group) are presented
separately in the statement of financial position.
• Property and equipment and intangible assets once classified as
held for sale, are not depreciated or amortised.
• Once an interest in an associate or joint venture is classified as
held for sale, equity accounting is suspended.
In presenting the group’s non-current assets and liabilities as held
for sale, intercompany balances are eliminated in full.

8.8

Offsetting

Assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the
statement of financial position when:
• there is a current legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts; and
• there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
company or the counterparty.
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Appendix B – Liberty Holdings Limited and Liberty Group
Limited rights and restricted shares and utilisation of incentive
share scheme allocation
for the year ended 31 December 2018

B1.

Summary of unvested or unexercised Liberty restricted shares and subjects to rights at 31
December 2018
Shares/rights
under share
schemes at
1 January

2018

Awards
granted

Implemented(1)

Cancelled

Shares/rights
under share
schemes at
31 December

Equity growth scheme
Restricted shares – deferred plan
Restricted shares – long-term plan

1 997 760
3 398 254
615 503

1923 508
1463 721
252 619

(282 427)
(38 997)
(290 355)

(201 405) 3 437 436
(994 243) 3 828 735
(64 915)
512 852

Total

6 011 517

3 639 848

(611 779)

(1 260 563) 7 779 023

(1)

Implemented represents the fulfilment of obligations by the group under each scheme.

B2. Equity growth scheme

Price
payable
per share

Date
granted
15 May 08
18 Feb 09
2 Nov 09
1 Dec 09
5 Jan 10
23 Feb 10
24 Mar 10
10 Aug 10
9 Sep 10
14 Oct 10
18 Oct 10
24 Feb 11
28 Mar 11
3 May 11
1 Jun 11
3 Oct 11
26 Oct 11
1 Nov 11
3 Nov 11
1 Mar 12
2 May 12
1 Mar 14
1 Mar 15
1 Mar 16
1 Mar 17

70,22
65,15
67,56
66,00
68,12
69,00
72,51
76,56
71,25
71,84
71,43
74,70
68,00
71,90
73,00
80,00
80,49
81,58
80,30
87,90
88,19
123,39
160,40
138,40
111,43

Rights
under option
at the
Final
beginning
vesting date
of the year
15 May 13
18 Feb 14
2 Nov 2014
1 Dec 14
5 Jan 15
23 Feb 15
24 Mar 15
10 Aug 15
9 Sep 15
14 Oct 15
18 Oct 15
24 Feb 15
28 Mar 15
3 May 16
1 Jun 16
3 Oct 16
26 Oct 16
1 Nov 16
3 Nov 16
1 Mar 17
2 May 17
1 Mar 19
1 Mar 20
1 Mar 21
1 March 22

Balance carried forward
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Rights
Rights
granted implemented
during
during
the year
the year

5 000
211 125
70 000
61 050
35 000
152 000
12 000
6 250
7 500
2 500
10 000
336 300
21 000
10 000
2 500
10 000
50 000
2 250
67 000
11 053
10 000
22 304
111 938
110 969
160 021

(5 000)
(100 985)

1 497 760

(282 427)

Rights
(cancelled)/
Rights
reinstated under option
during
at the end
the year
of the year
110 140
70 000
59 950

(1 100)
(35 000)
(25 000)
(12 000)

127 000
6 250

(7 500)
2 500
(10 000)
(57 875)
(3 250)

(5 000)

(2 250)
(5 750)
(11 053)
(5 664)

273 425
17 750
10 000
2 500
10 000
50 000
61 250

(13 099)
(67 164)
(33 410)
(32 732)

10 000
3 541
44 774
77 559
127 289

(151 405) 1 063 928

Appendix B – Liberty Holdings Limited and Liberty Group
Limited rights and restricted shares and utilisation of incentive
share scheme allocation (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

B2

Equity growth scheme (continued)

Date
granted

Price
payable
per share

Rights
under option
at the
Final
beginning
vesting date
of the year

Rights
Rights
granted implemented
during
during
the year
the year

Rights
(cancelled)/
Rights
reinstated under option
during
at the end
the year
of the year

1 497 760

(282 427)

(151 405) 1 063 928

Balance brought
forward
30 May 17
1 Mar 18
1 Mar 18

110,79
138,00
138,00

30 May 22
1 Mar 23
1 Mar 23

500 000

500 000
(50 000) 1 725 000
148 508

1 775 000
148 508
1 997 760

1 923 508

(282 427)

(201 405) 3 437 436

248,6

Market value of shares/rights under option (Rm)

378,1

B3. Liberty Holdings group restricted share plan (deferred plan)

Date granted
1 Mar 15
1 Mar 15
1 Mar 16
1 Aug 16
1 Mar 17
1 Mar 18
30 Nov 18

Award
price
per share

Final
vesting
date

123.39
160.4
138.4
122.5
111.43
138
109

1 Sep 17
1 Sep 18
1 Sep 19
1 Feb 20
1 Sep 20
1 Sep 21
30 May 22

Shares at
the
beginning
of the year
1 711
104 838
210 974
9 173
288 807

Shares
vested
during
the year
(1 711)
(98 412)
(97 467)
(3 057)
(89 708)

251 149
1 470
615 503

Market value of shares (Rm)

Shares
granted
during
the year

252 619

(290 355)

Shares
cancelled
during
the year
(4 822)
(17 323)
(25 770)
(17 000)
(64 915)

Shares at
the end
of the year
1 604
96 184
6 116
173 329
234 149
1 470
512 852

76,6

56,4
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Appendix B – Liberty Holdings Limited and Liberty Group
Limited rights and restricted shares and utilisation of incentive
share scheme allocation (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

B4. Liberty Holdings group restricted share plan (long-term plan)

Date granted
1 Mar 13
1 May 13
1 Aug 13
1 Sep 13
1 Oct 13
1 Nov 13
28 Feb 14
1 Mar 14
1 Sep 14
28 Nov 14
1 Mar 15
1 Mar 15
2 Apr 15
1 May 15
7 Aug 15
1 Sep 15
1 Oct 15
2 Oct 15
17 Nov 15
1 Mar 16
1 Mar 16
1 May 16
1 Aug 16
1 Sep 16
15 Sep 16
17 Oct 16
1 Aug 16
1 Nov 16
1 Mar 17
1 Mar 17
1 Apr 17
1 May 17
24 May 17
1 Aug 17
4 Aug 17
14 Aug 17
15 Aug 17
1 Sep 17
20 Sep 17
1 Nov 17
1 Mar 18
7 May 18

Shares
vested
during
the year

Shares
cancelled
during
the year

1 Mar 18
78 081
1 May 18
988
1 Aug 18
5 565
1 Sep 18
20 729
1 Oct 18
24 859
1 Nov 18
1 811
28 Feb 19
5 450
1 Mar 19
319 797
1 Sep 19
1 890
28 Nov 19
59 689
1 Mar 20
8 694
1 Mar 20
455 181
2 Apr 20
4 422
1 May 20
836
7 Aug 20
126 907
1 Sep 20
45 031
1 Oct 20
6 730
2 Oct 20
51 464
17 Nov 20
35 433
1 Mar 21
4 462
1 Mar 21
745 858
1 May 21
5 253
1 Aug 21
8 354
1 Sep 21
23 943
15 Sep 21
2 007
17 Oct 21
2 690
1 Aug 21
10 523
1 Nov 21
44 431
1 Mar 22 1 124 170
1 Mar 22
9 027
1 Apr 22
25 404
1 May 22
65 117
24 May 22
3 163
1 Aug 22
16 371
4 Aug 22
3 269
14 Aug 22
1 942
15 Aug 22
19 175
1 Sep 22
17 296
20 Sep 22
9 989
1 Nov 22
2 252
1 Mar 23
1 391 489
7 May 23
30 741

(18 731)
(247)
(1 138)
(4 694)
(6 215)
(453)

(57 507)
(741)
(3 414)
(15 230)
(18 644)
(1 358)
(3 818)
(190 150)
(708)
(29 842)
(2 897)
(190 101)
(1 474)
(836)
(42 300)
(11 257)
(1 682)
(24 741)
(11 811)

3 398 253 1 422 230

(38 997)

Award
price Final vesting
per share
date
121,02
123,00
119,00
115,00
117,00
124,00
122,58
123,39
130,58
131,24
141,36
160,40
169,63
165,80
141,00
128,80
126,30
126,30
127,00
126,38
138,40
125,31
122,50
112,77
115,26
111,53
122,50
115,95
111,43
110,78
108,25
107,50
110,67
113,01
112,30
103,00
104,30
103,60
104,50
111,04
138,00
130,12

Balance carried forward
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Shares
at the
beginning
of the year

Shares
granted
during
the year

(236)

(3 753)
(561)
(2 969)

(89 234)
(2 249)

Shares at
the end
of the year
1 843
1 013
805

1 632
129 647
946
29 847
5 797
265 080
2 948
84 607
30 021
4 487
23 754
23 622
4 462
656 624
5 253
6 105
23 943

(2 007)

(24 210)
(147 622)

2 690
10 523
20 221
976 548
9 027
25 404
65 117
3 163
16 371
3 269

(1 942)
19 175
17 296
9 989
2 252
(113 400) 1 278 089
30 741
(989 175) 3 792 311

Appendix B – Liberty Holdings Limited and Liberty Group
Limited rights and restricted shares and utilisation of incentive
share scheme allocation (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

B4

Liberty Holdings group restricted share plan (long-term plan) (continued)

Date granted

Shares
granted
during
the year

3 398 253 1 422 230

Balance brought forward
3 Aug 18
1 Oct 18
1 Nov 18

Shares
at the
beginning
of the year

Award
price Final vesting
per share
date
118,37
112,78
107,99

Shares
vested
during
the year
(38 997)

Shares
cancelled
during
the year

(989 175) 3 792 311

27 087
6 626
7 778

3 Aug 23
1 Oct 23
1 Nov 23

3 398 253 1 463 721
Market value of shares (Rm)

Shares at
the end
of the year

(5 068)

(38 997)

22 019
6 626
7 778

(994 243) 3 828 734

422,8

421,2

B5. Utilisation of shareholder approved long-term incentive ordinary share allocation
Shareholders have approved that the aggregated number of unissued shares which may be reserved for long-term incentive purposes is
29 million, approximately 10,13% of the current issued share capital. This approval is applicable to unvested equity growth scheme awards at
1 September 2008 plus any new awards granted under any scheme thereafter. At the directors’ option, settlement of obligations under the
equity growth scheme can be undertaken either by a share issue or by use of treasury shares re-purchased from the market. Shares reserved
for the restricted share schemes (deferred and long-term plans) can only be obtained from treasury shares acquired from the market.
In previous years the awards granted under the equity growth scheme were attributed at the nominal right amount that was awarded.
For example 100,000 rights were reflected as 100,000 shares.
On review, it was decided that this does not equate to the economic reality of the number of shares that is ultimately required to settle the
exercise value of the right. Consequently the methodology of the attribution has been changed to:
1.

On exercise the number of shares required to fulfil the obligation, plus

2. An estimate of the number of shares required to fulfil obligations on awards still to vest or awards vested but not yet exercised. The
estimate includes the use of the Black Scholes valuation technique.
The revised methodology is consistent with that applied by the group's holding company, Standard Bank Group Limited.
The table below and associated disclosure has been updated applying this methodology retrospectively.

Utilisation of shareholder approved share incentive scheme allocation
Equity
growth
scheme
Scheme allocation originally approved with effect from
1 September 2008(1)
Awards for the period 1 September 2008 to 31 December 2017
Cancellations for the period 1 September 2008 to 31 December 2017
Number of shares estimated to fulfil obligation on unexercised rights
Available balance for scheme allocation at 31 December 2017
Awards
Cancellations
Number of shares estimated to fulfil obligation on unexercised rights

(4 687 252)
(581 542)
(79 689)
(165 139)

Deferred plan
restricted
shares

(2 625 092)
407 554

(252 619)
64 915

Long-term
restricted
shares

29 000 000
(6 745 089) (14 057 433)
1 968 147
2 375 701
(581 542)
(1 463 721)
994 243

16 736 726
(1 796 029)
1 059 158
(165 139)
15 834 716

Available balance for scheme allocation at 31 December 2018
(1)

Total

Date when JSE regulations changed to not allow roll over adjustments to shareholder approved allocations for awards that are not implemented.

The maximum number of shares that may be acquired by all participants in terms of the Liberty Holdings Group Restricted Share Plan,
together with any other plan, adopted by the company is 29 million shares (10,13% of issued share capital) and any one participant cannot
acquire in excess of 725 000 shares under the plan (0,253% of issued share capital). At 31 December 2018 the highest cumulative restricted
share allocation to one participant is 597 349 shares (2017: 548 997), which is below the threshold.
Awards granted less any subsequent cancellations are accumulated and reduce the number of shares available within the approved scheme
allocations.
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Appendix C – Long-term policyholder liabilities and short- term
insurance liabilities reconciliation (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Policyholder
liabilities

Investment
contracts
with DPF

210 554

11 845

Inflows

30 758

2 066

Insurance premiums

28 477

1 966

Group
Rm

Policy- Reinsurance
assets and
holder
liabilities
assets

Investment
contracts

Deferred
acquisition
costs

Deferred
revenue
liability

2018
Balance at beginning of year

(7 484)

(818)

100 519

8 307

(1 576)

17 005

8 307

(1 576)

(730)

283

(28)

19

Disposal groups classified as held for sale

17 901

Fund inflows
Investment returns

2 258

Unwinding of discount rate

2 296

100

(896)
(673)

(45)
(1 273)

Fair value adjustment

377

Property expenses
Investment returns

(38)

100

673

45

Equity accounted earnings from joint
venture
Fee revenue

23

Outflows

(40 366)

(3 731)

(7 170)

1 244

(17 673)

Claims and policyholders benefits

(30 995)

(3 511)

(3 792)

1 308

(16 083)

Insurance claims

(30 995)

(3 511)

(3 792)

1 308
(16 083)

Fund outflows
Acquisition costs

(1 891)

(87)

(1 311)

1

(543)

Net movement in acquisition costs
General marketing and administration
expenses
Finance costs and fair value on financial
liabilities

(4 434)

(144)

(1 763)

43

(1 014)

(973)

(407)

Profit share allocations

(1 185)

(20)

Taxation

(19)

(888)

11

123

(108)

(14)

(418)

58

(361)

(262)

(38)

605

(383)

Fair value on third-party mutual fund
interests
Net income from insurance operations
Changes in assumptions

165

(1 251)

Service fee income
Expenses
Discretionary and compulsory margins
and other variances
New business
Shareholder taxation on transfer of net
income

1 199
(1 804)

82

491
730

(24)

216

199

200 744

10 437

(1 085)

19
(28)

44

(29)

(25)

148

102

14

Change in policyholder liabilities
Change in policyholder liabilities –
application of shadow accounting
Foreign currency translation
Balance at end of year
(1)

(4)
(6 708)

Includes owner-occupied properties – fair value adjustment (R3 million) net of related taxes (R1 million).
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(1 416)

99 813

(758)

302

Appendix C – Long-term policyholder liabilities and short- term
insurance liabilities reconciliation (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Total

Reclassification

314 169

Total

Long-term
insurance

Short-term
insurance

Total
insurance

Other
business

Per statement of
comprehensive
income

314 169
(249)

(249)

55 075
37 174

37 174

17 901

17 901

1 578

(1 578)

(1 273)

1 273

377

(377)

780

685

23

37 174

1 347

1 273
1 465

23

1 465

23

156

91

38 521

38 521

1 273

1 273

1 621

114

6 854

8 475

32

32

2 162

2 276

(53 073)
(36 990)

(36 990)

(16 083)

(16 083)

(3 831)

28
(28)

(3 803)

(36 990)

(943)

(37 933)

(37 933)

(3 803)

(116)

(3 919)

(494)

(4 413)

(410)

(7 722)

(3 462)

(11 184)

(28)

(7 312)

(7 312)

(7 312)

(1 399)

(1 399)

(1 399)

(1 399)

(92)

(1 491)

(1 205)

(1 205)

(1 205)

(1 205)

(79)

(1 284)

(877)

(877)

(913)

(342)

(1 255)

(2 407)

(2 407)

(876)

(1)

(1 030)

(36)

(1 030)

387
(1 232)

1 232

1 232

1 232

11 449

11 449

11 449

1 171
(2 763)
437
970

(2)

(2)

411

411

302 414

302 414

1 030

89

1 119

1 923

3 042
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Appendix C – Long-term policyholder liabilities and short- term
insurance liabilities reconciliation (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Policy- Investment
holder
contracts
liabilities
with DPF

Group
Rm
2017
Balance at beginning of year
Inflows
Insurance premiums
Fund inflows
Investment returns
Unwinding of discount rate
Fair value adjustment
Property expenses
Investment returns
Equity accounted earnings from joint
venture
Fee revenue

204 155
48 899

Policy- Reinsurance
holder assets and Investment
assets
liabilities
contracts

11 462 (7 314)
3 066 7 838

28 152

2 145

20 726

921

2 286

1

7 838

(797)
(1 417)

18 440

920

667

47

21
1 558

(17 886)

Claims and policyholders benefits

(31 501)

(2 300) (3 903)

1 571

(16 373)

Insurance claims
Fund outflows

(31 501)

(2 300) (3 903)

1 571

Balance at end of year
(1)

(16 373)
(2 315)

(83) (1 441)

(4 368)

(174) (1 734)

(924)
(903)
(1 888)

6

(347)
(24)
46

(47)

(24)

(464)

6

(605)

(167)

(63)

(32)

(1 254)
1 167

(32)

21

(1 534)
425
624

(137)
210 554

245

7 (1 172)
78
(1)

244

(138)
11 845 (7 484)

Includes owner-occupied properties – fair value adjustment (R46 million) net of related taxes (R14 million).
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27

9 116
322

(2 551) (7 403)

Change in policyholder liabilities
Change in policyholder liabilities –
application of shadow accounting
Foreign currency translation

256

(52)

(41 899)

Changes in assumptions
Service fee income
Expenses
Discretionary and compulsory margins
and other variances
New business
Shareholder taxation on transfer of net
income

(698)

17 417
9 438

Outflows

Acquisition costs
Net movement in acquisition costs
General marketing and administration
expenses
Finance costs and fair value on financial
liabilities
Profit share allocations
Taxation
Fair value on third-party mutual fund
interests
Net income from insurance operations

Deferred
revenue
liability

(1 412)
(5)

(667)

91 613
26 855

Deferred
acquisition
costs
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(4)

(483)

38

(988)
(18)

90
27

(293)
(24)
60

24

5
(818)

100 519

(730)

283

Appendix C – Long-term policyholder liabilities and short- term
insurance liabilities reconciliation (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Total

Reclassification

Total

298 677

298 677
54 140

36 723
17 417

36 723
17 417

1 568
9 116
322
20 074

(1 568)
(9 116)
(322)
10 960

21

Long-term
insurance

Short-term
insurance

Total
insurance

36 723

1 297

38 020

38 020

(9 116)

(9 116)

(9 116)
31 034

21

Per statement
of
Other comprehensive
business
income

31 034

21

96

120

31 130

9 889

41 019

141

25
2 315

25
2 456

(52 506)
(36 133)
(16 373)

(36 133)
(16 373)

(36 133)

(886)

(37 019)

(4 294)
(32)

(4 294)

(118)

(4 412)

(523)

(4 935)

(7 226)

(7 226)

(7 226)

(365)

(7 591)

(3 754)

(11 345)

(1 289)
(927)
(1 907)

(1 289)
(927)
(1 893)

(1 289)
(927)
(1 893)

(37)

(1 289)
(927)
(1 930)

(55)
(45)
(934)

(1 344)
(972)
(2 864)

(4 619)

(4 619)

(4 326)

32
(32)

14

(1 298)

(37 019)

(1 298)

356
(1 227)
1 135

1 227

1 227

1 227

(6 829)

(6 829)

(6 829)

(2 992)
479
951

32
(270)
314 169

32
(270)
314 169

1 298

107

1 405

2 299

3 704
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Appendix D – List of companies within the Liberty Holdings
Limited group
as at 31 December 2018

Parent

Indirectly owned

Direct holding company: Standard Bank Group Limited controls
53,62% (2017: 53,62%) of the issued ordinary shares.

Wholly owned through directly owned subsidiaries

Fellow subsidiaries
All subsidiaries of Standard Bank are fellow subsidiaries of Liberty
Holdings Limited – a full list can be obtained from the company
secretary and details are contained in the published annual report
of Standard Bank Group Limited.

Subsidiaries
Directly wholly owned
Lexshell 615 Investments Proprietary Limited
Liberty Group Limited
Liberty Group Properties Proprietary Limited
Liberty Group Shelf Company No 1 Proprietary Limited
Liberty Holdco Nigeria Limited
Liberty Holdings Swaziland Proprietary Limited
Liberty Holdings Zambia Proprietary Limited
Liberty Nominees Proprietary Limited
Standard Insurance Limited (Swaziland)
STANLIB Kenya Limited
STANLIB Limited
Stonehouse Capital Proprietary Limited
STANLIB Uganda Limited
STANLIB Ghana Limited
Liberty Health Holdings Proprietary Limited
Own Your Life Rewards Proprietary Limited
Total Health Trust Limited
Liberty Holdings Botswana Proprietary Limited
Mentenova Consultants and Actuaries Proprietary Limited
Liberty Life Lesotho Limited
STANLIB Property Development Proprietary Limited
STANLIB Tanzania Limited

Partially owned
These entities are subsidiaries due to effective control as Liberty
Holdings Limited already has majority control or the option to
acquire further shares to effect control and/or the right to manage
the operations.
Liberty Kenya Holdings PLC (57,7%)
Liberty Holdings Namibia Proprietary Limited (75%)
Liberty Life Assurance Uganda Limited (51%)
STANLIB Lesotho Proprietary Limited (74,9%)
Liberty General Insurance Uganda Limited (51%)
Liberty Life Swaziland Limited (85%)
Mentenova Proprietary Limited (60%)
Liberty General Insurance Company Limited (Malawi) (55%)
V-innovations Administration Services Proprietary Limited (70%)
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Capital Alliance Investment Holdings Proprietary Limited
Liberty Wealth Consultancy Proprietary Limited
Frank Life Limited
Frank Financial Services Proprietary Limited
Killyman Estates Proprietary Limited
Liberty Active Limited
Liberty Growth Limited
Liberty Linked Investment Platform Proprietary Limited
Liberty Linked Investment Platform Nominee (RF)
Proprietary Limited
Liberty Private Fund Administrators Limited
Liberty Properties (Swaziland) Proprietary Limited
Liberty Properties (Zambia) Limited
Lodestone Holdings Proprietary Limited
LPH Properties Limited
Sandton Hotels Proprietary Limited
STANLIB Asset Management Proprietary Limited
STANLIB Collective Investments (RF) Proprietary Limited
STANLIB Fund Managers Jersey Limited
STANLIB Infrastructure GP 1 Proprietary Limited
STANLIB Infrastructure GP 2 Proprietary Limited
STANLIB Multi-Manager Limited
STANLIB Swaziland Proprietary Limited
STANLIB Wealth Management Proprietary Limited
STANLIB Wealth Management Nominees Proprietary Limited
Liberty Life Insurance (Zambia) Limited
Unique Payment Services Proprietary Limited
Liberty Health Administration Proprietary Limited
Liberty Health Proprietary Limited
Liberty Propco Proprietary Limited
Liberty Life Botswana Proprietary Limited
STANLIB Investment Management Services Proprietary Limited
(Botswana)
Liberty General Botswana Limited
Eq-Fin Proprietary Limited
Dotcoza Proprietary Limited
STANLIB Athi River HoldCo Limited
STANLIB Arena HoldCo Limited
STANLIB Alvanti Office HoldCo Limited
STANLIB Meridian Square HoldCo Limited

Partially owned through directly owned subsidiaries
(percentage effective ownership indicated)
Main Street 645 Proprietary Limited (51%)
CfC Investments Limited (57,7%)
Liberty Life Assurance Kenya Limited (57,7%)
Liberty Blue Consultancy Limitada (Mozambique) (75%)
Liberty Life Namibia Limited (75%)
STANLIB Namibia Proprietary Limited (75%)
STANLIB Namibia Unit Trust Management Company Limited (75%)
The Heritage Insurance Company (Kenya) Limited (57,7%)
The Heritage Insurance Company (Tanzania) Limited (34,6%)
United Funeral Insurance Limited (75%)
Liberty Two Degrees Limited (58,9%)
STANLIB REIT Fund Managers (RF) Proprietary Limited (58,9%)
2 Degrees Properties Proprietary Limited (58,9%)

Appendix D – List of companies within the Liberty Holdings
Limited group (continued)
Interest in mutual fund subsidiaries
%(1)
STANLIB Funds Limited
STANLIB Multi-Manager Property Fund
STANLIB Multi-Manager Flexible Property Fund
STANLIB Multi-Manager Global Equity Fund
STANLIB Multi-Manager Shariah Balanced Fund
STANLIB ETF Top 40 Fund
STANLIB ETF SWIX Fund
STANLIB Multi- Manager Equity Fund
STANLIB Quants Fund
STANLIB Institutional Money Market Fund
STANLIB Multi- Manager Real Return Feeder Fund
STANLIB Global Bond Feeder Fund
STANLIB Absolute Plus Fund
STANLIB Multi-Manager Inflationary Bond Fund
STANLIB Multi-Manager Bond Fund
STANLIB Multi-Manager Defensive Balanced Fund
STANLIB Multi-Manager Balanced Fund
STANLIB Capped Property Index Tracker Fund
STANLIB Africa Equity Fund
Global Insurance Settlements PLC
(LTI Notes Series 1 Limited)
Investec International High Yield Fund
STANLIB Infrastructure Yield Fund
STANLIB Property Income Fund
STANLIB Sector Neutral Momentum Index
Tracker Fund
STANLIB Global Balanced Fund
STANLIB Prudential ABIL Fund
STANLIB Multi-Manager Retail Investor Hedge Fund
STANLIB Multi-Manager NCIS Private Assets
Qualified Investor Hedge Fund
STANLIB Multi-Manager Africa Private Assets Fund
STANLIB Multi-Manager Enhanced Yield Fund
STANLIB Inflation Plus 3% Fund
STANLIB Value Fund
STANLIB Infrastructure Private Equity Fund 1
STANLIB Institutional Property Fund
STANLIB Shariah Equity Fund
STANLIB Multi-Manager Global Alternatives Fund
of Funds
(1)

Structured entities
2018

2017

54
66
48
36
30
91
99
82
60
51
63
39
58
64
90
95
91
94
58

49
68
49
34
69
89
99
83
52
46
54
87
49
79
86
96
91

84
100
100
35

84
100
100

55

96
49
96
100
100
100
59

100

72
90
64
34
54
74

Blue Diamond Investments No. 3 (RF) Limited
LTI Notes Series 1 Limited
LibFin Note Issuer 1 (RF) Proprietary Limited
Passives Funding Proprietary (RF) Limited
Vineyard Road Investments (RF) Limited

Associates
Mobilife Financial Services Proprietary Limited

Joint ventures
JHI Retail Proprietary Limited
Kouga Wind Farm (RF) Proprietary Limited
Simacel 160 (RF) Proprietary Limited
Renewable Energy Investments SA (RF) Proprietary Limited
Exeo Capital Proprietary Limited (Mauritius)
Exeo Capital Proprietary Limited (South Africa)

Interest in mutual fund associates
STANLIB Corporate Money Market Fund
STANLIB ALSI 40 Fund
STANLIB Balanced Cautious Fund
STANLIB Income Fund
STANLIB Money Market Fund
STANLIB Aggressive Income Fund
STANLIB Balanced Fund
STANLIB Global Equity Feeder Fund
STANLIB Global Property Feeder Fund
STANLIB Fahari Income Fund
Africa Infrastructure Fund
STANLIB Extra Income Fund
STANLIB Inflation Plus 5 Percent Fund
STANLIB Prudential Bond Fund
STANLIB Multi-Manager Low Equity Fund of Funds
STANLIB Multi-Manager Medium Equity Fund of Funds
STANLIB Multi-Manager Absolute Income Fund
STANLIB Multi-Manager Diversified Fund of Funds
STANLIB Equity Fund
STANLIB Enhanced Yield Fund
Agri Vie Exeo Capital Fund South Africa Partnership LLP Fund
STANLIB Global Balanced Fund
STANLIB Inflation Linked Bond Fund
STANLIB SA Equity Fund
STANLIB Flexible Income Fund

Share Trust
The Liberty Holdings Group Restricted Share Trust

Percentage or participation rights in total issued units.
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Appendix E – Abbreviations and definitions
ABBREVIATIONS
ALBI

All Bond Index

GAC

Group actuarial committee

ALM

Asset liability matching

GAO

Guaranteed annuity option

APN

Advisory Practice Note

GBSMC

Group balance sheet management committee

AOS

Analysis of Surplus

GCROC

Group control and risk oversight committee

BEE

Black Economic Empowerment

GRC

Group risk committee

BESA

Bond Exchange of South Africa

IAS

International Accounting Standards

BSR

Bonus stabilisation reserve

IASB

International Accounting Standards Board

BU

Business unit

IBNR

Incurred but not reported

CE

Chief executive

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards

CGT

Capital gains taxation

ISDA

International swap and derivative agreement

CGU

Cash generating unit

JSE

Johannesburg Stock Exchange

CRO

Chief risk officer

L2D

Liberty Two Degrees

CSA

Collateral support agreement/credit support annexure

LCR

Liquidity coverage ratio

DAC

Deferred acquisition costs or Directors' Affairs Committee;
depending on context

LGL

Liberty Group Limited

DPF

LHL

Liberty Holdings Limited

Discretionary participation features

DRL

NAV

Net asset value

Deferred revenue liability

ERM

OTC

Over-the-counter

Enterprise risk management

FCTR

PA

Prudential Authority

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

FICA

PVIF

Present value of acquired in-force

Financial Intelligence Centre Act

FSV

REIT

Real Estate Investment Trust

Financial soundness valuation

FVOCI

SAA

Strategic Asset Allocation

Fair value through other comprehensive income

FVPL

SAM

Solvency Assessment and Management

Fair value through profit or loss

FTSE

SAP

Standard of Actuarial Practice

Financial Times Stock Exchange

GAAC

SCR

Solvency Capital Requirement

Group audit and actuarial committee
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Appendix E – Abbreviations and definitions (continued)
DEFINITION
Advisory Practice Note (APN) Notes issued by the Actuarial Society of South Africa to provide advice to members and guide members in
their relevant area of practice.
Analysis of Surplus (AOS)

A methodology for identifying and quantifying the various sources of IFRS income of a life insurance
company.

Annuity

A financial contract between an insurer and a customer under which the insurer promises to make a series
of periodic benefit payments to an agreed beneficiary in exchange for the payment of a premium or series
of premiums to the insurer.

Asset/liability matching

The process whereby an insurer invests in assets expected to generate inward cash flows of the same
amounts and at the same times as the outward cash flows that are expected in order to meet benefit
payments.

Bancassurance

An arrangement whereby banks sell life, pension and investment products to their customers on behalf of
a registered insurer.

Board

Liberty Holdings Limited board of directors.

Bonus stabilisation reserve

The portion of the liability in respect of discretionary participation features (DPF) policies, which represents
surplus earned but not yet distributed to policyholders.

Capital adequacy cover

The amount of capital, calculated (prior to 1 July 2018) on a basis prescribed by the Financial Services Board
which the insurer has as a multiple of the capital adequacy requirement (CAR).

Claims loss ratio

A measure of underwriting risk for short-term insurance which is measured as a ratio of claims incurred
divided by premiums earned.

Cost of required capital

Measures the opportunity cost incurred by a company for holding the level of required capital.

Covered business

Business regulated by the Prudential Authority as long-term insurance business.

Deferred acquisition costs
(DAC)

The direct and indirect costs incurred during the financial period arising from the writing or renewing
of investment contracts without discretionary participation features (DPF) and short-term insurance
contracts. These costs are deferred to the extent that they are recoverable out of future charges.

Deferred revenue liability
(DRL)

Initial and other upfront fees received for the rendering of future investment management services on
investment contracts without DPF, which are deferred and recognised as revenue when the related
services are rendered.

Development costs

Represents project costs incurred on developing or enhancing future revenue opportunities.

Discretionary participation
features (DPF)

A contractual right given to a policyholder to receive, as a supplement to guaranteed benefits, additional
benefits:
• that are likely to be a significant portion of the total contractual benefits,
• whose amount or timing is contractually at the discretion of the issuer, and
• that are contractually based on the:
—— performance of a specified pool of contracts or a specified type of contract,
—— realised and or unrealised investment returns on a specified pool of assets held by the issuer, or
profit or loss of the company, fund or other entity that issues the contract.

Embedded value

The net worth of an insurer plus the value of in-force covered business less the cost of required capital.

Exco

Group executive committee.

Fair value through profit or
loss (default)

Financial assets that are classified as fair value through profit or loss (default) include those that are
mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss, as well as those that meet the business model
assessment for fair value through profit or loss under IFRS 9.
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Appendix E – Abbreviations and definitions (continued)
DEFINITION (continued)
Financial Sector Conduct
Authority

The market conduct regulator of South African financial institutions, including banks, insurers, retirement
funds and administrators, and market infrastructures.

Financial soundness
valuation (FSV)

The valuation methodology used to value insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF as
described in SAP 104 issued by the Actuarial Society of South Africa. Assets or liabilities measured on the
financial soundness basis are subject to liability adequacy testing.

Group equity value

Reflects the combined value of the various components of Liberty’s businesses. It is calculated as the sum
of the embedded value of South African covered business, and the valuation of other businesses in the
group using a combination of recognised valuation techniques.

Guaranteed annuity
option (GAO)

An option provided to the holder of a contract to convert the maturity proceeds into an annuity at a
predefined minimum rate.

Guaranteed element

The portion of the policyholder’s benefit on a DPF policy that is guaranteed and cannot be removed at the
discretion of the insurer.

Incurred but not reported
(IBNR)

Claims expected to be made by policyholders in respect of events that have already occurred at the
insurer’s reporting date, but which at that date have not yet been reported to the insurer.

Indexed new business

A measure of long-term insurance new business which is calculated as the sum of twelve months premiums
on new recurring premium policies and one tenth of new single premium sales.

In-force

An insurance policy is in-force from its start date until the date it is derecognised. In-force business refers to
policies which are active, i.e. where the benefits are still payable or potentially payable to the policyholder
at some future date.

Institutional long-term
insurance

Risk and retirement savings products under the umbrella of group schemes marketed to employers who
provide those benefits to their employees.

Insurance contract

A contract under which one party (the insurer) accepts significant insurance risk from another party (the
policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event (the insured
event) adversely affects the policyholder.

Investment contract

A contract, which contains significant financial risk and may also contain insignificant insurance risk, but
does not meet the definition of an insurance contract.

Investment guarantee

An undertaking to give a minimum investment return for a period up to an agreed future date or dates
provided within a contract of insurance or investment.

Investment-linked policy

A policy where benefits are dependent on the investment return on a portfolio of assets.

Liberty

Liberty Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries.

Negative rand reserves

Negative liabilities (within long-term policyholder liabilities) and policyholder assets arising when the
discounted value of expected future inflows exceeds the discounted value of expected future outflows.

New business margin

The value of new business expressed as a percentage of the present value of future modelled premiums
at the point of sale.
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Appendix E – Abbreviations and definitions (continued)
DEFINITION (continued)
Normalised: headline
earnings per share

This measurement reflects the economic reality of the consolidation of the listed REIT Liberty Two Degrees
Limited (L2D) and the Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) transaction, as opposed to the required
technical accounting treatment.

Reversal of accounting mismatch arising on consolidation of L2D
An accounting mismatch arises on consolidation of L2D in the group annual financial statements, resulting
from the different measurement bases applied to L2D’s assets and Liberty Group Limited’s (100%
subsidiary of Liberty Holdings Limited) policyholder liabilities. Specifically:
• the investment property assets of L2D are included in the group annual financial statements at fair
value; whereas
• the corresponding obligations to Liberty Group Limited’s policyholder assets are required under IFRS to
continue to be measured in the group annual financial statements at the listed price of the L2D shares/
units.
The result of this accounting mismatch is that any increase in the premium at which L2D’s listed shares/
units trade relative to the underlying net asset value will result in a reported loss in the group annual
financial statements. Conversely, any decrease in the premium (or change from a premium to a discount)
will result in a reported profit in the group annual financial statements.

BEE transaction
IFRS reflects the BEE transaction as a share buy-back. Dividends received on the group’s preference
shares (which are recognised as an asset for this purpose) are included in income. Shares in issue relating
to the transaction are reinstated.
Outstanding claims

Valid claims from policyholders which have been reported to the insurance company but have not yet
been paid.

Persistency

Persistency measures the proportion of policies that are not surrendered, transferred or lapsed. It is an
important measure of an insurer’s retention of its business.

Policyholder assets

Measured assets on in-force contracts with policyholders.

Policyholder liabilities

Measured liabilities on in-force contracts with policyholders.

Reinsurance

Insurance or investment risk that is ceded to another insurer (reinsurer) in return for premiums. The
obligation to the policyholder remains with the entity which issued the original insurance contract.

Prudential Authority

The body, operating within the administration of the South African Reserve Bank, responsible for regulating
financial institutions such as banks, insurers, financial conglomerates and certain market infrastructures in
South Africa.

Retail long-term insurance

Products aimed at individuals that provide wealth creation, particularly through retirement savings, and
wealth protection through health, life and disability insurance.

Reversionary bonus policy

A policy with DPF where the benefit at a point in time is defined as the sum assured plus past bonus
additions, to which variable annual bonuses are added. A final terminal bonus may also be added.

Standard Bank

Standard Bank Group Limited and its subsidiaries (excluding Liberty).

Standards of Actuarial
Practice (SAP)

Standards to which all members of the Actuarial Society of South Africa must adhere.

Surrender value

The surrender value of a policy is the cash value, if any, which is payable in respect of that policy upon
cancellation before the end of the policy’s term.
The present value of the projected stream of after tax profits for all business in-force at the reporting date.
The present value is calculated using a risk adjusted discount rate.

Value of in-force covered
business
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